45 | 4–6 | 02 July–December 2002 (Released January 2003)



New Developments in Viral Vaccine Technologies



S. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers Basel • Freiburg Paris • London New York • Bangalore Bangkok • Singapore Tokyo • Sydney



New Developments in Viral Vaccine Technologies

Guest Editors Rainer Ulrich, Berlin George P. Lomonossoff, Norwich Detlev H. Krüger, Berlin

73 figures and 39 tables, 2002

Basel · Freiburg · Paris · London · New York · Bangalore · Bangkok · Singapore · Tokyo · Sydney

S. Karger Medical and Scientific Publishers Basel • Freiburg • Paris • London New York • Bangalore • Bangkok Singapore • Tokyo • Sydney

Drug Dosage

The authors and the publisher have exerted every effort to ensure that drug selection and dosage set forth in this text are in accord with current recommendations and practice at the time of publication. However, in view of ongoing research, changes in government regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to drug therapy and drug reactions, the reader is urged to check the package insert for each drug for any change in indications and dosage and for added warnings and precautions. This is particularly important when the recommended agent is a new and/or infrequently employed drug.

All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be translated into other languages, reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, microcopying, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher or, in the case of photocopying, direct payment of a specified fee to the Copyright Clearance Center (see 'General Information').

© Copyright 2002 by S. Karger AG, P.O. Box, CH-4009 Basel (Switzerland) Printed in Switzerland on acid-free paper by Reinhardt Druck, Basel ISBN 3-8055-7505-X

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

Intervirology

No. 1

1 Some Thoughts from Your Publisher Karger, T.; Karger, S. (Basel)

Mini Review

2 Genital Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Infection: New Fields for an Old Acquaintance?

Lippelt, L. (Münster); Braun, R.W. (Stuttgart); Kühn, J.E. (Münster)

Original Papers

- 6 Liver Transplantation-Associated de novo Hepatitis B Virus Infection: Application of Molecular Evolutionary Analysis Sugauchi, F.; Orito, E.; Ohno, T.; Kato, H.; Suzuki, T.; Hashimoto, T.; Manabe, T.; Ueda, R.; Mizokami, M. (Nagoya)
- 11 Analysis of Background Factors Influencing Long-Term Prognosis of Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C Treated with Interferon

Yoneyama, K.; Yamaguchi, M.; Kiuchi, Y. (Tokyo); Morizane, T. (Kanagawa); Shibata, M.; Mitamura, K. (Tokyo)

- 20 Clinical and Subclinical Reactivation of Genital Herpes Virus Wolff, M.H.; Schmitt, J.; Rahaus, M.; Dudda, H.; Hatzmann, W. (Witten)
- 24 Evaluation of HBs, HBc, and frCP Virus-Like Particles for Expression of Human Papillomavirus 16 E7 Oncoprotein Epitopes

Pumpens, P. (Riga); Razanskas, R. (Vilnius); Pushko, P.; Renhof, R.; Gusars, I.; Skrastina, D.; Ose, V.; Borisova, G.; Sominskaya, I.; Petrovskis, I.; Jansons, J. (Riga); Sasnauskas, K. (Vilnius)

33 Viral Dynamics and Pharmacokinetics in Combined Interferon Alfa-2b and Ribavirin Therapy for Patients Infected with Hepatitis C Virus of Genotype 1b and High Pretreatment Viral Load

Tsubota, A.; Akuta, N.; Suzuki, F.; Suzuki, Y.; Someya, T.; Kobayashi, M.; Arase, Y.; Saitoh, S.; Ikeda, K.; Kumada, H. (Tokyo)

43 Respiratory Syncytial Virus Enhances the Expression of CD 11b Molecules and the Generation of Superoxide Anion by Human Eosinophils Primed with Platelet-Activating Factor Tachibana, A.; Kimura, H.; Kato, M.; Nako, Y.; Kozawa, K.; Morikawa, A. (Gunma)

Short Communications

52 Distinct Mutational Drug Resistance Profiles of HIV-1 RNA in Plasma and Culture Isolates of Patients Receiving Antiretroviral Therapy

Debiaggi, M.; Bruno, R.; Sacchi, P.; Achilli, G.; Romero, E.; Filice, G. (Pavia)

- 56 Profound Sex-Specific Effects on Incubation Times for Transmission of Bovine Spongiform Encephalopathy to Mice Abiola, O.O.; Iyegbe, C.; Lantos, P.; Plomin, R.; Anderton, B.H.; Whatley, S.A. (London)
- 59 Mapping of Epitopes on the Fiber Knobs of Human Adenovirus Serotypes 8 and 15 Liebermann, H.; Lotz, K.; Seidel, W. (Greifswald)

58 Addendum

No. 2

Original Papers

67 Superoxide Anion Production by Granulocytes Incubated with HeLa 229 Cells Persistently Infected with Influenza Virus B/Lee/40

Hayase, Y.; Tobita, K. (Tochigi)

- 71 Influence of Hepatitis C Virus Subtype on Hepatocellular Carcinogenesis: A Multivariate Analysis of a Retrospective Cohort of 593 Patients with Cirrhosis Ikeda, K.; Kobayashi, M.; Someya, T.; Saitoh, S.; Tsubota, A.; Akuta, N.; Suzuki, F.; Suzuki, Y.; Arase, Y.; Kumada, H. (Tokyo)
- 79 A New Indicator Cell Line to Monitor Human Foamy Virus Infection and Stability in vitro Li. Z.: Yang, P.: Liu, H.: Li, W-x. (Wuhan)
- 85 Induction of Apoptosis in Rabbit Kidney Cell under High-Level Expression of Bovine Herpesvirus 1 U_s ORF8 Product Nakamichi, K.; Matsumoto, Y.; Tohya, Y.; Otsuka, H. (Tokyo)

Short Communications

- 94 Detection of JC Virus Type 1 in Peripheral Lymphocytes, Brain and Cerebrospinal Fluid from Two Korean AIDS Patients with Progressive Multifocal Leukoencephalopathy Jeong, B.-H.; Jin, J.-K. (Chunchon); Choi, E.-K. (Charlestown, Mass.); Kim, K.-H. (Chunchon); Choi, K.-W.; Oh, M.-D.; Shin, K.-C. (Seoul); Kim, Y.-S. (Chunchon)
- 101 Genotyping of Hepatitis E Virus from Vietnam Hijikata, M.; Hayashi, S. (Tokyo); Trinh, N.T.; Ha, L.D. (Hanoi); Ohara, H.; Shimizu, Y.K.; Keicho, N.; Yoshikura, H. (Tokyo)
- 105 Accurate Prediction of Response to Interferon Therapy by Repeated Measurement of Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C Nishiguchi, S.; Enomoto, M.; Tanaka, M.; Fukuda, K.; Tamori, A.; Habu, D.; Takeda, T.; Shiomi, S.; Tanaka, T.; Yano, Y.; Otani, S. (Osaka)
- 111 Molecular Evaluation of the Prevalence of Oncogenic Human Papillomavirus Genotypes in Cervical Acetowhite Lesions Rocha-Zavaleta, L.; Garcia-Carranca, A.; Lira de la Cruz, A.L.; Barrios, T.; Valdespino, V.; Cruz-Talonia, F. (Mexico)
- 115 Interaction of Adeno-Associated Virus Rep78 with SV40 T Antigen: Implications in Rep Protein Expression Leading to the Inhibition of SV40-Mediated Cell Proliferation Batchu, R.B. (Little Rock, Ark.); Shammas, M.A. (Boston, Mass.); Wang, J.Y.; Shmookler Reis, R.J. (Little Rock, Ark.); Munshi, N.C. (Boston, Mass.)
- 119 Cyclophosphamide-Immunodepressed FVB/N Mice: Potentiating the Effects of Testicular Cytomegalovirus Infection Tebourbi, L. (Clamart); Emile, J.F.; Cerutti, I. (Villejuif)

KARGER Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch

www.karger.com

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel

Access to full text and tables of contents, including tentative ones for forthcoming issues: www.karger.com/int_issues No. 3

Original Papers

- 125 Temperature-Sensitive Viral Infection: Inhibition of Hemagglutinating Virus of Japan (Sendai Virus) Infection at 41° Ishida, Y.-i.; Hiraki, A.; Hirayama, E.; Koga, Y.; Kim, J. (Kyoto)
- 136 Human Rhinovirus 87 Identified as Human Enterovirus 68 by VP4-Based Molecular Diagnosis Ishiko, H.; Miura, R.; Shimada, Y.; Hayashi, A.; Nakajima, H.; Yamazaki, S.; Takeda, N. (Tokyo)
- 142 Large Hepatitis Delta Antigen Is Phosphorylated at Multiple Sites and Phosphorylation Is Associated with Protein Conformational Change Choi, S.-H.; Park, K.-J.; Hwang, S.B. (Anyang)
- 150 Experimental Infection of Lacertids with Lizard Erythrocytic Viruses

Alves de Matos, A.P. (Lisbon); Paperna, I. (Rehovot); Crespo, E. (Lisbon)

- 160 The Genome Organization of Pea Stem Necrosis Virus and Its Assignment to the Genus Carmovirus Suzuki, S.; Hase, S.; Takahashi, H.; Ikegami, M. (Sendai)
- 164 Detection of Human T-Lymphotropic Virus Type I (HTLV-I) Infection during Coculture of HTLV-I Infected and Uninfected Cells Using Inverse Long PCR Ishizaki, J.; Okayama, A.; Kuroki, M.; Tsubouchi, H. (Kiyotake)
- 172 Efficient Haemodialysis Improves the Response to Hepatitis B Virus Vaccination

Kovacic, V.; Sain, M.; Vukman, V. (Trogir)

Short Communications

177 Production of Monospecific Antibody to Immunodominant Epitopes of the Caprine Arthritis Encephalitis Virus Transmembrane Glycoprotein and Analysis of Their Activity in vitro

Dufour, S.; Zahno, M.-L.; Vogt, H.-R.; Peterhans, E.; Bertoni, G. (Bern)

- 183 Upregulation of Ku Expression in Human Neuroectodermal Tumor Cells after Retroviral DNA Integration Liu, X.; Lin, J.; Huang, J.; Li, L.; Liu, L.; Xu, P. (Shanghai)
- 188 A 72-bp Internal Deletion in the Left Inverted Terminal Repeat of the Bovine Adenovirus Type 3 Genome Does Not Affect Virus Replication

van Olphen, A.L.; Mittal, S.K. (West Lafayette, Ind.)

No. 4–6

New Developments in Viral Vaccine Technologies

Guest Editors: Rainer Ulrich (Berlin); George P. Lomonossoff (Norwich); Detlev H. Krüger (Berlin)

197 Editorial

Ulrich, R. (Berlin); Lomonossoff, G.P. (Norwich); Krüger, D.H. (Berlin)

Overviews

- 199 Overview of the Needs and Realities for Developing New and Improved Vaccines in the 21st Century Hilleman, M.R. (West Point, Pa.)
- **212** Virus-Like Particles as a Modular System for Novel Vaccines Lechner, F.; Jegerlehner, A.; Tissot, A.C.; Maurer, P.; Sebbel, P.; Renner, W.A.; Jennings, G.T.; Bachmann, M.F. (Zürich)

Hepatitis B Virus

- 218 Molecular Epidemiology and Immunology of Hepatitis B Virus Infection – An Update Pumpens, P.; Grens, E. (Riga); Nassal, M. (Freiburg)
- 233 In vitro Expression of Human Hepatitis B Virus Genomes Carrying Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Pre-S1 Sequences Hourioux, C.; Kneser, J.; Bruss, V. (Göttingen)
- 237 Immunogenic Effects of Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Surface Antigen Vaccine in Combination with Antiviral Therapy: Breaking of Humoral and Cellular Immune Tolerance in Chronic Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Infection Menne, S.; Roneker, C.A.; Tennant, B.C. (Ithaca, N.Y.); Korba, B.E.; Gerin, J.L.; Cote, P.J. (Rockville, Md.)
- 251 Selective Expression of Immunogenic, Virus-Like Particle-Derived Antibody-Binding Epitopes El Kholy, S.; Riedl, P.; Kwissa, M.; Reimann, J.; Schirmbeck, R. (Ulm)

Human Immunodefiency Virus

- **260** HIV: Epidemiology and Strategies for Therapy and Vaccination Marcus, U. (Berlin); Dittmar, M.T.; Kräusslich, H.-G. (Heidelberg)
- 267 Vaccine Development Using the Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Model for AIDS Norley, S. (Berlin/Langen); Beer, B.; Binninger-Schinzel, D.; Vogel, T. (Langen); Hohn, O.; Seibold, E.; Radke, D. (Berlin); Cosma, C. (Langen); Kurth, R. (Berlin/Langen)
- 275 Impact of Codon Usage Modification on T Cell Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV-1 Gag-Specific DNA Vaccines Bojak, A.; Wild, J.; Deml, L.; Wagner, R. (Regensburg)

Papilloma- and Polyomavirus

- 287 A Short Introduction to Papillomavirus Biology Streeck, R.E. (Mainz)
- 290 T Cell Response to Human Papillomavirus 16 E7 in Mice: Comparison of Cr Release Assay, Intracellular IFN-γ Production, ELISPOT and Tetramer Staining Michel, N.; Öhlschläger, P.; Osen, W.; Freyschmidt, E.-J.; Guthöhrlein, H.
- (Heidelberg); Kaufmann, A.M. (Jena); Müller, M.; Gissmann, L. (Heidelberg)
 Comparison of Human Papillomavirus Type 16 L1 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles versus L1/L2 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles in Tumor Prevention
 - Wakabayashi, M.T.; Da Silva, D.M.; Potkul, R.K.; Kast, W.M. (Maywood, Ill.)

308 Generation of Recombinant Virus-Like Particles of Human and Non-Human Polyomaviruses in Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*

Sasnauskas, K.; Bulavaite, A. (Vilnius); Hale, A. (Leeds); Jin, L.; Knowles, W.A. (London); Gedvilaite, A.; Dargevičiūte, A.; Bartkevičiūte, D.; Žvirblienė, A.; Staniulis, J. (Vilnius); Brown, D.W.G. (London); Ulrich, R. (Berlin) Hantavirus

- 318 Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus' Ulrich, R. (Berlin); Hjelle, B. (Albuquerque, N. Mex.); Pitra, C.; Krüger, D.H. (Berlin)
- **328 Review of an Inactivated Vaccine against Hantaviruses** Cho, H.-W. (Seoul); Howard, C.R. (London); Lee, H.-W. (Seoul)
- 334 Characterization of Expression of Puumala Virus Nucleocapsid Protein in Transgenic Plants Khattak, S. (Dresden); Darai, G. (Heidelberg); Süle, S. (Budapest); Rösen-Wolff, A. (Dresden)
- 340 Stop Codon Insertion Restores the Particle Formation Ability of Hepatitis B Virus Core-Hantavirus Nucleocapsid Protein Fusions Kazaks, A. (Riga); Lachmann, S.; Koletzki, D. (Berlin); Petrovskis, I.; Dislers, A.; Ose, V.; Skrastina, D. (Riga); Gelderblom, H.R. (Berlin); Lundkvist, A. (Stockholm); Meisel, H. (Berlin); Borisova, G. (Riga); Krüger, D.H. (Berlin); Pumpens, P. (Riga); Ulrich, R. (Berlin)

Other Developments

350 A Malaria Vaccine Candidate Based on a Hepatitis B Virus Core Platform

Sällberg, M. (Stockholm); Hughes, J.; Jones, J.; Phillips, T.R.; Milich, D.R. (San Diego, Calif.)

- 362 Cowpea Mosaic Virus: From the Presentation of Antigenic Peptides to the Display of Active Biomaterials Chatterji, A.; Burns, L.L.; Taylor, S.S. (La Jolla, Calif.); Lomonossoff, G.P. (Norwich); Johnson, J.E.; Lin, T. (La Jolla, Calif.); Porta, C. (Warwick)
- 371 RNA Bacteriophage Capsid-Mediated Drug Delivery and Epitope Presentation Brown, W.L.; Mastico, R.A.; Wu, M.; Heal, K.G.; Adams, C.J.; Murray, J.B. (Leeds); Simpson, J.C.; Lord, J.M. (Coventry); Taylor-Robinson, A.W.; Stockley, P.G. (Leeds)
- 381 Author Index Vol. 45, No. 4–6, 2002
- 382 Subject Index Vol. 45, No. 4-6, 2002
- 383 Author Index Vol. 45, 2002
- 385 Subject Index Vol. 45, 2002

Intervirology

Contents

197 Editorial

Ulrich, R. (Berlin); Lomonossoff, G.P. (Norwich); Krüger, D.H. (Berlin)

Overviews

- **199 Overview of the Needs and Realities for Developing New and Improved Vaccines in the 21st Century** Hilleman, M.R. (West Point, Pa.)
- **212 Virus-Like Particles as a Modular System for Novel Vaccines** Lechner, F.; Jegerlehner, A.; Tissot, A.C.; Maurer, P.; Sebbel, P.; Renner, W.A.; Jennings, G.T.; Bachmann, M.F. (Zürich)

Hepatitis B Virus

218 Molecular Epidemiology and Immunology of Hepatitis B Virus Infection – An Update

Pumpens, P.; Grens, E. (Riga); Nassal, M. (Freiburg)

- 233 In vitro Expression of Human Hepatitis B Virus Genomes Carrying Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Pre-S1 Sequences Hourioux, C.; Kneser, J.; Bruss, V. (Göttingen)
- 237 Immunogenic Effects of Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Surface Antigen Vaccine in Combination with Antiviral Therapy: Breaking of Humoral and Cellular Immune Tolerance in Chronic Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Infection Menne, S.; Roneker, C.A.; Tennant, B.C. (Ithaca, N.Y.); Korba, B.E.; Gerin, J.L.; Cote, P.J. (Rockville, Md.)
- 251 Selective Expression of Immunogenic, Virus-Like Particle-Derived Antibody-Binding Epitopes

El Kholy, S.; Riedl, P.; Kwissa, M.; Reimann, J.; Schirmbeck, R. (Ulm)

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

- **260 HIV: Epidemiology and Strategies for Therapy and Vaccination** Marcus, U. (Berlin); Dittmar, M.T.; Kräusslich, H.-G. (Heidelberg)
- 267 Vaccine Development Using the Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Model for AIDS

Norley, S. (Berlin/Langen); Beer, B.; Binninger-Schinzel, D.; Vogel, T. (Langen); Hohn, O.; Seibold, E.; Radke, D. (Berlin); Cosma, C. (Langen); Kurth, R. (Berlin/Langen)

275 Impact of Codon Usage Modification on T Cell Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV-1 Gag-Specific DNA Vaccines Bojak, A.; Wild, J.; Deml, L.; Wagner, R. (Regensburg)

KARGER

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com Access to full text and tables of contents, including tentative ones for forthcoming issues: www.karger.com/int_issues

Papilloma- and Polyomavirus

- 287 A Short Introduction to Papillomavirus Biology Streeck, R.E. (Mainz)
- 290 T Cell Response to Human Papillomavirus 16 E7 in Mice: Comparison of Cr Release Assay, Intracellular IFN-γ Production, ELISPOT and Tetramer Staining

Michel, N.; Öhlschläger, P.; Osen, W.; Freyschmidt, E.-J.; Guthöhrlein, H. (Heidelberg); Kaufmann, A.M. (Jena); Müller, M.; Gissmann, L. (Heidelberg)

- **300** Comparison of Human Papillomavirus Type 16 L1 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles versus L1/L2 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles in Tumor Prevention Wakabayashi, M.T.; Da Silva, D.M.; Potkul, R.K.; Kast, W.M. (Maywood, Ill.)
- 308 Generation of Recombinant Virus-Like Particles of Human and Non-Human Polyomaviruses in Yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae Sasnauskas, K.; Bulavaite, A. (Vilnius); Hale, A. (Leeds); Jin, L.; Knowles, W.A. (London); Gedvilaite, A.; Dargevičiūte, A.; Bartkevičiūte, D.; Žvirblienė, A.; Staniulis, J. (Vilnius); Brown, D.W.G. (London); Ulrich, R. (Berlin)

Hantavirus

- **318 Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'** Ulrich, R. (Berlin); Hjelle, B. (Albuquerque, N. Mex.); Pitra, C.; Krüger, D.H. (Berlin)
- **328 Review of an Inactivated Vaccine against Hantaviruses** Cho, H.-W. (Seoul); Howard, C.R. (London); Lee, H.-W. (Seoul)
- 334 Characterization of Expression of Puumala Virus Nucleocapsid Protein in Transgenic Plants

Khattak, S. (Dresden); Darai, G. (Heidelberg); Süle, S. (Budapest); Rösen-Wolff, A. (Dresden)

340 Stop Codon Insertion Restores the Particle Formation Ability of Hepatitis B Virus Core-Hantavirus Nucleocapsid Protein Fusions

Kazaks, A. (Riga); Lachmann, S.; Koletzki, D. (Berlin); Petrovskis, I.; Dislers, A.; Ose, V.; Skrastina, D. (Riga); Gelderblom, H.R. (Berlin); Lundkvist, Å. (Stockholm); Meisel, H. (Berlin); Borisova, G. (Riga); Krüger, D.H. (Berlin); Pumpens, P. (Riga); Ulrich, R. (Berlin)

Other Developments

- **350 A Malaria Vaccine Candidate Based on a Hepatitis B Virus Core Platform** Sällberg, M. (Stockholm); Hughes, J.; Jones, J.; Phillips, T.R.; Milich, D.R. (San Diego, Calif.)
- 362 Cowpea Mosaic Virus: From the Presentation of Antigenic Peptides to the Display of Active Biomaterials

Chatterji, A.; Burns, L.L.; Taylor, S.S. (La Jolla, Calif.); Lomonossoff, G.P. (Norwich); Johnson, J.E.; Lin, T. (La Jolla, Calif.); Porta, C. (Warwick)

371 RNA Bacteriophage Capsid-Mediated Drug Delivery and Epitope Presentation

Brown, W.L.; Mastico, R.A.; Wu, M.; Heal, K.G.; Adams, C.J.; Murray, J.B. (Leeds); Simpson, J.C.; Lord, J.M. (Coventry); Taylor-Robinson, A.W.; Stockley, P.G. (Leeds)

- 381 Author Index Vol. 45, No. 4-6, 2002
- 382 Subject Index Vol. 45, No. 4-6, 2002
- 383 Author Index Vol. 45, 2002
- 385 Subject Index Vol. 45, 2002
- after 386 Contents Vol. 45, 2002

Intervirology 2002;45:197–198 DOI: 10.1159/000067910

Editorial

Rainer Ulrich^a George P. Lomonossoff^b Detlev H. Krüger^a

^aInstitute of Virology, Charité Medical School, Humboldt University, Berlin, Germany; ^bDepartment of Metabolic Biology, John Innes Centre, Norwich, UK

The development of efficient vaccines requires an interdisciplinary collaboration between physicians, epidemiologists, researchers in basic virology and immunology and experts in vaccine development. In addition, this cooperation should include not only research groups but also representatives of the World Health Organization, admittance authorities and pharmaceutical companies. The need to develop such a wide-ranging collaboration formed the background for the organisation of the latest International Workshop 'Virus-Like Particles as Vaccines', held for the third time at the Charité Medical School in Berlin in September 2001.

In contrast to the previous two workshops held in 1995 and 1998 [1, 2], which mainly focussed on the development of different virus-like particle carriers as potential sources of novel vaccines, the recent workshop was specifically dedicated to the creation and evaluation of vaccines against important viral pathogens such as hepatitis B virus (HBV), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), human papilloma virus (HPV) and hantaviruses. These pathogens were selected not only because of their importance but also because of the fact that virus-like particles (VLPs) represent plausible vaccine candidates to combat infections by these viruses. This is confirmed by the fact that the first clinical trials for VLP-based vaccines against HIV, HPV, Norwalk virus and parvovirus infections have been completed (see Lechner et al.). However, in addition to VLPs (see contributions of Lechner et al., Menne et al., Wakabayashi et al., Sasnauskas et al., Kazaks et al., Sällberg et al. and Brown et al.), other vaccination strategies

KARGER Fax + 41 61 306 12 34

www.karger.com

E-Mail karger@karger.ch

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0197\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int such as those based on the use of inactivated viruses (see Norley et al. and Cho et al.), live attenuated viruses (see Norley et al.), recombinant viruses (see Chatterji et al.), recombinant proteins (see Khattak et al.), synthetic peptides (see Norley et al.) and naked DNA vaccines (see El Kholy et al., Bojak et al., Norley et al. and Michel et al.) are covered by this issue, since the comparative evaluation of different approaches will be extremely important in the development of effective vaccines.

As an advance on the previous meetings, the recent workshop enabled the generation of a more complex and complete picture of the nature of the viral infections mentioned above and the basic knowledge which will be necessary for vaccine development. Consequently, in this issue of *Intervirology*, original papers specifically about development of vaccines against HBV, HIV, HPV and hantaviruses are introduced by reviews summarizing recent knowledge regarding the molecular biology, pathogenicity, epidemiology and immunology of these virus infections (see Pumpens et al., Marcus et al., Streeck and Ulrich et al.).

This issue covers selected presentations, most of which were delivered at the workshop in Berlin. The first two papers consist of general overviews of the history and perspectives of vaccine development (Hilleman) and the value of VLPs in vaccine development and treatment of allergy (Lechner et al.). The latter contribution also describes a unique principle of modular VLPs based on specific attachment sites (lysine) on the carrier and (engineered) single free cysteines on the antigen.

Prof. Detlev H. Krüger Institute of Virology Humboldt University, School of Medicine Charité D-10098 Berlin (Germany)

Tel. +49 30 450 525092, Fax +49 30 450 525907, E-Mail detlev.kruger@charite.de

Contributions dealing with new insights into HBV vaccine development are introduced by an update of recent knowledge regarding the molecular epidemiology and immunology of HBV infections (Pumpens et al.). A new approach to establishing an in vivo model for HBV infection based on recombinant HBV genomes containing substitutions of the preS1 of HBV by the corresponding segments of woodchuck hepatitis virus is described by Hourioux et al. The use of the woodchuck model also demonstrated the feasibility of a combination therapy of antiviral treatment with 1-(2-fluoro-5-methyl-β-L-arabinofuranosyl)-uracil and therapeutic vaccination with woodchuck hepatitis virus surface antigen for the control of chronic HBV infections in humans (Menne et al.). El Kholy et al. investigated the B cell immunogenicity of two HBV epitopes, namely the linear 'e2' epitope and the conformational 'a' epitope, fused to hsp73-binding or nonhsp-binding simian virus 40-T-antigen sequences when delivered as DNA vaccines. Because of the differences in immunogenicity, the authors concluded that the prerequisites that have to be fulfilled for optimal immunogenicity differ strikingly between individual epitopes. This is an important observation, since it might be true not only for HBV but for all other epitope-based vaccines.

Besides HBV, HIV represents one of the major targets for vaccine development. The epidemiology of HIV infections as well as strategies for therapy and vaccination are reviewed by Marcus et al. A number of HIV vaccine trials are summarized by Norley et al., which suggest that the 'traditional' types of vaccine are either ineffective or inappropriate for use in humans. An attractive alternative is the naked DNA vaccine approach, which can be improved in its efficiency by codon usage modification to induce a strong and long-lasting humoral and cellular immunity (Bojak et al.).

Cervical carcinoma represents one of the most frequent cancers in women worldwide. The biology of papillomaviruses, including viral structure, tropism, function of viral proteins, analysis of the immune response and search for the viral receptor, is covered by Streeck. To analyse the T cell responses to the HPV-16 E7 protein, a variety of different assays such as chromium release, ELISPOT, tetramer staining and intracellular IFN- γ assay were compared (Michel et al.). Wakabayashi et al. compared the vaccine efficacy of two types of chimeric HPV VLPs (L1-E7 or L1/L2-E7). Whereas L1-E7 VLPs are more efficient in tumor prevention than L1/L2-E7 VLPs, the L1-E7 VLPs are more limited with respect to their insertion capacity and yield in insect cells. The exciting properties of a yeast expression system allowing the formation of VLPs derived from the major capsid protein of various human and non-human polyomaviruses are described by Sasnauskas et al.

Hantaviruses have attracted more interest in the public and scientific community since the discovery of the hantavirus pulmonary syndrome, with a case fatality index of up to 60%, in the USA in 1993. The review of Ulrich et al. briefly summarizes the state of the art in hantavirus research and raises selected questions which it will be necessary to address in the future. Cho et al. tested two different inactivated hantavirus vaccines. Hantavax and a bivalent Hantaan-Puumala virus vaccine, in human volunteers, demonstrating them to be immunogenic and well tolerated. Nevertheless, the authors state that these vaccines need further improvements for the induction of a long-lasting immunity. To develop an edible potential hantavirus vaccine, Khattak et al. generated transgenic tobacco and potato plants expressing a Puumala virus nucleocapsid protein which induced humoral and mucosal immune responses in rabbits and mice. Kazaks et al. highlight the advantages of using HBV core mosaic particles to accomodate larger pieces of foreign proteins.

Sällberg et al. presented promising data about a potential malaria vaccine based on chimeric HBV core particles. A new approach to coupling foreign epitopes on the surface of cowpea mosaic virus has been developed by Chatterji et al., extending the potential use of VLPs. In a similar vein, Brown et al. report that VLPs are useful not only for the presentation of foreign epitopes, but also for the encapsidation of nucleic acids and antiviral drugs.

Knowledge of the intimate interplay between a virus and the immune system of the infected host is not only necessary to understand its pathogenicity but also forms a vital background for rational vaccine development. From the aspect of the virus, genetic events like mutation, genetic drift and recombination lead to the emergence of virus variants and eventually quasispecies populations in infected humans. Consequently, the understanding of the evolution of viruses and their underlying mechanisms might have an impact on the development of vaccines and antiviral drugs. This idea should be further explored at a next workshop.

References

- Gerlich W, Krüger DH, Ulrich R (eds): Chimeric Virus-Like Particles as Vaccines. Intervirology 1996;39:1–132.
- 2 Krüger DH, Ulrich R, Gerlich WH (eds): Chimeric Virus-Like Particles as Vaccines. Biol Chem 1999;380:275–401.

Ulrich/Lomonossoff/Krüger

Intervirology 2002;45:199–211 DOI: 10.1159/000067911

Overview of the Needs and Realities for Developing New and Improved Vaccines in the 21st Century

Maurice R. Hilleman

Merck Institute for Vaccinology, West Point, Pa., USA

Key Words

Vaccines \cdot New and improved vaccines \cdot Vaccines for the 2000s \cdot Vaccine technology

Abstract

The science of present day vaccinology is based on the pioneering discoveries of the late 18th and late 19th centuries and the technologic breakthroughs of the past 60 years. The driving force for the development of new vaccines resides in technologic feasibility, public need and economic incentive for translating the basic knowledge into a product. Past efforts by government to define which particular vaccines to develop were mostly irrelevant to the realistic choices which were made. There is a vast array of viral, bacterial, parasitic and fungal disease agents against which preventative vaccines may be developed, and to this may be added cancer and certain amyloidoses such as Alzheimer's and 'mad cow' diseases. The proven past for vaccines has relied on live, killed, protein and polysaccharide antigens plus the single example of recombinant-expressed hepatitis B vaccine. The validity of redirection of vaccinology to exploration of simplified vaccines such as recombinant vectored and DNA preparations and reductionist vaccines based on peptides of contrived epitope composition

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0199\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int remains to be proved. Reductionism imposes vastly increased complexity and difficulty on vaccine development and might not be capable of achievement. The challenge in the 21st century will involve new and uncertain pathways toward worthwhile accomplishments.

Background

The first scientific probes into preventive vaccination were made in 1796 by Edward Jenner [1], who prevented smallpox through prior infection with the antigenically related cowpox virus. New discoveries in the last quarter of the 19th century were made principally by Louis Pasteur, Robert Koch, Emil von Behring and Paul Ehrlich, and these discoveries laid the scientific foundations for rational/empirical vaccinology [2–5]. The demands for vaccines to protect the soldiers in World War II marked the beginning of a transition to the modern era of vaccine science, which began in 1950 [3]. Presently, there are vaccines against 26 disease agents licensed for general use in the USA (table 1) [6]. Some are live and some are killed. Some, such as BCG, anthrax and rotavirus, are in need of improvement.

Maurice R. Hilleman, PhD, DSc

Director, Merck Institute for Vaccinology Merck & Co., Inc. (WP53C-350), 770 Sumneytown Pike

West Point, PA 19486 (USA)

Tel. +1 215 652 8913, Fax +1 215 652 2154, E-Mail maurice_hilleman@merck.com

Table 1. Abbreviated list of vaccines against bacterial and viral disease agents licensed in the USA

| Bacterial | Viral |
|--|------------------------------|
| Diphtheria | Poliovirus (live and killed) |
| Tetanus | Measles |
| Pertussis (acellular) | Mumps |
| Botulinum toxin A | Rubella |
| Lyme disease (OspA) | Varicella |
| Plague | Yellow fever |
| Pneumococcus (and conjugate) ¹ | Adenovirus |
| Meningococcus (and conjugate) ¹ | Hepatitis A |
| Haemophilus influenzae (and conjugate) | Hepatitis B |
| Tuberculosis (BCG) | Influenza |
| Typhoid fever (live) | Rabies |
| Typhoid fever Vi | Rotavirus (withdrawn) |
| Cholera | |
| Anthrax | |

Recent licensure.

Systems for Defining Priorities in Vaccine Development

During the early 1980s, the US National Institutes of Health became interested in defining a rank order of priority for the pursuit of prominent vaccine possibilities. The Institute of Medicine of the US National Academy of Sciences was engaged to study the matter and to prepare a report [7], which was published in 1985. Decision analysis methods were used in which a series of calculations were applied to arbitrary estimates of expected costs and benefits for each of 20 vaccine targets.

The rank order of importance of live, killed, subunit or conjugate vaccines against the 20 viral, bacterial and parasitic agents that were considered is summarized in table 2. The rank order of importance bore no relationship to conventional cost-benefit analyses used in decision-making for the application of existing vaccines. Further, the ranking was biased in part by the already advanced state of development of some of the candidates. Most importantly, only 6 of the 20 designated vaccines had achieved licensure by the end of 1999, and there was little correlation between rank order and license attainment.

Late in the 1990s, the Institute of Medicine was asked again (table 3) to evaluate and rank vaccine possibilities [8], this time based on the cost per year that would be incurred per quality-adjusted life year gained by the

Table 2. Numerical ranking of new vaccine priorities, 1985

| Rank | Vaccine | Composition | License status 2001 |
|------|------------------------|---------------|------------------------|
| 1 | hepatitis B | recombinant | yes |
| 2 | respiratory syncytial | live | _ |
| 3 | Haemophilus influenzae | conjugate | yes |
| 4 | influenza A, B | pure subunit | - |
| 5 | influenza A, B | live | - |
| 6 | respiratory syncytial | subunit | - |
| 7 | varicella | live | yes |
| 8 | no designation | | |
| 9 | parainfluenza | subunit | - |
| 10 | streptococcus B | conjugate | - |
| 11 | cytomegalovirus | live | - |
| 12 | herpes simplex | glycoprotein | - |
| 13 | cytomegalovirus | glycoprotein | - |
| 14 | rotavirus | live bovine | yes ¹ |
| 15 | pertussis | acellular | yes |
| 16 | rotavirus | live human | - |
| 17 | herpes simplex | live | - |
| 18 | gonorrhea | miscellaneous | - |
| 19 | no designation | | |
| 20 | hepatitis A | live | - |
| 21 | hepatitis A | killed | yes |
| 22 | coccidiosis | killed | - |

This ranking was based on complex decision analysis formulae, from the Institute of Medicine, US National Academy of Sciences. Abbreviated combination of Tables 1.1 and 9.8 from *New Vaccine Development: Establishing Priorities* [7]. Numbers 8 and 19 were not included in Table 1.1.

Withdrawn.

development and use of a particular vaccine, in the categories of (1) cost effective, (2) <USD 10,000, (3) >USD 10,000 to <USD 100,000, and (4) >USD 100,000. The chosen vaccine candidates were antiviral, bacterial, fungal, parasitic and cancer. Three were therapeutic and the remainder were prophylactic. Three of the diseases were autoimmune and the rest were infectious. This report, like the previous one, provided a rank order of priority which was of limited value because of reliance on estimates of costs and on subjective judgments with apparent divorcement from probabilities of accomplishment.

In 1990, the United Nations Infants and Children's Emergency Fund (UNICEF) assembled a group of knowledgeable scientists to define the qualities and attributes of vaccines (table 4) which would be required for maximal acceptability for application in the mostly poor and undeveloped nations of the world. The report [9], called the Declaration of New York, 1990, was brief and consisted

Table 3. Vaccine priorities, 2000, based on quality-adjusted life years

| Basis for selection – cost per QALY | | | | | | | |
|---|---|---|--|---|--------------------------|---|---|
| saves money | | <usd 10,000<="" th=""><th></th><th>>USD 10,000 to <usd 100,000<="" th=""><th></th><th>>USD 100,000</th><th></th></usd></th></usd> | | >USD 10,000 to <usd 100,000<="" th=""><th></th><th>>USD 100,000</th><th></th></usd> | | >USD 100,000 | |
| Cytomegalovirus Influenza 1–5 years Insulin-dependent diabetes Multiple sclerosis Rheumatoid arthritis Group B streptococcus Pneumococcus | PxV PxV RxV RxV RxV PxV PxV | chlamydia <i>Helicobacter</i> hepatitis C herpes simplex papillomavirus melanoma tuberculosis gonorrhea | PxV PxV PxV PxV RxV PxV PxV PxV | parainfluenza rotavirus group A streptococcus group B streptococcus | PxV PxV PxV PxV | Lyme Disease coccidiosis enterotoxic <i>Escherichia coli</i> Epstein-Barr histoplasma meningococcus shigella | PxV PxV PxV PxV PxV PxV PxV |
| | | syncytial virus | | | | | |

From *Vaccines for the 21st Century* [8] (abbreviated and rearranged). QALY = Quality-adjusted life year; PxV = preventative vaccine; RxV = therapeutic vaccine.

Table 4. Elements of the Declaration of New York, 1990 (restated)

| Simplicity in vaccine delivery as by oral fed, nasal or transderm | al |
|---|----|
| immunization | |

Immunization in early life

- Fewest doses and fewest injections, as by combination, high potency, optimal regimen
- Safe and nontoxic (vector delivery, purified antigens, optimal attenuation)

Long duration of immunity, with anamnestic memory

Cheap and affordable in relation to resources; low cost and high benefit

Stability of product in storage and outside the cold chain

of a 'wish list' of desirable attributes of vaccines. Collectively, the call was for vaccines of easy delivery and highlevel effectiveness when given in early life. Briefly stated, the vaccines would cover a broad spectrum of disease agents and would be of high potency while requiring few doses. The immunity would be long lasting, with memory. The vaccines would be affordable and of low cost and high benefit. They would be stable in storage and in transit.

These three studies are presented here to illustrate, collectively, the diversity of viewpoints that may be generated by different scientific review groups. The reader, to be sure, will make his/her own judgment of the value of each of the three reports. To the author (who was a member), the two Institute of Medicine reports exemplify what can be created with committee consensus but with little relevance to what drives the actual pursuit of vaccine development in the real world. The Declaration of New York, on the contrary, has been of value in identifying what needs to be achieved for practical universal immunization in a worldwide program. It serves as an ideal, yet to be attained, and the desirable attributes that are designated would apply equally well to vaccines for use in the developed and undeveloped nations.

Redefining the Vaccine Enterprise at a Time of Transition

If one were asked what vaccines might be needed for the 21st century, the list for consideration might be very long and the answer might approach 'all of them'. Actual pursuit of vaccines, however, is based primarily on technical feasibility and economic considerations. In the past, essentially all vaccines were pioneered and developed [3, 4, 10] by pharmaceutical companies in developed countries where market size, risk and profitability are the real and necessary factors for consideration. Assertions and policies of the World Health Assembly and the World Health Organization now presume that prevention of disease by vaccines is a basic human right [11, 12]. That, together with the proactive stance of the Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization [13], with financial assistance being given by the Gates Foundation and contributions by individual governments and others, may be changing the focus of vaccine development to include dis-

New vaccines protecting against a broad spectrum of diseases

Vaccines for the 21st Century

| Table | 5. | Immune system: | components | and | functions |
|-------|----|----------------|------------|-----|-----------|
|-------|----|----------------|------------|-----|-----------|

| Innate immune system Adaptive immune system | Pattern recognition and activation Delayed specific recognition, activation and response | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| Components | | | | |
| B lymphocytes | humoral immunity | | | |
| T lymphocytes | | | | |
| Cytotoxic T cells | cell-mediated immunity | | | |
| Th cells | cytokine modulation | | | |
| Th2 | facilitate humoral (type 2) response | | | |
| Th1 | facilitate cellular (type 1) response | | | |
| Antigen-presenting cells | | | | |
| MHC-I | endogenous (class 1) presentation | | | |
| MHC-II | exogenous (class 2) presentation | | | |
| Crossovers for both in bone marrow-derived professional antigen- presenting cells | | | | |
| Memory lymphocytes with long-term survival are retained and available for quick differentiation into effector cells (anamnestic response) | | | | |

Table 6. Immune system: appropriate and inappropriate responses

| Imperative to avoid excess type 1 or type 2 immune responses; 'appropriate' balance needed Antibodies reduce viral load and prevent reinfection |
|---|
| Cytotoxic T cells (killer) destroy infected host cells |
| Direct contact – apoptosis or lysis |
| Nonlytic cytokine elaboration |
| Examples of adverse responses |
| Excessively high-titer live measles vaccine producing excessive |
| humoral immune response and causing immunosuppression and immunodeficiency |
| Inappropriate killed measles vaccine causes 'atypical measles' |
| Incomposition fulled D SV vectoring courses assume anitic |
| and increases deaths upon subsequent RSV exposure |
| RSV = Respiratory syncytial virus. |

eases which are of greater importance to the developing world [14, 15] than to the developed nations. For some vaccines, there is a major movement to extend the kinds and scope of use to teenagers and adults. Three diseases of major importance to the entire world, namely AIDS, tuberculosis and malaria, have been determined to present the most urgent need, with the priority that these be the first of the difficult vaccines to be achieved.

The limitations of space and time necessitate that the points made in this paper be supported by selective, illustrative examples rather than by extensive presentation and detailed discussion, which may be found elsewhere.

Immune Response

The game of infectious disease prevention through appropriate vaccines is that of equipping the host to prevail in its battle against infective agents subsequently encountered [for a review, see ref. 16]. In all of vaccinology, the most important, though sometimes the most misunderstood or neglected, component of the vaccine endeavor is the need to accommodate the mechanisms for recognition and signaling messages in the immune system, which is a capricious and demanding entity of immense complexity. Pattern (chemical) recognition by the innate immune system gives an immediate response. The specific adaptive immune response is more complex and is slow to generate.

The principal components of the immune system (table 5) [16] are the B and T lymphocytes and the bone marrow-derived antigen-presenting cells (dendritic cells, macrophages) that process and display fragments of proteins in MHC-1 or MHC receptors on their cell surfaces, where they recognize, signal and activate T and B cells of complementary specificity. The MHC receptors in which antigen fragments are displayed are morphologically diverse and restricting (allelic), allowing or not allowing a particular antigen to be bound in the groove of a particular MHC molecule. Antigen presentation by antigen-presenting cells must carry the specificity of the disease agent but with binding also by costimulatory ligands. B lymphocytes elicit specific antibodies, and cytotoxic T cells are the killer cells of cell-mediated immunity. T helper cells (Th) are of two kinds and secrete different cytokines. Th2 cells facilitate a type 2 humoral or antibody response, and Th1 cells facilitate a type 1 cellular response. Following completion of the immune response, long-term memory cells are retained as partially differentiated lymphocytes which are available for quick differentiation into active effector cells in an anamnestic response upon subsequent exposure to the complementary antigen.

The different effector cell responses fulfill different needs (table 6). Antibodies neutralize infectious agents, reduce viral load and prevent reinfection. Cytotoxic (killer) T cells destroy infected host cells by direct contact or disrupt viral replication in them by specific cytokine secretion [17–19]. It is important that the immune re**Table 7.** Selected vaccine targets for whichthere are no licensed products or existingproducts are in need of improvement

| Bacteria | Virus | Parasitic |
|------------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------|
| Tuberculosis (improved) | HIV-1 & 2 | Malaria |
| Leprosy | Herpes simplex | Schistosomiasis |
| Meningococcus B | Cytomegalovirus | Leishmaniasis |
| Nontypeable Haemophilus influenzae | Papillomavirus | Amebiasis |
| Streptococcus A & B | HTLV-1 (leukemia) | Funci |
| Staphylococcus | Rotavirus (improved)1 | Fungi |
| Pseudomonas | Norwalk agent | Listerlasmesis |
| Enterotoxic Escherichia coli | Hepatitis C, E, G | Candidiania |
| Shigella | Influenza (live) | Candidiasis |
| Helicobacter | Parainfluenza | Other |
| Chlamydia | Respiratory syncytial | Cancer |
| Gonorrhea | Dengue | Conformational: |
| Syphilis | Equine encephalitis | Amyloidosis- |
| Mycoplasma | West Nile encephalitis | Alzheimer's disease |

Based in part on the Jordan Report 2000 [6].

¹ Licensed but withdrawn.

spons be 'appropriately' balanced since excessive polarization to a type 2 or a type 1 response may reduce efficacy and may lead to immune dysfunction. As an example, use of live measles vaccine of an excessively high infectivity titer has been shown to induce type 2 polarization with an excessive humoral response, giving rise to suppression of cytotoxic T cells (immunodeficiency) and sometimes resulting in death from opportunistic infections [20–22]. Formalin-killed measles vaccine of inappropriate composition has been shown to lead to severe atypical measles in children upon subsequent exposure to wild measles virus in nature [22–24]. Inappropriate killed respiratory syncytial virus vaccine conditioned babies to severe pneumonitis and increased deaths upon exposure to wild virus in nature [22, 25, 26].

Targets for New or Improved Vaccines

Table 7 lists 35 infectious disease entities for which acceptable vaccines do not exist and that are worthy of consideration for vaccine development. The list includes viruses and bacteria that are of etiologic importance in cancer. The most important vaccine targets at the present time include improved tuberculosis, AIDS (HIV) and malaria preparations.

Existing BCG vaccines [27], in spite of their long-term use, are highly variable with respect to protective efficacy, which can vary from 0 to 80% [28]. The major problem

for vaccine development lies in the lack of definitive knowledge of which antigens tuberculosis bacilli secrete or display on their cell surface. Importantly, there is no reliable definition of the correlates of protection. Research struggles with an inadequate database, but the emerging definition of the genomics and proteomics of the organism will help in opening the way to a more rational approach to the problem [29, 30].

HIV agents that cause AIDS [31–36] are hypervariable with respect to surface antigens, and certain of the core antigens are also variable. Antibodies are not significantly effective against the disease, and the progressive loss of cell-mediated immunity opens the door to collapse of the immune system and to overwhelming opportunistic infections. After many years of failure, utilization of conserved antigens of HIV that are presented in vector prime/boost regimens and are directed at achievement of cell-mediated immunity show greater promise [35, 36].

The malaria parasite [37–40] undergoes multiple stages in its life cycle with extreme antigenic diversity in the merozoite phase. A rational target for attack may be in the liver stage, where expression of highly conserved antigens may predominate.

Vaccines arising from the present focus on cell-mediated as well as humoral immunity and future developments will be aided by definition of the genome and proteome of the relevant parasite. There is a commonality between all three diseases discussed above, with respect to the need to identify conserved antigens (mostly protein)

Vaccines for the 21st Century

Table 8. The amyloidoses

| Amyloidosis |
|--|
| Protein conformational disease assuming ordered aggregation |
| with beta sheet replacement of alpha helices |
| Cerebral amyloidosis – Alzheimer's disease |
| Precursor amyloid precursor protein is truncated to amyloid |
| beta protein (Aβ) |
| Aβ protein misfolds to aggregates and fibrils |
| Immunization of transgenic mice with AB vaccine reversed |
| memory and learning deficits |
| Prion spongiform encephalopathy |
| Scrapie of sheep, Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease and kuru of humans, |
| mad cow disease |
| Misfolding of native prion protein PrP ^c , giving rise to |
| 'infectious' PrP ^{sc} |

and to offer them in the context of achieving cellmediated immunity which will destroy the infected host cells outright. Antibodies may aid in reducing parasite load, but are otherwise of limited effectiveness. Importantly, we have no example of an effective therapeutic vaccine against an infectious disease agent, and there is no basis for belief that this approach will provide any significant solutions in the foreseeable future. Because of this, prophylactic vaccines, given before exposure to the parasite, must prevail.

Cancer and the Amyloidoses

Effective vaccines against cancer were long considered to be beyond the realms of possibility, but are now believed by some to be highly probable. In a sense, both cancer and the amyloidoses are chronic diseases, and effective vaccines will need to be therapeutic. Success rests on the hope for identification of antigens that are unique to the relevant tumor or amyloid and against which selected immune responses may be directed that are not achieved in the natural disease.

Cancer

The basis for pursuit of vaccines against nonviral cancers [41–45] lies in the fact that tumor cells do present antigens which are recognizable by the immune system and that are not found in significant amounts on normal cells. A common approach has been to isolate and identify unique antigens [46] and to present them to the immune system by a variety of delivery systems. Vaccination with antigens that mimic [47] the specificity of undefined tumor immunogens may expand the horizons of possibility. Pulsing of antigens onto dendritic cells or delivery by recombinant DNA vectors may facilitate the development of the needed cellular immune response. Prime/ boosting procedures are commonly employed. Immune modulators such as GM-CSF or IL-2 may increase the chance of achieving a strong immune response. An indolent immune system that is tolerant to antigen recognition or that is lacking in functioning components needed for a vigorous immune response may present a substantial barrier to immunotherapy in cancers. Irrespective of the complexity of the initiative, very numerous and diverse probes are being taken to clinical trials in human beings. Typically, claims for 'great promise' are made, but none has passed the acid test of licensure.

Amyloidosis

Amyloidosis [48] is considered to be a complex of protein conformational diseases [49, 50] in which different nascent cellular proteins that are chromosomally encoded fail to fold correctly and assume, instead, an ordered aggregation in which beta sheets replace most of the normal alpha helices [51] (table 8). Based on studies of amyloid formation in yeast [52, 53], four different models for fibril assembly have been proposed, the most recent being that of nucleated conformational conversion which proceeds following formation of oligomeric intermediates. Amyloid proteins have a fibrous form, are insoluble and may deposit out in tissues and organs throughout the body. The most commonly discussed amyloid disease of humans is that of cerebral amyloidosis, or Alzheimer's disease [48], which derives from misfolding of the normal amyloid beta protein, A β [54, 55]. The significance of A β amyloidosis in relation to vaccines can be seen in recent studies in transgenic mouse models for Alzheimer's disease in which the mice overexpress a mutant amyloid beta precursor protein, APP, or presenilin 1. Amyloid beta protein consists of 40 or 42 residues that are released through proteolytic cleavage of APP. As in humans, amyloid beta protein appears in aggregates and fibrils in plaques in the brains of affected mice in association with learning deficits [56]. Most importantly, it was found in two studies [55, 57, 58] that mice which were immunized with $A\beta$ protein developed antibodies that bound with $A\beta$ proteins in the brain and reversed Alzheimer's disease-like memory and learning deficits in the affected mice. The mode of action of the vaccine was not by reduction of plaques but rather by affecting some aspect of $A\beta$ protein metabolism. These findings are quite astounding and have opened the door to possible control of Alzheimer's disease in humans.



Fig. 1. The Biologics Enterprise. Usual flow of activities from basic discovery through to the product marketed.

The amyloid precursor protein in the Alzheimer model is different from the prion protein of the spongiform encephalopathies [48]. In prion diseases [59, 60], native cellular prion protein (PrP^c) may misfold in the presence of a template of 'infectious' misfolded prion scrapie protein, PrPsc, giving rise to insoluble fibrils which appear in plaques in the brain. The 'infectious' entity is a self-replicating peptide and is without nucleic acid [60, 61]. Such autocatalysis has been shown for other proteins as well [62]. Prions cause fatal neurodegenerative diseases [63, 64], including scrapie of sheep, Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease of humans and bovine spongiform encephalopathy of cattle, commonly referred to as 'mad cow disease' [65], which is transmissible to humans. Sheep scrapie prion protein is normally noninfectious for human beings but possibly may transmit by oral feeding of 'infected' beef, giving rise to the Creutzfeldt-Jakob syndrome. An alternative possibility is being investigated based on a concept of spontaneous mutation of protein of cattle [66]. It appears possible that the debate on the origins of mad cow disease may become as complicated and convoluted as that regarding the origin of the AIDS virus. It may be hoped that the findings with Alzheimer amyloid protein will provide clues for the treatment of Creutzfeldt-Jakob and 'mad cow' diseases of humans.

Biologics Enterprise

The Biologics Enterprise in the United States is a complex of entities that receive private or public funding and follow a prescribed course of events (fig. 1) [5, 36, 67]. Basic research discovery is carried out principally by academia. According to most recent concepts of the contract between science and society [5, 67, 68], government is charged with the responsibility to cover the gap between basic and applied research, taking product possibilities through targeted and basic research to the point of technical feasibility for development by industry [69]. In practice, industry may engage heavily in basic research itself, and biotech companies may make a particular vaccine or vaccines central to their programs. Large industrial pharmaceutical companies, however, assume major risk and enter commercial development at the point of proved feasibility, expecting to commit hundreds of millions of dollars to bring a product to licensure and market. Whatever the situation, the gap between basic and applied research [67, 69] is the most difficult to close technically and the most important deterrent to commercialization until bridged.

Basics in the Determination of New Vaccine Development

Decision for corporate entry into development and production of a new vaccine (table 9) is a serious consideration [5, 47, 67], since it requires an assumption of risk and commitment of large capital investment. Decisionmaking is complicated and is based on technical, market and business considerations. Such engagement must have societal importance while assuming a reasonable return to the corporate shareholders for their investment. Decisions are based on calculations and judgments [47] which, if favorable, allow a new product to be created.

Vaccines for the 21st Century

Table 9. Some basics for commercial new vaccine development – many are researched but few are licensed

| Technical aspects | Market aspects | Business aspects |
|------------------------|--|----------------------|
| Proven feasibility | Size and geography | Patent protection |
| Development costs | First or me too | Exclusivity |
| Process simplicity | Affordable or | Manufacturing costs |
| Approvability | Reimbursable | Capital investment |
| Time to licensure | Recommended or | Return on investment |
| Safety and efficacy | Mandated | Liability |
| Protection, duration | Dosing – number of shots | Distribution costs |
| Ease of administration | Favorable forecast Target populations | Costs and recapture |

In-house development and out-house licensing-in are driven by the same economic determinations of risk and return on capital.

Table 10. Technologic evolution by era, new vaccine research and development

| Period | Dominant technologies | Facilitators |
|--|---|---|
| Rational empiricism Late 17th to 21st centuries | live attenuated viruses and bacteria killed whole organisms proteins and polysaccharides extracted or secreted recombinant expression | adjuvant (alum) alum adjuvant |
| Transition to simplification Late 20th century | recombinant expression recombinant vectors virus, bacterium, replicon, DNA | adjuvant, modulators particulation, liposomes, VLP targeted to APC by ligands dermal or muscular injection |
| Reductionism and delivery | synthetic peptides epitopes | avoidance of added coupling, adjuvants and immune modulators |
| Challenges for the 21st century | delivery oral fed – r plant tissue mucosal transcutaneous pulsed onto dendritic cells | |

Technologic Evolution

The era from Jenner to the present (18th until the 21st century) has been dominated by rational empiricism (table 10) [3–5, 16, 19]. The technologies of the era consisted of live and killed microorganisms, extracted or released proteins and polysaccharides (some of which required conjugation) and recombinant-expressed protein. Live organisms [70] served as the ideal in eliciting host responses, especially when combined, as in the measles, mumps,

rubella vaccine [71, 72]. Whole killed organisms preserved the integrity of components of live microbes, frozen in form through cross-linking by formaldehyde.

At a time of transition toward simplification of vaccine approaches, the needs of the time led to the development of two human hepatitis B vaccines that were licensed in 1981 and 1986, respectively [73–75]. The vaccine consisted of the outer membrane proteins of a noncultivable virus. The *first* of the two vaccines [73] consisted of surface antigen extracted and purified from the plasma of

human carriers of the infection. The *second* vaccine [74, 75] came with the breakthrough development of the first recombinant-expressed vaccine. There have been no recombinant viral vaccine encores to the present time.

Proof of the principle of recombinant expression soon led to the development of probes of recombinant live viral and bacterial vector vaccines [76, 77]. Certain vectors, such as canary pox and alpha virus replicons, do not replicate in the human host. The ultimate in noninfectious vectors came into being with the recombinant plasmid DNA vaccine [78]. To date, no recombinant vector vaccine has attained licensure.

A hangover from many decades of effort has led to the now popular pursuit of immunogens that are referred to as peptide vaccines and that represent the ultimate in reductionism [79]. Practical accomplishment of this legacy of the 20th century will be a major challenge to the ingenuity of the 21st century. During this period, means for noninvasive vaccine delivery, as by the transdermal, mucosal or oral route, will also be pursued [80, 81].

Overview of Simplification and Reductionism

Simplification

It is clear that new and practicable approaches to vaccines for the 21st century must be discovered in order to achieve practical resolution of the problem of control of the plethora of uncontrolled diseases in humans. Such endeavor must occur in a global context for all the world's people.

The degree to which past and future approaches (table 11) are being applied to the future is revealed in the 1998 Jordan Report [82] of the US National Institutes of Health. A summary was made by the author [16] to compare the technologies applied for the licensed vaccines of the present with those of probes being taken to clinical tests. It can be seen in table 11 that 71 of the 211 clinical probes (34%) utilized the killed and live vaccine approaches. By contrast, 140 of the probes (66%) involved recombinant expression, vector or DNA vaccines. There is but a single example of recombinant-expressed vaccine, that against hepatitis B, to lend credibility to such an approach. It remains to be determined whether the pursuit of subunit vaccines is but a gamble of the present and future which can only be judged in terms of licensure of products during the next decade. To be sure, all are being hailed as promising, but the reality lies in demonstrated accomplishment. Vaccines against viruses such as hepatitis C, papillomavirus and cancers offer little or no alterna-

Vaccines for the 21st Century

Table 11. Comparison of technologies being applied to experimental viral vaccines and to licensed viral vaccines as revealed in the Jordan Report, 1998 [82]

| Technology | Number of vaccines | | |
|----------------------|--------------------|--------------------|--|
| | licensed products | clinical probes | |
| Live attenuated | 10 | 35 | |
| Killed | | | |
| Whole | 4 | 36 | |
| Split ¹ | 1 | | |
| Protein ² | | | |
| Plasma-derived | 1 | | |
| r expressed (yeast) | 12 | | |
| r expressed | 03 | 63 | |
| r vector | 0 | 56 | |
| r DNA | 0 | 21 | |

r = Recombinant.

Ether split influenza.
 Hopatitis P

² Hepatitis B.

³ Nothing since hepatitis B.

tive choice. It could well develop that the length of the expressed proteins, as contrasted with truncated peptides, may hold the clue to what may or may not be successful.

Reductionism

It has been a long-term aspiration of reductionists [46, 79, 83–86] in vaccinology to shuck off the last vestiges of whole-organism and protein vaccines of the past era of rational empiricism and to replace them with synthetic vaccines of defined chemical composition. Simplified synthetic vaccines consisting of minimal collections of epitopes are commonly referred to as peptide preparations. Such vaccines ideally consist of collections of epitopes alone, with or without adjuvants or immune modulators.

To achieve success, synthetic peptide vaccines must rely on identification and incorporation of pertinent and acceptable B cell, cytotoxic T cell and Th1 and Th2 immunologic determinants. B cell epitopes are mostly discontinuous, relying on conformational configuration to retain their immunologic specificity. Presentation of such globular peptides may require presentation of multiple epitope arrays by conjugation to a central protein matrix. A minority of linear epitopes can be recognized by B cells, but all T cells, both cytotoxic and helper, recognize epitopes in linear form. The selected epitopes for a vaccine

Table 12. Examples of tools used to assist antigen/epitope discovery and characterization

Genomic sequencing of pathogenic organisms Group specificity for variable types Predictive binding to MHC receptors Computer-assisted determinations

Proteomic expression and screening Rapid throughput assay

Combinational and peptide libraries Immune cell binding; specific stimulation

Phage

Transfection of fragments of DNA and peptide display Monoclonal antibody identification of epitopes Search for epitopes by overlapping peptide analysis Characterization of peptide fragments (epitopes) eluted from MHC receptors

Search for mimetopes, especially for polysaccharides



Fig. 2. Simplification and reduction create complexity.

must retain the specificity required to evoke appropriate immune responses. In addition, they must be selected to accommodate the restricted binding sites on the highly polymorphic MHC receptor proteins, overcoming allelic (polymorphic) restrictions in the human population. The actual numbers of specific epitopes that are able to achieve the requirements for MHC presentation in ordinary vaccines may be quite small, and overcoming such problems with a synthetic vaccine may be impossible. In addition, the B and T lymphocytes which are effective in an immune response must be capable of creating the long-

| Social contract between science and society – Gibbons [68] Produce reliable knowledge Communicate discoveries to society – transparent and socially robust | | | | |
|---|--|--|--|--|
| Players in the enterprise | | | | |
| Academia | discovers | | | |
| Government | funds | | | |
| Industry | translates knowledge to products (value) | | | |
| Health biology, now heavily funded, needs to attain: | | | | |
| Procedures and products in return for public support Efficiency by: Elimination of nonproductive redundancy Exercise of selective choice Prudent dedication to targeted gap-filling research, making product development feasible Elimination of foolish pursuits; responsibility and accountability Defining the WHAT of vaccine composition and the HOW of delivery | | | | |
| Pursuit of affordable and deliverable vaccines for the whole world population Oral fed, mucosal or transdermal vaccination | | | | |
| | | | | |

lived memory cells needed for late anamnestic recall responses. Finally, the vehicle for epitope delivery needs to be defined.

It is fortunate at this time, both for peptide and ordinary vaccines, that so many technologies for epitope identification exist (table 12). These represent state-of-the-art methodologies based on genomics, proteomics, combinational chemistry and DNA and peptide libraries, yielding antigens for tests in rapid throughput assays, with computer-assisted analyses [87–89].

As shown in figure 2, it seems a verifiable reality that simplification and reductionism may be inversely proportional to accomplishment because of the complexity and difficulty involved in their technical pursuit. Accomplishing a large immune response using less complex antigens, may be reaching a roadblock at the point of feasibility. This may be a warning reality for the future.

Vaccinology and Societal Responsibility

After the issue drifted along for many decades, Gibbons [68] has recently given voice to the social contract between science and society (table 13). According to the present understanding [5], science is expected to produce reliable knowledge and to communicate its discoveries to society in a pursuit that is socially robust and that is both transparent and participated in by society itself. The players in the contract, as applied to vaccines, are academia, government and industry. In this arrangement, academia mainly discovers, government funds and industry translates the knowledge into products once feasibility has been established [69].

The present is a time [5, 67] when US public (governmental) support for basic research in health biology is riding high, but with increasing demands for efficiency and effectiveness in developing procedures and products that provide a return to the public for its support. As to vaccine research, this may be a time for critical review to eliminate nonproductive redundancy, to exercise selective choice, to fix responsibility with accountability and to offer prudent dedication to the targeted research needed to span the bridge between basic knowledge and the feasibility needed for commercial translation into useful products. It may be a time also for a reality check on what is real and feasible, eliminating that which is foolish, since the vaccine enterprise will be held increasingly responsible and accountable to the public for prudent spending. The continuous high level of annual growth of the budget until 2003 is of serious concern, since the longterm commitments for individual grants will leave a dearth of money for new grants when the inevitable slowdown of annual growth begins after 2003 [90]. Most important for vaccine research is the need to identify which immunodeterminants to deliver in vaccines and how to deliver them. The guiding theme for all of this may reside in accomplishment of the tenets of the Declaration of New York. These may be difficult to achieve, but the development of multispecific vaccines that can be given orally, transdermally or mucosally may be the holy grail of future endeavor.

References

- Jenner E: An Inquiry into the Causes and Effects of the Variolae Vaccine. London, Lowe, 1798.
- 2 Plotkin SL, Plotkin SA: A short history of vaccination; in Plotkin SA, Orenstein WA (eds): Vaccine. Philadelphia, Saunders, 1999, pp 1– 12.
- 3 Hilleman MR: Vaccines in historic evolution and perspective: A narrative of vaccine discoveries. Vaccine 2000;18:1436–1447.
- 4 Hilleman MR: Personal historical chronicle of six decades of basic and applied research in virology, immunology, and vaccinology. Immunol Rev 1999;170:7–27.
- 5 Hilleman MR: Overview of vaccinology in historic and future perspective: The whence and whither of a dynamic science with complex dimensions; Ertl H (ed): DNA Vaccines. Georgetown, Landes Bioscience, in press (present access: Eurekah.com, http://www.eurekah.com/reports/vaccines/ertl/10/ertl10.html).
- 6 Heilman C, McInnes P, Gerber MA: Accelerated Development of Vaccines. The Jordan Report 2000. Bethesda, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, 2000.
- 7 Institute of Medicine, Committee to Study Priorities for Vaccine Development: New Vaccine Development: Establishing Priorities. Washington, National Academy, 1985, vol 1: Diseases of Importance in the United States.
- 8 Institute of Medicine, Committee to Study Priorities for Vaccine Development; Stratton KR, Durch JS, Lawrence RS (eds): Vaccines for the 21st Century: A Tool for Decisionmaking. Washington, National Academy, 2000.

- 9 Basch PF: Vaccines and Public Health. Science, Policy and Practice. New York, Oxford University Press, 1994.
- 10 Mahoney RT, Maynard JE: The introduction of new vaccines into developing countries. Vaccine 1999;17:646–652.
- 11 Bellamy C: The State of the World's Children, 2000. New York, United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 2000.
- 12 World Health Organization: World Health Report 2000. Health Systems: Improving Performance. Geneva, World Health Organization, 2000.
- 13 Nossal GJV: The Global Alliance for Vaccines and Immunization – a millennial challenge. Nat Immunol 2000;1:5–8.
- 14 Sachs J: Helping the world's poorest. Economist 1999;352:17–20.
- 15 Bloom BR, Widdus R: Vaccine visions and their global impact. Nat Med 1998;4(5 suppl):480-484.
- 16 Hilleman MR: Overview of vaccinology with special reference to papillomavirus vaccines. J Clin Virol 2000;19:79–90.
- 17 Chisari FV: Hepatitis B in transgenic mice: Insights into the virus and the disease. Hepatology 1995;22:1316–1325.
- 18 Guidotti LG, Chisari FV: Noncytolytic control of viral infections by the innate and adaptive immune response. Annu Rev Immunol 2001; 19:65–91.

- 19 Hilleman MR: Overview of the pathogenesis, prophylaxis and therapeusis of viral hepatitis B, with focus on reduction to practical applications. Vaccine 2001;19:1837–1848.
- 20 Halsey NA: Increased mortality after high titer measles vaccines: Too much of a good thing. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1993;12:462–465.
- 21 Garenne M, Leroy O, Beau JP, Sene I: Child mortality after high-titre measles vaccines: Prospective study in Senegal. Lancet 1991;338: 903–907.
- 22 Hilleman MR: Current overview of the pathogenesis and prophylaxis of measles with focus on practical implications. Vaccine 2001;20: 651–665.
- 23 Fulginiti VA, Eller JJ, Downie AW, Kempe CH: Altered reactivity to measles virus. Atypical measles in children previously immunized with inactivated measles vaccines. JAMA 1967;202:1075–1080.
- 24 Polack FP, Auwaerter PG, Lee S-H, Nousari HC, Valsomakis A, Leiferman KM, Diwan A, Adams RJ, Griffin DE: Production of atypical measles in rhesus macaques: Evidence for disease mediated by immune complex formation and eosinophils in the presence of fusion-inhibiting antibody. Nat Med 1999;5:629–634.
- 25 Kapikian AZ, Mitchell RH, Chanock RM, Shuldoff RA, Stewart CE: An epidemiologic study of altered clinical reactivity to respiratory syncytial (RS) virus infection in children previously vaccinated with an inactivated RS virus vaccine. Am J Epidemiol 1969;89:405– 421.

Vaccines for the 21st Century

- 26 Kim HW, Canchola JG, Brandt CD, Pyles G, Chanock RM, Jensen K, Parrott RH: Respiratory syncytial virus disease in infants despite prior administration of antigenic inactivated vaccine. Am J Epidemiol 1969:89:422–434.
- 27 McAdam KPWJ: Recent progress in bacterial vaccines: Tuberculosis. Int J Infect Dis 1997;1: 172–178.
- 28 Fine PE: Variation in protection to BCG: Implications of and for heterologous immunity. Lancet 1995;346:1339–1345.
- 29 Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J, Garnier T, Churcher C, Harris D, et al: Deciphering the biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from the complete genome sequence. Nature 1998; 393:537–544.
- 30 Behr MA, Wilson MA, Gill WP, Salamon H, Schoolnik GK, Rane S, Small PM: Comparative genomics of BCG vaccines by wholegenome DNA microarray. Science 1999;284: 1520–1523.
- 31 Haynes BF, Pantaleo G, Fauci AS: Toward an understanding of the correlates of protective immunity to HIV infection. Science 1996;271: 324–328.
- 32 Nabel G: Challenges and opportunities for development of an AIDS vaccine. Nature 2001; 19:1002–1007.
- 33 Rousseau MC, Moreau J, Delmont J: Vaccination and HIV: A review of the literature. Vaccine 2000;18:825–831.
- 34 Hilleman MR: The frustrating journey toward an AIDS vaccine. Proc Am Philos Soc 2000; 144:349–359.
- 35 Cohen J: AIDS vaccines show promise after years of frustration. Science 2001;291:1686– 1688.
- 36 Hilleman MR: A simplified vaccinologist's vaccinology and the pursuit of a vaccine against AIDS. Vaccine 1998;16:778–793.
- 37 Miller LH, Hoffman SL: Research toward vaccines against malaria. Nat Med 1998;4(5 suppl):520–524.
- 38 Holder AA: Malaria vaccines. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:1167–1169.
- 39 Doolan DL, Hedstrom RC, Gardner MJ, Sedegah M, Wang H, Gramzinski RA, Margalith M, Hobart P, Hoffman SL: DNA vaccination as an approach to malaria control: Current status and strategies. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 1998;226:37–56.
- 40 Le Scanf C, Fandeur T, Bonnefoy S, Guillotte M, Mercereau-Puijalon O: Novel targets of the variant-specific immune response to *Plasmo-dium falciparum* identified by differential screening of an expression library. Infect Immun 1999;67:64–73.
- 41 Chen C-H, Wu T-C: Experimental vaccine strategies for cancer immunotherapy. J Biomed Sci 1998;5:231–252.
- 42 Hipp JD, Hipp JA, Lyday BW, Minev BR: Cancer vaccines: An update. In Vivo 2000;14: 571–585.
- 43 Rosenberg SA: Progress in human tumour immunology and immunotherapy. Nature 2001; 411:380–384.

- 44 Zinkernagel RM: Immunity against solid tumors. Int J Cancer 2000;93:1–5.
- 45 Meidenbauer N, Andreesen R, Mackensen A: Dendritic cells for specific cancer immunotherapy. Biol Chem 2001;382:507–520.
- 46 Restifo NP: Cancer vaccines '98: A reductionistic approach. Bethesda, MD, USA, 27–28 April 1998. Mol Med Today 1998;4:327.
- 47 Struck M-M: Chances and risks of developing vaccines. Vaccines 1996;14:1301–1302.
- 48 Heck LW: The amyloid diseases; in Bennett JC, Plum F (eds): Cecil Textbook of Medicine. Philadelphia, Saunders, 1996, pp 1504–1506.
- 49 Kopito RR, Ron D: Conformational disease. Nat Cell Biol 2000;2:E207–E209.
- 50 Sipe JD, Cohen AS: Review: History of the amyloid fibril. J Struct Biol 2000;130:88–98.
- 51 Sadana A, Vo-Dinh T: Biomedical implications of protein folding and misfolding. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 2001;33:7–16.
- 52 Wickner RB, Edskes HK, Maddelein M-L, Taylor KL, Moriyama H: Prions of yeast and fungi. Proteins as genetic material. J Biol Chem 1999;274:555–558.
- 53 Kelly JW: Mechanisms of amyloidogenesis. Nat Struct Biol 2000;7:824–826.
- 54 Marx J: Neurobiology. New clue to the cause of Alzheimer's. Science 2001;292:1468.
- 55 Younkin SG: Amyloid β vaccination: Reduced plaques and improved cognition. Nat Med 2001;7:18–19.
- 56 Chen G, Chen KS, Knox J, Inglis J, Bernard A, Martin SJ, Justice A, McConlogue L, Games D, Freedman SB, Morris RG: A learning deficit related to age and β-amyloid plaques in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 2000;408:975–979.
- 57 Morgan D, Diamond DM, Gottschall PE, Ugen KE, Dickey C, Hardy J, Duff K, Jantzen P, DiCarlo G, Wilcock D, Connor K, Hatcher J, Hope C, Gordon M, Arendash GW: A β peptide vaccination prevents memory loss in an animal model of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 2000;408:982–985.
- 58 James C, Pearson J, McLaurin JA, Matthews PM, Jiang Y, Schmidt SD, Chishti MA, Horne P, Heslin D, French J, Mount HT, Nixon RA, Mercken M, Bergeron C, Fraser PE, St George-Hyslop P, Westaway D: A β peptide immunization reduces behavioral impairment and plaques in a model of Alzheimer's disease. Nature 2000;408:979–982.
- 59 Ironside JW: Prion diseases in man. J Pathol 1998;186:227–234.
- 60 Hope J: Prions and neurodegenerative diseases. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2000;10:568-574.
- 61 Aguzzi A: Prion diseases, blood and the immune system: Concerns and reality. Haematologica 2000;85:3–10.
- 62 Lee DH, Granja JR, Martinez JA, Severin K, Ghadiri MR: A self-replicating peptide. Nature 1996;382:525–528.

- 63 Brown P, Will RG, Bradley R, Asher D, Detwiler L: Bovine spongiform encephalopathy and variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease: Background, evolution, and current concerns. Emerg Infect Dis 2001;7:6–16.
- 64 Aguzzi A, Montrasio F, Kaeser PS: Prions: Health scare and biological challenge. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2001;2:118–126.
- 65 More than just mad cow disease (editorial). Nat Struct Biol 2001;8:281.
- 66 Balter M: Origins of BSE. Intriguing clues to a scrapie-mad cow link. Science 2001;292:827–829.
- 67 Hilleman MR: The business of science and the science of business in the quest for an AIDS vaccine. Vaccine 1999;17:1211–1222.
- 68 Gibbons M: Science's new social contract with society. Nature 1999;402(6761 suppl):C81– C84.
- 69 Hall ZW, Scott C: University-industry partnership. Science 2001;291:553.
- 70 Hilleman MR: Past, present and future of measles, mumps, and rubella vaccines. Pediatrics 1992;90:149–153.
- 71 Hilleman MR: The development of live attenuated mumps virus vaccine, its historic perspective and it's role in the evolution of combined measles-mumps-rubella; in Plotkin S, Fantini B (eds): Vaccinaia, Vaccination and Vaccinology: Jenner, Pasteur, and Their Successors. Paris, Elsevier, 1996, pp 283–292.
- 72 Hilleman MR: Combined measles, mumps, and rubella Vaccines; in Ellis RW (ed): Combination Vaccines: Development, Clinical Research, and Approval. Totowa, Humana, 1999, pp 197–211.
- 73 Hilleman MR: Plasma-derived hepatitis B vaccine – a breakthrough in preventive medicine; in Ellis RW (ed): Hepatitis B Vaccines in Clinical Practice. New York, Dekker, 1992, pp 17– 39.
- 74 Hilleman MR: Immunology, vaccinology and pathogenesis of hepatitis B; in Koprowski H, Oldstone MBA (eds): Microbe Hunters, Then and Now. Bloomington, Medi-Ed, 1996, pp 221–234.
- 75 Hilleman MR: Three decades of hepatitis vaccinology in historic perspective. A paradigm of successful pursuits; in Plotkin S, Fantini B (eds): Vaccinia, Vaccination and Vaccinology: Jenner, Pasteur and Their Successors. Paris, Elsevier, 1996, pp 199–209.
- 76 Kauffman EB, Bublot M, Gettig RR, Limbach KJ, Pincus SE, Taylor J: Live viral vaccines; in Ellis RW (ed): New Vaccine Technologies. Georgetown, Landes Bioscience, 2001, pp 101–132.
- 77 Kochi SK, Killeen KP: Live attenuated bacterial vectors; in Ellis RW (ed): New Vaccine Technologies. Georgetown, Landes Bioscience, 2001, pp 172–185.
- 78 Donnelly J, Ulmer J, Shiver JW, Liu M: DNA vaccines. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15:617– 648.
- 79 van Regenmortel MH: Pitfalls of reductionism in the design of peptide-based vaccines. Vaccine 2001;19:2369–2374.

- 80 Walmsley AM, Arntzen CJ: Plant derived vaccines; in Ellis RW (ed): New Vaccine Technologies. Georgetown, Landes Bioscience, 2001, pp 263–273.
- 81 Glenn GM: Transcutaneous immunization; in Ellis RW (ed): New Vaccine Technologies. Georgetown, Landes Bioscience, 2001, pp 292–304.
- 82 Gellin B (ed): The Jordan Report 98. Bethesda, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, 1998.
- 83 Suhrbier A: Multi-epitope DNA vaccines. Immunol Cell Biol 1997;75:402–408.
- 84 Tam JP: Recent advances in multiple antigen peptides. J Immunol Methods 1996;196:17– 32.
- 85 Jackson DC, Fitzmaurice CJ, Brown LE, Zeng W: Preparation and properties of totally synthetic immunogens. Vaccine 2000;18:355– 361.
- 86 Kieber-Emmons T, Luo P, Qiu J, Chang TY, Insug O, Blaszcyk-Thurin M, Steplewski Z: Vaccination with carbohydrate peptide mimotopes promotes anti-tumor responses. Nat Biotechnol 1999:17:660–665.
- 87 Moxon ER: Applications of molecular microbiology to vaccinology. Lancet 1997;350:1240–1244.
- 88 Banks RE, Dunn MJ, Hochstrasser DR, Sanchez J-C, Blackstock W, Pappin DJ: Proteomics: New perspectives, new biomedical opportunities. Lancet 2000;356:1749–1756.
- 89 Chakravarti DN, Fiske MJ, Fletcher LD, Zagursky RJ: Application of genomics and proteomics for identification of bacterial gene products as potential gene candidates. Vaccine 2001;19:601–612.
- 90 Malakoff D: The numbers. NIH prays for a soft landing after its doubling ride ends. Science 2001;292:1992–1995.

Intervirology 2002;45:212-217 DOI: 10.1159/000067912

Virus-Like Particles as a Modular System for Novel Vaccines

Franziska Lechner Andrea Jegerlehner Alain C. Tissot Patrik Maurer Peter Sebbel Wolfgang A. Renner Gary T. Jennings Martin F. Bachmann

Cytos Biotechnology AG, Zürich, Switzerland

Key Words

Virus-like particles · Vaccine · Antibody response · Self antigen · Adjuvant · Tolerance · Therapy

Abstract

Induction of protective immune responses with recombinant antigens is a major challenge for the vaccine industry. Here we present a molecular assembly system that renders antigens of choice highly repetitive. Using this method, efficient antibody responses may be induced in the absence of adjuvants resulting in protection from viral infection and allergic reactions.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Principles of Virus-Like Particle-Based Vaccines

The most potent vaccines used in the past consisted of attenuated or inactivated forms of whole pathogens. Attenuated pathogens especially are commonly excellent inducers of T cell as well as antibody responses, but there is always a slight risk of reversion to a more aggressive phenotype. A lot of effort has been made to develop similarly potent but safer vaccines. However, noninfectious subunits of pathogens such as proteins, peptides or sugars are poorly immunogenic per se and have to be formulated with immune-stimulating adjuvants. Unfortunately,

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0212\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int many potent adjuvants cause considerable side effects such as toxicity of inflammation and are not allowed for human use. Thus, novel effective and well-tolerated adjuvants are sorely needed [1-3].

It is known that B cells are efficiently activated by repetitive structures which lead to cross-linking of B cell receptors on the cell surface [4, 5]. The presentation of an antigen in a highly ordered, repetitive array normally provokes strong antibody responses and can even break B cell tolerance to self antigens, whereas the same antigen presented as a monomer is normally nonimmunogenic [6]. Examples of such repetitive antigenic arrays are type 1 pili of bacteria and the protein capsids or coats of most viruses. For instance, the capsid of hepatitis B virus consists of 180 or 240 identical core protein subunits which can be recombinantly expressed and self-assemble into noninfectious virus-like particles (VLP) [7, 8]. Two subunits each form a dimer which protrudes as a spike on the capsid also known as the major immunodominant region.

Strong antibody responses are generated against these well-exposed and repetitive domains, which would make them very suitable for the introduction of foreign antigens for vaccination [9]. However, insertion of foreign sequences, especially peptides longer than 15 amino acids, into this immunodominant region of the capsid protein often interferes with correct VLP formation [8].

Martin F. Bachmann Cytos Biotechnology AG Wagistrasse 25 CH–8952 Schlieren-Zürich (Switzerland) Tel. +41 1 733 47 07, Fax +41 1 733 46 59, E-Mail martin.bachmann@cytos.com



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of a modular system to attach an antigen containing a free cysteine (Cys) to a VLP (HBc) using a bifunctional cross-linker. Sulfo-MBS = Sulfo-m-maleimidobenzoyl-N-hydroxysuccinimide ester.

A Modular System to Render Any Antigen of Choice Strongly Immunogenic

We have generated noninfectious VLP and bacterial type 1 pili that contain one or several lysines in their immunoreactive region. On the antigen of choice, a linker with a cysteine is introduced which allows covalent linkage to the highly repetitive carrier using bifunctional cross-linkers. Since free cysteines in proteins are usually rare, coupling occurs via the genetically introduced additional cysteine (fig. 1). This modular system circumvents the problems of self-assembly often faced with antigens directly fused to the carrier and ensures that the antigens are optimally exposed in a repetitive manner on the surface of the carrier. In this way, modified sugars, peptides or whole proteins can be rendered highly immunogenic. Modified coats from several viruses can be used as VLP carriers, such as, for example, those from hepatitis B virus, polyoma virus, papillomavirus or RNA phage viruses. The use of specific attachment sites (lysine on the carrier and a single free cysteine on the antigen) and bifunctional cross-linkers ensures that the antigen of choice is coupled to the VLP in an oriented fashion. This is of great importance, since antigens need to be presented in an ordered fashion for efficient B cell receptor crosslinking. Moreover, it facilitates the generation of antibodies against certain exposed domains or peptide stretches. Antigens coupled to VLP induce strong and long-lasting B as well as T cell responses in the absence of adjuvants. Another way to display antigens in a repetitive manner on VLP is the use of biotin-streptavidin. VLP are biotinylated and assembled with a chosen antigen which has been expressed as a fusion protein with streptavidin [10]. Such vaccine preparations have been shown to be efficient. However, these vaccines may sometimes be difficult to produce, since fusion to streptavidin can interfere with proper refolding of the antigen. Hence, presentation of full-length antigens with this system may be difficult in many cases.

To demonstrate the strong immunogenicity of antigens coupled to VLP, a peptide of the M2 protein from influenza virus was either genetically fused to the N terminus of the hepatitis B capsid protein (HBc) or chemically linked to a lysine introduced into the immunodominant tip of HBc. As already reported by others [11], the fusion of the M2 peptide to HBc in this case did not interfere with VLP formation and was immunogenic. Both VLP vaccines induced M2-specific antibodies in mice after injection in the absence of adjuvants, but the response was much stronger using the coupled form of the antigen [12] (fig. 2). The lower response induced by genetically fused M2 peptide can most likely be explained by poorer accessibility to membrane-bound immunoglobulins on B cells. Fused M2 is partly buried within the particle, while the coupled M2 peptide is maximally exposed on the VLP. Similarly, mice immunized twice with the M2 peptide coupled to HBc in the absence of adjuvants were protected from a lethal challenge with influenza virus, whereas the antibody titers generated by the M2 peptide fused to HBc were not sufficient to protect the mice.

VLP as Vaccines



Fig. 2. A peptide derived from the influenza protein M2 was either genetically fused to the N terminus of HBc (fused) or chemically linked to HBc (coupled). Mice were immunized twice, on day 0 and day 15, with 20 μ g of protein in saline. M2 peptide-specific antibody titers in serum were determined at different time points. Average values of 3 mice each are shown. OD = Optical density.

Fig. 3. Mice were vaccinated subcutaneously on day 0 and day 14 with different amounts of a vaccine consisting of an HIV-derived peptide coupled to VLP. Peptide-specific antibodies in serum were measured on day 21. Results are shown as optical density (OD; at 450 nm) for individual serum dilutions. Average values of 2 mice each are shown. 1 μ g of vaccine was sufficient to induce strong antibody responses.

Fig. 4. Induction of peptide-specific IgG antibodies in serum by VLP administered by different routes. Mice were vaccinated by different routes on day 0 and day 14 with 10 μ g of vaccine consisting of influenza M2 peptide coupled to VLP in saline. M2 peptide-specific antibody titers were determined on day 21. Average values of 2 mice each are shown. OD = Optical density.

Not only peptides but also entire proteins can be coupled to VLP. For this purpose, a linker containing a free cysteine is fused to the protein, which enables directed coupling to the carrier.

VLP-Based Vaccines Are Safe and Effective in Low Amounts

Antigens coupled to VLP induce strong and long-lasting B as well as T cell responses. These vaccines are well tolerated and safe because they are noninfectious and are immunogenic without the use of irritating adjuvants. In human studies, it has been shown that human papillomavirus VLP are similarly immunogenic when given at a sufficient dose intramuscularly without adjuvants as in combination with alum or MF59, indicating that adjuvants are not necessarily needed for VLP vaccines [13].

We found that in mice, as little as 1 μ g of a vaccine consisting of a peptide coupled to a VLP in saline induced high serum IgG against the coupled peptide (fig. 3). The same was true for proteins coupled to VLP.

VLP administered by different routes reproducibly resulted in good antibody titers in mice. VLP-based vaccines are similarly effective in inducing serum IgG when given intravenously, subcutaneously, intramuscularly, intraperitoneally and, to a somewhat lesser degree, intranasally (all without adjuvants) (fig. 4).

In addition, intranasal application of VLP-based vaccines induced antigen-specific mucosal IgA in the lung (and possibly other sites [14]), which could be important for mucosal protection against certain pathogens (fig. 5). This type of vaccine is effective in the absence of cholera toxin subunit adjuvant, therefore reducing the risk of mucosal irritation and other unwanted side effects.

VLP-Based Vaccines for the Treatment of Allergy

Similarly high titers of IgG antibodies are obtained against antigens which have been coupled to VLP and to bacterial type 1 pili. Type 1 pili are made of a helical array of densely packed FimA proteins which display several accessible lysines and are therefore suitable for coupling of antigens in a repetitive fashion. However, the IgG isotypes obtained with pili as a carrier were predominantly of the IgG1 isotype, indicative of a T helper type 2 (Th2) immune response, whereas VLP were strong inducers of specific IgG2a antibodies, indicative of a T helper type 1



Fig. 5. Induction of mucosal IgA by intranasal vaccination. Mice were vaccinated intranasally on day 0 and day 14 with 10 µg of vaccine consisting of M2 peptide coupled to VLP in saline. M2 peptide-specific IgG and IgA were determined on day 21 in serum and lung lavage samples (1 ml/mouse). Results are shown as optical density (OD; at 450 nm) for individual serum or lavage sample dilutions. Average values of 2 mice each are shown. Only mice vaccinated intranasally showed specific IgA in serum and lung.

(Th1) response. Neither of the carriers induced IgE antibodies in mice. The difference in antibody isotypes generated by different carriers could be exploited for the development of specific vaccines. Allergy is characterized by a Th2 immune response, leading to the secretion of cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-5 and the production of allergen-specific IgE as well as IgG1. By coupling an allergen to a Th1-driving carrier, the allergic response may be reversed by vaccination, finally leading to the production of nonallergenic antibodies and Th1 cytokines such as IFN-y and/or suppression of Th2 responses. Treatment of mice sensitized to the house dust mite allergen Der p 1 with Ty VLP fused to a Der p 1 peptide led to decreased IL-5 production [15]. Moreover, coupling of a Der p 1-derived peptide to an RNA phage-derived VLP induced a strong IgG2a response against the peptide but no detectable IgE (fig. 6). To test the hypothesis that vaccination with allergens bound to VLP may be able to cure allergies, we coupled the immunodominant allergen of been venom, phospholipase A2 (PLA2), to a VLP carrier and treated mice who had been sensitized to PLA2. Only vaccinated but not untreated mice made high levels of IgG2a antibodies to PLA2, indicative of a Th1 response, and were protected

Fig. 6. Induction of allergen-specific IgG2a antibodies. Mice were vaccinated twice on day 0 and day 14 with 10 μ g of Der p 1 peptide (amino acids 117–138) coupled to VLP in saline. Peptide-specific antibody isotypes in serum were analyzed on day 21. For IgE determination by ELISA, sera were pretreated with protein G. Optical densities (OD; at 450 nm) are shown for individual serum dilutions. Average values of 3 mice are shown. Whereas IgG2a antibodies were readily detected, no specific IgE was found.

from an anaphylactogenic challenge with PLA2 [Lechner, unpubl. results]. This approach could possibly be used for desensitization of allergic patients. Certain allergies can be treated by repeated injection of low doses of allergen (e.g. bee venom, house dust mite extract, birch pollen).

 $[\]begin{array}{c}
1.0 \\
0.8 \\
0.6 \\
0.4 \\
0.2 \\
0 \\
1gG1
\end{array}$ $\begin{array}{c}
1/150 \\
1/450 \\
1/450 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,350 \\
1/1,$

VLP as Vaccines



Fig. 7. TNF- α protein-specific antibodies in vaccinated mice. **a** Mice were vaccinated on day 0, 14 and 33 with 30 µg of vaccine consisting of TNF- α peptide (amino acids 3–21) coupled to type 1 pili. TNF- α protein-specific antibodies were analyzed by ELISA at different time points. **b** Mice were vaccinated on day 0 and day 14 with 50 µg of TNF- α peptide coupled to HBc VLP. The vaccine was injected subcutaneously either in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) or in Freund's incomplete adjuvant (IFA), and the sera were analyzed on day 21. Optical densities (OD; at 450 nm) are shown for individual serum dilutions. Average values of 3 mice are shown.

This desensitization procedure is very costly and timeconsuming but generally effective. Vaccination with immunodominant allergens coupled to VLP should hasten the desensitization procedure, thus making it affordable and more convenient for a greater number of patients.

VLP-Based Vaccines in Immunotherapy

In the past few years, substantial progress has been made in the field of immunotherapy using specific antibodies for the treatment of chronic diseases or cancer. For example, TNF-α-binding antibodies proved very effective for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis and other chronic inflammatory diseases. An antibody against CD20 used in cancer therapy and an antibody against IgE for the treatment of allergies are other examples of immunotherapeutic antibodies [16, 17]. Some disadvantages of therapeutic antibody treatment are the high production costs and the eventual development of anti-antibodies leading to side effects following injection [18]. If the patient could make these specific antibodies him/herself, one would expect that they would be well tolerated since they would be entirely 'self', as opposed to some currently tested therapeutic antibodies which are humanized but not fully of human origin. VLP-based vaccines are able to break tolerance to 'self' because the repetitiveness of the presented antigens induces very strong B cell activation [6]. In addition, potent T helper epitopes are provided by

the carrier, which is of great importance since tolerance or 'ignorance' at the B cell level can more easily be overcome than tolerance at the T cell level (T cells against self antigens are often severely anergized or deleted) [19, 20]. If designed appropriately, vaccines consisting of self antigens coupled to VLP should be able to directly induce similar antibodies in the patient to those currently being applied in immunotherapy. In addition, vaccination will be cheaper and possibly also more long-lasting than antibody injection. We tested this approach in mice using peptides derived from TNF-a which were chemically coupled to VLP. Specific antibody titers to TNF- α protein were induced after three injections and then decreased approximately 4-fold by day 106. Surprisingly, titers obtained with the vaccine in Freund's incomplete adjuvant were not superior to the ones obtained with the vaccine in saline (fig. 7). Others have found similar results using the biotin-streptavidin system to attach the TNF- α peptide to VLP [10]. In addition, it was shown that the induced antibodies were protective in a model of rheumatoid arthritis in mice. These promising results demonstrate that VLPbased vaccination with self antigens may be used for the treatment of chronic diseases and in certain cases could replace costly immunotherapy with antibodies. For vaccination against self antigens, it is of course important that a careful evaluation of potential side effects has been made. Not all self antigens would be equally suited for such an approach, but experiences from clinical trials with therapeutic antibodies have shown that certain antigens can be

Lechner/Jegerlehner/Tissot/Maurer/Sebbel/ Renner/Jennings/Bachmann

targeted for a prolonged time without serious side effects. Ideally, therapeutic vaccination induces high but relatively transient antibody responses which may be boosted if needed. In mice, the half-life of specific antibody titers both against self as well as foreign antigens ranged between 30 and 100 days, depending on the antigen and the dosage used. We have conducted a small pilot study in humans to test the immunogenicity of VLP carriers and the reversibility of the antibody response. For this purpose, an RNA phage-derived VLP was injected three times and VLP-specific antibody titers were followed over time. From this study, it was estimated that after each injection, the half-life of the antibody titer in the serum was in the same range as that observed in mice. From these results and the ones obtained in mice, it can be concluded that the reversibility of therapeutic vaccines should not be of significant concern.

Conclusions

First human vaccine trials have been completed with VLP derived from papilloma virus, Norwalk virus, parvovirus and HIV and recombinant hybrid Ty VLP [12, 21–24]. In general, these vaccines were immunogenic and very well tolerated. The extraordinary immunogenicity of VLP can be transferred to any antigen of choice by attaching it to the VLP carrier in a repetitive and ordered manner. Thus, attaching antigens to VLP gives a viral fingerprint to the antigen and renders them as immunogenic as the underlying viral surface. These encouraging results suggest that vaccines based on antigens coupled to VLP could soon become invaluable tools both for disease prevention and therapy.

References

- Singh M, O'Hagan D: Advances in vaccine adjuvants. Nat Biotechnol 1999;17:1075– 1081.
- 2 Moingeon P, Haensler J, Lindberg A: Towards the rational design of Th1 adjuvants. Vaccine 2001;19:4363–4372.
- 3 Bachmann MF, Jennings GT: Challenges and new approaches for the vaccine industry. Drug Discov Today 2001;6:566–568.
- 4 Bachmann MF, Zinkernagel RM: Neutralizing antiviral B cell responses. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15:235–270.
- 5 Chackerian B, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Induction of autoantibodies to mouse CCR5 with recombinant papillomavirus particles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:2373–2378.
- 6 Bachmann MF, Rohrer UH, Kundig TM, Burki K, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM: The influence of antigen organization on B cell responsiveness. Science 1993;262:1448–1451.
- 7 Crowther RA, Kiselev NA, Bottcher B, Berriman JA, Borisova GP, Ose V, Pumpens P: Three-dimensional structure of hepatitis B virus core particles determined by electron cryomicroscopy. Cell 1994;77:943–950.
- 8 Pumpens P, Borisova GP, Crowther RA, Grens E: Hepatitis B virus core particles as epitope carriers. Intervirology 1995;38:63–74.
- 9 Kratz PA, Bottcher B, Nassal M: Native display of complete foreign protein domains on the surface of hepatitis B virus capsids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:1915–1920.
- 10 Chackerian B, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Conjugation of a self-antigen to papillomavirus-like particles allows for efficient induction of protective autoantibodies. J Clin Invest 2001;108: 415–423.

- 11 Neirynck S, Deroo T, Saelens X, Vanlandschoot P, Jou WM, Fiers W: A universal influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of the M2 protein. Nat Med 1999;5: 1157–1163.
- 12 Jegerlehner A, Tissot A, Lechner F, Sebbel P, Erdmann I, Kündig T, Bächi T, Storni T, Jennings G, Pumpens P, Renner WA, Bachmann MF: A molecular assembly system that renders antigens of choice highly repetitive for induction of protective B cell responses. Vaccine 2002;20:3104–3112.
- 13 Harro CD, Pang YY, Roden RB, Hildesheim A, Wang Z, Reynolds MJ, Mast TC, Robinson R, Murphy BR, Karron RA, Dillner J, Schiller JT, Lowy DR: Safety and immunogenicity trial in adult volunteers of a human papillomavirus 16 L1 virus-like particle vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:284–292.
- 14 Balmelli C, Roden R, Potts A, Schiller J, De Grandi P, Nardelli-Haefliger D: Nasal immunization of mice with human papillomavirus type 16 virus-like particles elicits neutralizing antibodies in mucosal secretions. J Virol 1998; 72:8220–8229.
- 15 Hirschberg S, Layton GT, Harris SJ, Savage N, Dallman MJ, Lamb JR: CD4(+) T cells induced by virus-like particles expressing a major T cell epitope down-regulate IL-5 production in an ongoing immune response to Der p 1 independently of IFN-gamma production. Int Immunol 1999;11:1927–1934.
- 16 Glennie MJ, Johnson PW: Clinical trials of antibody therapy. Immunol Today 2000;21: 403–410.

- 17 Reichert JM: Monoclonal antibodies in the clinic. Nat Biotechnol 2001;19:819–822.
- 18 Clark M: Antibody humanization: A case of the 'Emperor's new clothes'? Immunol Today 2000;21:397–402.
- 19 Goodnow CC, Adelstein S, Basten A: The need for central and peripheral tolerance in the B cell repertoire. Science 1990:248:1373–1379.
- 20 Weigle WO: Analysis of autoimmunity through experimental models of thyroiditis and allergic encephalomyelitis. Adv Immunol 1980;30: 159–273.
- 21 Evans TG, Bonnez W, Rose RC, Koenig S, Demeter L, Suzich JA, O'Brien D, Campbell M, White WI, Balsley J, Reichman RC: A phase 1 study of a recombinant viruslike particle vaccine against human papillomavirus type 11 in healthy adult volunteers. J Infect Dis 2001;183:1485–1493.
- 22 Ball JM, Graham DY, Opekun AR, Gilger MA, Guerrero RA, Estes MK: Recombinant Norwalk virus-like particles given orally to volunteers: Phase I study. Gastroenterology 1999; 117:40–48.
- 23 Benson EM, Clarkson J, Law M, Marshall P, Kelleher AD, Smith DE, Patou G, Stewart GJ, Cooper DA, French RA: Therapeutic vaccination with p24-VLP and zidovudine augments HIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity in asymptomatic HIV-infected individuals. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1999;15:105– 113.
- 24 Pastrana DV, Vass WC, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: NHPV16 VLP vaccine induces human antibodies that neutralize divergent variants of HPV16. Virology 2001;279:361–369.

Intervirology 2002;45:218-232 DOI: 10.1159/000067915

Molecular Epidemiology and Immunology of Hepatitis B Virus Infection – An Update

Paul Pumpens^a Elmars Grens^a Michael Nassal^b

^aBiomedical Research and Study Centre, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia; ^bDepartment of Internal Medicine II/ Molecular Biology, University Hospital Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

Key Words

Hepatitis B virus · Epidemiology · Immunology · Genotypes · Subtypes · Viral proteins · Epitopes · Antigenicity · Immunogenicity · Virus-like particles

Abstract

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) continues to be one of the most important viral pathogens in humans. This review provides an update on the molecular epidemiology and immunology of HBV infection. DNA sequencing has allowed replacement of the initial serotypic classification of HBV strains by a more systematic genotype system that currently consists of 7 members (genotypes A-G). More recently, sequence analysis of virus isolates from many individual patients has revealed the occurrence of certain mutational hot spots in the genome, some of which appear to correlate with the patient's immunological and/or disease status; however, cause and effect are not always easily discernible. This holds particularly for the issue of whether virus variants exist that have, per se, an increased pathogenic potential; due to the scarcity of appropriate experimental in vivo models, such hypotheses are difficult to prove. Similarly, because of the compact organization of the HBV genome, almost every single mutation may have pleiotropic phenotypic effects. Nonetheless, there is accumulating evidence that at least

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0218\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int some frequently observed mutations are causally related to viral escape from selective pressures, such as the presence of antibodies against dominant B cell epitopes, or drugs that inhibit the viral reverse transcriptase; possibly, this is also true for the cellular immune response. Therefore, despite the availability of an effective prophylactic vaccine, further extensive efforts are required to monitor the emergence of vaccination- and therapyresistant HBV variants and to prevent their spread in the general population.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Despite unceasing efforts of the medical community, hepatitis B remains, besides hepatitis C, the most serious type of viral hepatitis and one of the major problems of global public health. According to the latest World Health Organization fact sheets, 'of the 2 billion people who have been infected with the hepatitis B virus (HBV), more than 350 million have chronic infections. These chronically infected persons are at high risk of death from cirrhosis of the liver and liver cancer, diseases that kill about 1 million persons each year' [1]. The risk of death from HBV-related liver cancer or cirrhosis is approximately 25% for chronically infected persons. Moreover, recent findings

LV-1067 Riga (Latvia)

P. Pumpens

Biomedical Research and Study Centre Ratsupites Street 1

Tel. +371 7808214/7808200, Fax +371 7442407, E-Mail paul@biomed.lu.lv



Fig. 1. Location of immunological epitopes and major mutation clusters on the genetic map of HBV. The HBV genome of the genotype A, 3,221 nt in length, with the unique *Eco*RI site as an nt numbering start point, is chosen for illustration. For clarity, the HBV genome is linearized at the start of the gene C, namely at the preC start codon. The four overlapping genes C, P, S and X are shown with the numbers indicating their boundaries. Protein products of these genes are shown as horizontal arrows. Promoter and enhancer regions are depicted as bars, with the basal core promoter in black. Immunological epitopes are compiled from previous reports [28, 184] and shown as triangles: open = T; filled = B; open inverted = CTL. Polymerase domains are shown as rectangles: filled = B (binding); open = C (catalytic). Positions of mutation clusters are depicted by vertical arrows. Main classes of mutations are coupled by brackets.

suggest a role of HBV infection in the pathogenesis of carotid arteriosclerosis, at least in the Japanese population [2]. Not only is HBV the only DNA virus among the human hepatitis viruses, it is also the only type causing chronic hepatitis for which an efficient prophylactic vaccine is available.

HBV belongs to the *Orthohepadnavirus* genus of the *Hepadnaviridae* family, which is related to the large order of *Retroid* viruses. Within a size of only about 3.2 kb, its compact, partially double-stranded DNA genome is extremely small; it bears four highly overlapping open reading frames (ORFs), i.e. S, C, P and X, which encode at least 8 proteins (fig. 1). There are surface proteins (LHBs, MHBs, SHBs or simply HBs) encoded by the S gene, three are core-derived proteins (preC, HBc, HBe) encoded by the C gene, and the two proteins Pol and HBx are encoded by the P and X genes, respectively. Extensive systematic reviews of the molecular biology of HBV have been published recently [3–5].

HBV is transmitted by exposure to infected blood or body fluids. Worldwide, most HBV infections occur peri-

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection

natally, by household child-to-child and sexual contacts and from unsafe injections and transfusions. In Western Europe and North America, sexual activity and intravenous drug abuse during young adulthood, as well as the exposure of professional health workers to contaminated blood products are the main causes of HBV transmission.

The prevalence of HBV varies tremendously in different parts of the world, with a much higher incidence in the Eastern than in the Western Hemisphere. In the developing world, i.e. sub-Saharan Africa, most of Asia and the Pacific, most people become infected with HBV during childhood. Since young HBV-infected children usually develop chronic infection, 8–10% of the population in this region are chronically infected [1]. High rates of chronic HBV infection are also found in the Amazonian region and the southern parts of Eastern and Central Europe. In the Middle East and Indian subcontinent, about 5% of the population are chronically infected. In Western Europe and North America, the chronic carrier rate is at or below 1% [1, 6]. **Table 1.** Geographical distribution of HBV genotypes [compiled from ref. 178–181] and prognosis of specified course of viral mutations and hepatic disease [based on ref. 22, 26, 51, 182, 183]

| Geno- type | Geographical distribution area | Specific prognosis on the basis of established features | | |
|---------------|--|---|--|------------------|
| | | mutations | course of disease | typical sequelae |
| A | Northern Europe, sub-Saharan Africa | preC – rare | more inflammation and fibrosis than in other, T1858-containing genotypes | chronization |
| В | Eastern Asia, Far East | BCP – less than in genotype C | less inflammation than in genotype C | НСС |
| С | Eastern Asia, Far East | BCP – more than in genotype B | more inflammation than in genotype B | cirrhosis, HCC |
| D | Mediterranean, Near and Middle East, South Asia | preC – often | severe after transplantation | NS |
| E | Western sub-Saharan Africa | NS | NS | NS |
| F | Central and South America | preC – only in the strains with T1858 | NS | NS |
| G | southern France; Georgia, USA | NS | NS | NS |
| | | | | |

BCP = Basal core promoter; NS = no established specificity; HCC = hepatocellular carcinoma.

Epidemiology of HBV Genotypes

Initially, serological grouping revealed a basic set of HBV subtypes, namely *adw, ayw, adr* and *ayr*, representing the immunological properties of the HBs as a combination of a common immunodominant determinant *a* with at least two mutually exclusive subdeterminants, i.e. *d*, or *y*, and *w* or *r*. In total, 9 serotypes (*ayw1*, *ayw2*, *ayw3*, *ayw4*, *ayr*, *adw2*, *adw4*, *adrq-*, *adrq+*) were described. DNA sequencing formed the basis for a genetic nomenclature of HBV [7–9] that allowed more accurate investigation of the geographical distribution of HBV genotypes (table 1). It is important to note that these genotypes do not directly correspond to the serotypes mentioned above [for the origin and evolution of the HBV genotypes, see ref. 10].

Recent findings of infection in Old and New World primates in the wild (chimpanzee, gibbon, orangutan and woolly monkey) suggest the existence of a set of speciesspecific HBV variants that do not phylogenetically cluster with the established human HBV genotypes [11–17]. However, except for the clearly divergent woolly monkey HBV, it is still controversial whether these primate HBVs do circulate in nature. Contrary to earlier belief, there is also evidence for recombination between HBV genomes [18–20], although the mechanism is unclear and, in contrast to retroviruses, most likely not directly related to the normal mode of HBV replication.

The HBV genotypes play a significant [21–25], but not always clearly established role in the appearance and distribution of mutations. Less is known about the clinical importance of the HBV genotypes per se for the outcome of liver disease, although clinical differences between the HBV genotypes B and C have been found [26], and genotype A has been suggested to be connected with a higher chronicity rate [27]. A brief summary of this topic is given in table 1.

Immunology of HBV Infection

HBV is preferentially hepatotropic but not directly cytopathic for infected hepatocytes. Both the cellular and the humoral arms of the immune response are essential for viral clearance; the cellular response is also believed to be responsible for disease pathogenesis and thus the clinical manifestations of HBV infection [for comprehensive reviews, see ref. 28–33]. Resolution of infection in acute hepatitis B is typically associated with a vigorous, polyclonal, multispecific CD4+ T helper and CD8+ cytotoxic

T lymphocyte (CTL) response. Infected hepatocytes are recognized and destroyed by HBV-specific CTLs directed against the HBV proteins, peptides of which are bound to class I human leukocyte antigens (HLA) and presented on the cell surface.

Antibodies against surface proteins (anti-HBs, as well as anti-preS1 and anti-preS2), produced with the help of the CD4+ T helper cells, ensure humoral immunity and prevent (re)infection. While killing of infected cells was previously considered the most important pathway for virus elimination, experiments in transgenic HBV-producing mice [34] led to the concept that clearance during human HBV infection may be primarily due to a noncytopathic mechanism in which HBV-specific CTLs, mediated mainly by inflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ and TNF- α [35], abolish HBV gene expression and replication. Strong evidence favouring an important role for this non-cytopathic clearance mechanism was recently obtained in chimpanzees [36] and human patients [37– 40].

The recent development of HLA-peptide tetrameric complexes able to directly visualize HBV-specific CD8+ cells has allowed for a direct correlation of their frequency with liver damage [41]. Unexpectedly, the frequency of intrahepatic CD8+ cells specific for the immunodominant HBV core CTL epitope 18-27 in chronically HBVinfected patients was much higher in individuals who had low viral replication and no liver inflammation than in those with high replication and liver inflammation [37]. Hence, inhibition of viral replication can be independent of liver damage. This supports the view that the central immune events, i.e. virus-specific immune responses and reduction of viral replication, occur before symptomatic disease in hepatitis patients [38-40], and that IFN-y, TNF- α and IFN- α/β play a central role in the early noncytopathic downregulation of HBV replication without accompanying liver damage [42].

It remains clear, though, that patients who fail to mount a vigorous immune response in the acute hepatitis B phase develop chronic infection. In these cases, the persisting ineffective immune response and/or deployment of HBV mutants appear to be responsible for liver damage and, likely, initiating the process of hepatic fibrosis [29, 32]. Decreased telomerase activity of lymphocytes in chronic hepatitis B patients may be partly responsible for the immunosuppressive condition in such patients [43]. Weak or inadequate T cell and CTL responses to the corederived proteins may be the most important factors in chronic hepatitis B [31]. Mutations in the latter may contribute strongly to the weakening of such immune responses [44, 45]. In general, as a consequence of several combined escape mutations, HBV could become completely invisible to both the humoral and the cellular response.

Epidemiology of HBV Mutants

The mutability of HBV appears now to be much higher than was expected in the early 1980s. Theoretically, the RNA-dependent replication of HBV may lead to 2×10^{-4} base substitutions per site per year, which is four orders of magnitude greater than in genuine DNA viruses, but less than in RNA viruses [46]. Long deletions are emerging, however, by other mechanisms [for discussion, see ref. 32]. The peak production of progeny virions has been estimated to be around 10^{13} virions per day per patient, such that every possible single mutation could, theoretically, be generated every day [47].

Nonetheless, the HBV genome appears to be extremely stable during the HBe-positive phase when the immune response (inflammation) is weak, with an average of 1.6 mutations over about 25 years; by contrast, an average of 20 mutations were found after development of hepatitis and/or loss of the HBe protein, i.e. in the presence of a strong host immune response. Although no association with clinical outcome was obvious [48], this strongly supports the idea that the virus population does respond to the selective pressure of the immune response. It should be emphasized that HBV mutants may coexist with wildtype viruses in the majority of cases where such mutants are found. Such mixed infections can hardly be mimicked experimentally, and their consequences for the biological fitness of individual virus mutants, as well as the clinical consequences, are largely unexplored.

Under the influence of the natural immune response as well as of vaccination and antiviral therapy, mutations can emerge in genomic regulatory elements and all four viral ORFs, enabling the virus to escape these selective pressures (for more details, see recent reviews [25, 32, 49– 52]). The location of the most studied HBV mutations on the genomic map of HBV is shown in figure 1. In general, the enhancer II/core promoter (E_{II}/C_P), preC stop codon (preC) and enhancer I/X promoter (E_I/X_P) mutants appear to be associated with disease severity and progression. Mutations in the core antigen contribute strongly to immune escape at the T helper and CTL level. Surface antigen mutants allow for escape from humoral immune responses and reduce the effectiveness of diagnostics and vaccination. Polymerase mutants are generally of the

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection

therapy escape type, and they may render the virus resistant to chemotherapeutic treatment. It should be noted, however, that owing to the overlapping arrangement of ORFs and regulatory elements on the HBV genome, almost every single mutation will influence more than one function of the corresponding nucleotide (nt) sequence; this severely complicates clear-cut interpretations as to what benefit a specific mutation confers on the virus. At least in some cases, however, the corresponding phenotypes are strongly suggestive of a specific escape mechanism.

Core Promoter (E_{II}/C_P) and PreC Mutants

The most characteristic feature of this group of HBV mutants is a decreased or abolished production of the preC protein and its secreted processing product HBe, either by influencing transcription or by nonsense mutations in the preC ORF. A recent detailed analysis shows that the HBe-negative mutants are more common than previously suspected, and their prevalence is increasing over time [25]. These mutants are present worldwide, with marked variations in prevalence across different geographical regions. The median prevalence of the HBe-negative mutants among patients with chronic HBV infection drops from 33% in the Mediterranean to 15% in Asia Pacific and 14% in the USA and Northern Europe. The preC mutants are absolutely prevalent in the Mediterranean, while the core promoter mutants dominate in Asia [25]. An exhaustive review of the diagnosis and treatment of the preC mutants has recently been published [52].

E_{II}/C_P Mutants

Synthesis of both pregenomic and the 5'-terminally extended precore RNA is controlled by the E_{II}/C_{P} region; hence, mutations in this region can influence the ratio of the two transcript classes. The basal core promoter sequence (nt 1744-1804) is the most important of the numerous regulatory elements that have been mapped within the E_{II}/C_P region. The BCP mutations at nt 1762 $(A \rightarrow T)$ and 1764 ($G \rightarrow A$) are most frequently observed in HBV-infected patients with chronic hepatitis, hepatocellular carcinoma and fulminant hepatitis, but are rare in asymptomatic HBe-positive carriers, in immunosuppressed patients and in carriers without HBV markers [53]. Additional mutations at nt 1653 (C \rightarrow T) and 1753 $(T \rightarrow C/A/G)$ may have further association with progression of liver disease to cirrhosis in patients chronically infected with genotype C [54]. A mutation at nt 1752

 $(A\rightarrow C)$ was reported also in conjunction with the 1762 and 1764 mutations and appeared to be associated with liver damage [22].

PreC Mutants

The frequent preC mutation at nt 1896 (G \rightarrow A) leads to premature termination of the preC protein at codon 28 of the 29-amino acid (aa) preC region, and thus to elimination of the HBe protein [55, 56]. This mutation also affects the RNA stem-loop structure of the encapsidation signal ε , which acts at the level of pregenomic RNA while preC RNA is not encapsidated [57]. The mutation is rarely found in genotype A (and some strains of genotype F). which contains a C at the pairing position 1858 (instead of T in other HBV genotypes), because the loss of a base pair destabilizes the ε stem-loop unless a stabilizing complementary mutation at nt 1858 (C \rightarrow T) occurs. Simultaneously with the preC mutation at nt 1896, a 1899 ($G \rightarrow A$) mutation, which also improves the stability of the stemloop, may be observed [58, 59]. It is present also in a high proportion of patients with fulminant hepatitis B. However, the implicated importance of the preC mutants in the prognosis of disease remains controversial [32, 49, 50]. Less common preC mutations are: start codon mutations at nt 1814 or 1815, a nonsense mutation at nt 1874, a missense mutation at nt 1862 and frameshift mutations [59]. Together, these data imply that preC and HBe are nonessential gene products, at least under certain conditions. However, the potential advantages for the virus of a decreased or abolished preC or HBe production will remain obscure as long as the normal functions of these proteins are not really clear.

Care Mutants

Though also not finally settled, there is evidence suggesting that aggressive hepatitis B cases are connected with mutations others than those abolishing the HBe protein. First candidates for enhanced HBV virulence are mutations in the HBV core-derived proteins, most prominently in the central immunodominant region of the HBc protein. Such mutations frequently accompany preC mutations and may decrease HBV recognition by cytotoxic T cells. The appearance of the core mutants, in concert with the preC mutations, may significantly diminish the response to IFN- α therapy (see recent reviews [51, 52]).

Substitutions within Crucial HBc Sites

First experimental data supporting the idea that HBc mutants may alter the host immune response and modulate the clinical course of HBV infection appeared in 1991 [60]. Two generally accepted facts are that (1) mutations are clustered within immunologically relevant epitopes [61–64], and (2) mutant clones in patients with active liver disease outnumber the mutant clones in asymptomatic carriers [64–66].

Severe liver damage in patients with chronic active hepatitis was attributed to changes clustering in three regions, i.e. codons 48–60, 84–101 and 147–155 [62]. Mutations within the region 84–101, which overlaps the CTL epitope, accumulated during periods with frequent hepatitis exacerbation [64]. Numerous unique mutations were found in the region 48–60 in fulminant [67–69] and severe exacerbation hepatitis B patients [64–67, 70–72]. In addition, mutation clustering regions at aa 21–34 [73] and 31–49 [74] were detected.

Although some unique mutations were attributed to fulminant rather than acute hepatitis B [67, 69], completely identical HBV strains were found to replicate in patients with acute and fulminant hepatitis B [68]; hence, these mutants are, at least, not generally more pathogenic. Evolutionary studies in chronic hepatitis patients over a period of 6-11 years showed that the HBc mutations tended to increase with time and correlate with exacerbation of the disease [75], although interfamilial conservation of HBV core sequences for more than 20 years has been described [76]. Some other investigations, however, failed to detect diagnostically significant changes within the HBc protein, but found various numbers of missense mutations independent of the grade of liver disease [77– 79]. The HBc protein can remain highly conserved for more than two decades during the immune tolerant phase of chronic HBV infection, whereas mutations appear typically after seroconversion to the anti-HBe-positive phase. This was observed in asymptomatic anti-HBe-positive carriers [80] but also in some cases of fulminant hepatic failure. Although the total viral load in such patients is drastically reduced, a small number of the newly appearing mutants may contribute to the fulminant outcome.

Recent data suggest a sequential order in the mutational processes, i.e. first HBe clearance and seroconversion to anti-HBe, then emergence of the preC stop mutations preventing HBe generation, followed by core mutations in regions of B cell, T helper and CTL epitopes as well as in the arginine-rich C terminus, thus supporting the idea of immune escape [45, 81–88]. First direct evidence for the responsibility of the HBV core CTL epitope 18–27 mutations (aa changes S21N/A/V and V27A/I) was found in HLA-A2-positive patients with chronic hepatitis B [89]; however, another group of researchers failed to find significant mutations of this epitope in HLA-A2-positive patients with acute exacerbation during chronic infection [90]. Further, analyzing HBe to anti-HBe seroconverters, mutations were found mostly in the T helper epitope 50– 69 and in the B cell epitope 74–83 [45]. Remarkably, the absence of serum anti-HBc was not a consequence of mutations within the HBc gene but rather of an aberrant immune reaction of the host [91].

Mutations I97L and P130I/T/S have been reported to be associated with exacerbation of chronic hepatitis [90, 92] and hepatocellular carcinoma [93]. Interestingly, the I97L mutation is responsible for secretion of immature HBV cores [94], but this phenomenon can be offset by the P130T mutation [95]. Low secretion of HBV virions is caused by the naturally occurring P5T and L60V mutations [96].

Deletions within the HBc Molecule

According to recent data, the core internal deletions (CIDs) may be involved in the onset of hepatitis and the subsequent outcome of chronic infection [97]. Historically, the CIDs were found, first of all, in patients with long-standing HBe-positive infection [60, 81, 98–100], and in a familial cluster of chronic carriers with the absence of anti-HBc [10]. However, HBV variants with HBc deletions were also described as inhibiting HBV replication, and not persisting in preference to wild-type HBV under enhanced immune pressure, e.g. in patients with chronic active hepatitis B [102].

A special group of CID mutants is represented by the HBc variants with deletions in the central part of the molecule, which appear and accumulate in long-term immunosuppressed renal transplant recipients [103–105]. Moreover, persistence of these mutants seems to correlate with progressive liver disease [106]. Some of these variants, with relatively short deletions (for example, amino acid 86–93 and 77–93 deletions), retain their self-assembling capability, whereas mutants with longer deletions are unable to self-assemble [107].

Another group of the CID mutants is represented by a specific set of long in-frame internal HBc deletions (at aa 88–135 and 82–122), which were described as responsible for the appearance of defective interfering HBV particles [108, 109]. Genomes carrying such CID variants possess some replication advantages in comparison to wild-type HBV genomes, but they are dependent on complementa-

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection



Fig. 2. Location of the vaccine escape mutations in the major hydrophilic domain (aa positions 99–169) of the HBs protein, serotype *adw2*, genotype A (PIR accession: SAVLVD) [185]. Two antigenic loops of the *a* determinant are depicted by boxes. Another tight loop is formed by cysteines 121 and 124. Five antigenic regions are shown in accordance with a previous report [116]. Mutations connected with the escape phenomenon are compiled from other reports [114, 119, 120, 186–191] and shown under the original sequence. Black vertical arrows point to insertion positions of additional aa residues in the HBs2 region.

tion by wild-type HBc protein. No detectable amounts of the CID proteins were found in infected cells [108]. The interference phenomenon is not connected with the synthesis of deleted core proteins, since it was detected also in long out-of-frame deletions within the gene C [110].

Besides HBc deletions, insertions may also occur; for instance, an HBV variant with a 36-nt insertion in the preC region was described that forms an extended HBc protein with an extra 12 aa at the N-terminus [11]. Whether any pathogenic effects are associated with this variant has not been analyzed.

HBs Mutants

The *a*-determinant of the three surface proteins L, M and S is of special importance since it induces virus-neutralizing humoral responses and confers the protection raised by existing HBV vaccines. The *a* determinant is located within the major hydrophilic domain and consists of two loops that protrude from the outer surface of HBV virions and so-called 22-nm HBs particles (fig. 2). The tertiary structure of the *a* determinant is crucial since the vast majority of induced anti-HBs antibodies recognize conformational epitopes.

Vaccine-Induced Mutations

The most frequent vaccine-induced escape mutation is G145R [112], which is poorly detectable in traditional HBs diagnostic assays. The mutation was found in natural isolates, and immune pressure upon vaccination favours its selection. In countries with mass vaccination programmes, for example Taiwan [113], a substantial in-

crease in HBs escape variants of up to 28% has been documented, concurrent with a 10-fold decrease in the HBs carrier rate in children [114]. Generally, escape mutations were found mainly in the aa 139–147 loop, or HBs4 region of the *a* determinant, predominantly at position 145 (G145R) [115]. A summary of mutations found in vaccinees is presented in figure 2. For more detailed information, the reader is referred to several recent reviews on this topic [32, 50, 116–120].

Mutations in Chronic Infection

In contrast to the vaccine-induced escape mutations predominantly found in the aa 137–149 loop of the *a* determinant, the most frequent mutations in patients chronically infected with genotype C were detected within the aa 107–137 loop [115]. Mutations in the CTL epitope encompassing the 29–53 region, especially at aa positions 40 and 47, were found in the chronic patients [115, 121, 122], suggesting that they may contribute to chronicity.

PreS Mutants

Mutations in the preS1 region may include long deletions of up to one half of the entire preS1 region [123], but the hepatocyte-binding site at aa 20–47 always remains conserved. The preS1 mutations destroy the integrity of the S promoter [124–128].

Deletions in the preS2 region have typical aspects of immune escape. Removing T and B cell epitopes [129– 132], they may contribute to the generation of hepatocellular carcinoma [133, 134]. Moreover, missense mutations at the start codon of the preS2 region that prevent
the synthesis of the corresponding protein are frequently associated with fulminant hepatitis [135] and hepatocellular carcinoma [93].

In general, the preS mutations affect the ratio of the large, middle and small S proteins, and this could result in the accumulation and retention of these proteins in the endoplasmic reticulum. This may lead to a direct cytopathic effect in hepatocytes, and the appearance of the preS mutants might thus be linked to progression of liver disease [106, 125].

Polymerase Mutants

Chronic Infection

Since the S gene completely overlaps with the P gene, preS and S mutations affect the structure of polymerase. Because the preS region overlaps the non-essential spacer domain of the polymerase (fig. 1), rather long deletions in the preS may remain indifferent with respect to the structure and function of the enzyme. By contrast, the catalytic reverse transcriptase domain coincides with the C-terminal part of the S protein, and changes therein could have drastic effects on polymerase activity. Indeed, this region of the S protein is not a mutational 'hot spot', and no polymerase mutations that could affect the susceptibility of HBV to antiviral nucleoside analogues were found in chronic patients [115]. From the other side, the a determinant overlaps the variable linker between the two conserved domains in the polymerase. Nevertheless, in isolates from individuals with anti-HBc reactivity only, an increased variability in the *a* determinant was found that consequently resulted in a similar hypervariable spot in the polymerase which might impair viral replication [136]. Interestingly, a missense mutation in the 5' region of the polymerase gene resulted in the inability to package pregenomic RNA into core particles [137].

Antiviral Chemotherapy

Upon chemotherapy of hepatitis B with the nucleoside analogues lamivudine and famciclovir, the emergence of two classes of polymerase mutants is almost regularly observed, providing very strong evidence that they are selected by the presence of the drugs. First, the YMDD site in the C (catalytic) domain of the polymerase is subject to changes upon lamivudine therapy [138, 139], similar to the earlier described mutation $M \rightarrow V/I$ within the analogous site in HIV reverse transcriptase that is associated with lamivudine resistance. The variants M552V and M552I emerged in almost 50% of patients during lamivudine therapy [140], and their frequencies appear to rise even further upon prolonged therapy. Both mutations result in substitutions at aa 195 and 196 in the overlapping S gene. The YMDD mutants have a lower replication efficiency than wild-type virus, and the latter displaces the mutant after cessation of lamivudine treatment. Lamivudine-resistant variants may have an additional L528M substitution in the B (template-binding) domain of the polymerase, often occurring together with the M552V mutation but rarely with the M552I mutation [141]. The additional L528M mutation restores the replication competence of the M552V mutant and increases resistance to various nucleoside analogues [142]. The L528M mutation has no effect on the aa sequence of the S gene. The M539V mutation is also able to confer resistance to lamivudine and other cytosine and thymidine analogues [143]. More distant mutations, L430M and L428V/I, have been reported in genotype C patients in Japan [144]. These mutations were also associated with the basic M552V substitution. The latter remains a central therapeutic problem, since the use of high doses of lamivudine does not prevent its emergence [145]. Interestingly, the HBV subtype may significantly influence the likelihood of the emergence of lamivudine resistance, possibly related to whether or not the aa sequence encoded by the overlapping S gene is affected [24].

The V555I [146] and V542I [147] mutations in the C domain confer resistance of famciclovir. Both mutations cause premature termination of the overlapping HBs proteins. Mild to moderate resistance was found in association with the V521L, P525L and L528M substitutions in the B domain. Although the M552I exchange was not associated with famciclovir resistance, no benefit was found in attempts to add famciclovir in patients with the M552I mutation after lamivudine failure [148]. Fortunately, lamivudine- and famciclovir-resistant viruses may remain sensitive to newer nucleoside analogues such as adefovir and lobucavir. An excellent review on the topic is available [149].

HBx Mutants

The importance of HBx mutants may appear in a new light after the recent discovery of HBx targeting of mitochondrial calcium regulation [150], although the HBx protein has been described as exhibiting numerous activities affecting intracellular transmission, gene transactivation, cell proliferation, DNA repair and apoptosis. Since the X gene overlaps the E_{II}/C_P region, mutations within the latter may influence the structure of the HBx protein. For example, the mutation at nt 1653 (C \rightarrow T) leads to the H94Y exchange in the immunodominant epitope of the HBx protein [54]. The E_{II}/C_P point mutations and deletion variants (for example, nt 1770–1777, 1752–1772) may produce truncated HBx protein variants. Such shortening of the HBx protein may have an effect on its transactivating and other properties. C-terminal insertions/ deletions in the HBx protein have been described as connected with the appearance of hepatocellular carcinoma [93].

E_I/X_P Mutants

The E_I/X_P region (nt 959–1311) harbours binding sites for many regulatory cellular proteins, including hepatocyte-enriched nuclear factors, and is responsible for IFNstimulated responses [for a review, see ref. 151]. The strongest decreasing effect on HBV replication was found for mutations which occur in the hepatocyte nuclear factor 3 and 4 binding sites of the E_I core domain [152]. As previously described mutations, the E_I mutations may also serve as an escape mechanisms, switching viral replication from a high to a low level, as is frequently observed during chronic HBV infection.

Prevention and Therapy of Hepatitis B: A Potential Role for VLPs

Safe and effective HBV vaccines based on recombinant HBs virus-like particles have been available since 1986. The yeast-derived HBs vaccine is not only the first, but also the sole approved recombinant vaccine up to now. The World Health Assembly recommended the worldwide introduction of hepatitis B vaccination into national infant immunization programmes by 1997. As of March 2000, 116 countries have added this vaccine to their routine immunization practice. However, the emergence of vaccine escape mutants raises the question as to how the existing vaccines might be improved. A general strategy is to increase the number of targets (B cell, T helper and CTL epitopes), e.g. from other HBV antigens such as the preS and core-derived proteins; hence, one or a few mutations would not allow the virus to escape immune surveillance. For example, the preS-containing Hepacare vaccine was shown to stimulate stronger and more rapid cellular and humoral immune responses and to overcome anti-HBs non-responsiveness [153, 154]. Other preS-containing HBs vaccine candidates demonstrated rapid seroprotection [155] and apparently prevented selection of the determinant *a* escape mutants [156].

Apart from such more conventional recombinant protein vaccines, the unique immunological properties of HBc particles, including the presence of crucial CTL epitopes, may provide an opportunity for the development of novel protective and, in particular, therapeutic HBV vaccines. Numerous studies strongly suggest that for viral clearance, as well as the pathobiological effects of HBV infection, cellular immune responses are of foremost importance. In the mid-1980s, partial protection of chimpanzees by recombinant HBc immunization was documented [157-159]; because there is no evidence for neutralizing anti-HBc antibodies, this protection is probably cell mediated, as corroborated by the complete protection of woodchucks immunized with recombinant woodchuck hepatitis virus core antigen [160–162] or a peptide corresponding to a major immunodominant T cell epitope [163]. While particulate HBc, apart from causing a strong humoral response, predominantly induces T helper type 1-like responses [164], immunization of mice with exogenous HBc protein did not elicit a CD8+ CTL response [165]. However, intracellular expression of the HBc protein by genetic immunization induced both humoral and class I-restricted CTL responses [165-169]. Moreover, genetic immunization with the woodchuck hepatitis virus core gene protected woodchucks against woodchuck hepatitis virus infection [160, 161].

Studies on HBV core CTL epitopes as putative vaccine candidates have been initiated, first of all, on the HLA-A2-restricted CTL epitope aa 18–27 [170]. Recently, it was shown that this sequence also harbours an HLA-B51restricted CTL epitope, aa 19–27, suggesting that degenerate immunogenicity (e.g. the capacity of a given peptide to be immunogenic in the context of multiple HLA molecules) can occur across HLA supertype boundaries, here the HLA-B7 and HLA-A2 supertypes [171]. Hence, such a single peptide epitope may be effective in a broad and diverse population. In addition, mutated HBc genes from chronic hepatitis patients were recently included into gene immunization studies in mice [172].

Recently, first evidence was obtained in humans that transfer of HBc-reactive T cells from a donor with natural HBV immunity to a chronic HBV carrier resulted in resolution of chronic infection [173].

Together, these data suggest that both exogenously administered and intracellularly produced HBc hold the potential to induce cellular responses that might control, and eventually eliminate, HBV infection. An example is the Hepacore project initiated by Celltech-Medeva that aims at the development of a therapeutic vaccine based on chimeric HBc virus-like particles carrying the preS1 sequence 20–47 inserted into the major immunodominant region of the HBc molecule; both protein and DNA vaccination applications are considered [Page et al., unpubl. data].

The potential of HBc is, however, not restricted to the presentation of HBV-derived epitopes; rather, it can be used as a much more general molecular platform to which DNA and RNA packaging domains, receptors and receptor binding sequences, immunoglobulins, elements recognizing low-molecular-mass substrates and others may be added; hence, many more applications than its use as a carrier in new HBV vaccines can be imagined.

Conclusions/Perspectives

As should be apparent from the above discussion, the interpretation of sequence data with respect to the origin of HBV mutants and their potential pathogenic consequences is still in its infancy, leading not infrequently to controversial conclusions. There is little doubt that viral escape from selective pressure is responsible for various of the observed mutations. This is most directly evident for the polymerase mutants arising during chemotherapy, where resistance against the drug can be phenotypically assessed in cell culture experiments. Nonetheless, the biological fitness of such mutants in a heterogenous population of patients is hard to evaluate by such relatively simple in vitro tests. The coherent patterns of major B and T cell epitopes and overlapping mutational hot spots also strongly supports the notion that the immune system plays a major role in shaping the virus population circulating in a patient. However, the genetic heterogeneity of the human population and their vastly different social and environmental circumstances makes simple generalization rather problematic; this may also explain, at least in part, the different results and interpretations reported in different studies. Perhaps the most controversial issue is whether certain HBV mutants do have, per se, an increased pathogenic potential; notably, at least in the duck HBV model, there is very good experimental evidence that such more pathogenic variants can exist [174]. At present, however, there is no clear-cut evidence in favour of this concept for the human virus, and the question as to whether a certain variant observed in a selected cohort of patients is causing the corresponding disease pattern or, by contrast, is its consequence, remains largely

open. More research, clinical and other, that improves our understanding of the complex interplay between virus and host would certainly help. One major advance would be a small mammalian animal model that reproduces human HBV infection, including the chronic carrier state. Encouraging data have recently been obtained with HBV infection of primary tupaia hepatocytes [175]. Novel systems such as adenovirus-derived vectors capable of transducing complete HBV genomes into various cells [176, 177] also hold promise for in vivo experiments, including adaptation of HBV to tupaia. If this could be achieved, more complex problems might become amenable to systematic studies, for instance how the presence of different HBV variants within one patient influences the disease. Work on severely damaged genomes has clearly demonstrated that these different virus populations can interact, e.g. by complementing defects and thus enabling propagation of even severely truncated or otherwise impaired genomes; hence, the problem is, at least, defined.

Thus, a lot remains to be done. The good news, on the other hand, is that the current and potential new improved vaccines, carefully designed in view of the risk potential of emerging virus variants, should provide the key to eradicating HBV from the list of human diseases. Until this goal is reached, however, the development of new efficient treatments for the millions of existing chronic hepatitis B cases remains a most important issue for the next decades.

Acknowledgements

Work in the laboratory of M.N. related to the topic of this review is supported by grants from the Bundesministerium für Forschung und Bildung (01KV98041) and the European Community (HepB-Var/QLRT-2000-00977). Working in Riga is supported by the National Programme of Infectious Diseases and the European Community grants IC 15980319 and QLK2-Ct-2000-01476.

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection

References

- 1 WHO Information Office: Fact Sheet WHO/ 204. http://www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact204. html, 2000.
- 2 Ishizaka N, Ishizaka Y, Takahashi E, Toda EE, Hashimoto H, Ohno M, Nagai R, Yamakado M: Increased prevalence of carotid atherosclerosis in hepatitis B virus carriers. Circulation 2002;105:1028–1030.
- 3 Kann M, Gerlich WH: Hepatitis B; in Collier L, Balows A, Sussman M (eds): Topley & Wilson's Microbiology and Microbial Infections. London, Arnold, 1998.
- 4 Nassal M: Hepatitis B virus replication: Novel roles for virus-host interactions. Intervirology 1999;42:100–116.
- 5 Seeger C, Mason WS: Hepatitis B virus biology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2000;64:51–68.
- 6 Global distribution of hepatitis A, B and C, 2001. Wkly Epidemiol Rec 2002;77:45–47.
- 7 Okamoto H, Tsuda F, Sakugawa H, Sastrosoewignjo RI, Imai M, Miyakawa Y, Mayumi M: Typing hepatitis B virus homology in nucleotide sequence: Comparison of surface antigen subtypes. J Gen Virol 1988;69:2575–2583.
- 8 Norder H, Hammas B, Magnius LO: Typing of hepatitis B virus genomes by a simplified polymerase chain reaction. J Med Virol 1990;31: 215–221.
- 9 Norder H, Hammas B, Lofdahl S, Courouce AM, Magnius LO: Comparison of the amino acid sequences of nine different serotypes of hepatitis B surface antigen and genomic classification of the corresponding hepatitis B virus strains. J Gen Virol 1992;73:1201–1208.
- 10 Simmonds P: The origin and evolution of hepatitis viruses in humans. J Gen Virol 2001;82: 693–712.
- 11 Norder H, Ebert JW, Fields HA, Mushahwar IK, Magnius LO: Complete sequencing of a gibbon hepatitis B virus genome reveals a unique genotype distantly related to the chimpanzee hepatitis B virus. Virology 1996;218: 214–223.
- 12 Lanford RE, Chavez D, Brasky KM, Burns RB, III, Rico-Hesse R: Isolation of a hepadnavirus from the woolly monkey, a New World primate. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:5757– 5761.
- 13 Warren KS, Heeney JL, Swan RA, Heriyanto, Verschoor EJ: A new group of hepadnaviruses naturally infecting orangutans (*Pongo pyg-maeus*). J Virol 1999;73:7860–7865.
- 14 Hu X, Margolis HS, Purcell RH, Ebert J, Robertson BH: Identification of hepatitis B virus indigenous to chimpanzees. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2000;97:1661–1664.
- 15 Takahashi K, Brotman B, Usuda S, Mishiro S, Prince AM: Full-genome sequence analyses of hepatitis B virus (HBV) strains recovered from chimpanzees infected in the wild: Implications for an origin of HBV. Virology 2000;267:58– 64.

- 16 MacDonald DM, Holmes EC, Lewis JC, Simmonds P: Detection of hepatitis B virus infection in wild-born chimpanzees (*Pan troglodytes verus*): Phylogenetic relationships with human and other primate genotypes. J Virol 2000;74: 4253–4257.
- 17 Grethe S, Heckel JO, Rietschel W, Hufert FT: Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus variants in nonhuman primates. J Virol 2000; 74:5377–5381.
- 18 Bollyky PL, Rambaut A, Harvey PH, Holmes EC: Recombination between sequences of hepatitis B virus from different genotypes. J Mol Evol 1996;42:97–102.
- 19 Bowyer SM, Sim JG: Relationships within and between genotypes of hepatitis B virus at points across the genome: Footprints of recombination in certain isolates. J Gen Virol 2000;81: 379–392.
- 20 Hannoun C, Norder H, Lindh M: An aberrant genotype revealed in recombinant hepatitis B virus strains from Vietnam. J Gen Virol 2000; 81:2267–2272.
- 21 Chan HL, Hussain M, Lok AS: Different hepatitis B virus genotypes are associated with different mutations in the core promoter and precore regions during hepatitis B e antigen seroconversion. Hepatology 1999;29:976–984.
- 22 Lindh M, Hannoun C, Dhillon AP, Norkrans G, Horal P: Core promoter mutations and genotypes in relation to viral replication and liver damage in East Asian hepatitis B virus carriers. J Infect Dis 1999;179:775–782.
- 23 Blackberg J, Kidd-Ljunggren K: Genotypic differences in the hepatitis B virus core promoter and precore sequences during seroconversion from HbeAg to anti-HBe. J Med Virol 2000;60: 107–112.
- 24 Zöllner B, Petersen J, Schröter M, Laufs R, Schoder V, Feucht HH: 20-fold increase in risk of lamivudine resistance in hepatitis B virus subtype adw. Lancet 2001;357:934–935.
- 25 Funk ML, Rosenberg DM, Lok AS: Worldwide epidemiology of HbeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B and associated precore and core promoter variants. J Viral Hepat 2002;9:52– 61.
- 26 Kao JH, Chen PJ, Lai MY, Chen DS: Hepatitis B genotypes correlate with clinical outcomes in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology 2000;118:554–559.
- 27 Mayerat C, Mantegani A, Frei PC: Does hepatitis B virus (HBV) genotype influence the clinical outcome of HBV infection? J Viral Hepat 1999;6:299–304.
- 28 Chisari FV, Ferrari C: Hepatitis B virus immunopathogenesis. Annu Rev Immunol 1995;13: 29–60.
- 29 Koziel MJ: The immunopathogenesis of HBV infection. Antivir Ther 1998;3(suppl 3):13–24.
- 30 Bertoletti A, Maini MK: Protection or damage: A dual role for the virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response in hepatitis B and C infection? Curr Opin Microbiol 2000;3:387– 392.

- 31 Perrillo RP: Acute flares in chronic hepatitis B: The natural and unnatural history of an immunologically mediated liver disease. Gastroenterology 2001;120:1009–1022.
- 32 Francois G, Kew M, Van Damme P, Mphahlele MJ, Meheus A: Mutant hepatitis B viruses: A matter of academic interest only or a problem with far-reaching implications? Vaccine 2001;19:3799–3815.
- 33 Guidotti LG, Chisari FV: Noncytolytic control of viral infections by the innate and adaptive immune response. Annu Rev Immunol 2001; 19:65–91.
- 34 Guidotti LG, Ishikawa T, Hobbs MV, Matzke B, Schreiber R, Chisari FV: Intracellular inactivation of the hepatitis B virus by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunity 1996;4:25–36.
- 35 Guidotti LG, Chisari FV: To kill or to cure: Options in host defense against viral infection. Curr Opin Immunol 1996;8:478–483.
- 36 Guidotti LG, Rochford R, Chung J, Shapiro M, Purcell R, Chisari FV: Viral clearance without destruction of infected cells during acute HBV infection. Science 1999;284:825–829.
- 37 Maini MK, Boni C, Lee CK, Larrubia JR, Reignat S, Ogg GS, King AS, Herberg J, Gilson R, Alisa A, Williams R, Vergani D, Naoumov NV, Ferrari C, Bertoletti A: The role of virusspecific CD8(+) cells in liver damage and viral control during persistent hepatitis B virus infection. J Exp Med 2000;191:1269–1280.
- 38 Webster GJ, Reignat S, Maini MK, Whalley SA, Ogg GS, King A, Brown D, Amlot PL, Williams R, Vergani D, Dusheiko GM, Bertoletti A: Incubation phase of acute hepatitis B in man: Dynamic of cellular immune mechanisms. Hepatology 2000;32:1117–1124.
- 39 Webster GJ, Bertoletti A: Control or persistence of hepatitis B virus: The critical role of initial host-virus interactions. Immunol Cell Biol 2002;80:101–105.
- 40 Sobao Y, Tomiyama H, Sugi K, Tokunaga M, Ueno T, Saito S, Fujiyama S, Morimoto M, Tanaka K, Takiguchi M: The role of hepatitis B virus-specific memory CD8 T cells in the control of viral replication. J Hepatol 2002;36: 105–115.
- 41 Maini MK, Boni C, Ogg GS, King AS, Reignant S, Lee CK, Larrubia JR, Webster GJ, McMichael AJ, Ferrari C, Williams R, Vergani D, Bertoletti A: Direct ex vivo analysis of hepatitis B virus-specific CD8(+) T cells associated with the control of infection. Gastroenterology 1999;117:1386–1396.
- 42 Guidotti LG, Chisari FV: Cytokine-mediated control of viral infections. Virology 2000;273: 221–227.
- 43 Fan XG, Huang Y, Tang FQ, Yi H: Telomerase activity of peripheral blood lymphocytes in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Immunol Lett 2000;73:7–11.
- 44 Bertoletti A, Sette A, Chisari FV, Penna A, Levrero M, De Carli M, Fiaccadori F, Ferrari C: Natural variants of cytotoxic epitopes are Tcell receptor antagonists for antiviral cytotoxic T cells. Nature 1994;369:407–410.

- 45 Carman WF, Boner W, Fattovich G, Colman K, Dornan ES, Thursz M, Hadziyannis S: Hepatitis B virus core protein mutations are concentrated in B cell epitopes in progressive disease and in T helper cell epitopes during clinical remission. J Infect Dis 1997;175:1093–1100.
- 46 Mimms L: Hepatitis B virus escape mutants: 'Pushing the envelope' of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology 1995;21:884–887.
- 47 Whalley SA, Murray JM, Brown D, Webster GJ, Emery VC, Dusheiko GM, Perelson AS: Kinetics of acute hepatitis B virus infection in humans. J Exp Med 2001;193:847–854.
- 48 Hannoun C, Horal P, Lindh M: Long-term mutation rates in the hepatitis B virus genome. J Gen Virol 2000;81:75–83.
- 49 Günther S, Fischer L, Pult I, Sterneck M, Will H: Naturally occurring variants of hepatitis B virus. Adv Virus Res 1999;52:25–137.
- 50 Tong CYW: Genetic variations of the hepatitis B virus. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2000;13:481– 487.
- 51 Hunt CM, McGill JM, Allen MI, Condreay LD: Clinical relevance of hepatitis B viral mutations. Hepatology 2000;31:1037–1044.
- 52 Papatheodoridis GV, Hadziyannis SJ: Diagnosis and management of pre-core mutant chronic hepatitis B. J Viral Hepat 2001;8:311– 321.
- 53 Kramvis A, Kew MC: The core promoter of hepatitis B virus. J Viral Hepat 1999;6:415– 427.
- 54 Takahashi K, Ohta Y, Kanai K, Akahane Y, Iwasa Y, Hino K, Ohno N, Yoshizawa H, Mishiro S: Clinical implications of mutations C-to-T1653 and T-to-C/A/G1753 of hepatitis B virus genotype C genome in chronic liver disease. Arch Virol 1999;144:1299–1308.
- 55 Brunetto MR, Stemler M, Schödel F, Will H, Ottobrelli A, Rizzetto M, Verme G, et al: Identification of HBV variants which cannot produce precore derived HbeAg and may be responsible for severe hepatitis. Ital J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1989;21:151–154.
- 56 Carman WF, Jacyna MR, Hadziyannis S, Karayiannis P, McGarvey MJ, Makris A, Thomas HC: Mutation preventing formation of hepatitis B e antigen in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection. Lancet 1989;ii:588–591.
- 57 Nassal M, Junker-Niepmann M, Schaller H: Translational inactivation of RNA function: Discrimination against a subset of genomic transcripts during HBV nucleocapsid assembly. Cell 1990;63:1357–1363.
- 58 Ogata N, Miller RH, Ishak KG, Purcell RH: The complete nucleotide sequence of a pre-core mutant of hepatitis B virus implicated in fulminant hepatitis and its biological characterization in chimpanzees. Virology 1993;194:263– 276.
- 59 Kramvis A, Bukofzer S, Kew MC, Song E: Nucleic acid sequence analysis of the precore region of hepatitis B virus from sera of southern African black adult carriers of the virus. Hepatology 1997;25:235–240.

- 60 Wakita T, Kakumu S, Shibata M, Yoshioka K, Ito Y, Shinagawa T, Ishikawa T, Takayanagi M, Morishima T: Detection of pre-C and core region mutants of hepatitis B virus in chronic hepatitis B virus carriers. J Clin Invest 1991; 88:1793–1801.
- 61 Ehata T, Omata M, Chuang WL, Yokosuka O, Ito Y, Hosoda K, Ohto M: Mutations in core nucleotide sequence of hepatitis B virus correlate with fulminant and severe hepatitis. J Clin Invest 1993;91:1206–1213.
- 62 Chuang WL, Omata M, Ehata T, Yokosuka O, Ito Y, Imazeki F, Lu SN, Chang WY, Ohto M: Precore mutations and core clustering mutations in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Gastroenterology 1993;104:263–271.
- 63 Ehata T, Omata M, Yokosuka O, Hosoda K, Ohto M: Variations in codons 84–101 in the core nucleotide sequence correlate with hepatocellular injury in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Clin Invest 1992;89:332–338.
- 64 Chuang WL, Omata M, Ehata T, Yokosuka O, Ohto M: Concentrating missense mutations in core gene of hepatitis B virus. Evidence for adaptive mutation in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Dig Dis Sci 1993;38:594–600.
- 65 Nonaka T, Onji M, Horiike N, Ohta Y: Mutation of the core region of HBV-DNA and submassive hepatic necrosis in patients with anti-HBe-positive chronic hepatitis B. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1992;7:473–480.
- 66 Takayanagi M, Kakumu S, Ishikawa T, Higashi Y, Yoshioka K, Wakita T: Comparison of envelope and precore/core variants of hepatitis B virus (HBV) during chronic HBV infection. Virology 1993;196:138–145.
- 67 Aye TT, Uchida T, Becker SO, Hirashima M, Shikata T, Komine F, Moriyama M, Arakawa Y, Mima S, Mizokami M, et al: Variations of hepatitis B virus precore/core gene sequence in acute and fulminant hepatitis B. Dig Dis Sci 1994;39:1281–1287.
- 68 Aye TT, Uchida T, Becker SO, Shikata T, Mima S: Completely or nearly identical hepatitis B virus strains replicate between patients with acute or fulminant hepatitis B and their respective infectious sources. J Med Virol 1994;42:60–65.
- 69 Asahina Y, Enomoto N, Ogura Y, Sakuma I, Kurosaki M, Izumi N, Marumo F, Sato C: Complete nucleotide sequences of hepatitis B virus genomes associated with epidemic fulminant hepatitis. J Med Virol 1996;48:171–178.
- 70 Ehata T, Omata M, Yokosuka O, Hosoda K, Ohto M: Amino acid residues of core region of hepatitis B virus. Asymptomatic carriers versus patients with liver disease. J Gastroenterol Hepatol 1991;6:292–296.
- 71 Hur GM, Lee YI, Suh DJ, Lee JH, Lee YI: Gradual accumulation of mutations in precore core region of HBV in patients with chronic active hepatitis: Implications of clustering changes in a small region of the HBV core region. J Med Virol 1996;48:38–46.

- 72 Asahina Y, Enomoto N, Ogura Y, Kurosaki M, Sakuma I, Izumi N, Marumo F, Sato C: Sequential changes in full-length genomes of hepatitis B virus accompanying acute exacerbation of chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol 1996;25:787– 794.
- 73 Koh KC, Lee HS, Kim CY: Association of the core clustering mutations (codon 21–34) and the severity of chronic hepatitis B in Korean patients. Korean J Intern Med 1995;10:87–93.
- 74 Yamashita K, Kagawa S, Matsuoka A, Takarada Y: Detection of hepatitis B virus by using polymerase chain reaction and nonradioactive DNA probes. 2. Identification of mutations in the core gene by PCR-direct sequencing and ASO probe method (in Japanese). Kansenshogaku Zasshi 1996;70:1072–1078.
- 75 Uchida T, Aye TT, Shikata T, Yano M, Yatsuhashi H, Koga M, Mima S: Evolution of the hepatitis B virus gene during chronic infection in seven patients. J Med Virol 1994;43:148– 154.
- 76 Bozkaya H, Akarca US, Ayola B, Lok AS: High degree of conservation in the hepatitis B virus core gene during the immune tolerant phase in perinatally acquired chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol 1997;26:508–516.
- 77 Valliammai T, Thyagarajan SP, Zuckerman AJ, Harrison TH: Precore and core mutations in HBV from individuals in India with chronic infection. J Med Virol 1995;45:321–325.
- 78 Pollicino T, Campo S, Raimondo G: PreS and core gene heterogeneity in hepatitis B virus (HBV) genomes isolated from patients with long-lasting HBV chronic infection. Virology 1995;20;208:672–677.
- 79 Gray AH, Fang JW, Davis GL, Mizokami M, Wu PC, Williams R, Schuster SM, Lau JY: Variations of hepatitis B virus core gene sequence in Western patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Viral Hepat 1997;4: 371–378.
- 80 Fujiwara K, Yokosuka O, Ehata T, Chuang WL, Imazeki F, Saisho H, Omata M: The two different states of hepatitis B virus DNA in asymptomatic carriers: HBe-antigen-positive versus anti-HBe-positive asymptomatic carriers. Dig Dis Sci 1998;43:368–376.
- 81 Akarca US, Lok AS: Naturally occurring coregene-defective hepatitis B viruses. J Gen Virol 1995;76:1821–1826.
- 82 Hosono S, Tai PC, Wang W, Ambrose M, Hwang DG, Yuan TT, Peng BH, Yang CS, Lee CS, Shih C: Core antigen mutations of human hepatitis B virus in hepatomas accumulate in MHC class II-restricted T cell epitopes. Virology 1995;212:151–162.
- 83 Rodriguez-Frias F, Buti M, Jardi R, Cotrina M, Viladomiu L, Esteban R, Guardia J: Hepatitis B virus infection: Precore mutants and its relation to viral genotypes and core mutations. Hepatology 1995;22:1641–1647.
- 84 Carman WF, Thursz M, Hadziyannis S, McIntyre G, Colman K, Gioustoz A, Fattovich G, Alberti A, Thomas HC: Hepatitis B e antigen negative chronic active hepatitis: Hepatitis B virus core mutations occur predominantly in known antigenic determinants. J Viral Hepat 1995;2:77–84.

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection

- 85 Lee YI, Hur GM, Suh DJ, Kim SH: Novel pre-C/C gene mutants of hepatitis B virus in chronic active hepatitis: Naturally occurring escape mutants. J Gen Virol 1996;77:1129– 1138.
- 86 McMillan JS, Bowden DS, Angus PW, McCaughan GW, Locarnini SA: Mutations in the hepatitis B virus precore/core gene and core promoter in patients with severe recurrent disease following liver transplantation. Hepatology 1996;24:1371–1378.
- 87 Sällberg M, Hultgren C: Mutations and deletions within the hepatitis B virus core antigen and locations of B cell recognition sites. J Infect Dis 1998;177:264–265.
- 88 Karasawa T, Shirasawa T, Okawa Y, Kuramoto A, Shimada N, Aizawa Y, Zeniya M, Toda G: Association between frequency of amino acid changes in core region of hepatitis B virus (HBV) and the presence of precore mutation in Japanese HBV carriers. J Gastroenterol 1997; 32:611–622.
- 89 Bertoletti A, Costanzo A, Chisari FV, Levrero M, Artini M, Sette A, Penna A, Giuberti T, Fiaccadori F, Ferrari C: Cytotoxic T lymphocyte response to a wild type hepatitis B virus epitope in patients chronically infected by variant viruses carrying substitutions within the epitope. J Exp Med 1994;180:933–943.
- 90 Okumura A, Takayanagi M, Aiyama T, Iwata K, Wakita T, Ishikawa T, Yoshioka K, Kakumu S: Serial analysis of hepatitis B virus core nucleotide sequence of patients with acute exacerbation during chronic infection. J Med Virol 1996;49:103–109.
- 91 Gotoh K, Mima S, Uchida T, Shikata T, Yoshizawa K, Irie M, Mizu M: Nucleotide sequence of hepatitis B virus isolated from subjects without serum anti-hepatitis B core antibody. J Med Virol 1995;46:201–206.
- 92 Okumura A, Ishikawa T, Yoshioka K, Yuasa R, Fukuzawa Y, Kakumu S: Mutation at codon 130 in hepatitis B virus (HBV) core region increases markedly during acute exacerbation of hepatitis in chronic HBV carriers. J Gastroenterol 2001;36:103–110.
- 93 Takahashi K, Akahane Y, Hino K, Ohta Y, Mishiro S: Hepatitis B virus genomic sequence in the circulation of hepatocellular carcinoma patients: Comparative analysis of 40 full-length isolates. Arch Virol 1998;143:2313–2326.
- 94 Yuan TT, Sahu GK, Whitehead WE, Greenberg R, Shih C: The mechanism of an immature secretion phenotype of a highly frequent naturally occurring missense mutation at codon 97 of human hepatitis B virus core antigen. J Virol 1999;73:5731–5740.
- 95 Yuan TT, Shih C: A frequent, naturally occurring mutation (P130T) of human hepatitis B virus core antigen is compensatory for immature secretion phenotype of another frequent variant (I97L). J Virol 2000;74:4929–4932.
- 96 Le Pogam S, Yuan TT, Sahu GK, Chatterjee S, Shih C: Low-level secretion of human hepatitis B virus virions caused by two independent, naturally occurring mutations (P5T and L60V) in the capsid protein. J Virol 2000;74:9099– 9105.

- 97 Tsubota A, Kumada H, Takaki K, Chayama K, Kobayashi M, Kobayashi M, Suzuki Y, Saitoh S, Arase Y, Murashima N, Ikeda K: Deletions in the hepatitis B virus core gene may influence the clinical outcome in hepatitis B e antigen-positive asymptomatic healthy carriers. J Med Virol 1998;56:287–293.
- 98 Ackrill AM, Naoumov NV, Eddleston AL, Williams R: Specific deletions in the hepatitis B virus core open reading frame in patients with chronic active hepatitis B. J Med Virol 1993;41:165–169.
- 99 Akarca US, Lok AS: Naturally occurring hepatitis B virus core gene mutations. Hepatology 1995;22:50–60.
- 100 Zoulim F, Zhang X, Pichoud C, Trepo C: Heterogeneity of hepatitis B virus (HBV) core gene in a patient with HBV-associated cirrhosis and serum negativity for anti-HBc. J Hepatol 1996;24:155–160.
- 101 Fiordalisi G, Primi D, Tanzi E, Magni E, Incarbone C, Zanetti AR, Cariani E: Hepatitis B virus C gene heterogeneity in a familial cluster of anti-HBc negative chronic carriers. J Med Virol 1994;42:109–114.
- 102 Marinos G, Torre F, Günther S, Thomas MG, Will H, Williams R, Naoumov NV: Hepatitis B virus variants with core gene deletions in the evolution of chronic hepatitis B infection. Gastroenterology 1996;111:183–192.
- 103 Günther S, Piwon N, Iwanska A, Schilling R, Meisel H, Will H: Type, prevalence, and significance of core promoter/enhancer II mutations in hepatitis B viruses from immunosuppressed patients with severe liver disease. J Virol 1996;70:8318–8331.
- 104 Günther S, Baginski S, Kissel H, Reinke P, Krüger DH, Will H, Meisel H: Accumulation and persistence of hepatitis B virus core gene deletion mutants in renal transplant patients are associated with end-stage liver disease. Hepatology 1996;24:751–758.
- 105 Preikschat P, Meisel H, Will H, Günther S: Hepatitis B virus genomes from long-term immunosuppressed virus carriers are modified by specific mutations in several regions. J Gen Virol 1999;80:2685–2691.
- 106 Preikschat P, Günther S, Reinhold S, Will H, Budde K, Neumayer HH, Krüger DH, Meisel H: Complex HBV populations with mutations in core promoter, C gene, and pre-S region are associated with development of cirrhosis in long-term renal transplant recipients. Hepatology 2002;35:466–477.
- 107 Preikschat P, Borisova G, Borschukova O, Dislers A, Merzule G, Grens E, Krüger DH, Pumpens P, Meisel H: Expression, assembly competence and antigenic properties of hepatitis B virus core gene deletion variants from infected liver cells. J Gen Virol 1999;80: 1777–1788.
- 108 Yuan TT, Lin MH, Qiu SM, Shih C: Functional characterization of naturally occurring variants of human hepatitis B virus containing the core internal deletion mutation. J Virol 1998;72:2168–2176.

- 109 Yuan TT, Lin MH, Chen DS, Shih C: A defective interference-like phenomenon of human hepatitis B virus in chronic carriers. J Virol 1998;72:578–584.
- 110 Sahu GK, Tai PC, Chatterjee SB, Lin MH, Tennant B, Gerin J, Shih C: Out-of-frame versus in-frame core internal deletion variants of human and woodchuck hepatitis B viruses. Virology 2002;292:35–43.
- 111 Bhat RA, Ulrich PP, Vyas GN: Molecular characterization of a new variant of hepatitis B virus in a persistently infected homosexual man. Hepatology 1990;11:271–276.
- 112 Hawkins AE, Gilson RJ, Gilbert N, Wreghitt TG, Gray JJ, Ahlers-de Boer I, Tedder RS, Alexander GJ: Hepatitis B virus surface mutations associated with infection after liver transplantation. J Hepatol 1996;24:8–14.
- 113 Hsu HM, Lee SC, Wang MC, Lin SF, Chen DS: Efficacy of a mass hepatitis B immunization program after switching to recombinant hepatitis B vaccine: A population-based study in Taiwan. Vaccine 2001;19:2825–2829.
- 114 Hsu HY, Chang MH, Liaw SH, Ni YH, Chen HL: Changes of hepatitis B surface antigen variants in carrier children before and after universal vaccination in Taiwan. Hepatology 1999;30:1312–1317.
- 115 Ogura Y, Kurosaki M, Asahina Y, Enomoto N, Marumo F, Sato C: Prevalence and significance of naturally occurring mutations in the surface and polymerase genes of hepatitis B virus. J Infect Dis 1999;180:1444–1451.
- 116 Carman WF: The clinical significance of surface antigen variants of hepatitis B virus. J Viral Hepat 1997;4(suppl 1):11–20.
- 117 Zuckerman AJ, Zuckerman JN: Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis B virus mutants. J Med Virol 1999;58:193–195.
- 118 Purcell RH: Hepatitis B virus mutants and efficacy of vaccination. Lancet 2000;356: 769–770.
- 119 Zuckerman AJ: Effect of hepatitis B virus mutants on efficacy of vaccination. Lancet 2000;355:1382–1384.
- 120 Cooreman MP, Leroux-Roels G, Paulij WP: Vaccine- and hepatitis B immune globulininduced escape mutations of hepatitis B virus surface antigen. J Biomed Sci 2001;8:237– 247.
- 121 Tai PC, Banik D, Lin GI, Pai K, Lin H, Yuoh G, Che S, Hsu SH, Chen TC, Kuo TT, Lee CS, Yang CS, Shih C: Novel and frequent mutations of hepatitis B virus coincide with a major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted T-cell epitope of the surface antigen. J Virol 1997;71:4852–4856.
- 122 Chen WN, Oon CJ: Mutation 'hot spot' in HLA class I-restricted T cell epitope on hepatitis B surface antigen in chronic carriers and hepatocellular carcinoma. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1999;262:757–761.
- 123 Melegari M, Bruno S, Wands JR: Properties of hepatitis B virus pre-S1 deletion mutants. Virology 1994;199:292–300.

- 124 Trautwein C, Schrem H, Tillmann HL, Kubicka S, Walker D, Boker KH, Maschek HJ, Pichlmayr R, Manns MP: Hepatitis B virus mutations in the pre-S genome before and after liver transplantation. Hepatology 1996; 24:482–488.
- 125 Bock CT, Kubicka S, Manns MP, Trautwein C: Two control elements in the hepatitis B virus S-promoter are important for full promoter activity mediated by CCAAT-binding factor. Hepatology 1999;29:1236–1247.
- 126 Cabrerizo M, Bartolome J, Caramelo C, Barril G, Carreno V: Molecular analysis of hepatitis B virus DNA in serum and peripheral blood mononuclear cells from hepatitis B surface antigen-negative cases. Hepatology 2000; 32:116–123.
- 127 Kajiya Y, Hamasaki K, Nakata K, Nakagawa Y, Miyazoe S, Takeda Y, Ohkubo K, Ichikawa T, Nakao K, Kato Y, Eguchi K: Full-length sequence and functional analysis of hepatitis B virus genome on a virus carrier: A case report suggesting the impact of pre-S and core promoter mutations on the progression of the disease. J Viral Hepatol 2002;9:149–156.
- 128 Chen WN, Oon CJ: Pre-S deletion mutants co-exist with wild-type virus at low viral replication stage in Singapore chronic hepatitis B virus carriers. Curr Microbiol 2002;44:145– 147.
- 129 Fernholz D, Galle PR, Stemler M, Brunetto M, Bonino F, Willi H: Infectious hepatitis B virus variant defective in pre-S2 protein expression in a chronic carrier. Virology 1993; 194:137–148.
- 130 Gerken G, Kremsdorf D, Capel F, Petit MA, Dauguet C, Manns MP, Meyer zum Büschenfelde KH, Brechot C: Hepatitis B defective virus with rearrangements in the preS gene during chronic HBV infection. Virology 1991;183:555–565.
- 131 Gerner PR, Friedt M, Oettinger R, Lausch E, Wirth S: The hepatitis B virus seroconversion to anti-HBe is frequently associated with HBV genotype changes and selection of preS2-defective particles in chronically infected children. Virology 1998;245:163–172.
- 132 Fan YF, Lu CC, Chen WC, Yao WJ, Wang HC, Chang TT, Lei HY, Shiau AL, Su IJ: Prevalence and significance of hepatitis B virus (HBV) pre-S mutants in serum and liver at different replicative stages of chronic HBV infection. Hepatology 2001;33:277–286.
- 133 Kim LS, Wright T: The clinical significance of hepatitis B mutations: Am J Gastroenterol 1996;91:1297–1298.
- 134 Tai PC, Suk FM, Gerlich WH, Neurath AR, Shih C: Hypermodification and immune escape of an internally deleted middle-envelope (M) protein of frequent and predominant hepatitis B virus variants. Virology 2002;292: 44–58.
- 135 Pollicino T, Zanetti AR, Cacciola I, Petit MA, Smedile A, Campo S, Sagliocca L, Pasquali M, Tanzi E, Longo G, Raimondo G: Pre-S2 defective hepatitis B virus infection in patients with fulminant hepatitis. Hepatology 1997;26:495–499.

- 136 Weinberger KM, Bauer T, Bohm S, Jilg W: High genetic variability of the group-specific a-determinant of hepatitis B virus surface antigen (HbsAg) and the corresponding fragment of the viral polymerase in chronic virus carriers lacking detectable HbsAg in serum. J Gen Virol 2000;81:1165–1174.
- 137 Blum HE, Galun E, Liang TJ, von Weizsäcker F, Wands JR: Naturally occurring missense mutation in the polymerase gene terminating hepatitis B virus replication. J Virol 1991;65: 1836–1842.
- 138 Ling R, Mutimer D, Ahmed M, Boxall EH, Elias E, Dusheiko GM, Harrison TJ: Selection of mutations in the hepatitis B virus polymerase during therapy of transplant recipients with lamivudine. Hepatology 1996; 24:711–713.
- 139 Tipples GA, Ma MM, Fischer KP, Bain VG, Kneteman NM, Tyrell DL: Mutation in HBV RNA-dependent DNA polymerase confers resistance to lamivudine in vivo. Hepatology 1996;24:714–717.
- 140 Gauthier J, Bourne EJ, Lutz MW, Crowther LM, Dienstag JL, Brown NA, Condreay LD: Quantitation of hepatitis B viremia and emergence of YMDD variants in patients with chronic hepatitis B treated with lamivudine. J Infect Dis 1999;180:1757–1762.
- 141 Chayama K, Suzuki Y, Kobayashi M, Kobayashi M, Tsubota A, Hashimoto M, Miyano Y, Koike H, Kobayashi M, Koida I, Arase Y, Saitoh S, Murashima N, Ikeda K, Kumada H: Emergence and takeover of YMDD motif mutant hepatitis B virus during long-term lamivudine therapy and re-takeover by wild type after cessation of therapy. Hepatology 1998;27:1711–1716.
- 142 Ono SK, Kato N, Shiratori Y, Kato J, Goto T, Schinazi RF, Carrilho FJ, Omata M: The polymerase L528M mutation cooperates with nucleotide binding-site mutations, increasing hepatitis B virus replication and drug resistance. J Clin Invest 2001;107:449–455.
- 143 Ladner SK, Miller TJ, Otto MJ, King RW: The hepatitis B virus M539V polymerase variation responsible for 3TC resistance also confers cross-resistance to other nucleoside analogues. Antivir Chem Chemother 1998;9: 65–72.
- 144 Ogata N, Fujii K, Takigawa S, Nomoto M, Ichida T, Asakura H: Novel patterns of amino acid mutations in the hepatitis B virus polymerase in association with resistance to lamivudine therapy in Japanese patients with chronic hepatitis B. J Med Virol 1999;59: 270–276.
- 145 Thibault V, Benhamou Y, Seguret C, Bochet M, Katlama C, Bricaire F, Opolon P, Poynard T, Agut H: Hepatitis B virus (HBV) mutations associated with resistance to lamivudine in patients coinfected with HBV and human immunodeficiency virus. J Clin Microbiol 1999;37:3013–3016.
- 146 Xiong X, Yang H, Westland CE, Zou R, Gibbs CS: In vitro evaluation of hepatitis B virus polymerase mutations associated with famciclovir resistance. Hepatology 2000;31: 219–224.

- 147 Pichoud C, Seigneres B, Wang Z, Trepo C, Zoulim F: Transient selection of a hepatitis B virus polymerase gene mutant associated with a decreased replication capacity and famciclovir resistance. Hepatology 1999;29:230– 237.
- 148 Mutimer D, Pillay D, Cook P, Ratcliffe D, O'Donnell K, Dowling D, Shaw J, Elias E, Cane PA: Selection of multiresistant hepatitis B virus during sequential nucleoside-analogue therapy. J Infect Dis 2000;181:713– 716.
- 149 Doo E, Liang TJ: Molecular anatomy and pathophysiologic implications of drug resistance in hepatitis B virus infection. Gastroenterology 2001;120:1000–1008.
- 150 Bouchard MJ, Wang LH, Schneider RJ: Calcium signaling by HBx protein in hepatitis B virus DNA replication. Science 2001;294: 2376–2378.
- 151 Alcantara FF, Tang H, McLachlan A: Functional characterization of the interferon regulatory element in the enhancer 1 region of the hepatitis B virus genome. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:2068–2075.
- 152 Bock CT, Malek NP, Tillmann HL, Manns MP, Trautwein C: The enhancer I core region contributes to the replication level of hepatitis B virus in vivo and in vitro. J Virol 2000;74: 2193–2202.
- 153 McDermott AB, Cohen SB, Zuckerman JN, Madrigal JA: Hepatitis B third-generation vaccines: Improved response and conventional vaccine non-response – evidence for genetic basis in humans. J Viral Hepat 1998; 5(suppl 2):9–11.
- 154 McDermott AB, Madrigal JA, Sabin CA, Zuckerman JN, Cohen SB: The influence of host factors and immunogenetics on lymphocyte responses to Hepagene vaccination. Vaccine 1999;17:1329–1337.
- 155 Shapira MY, Zeira E, Adler R, Shouval D: Rapid seroprotection against hepatitis B following the first dose of a Pre-S1/Pre-S2/S vaccine. J Hepatol 2001;34:123–127.
- 156 Soussan P, Pol S, Garreau F, Brechot C, Kremsdorf D: Vaccination of chronic hepatitis B virus carriers with preS2/S envelope protein is not associated with the emergence of envelope escape mutants. J Gen Virol 2001; 82:367–371.
- 157 Iwarson S, Tabor E, Thomas HC, Snoy P, Gerety RJ: Protection against hepatitis B virus infection by immunization with hepatitis B core antigen. Gastroenterology 1985;88: 763–767.
- 158 Murray K, Bruce SA, Hinnen A, Wingfield P, van Erd PM, de Reus A, Schellekens H: Hepatitis B virus antigens made in microbial cells immunise against viral infection. EMBO J 1984;3:645–650.
- 159 Murray K, Bruce SA, Wingfield P, van Eerd P, de Reus A, Schellekens H: Protective immunisation against hepatitis B with an internal antigen of the virus. J Med Virol 1987;23: 101–107.

Epidemiology and Immunology of HBV Infection

- 160 Lu M, Hilken G, Kruppenbacher J, Kemper T, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J, Roggendorf M: Immunization of woodchucks with plasmids expressing woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) core antigen and surface antigen suppresses WHV infection. J Virol 1999;73:281–289.
- 161 Siegel F, Lu M, Roggendorf M: Coadministration of gamma interferon with DNA vaccine expressing woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) core antigen enhances the specific immune response and protects against WHV infection. J Virol 2001;75:5036–5042.
- 162 Garcia-Navarro R, Blanco-Urgoiti B, Berraondo P, Sanchez de la Rosa IR, Vales A, Hervas-Stubbs S, Lasarte JJ, Borras F, Ruiz J, Prieto J: Protection against woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) infection by gene gun coimmunization with WHV core and interleukin 12. J Virol 2001;75:9068–9076.
- 163 Menne S, Maschke J, Tolle TK, Lu M, Roggendorf M: Characterization of T-cell response to woodchuck hepatitis virus core protein and protection of woodchucks from infection by immunization with peptides containing a T-cell epitope. J Virol 1997;71:65– 74.
- 164 Milich DR: Do T cells 'see' the hepatitis B core and e antigens differently? Gastroenter-ology 1999;116:765–768.
- 165 Kuhröber A, Pudollek HP, Reifenberg K, Chisari FV, Schlicht HJ, Reimann J, Schirmbeck R: DNA immunization induces antibody and cytotoxic T cell responses to hepatitis B core antigen in H-2b mice. J Immunol 1996;156:3687–3695.
- 166 Geissler M, Tokushige K, Chante CC, Zurawski Vr Jr, Wands JR: Cellular and humoral immune response to hepatitis B virus structural proteins in mice after DNA-based immunization. Gastroenterology 1997;112: 1307–1320.
- 167 Sällberg M, Hughes J, Javadian A, Ronlov G, Hultgren C, Townsend K, Anderson CG, O'Dea J, Alfonso J, Eason R, Murthy KK, Jolly DJ, Chang SM, Mento SJ, Milich D, Lee WT: Genetic immunization of chimpanzees chronically infected with the hepatitis B virus, using a recombinant retroviral vector encoding the hepatitis B virus core antigen. Hum Gen Ther 1998;9:1719–1729.
- 168 Townsend K, Sällberg M, O'Dea J, Banks T, Driver D, Sauter S, Chang SM, Jolly DJ, Mento SJ, Milich DR, Lee WT: Characterization of CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses after genetic immunization with retrovirus vectors expressing different forms of the hepatitis B virus core and e antigens. J Virol 1997;71:3365–3374.
- 169 Wild J, Gruner B, Metzger K, Kuhröber A, Pudollek HP, Hauser H, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J: Polyvalent vaccination against hepatitis B surface and core antigen using a dicistronic expression plasmid. Vaccine 1998;16: 353–360.

- 170 Heathcote J, McHutchinson J, Lee S, Tong M, Benner K, Minuk G, Wright T, Fikes J, Livingston B, Sette A, Chestnut R: A pilot study of the CY-1899 T-cell vaccine in subjects chronically infected with hepatitis B virus. The CY1899 T Cell Vaccine Study Group. Hepatology 1999;30:531–536.
- 171 Thimme R, Chang KM, Pemberton J, Sette A, Chisari FV: Degenerate immunogenicity of an HLA-A2-restricted hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope that is also presented by HLA-B51. J Virol 2001;75:3984–3987.
- 172 Lee YS, Yoon SJ, Kwon TK, Kim YH, Woo JH, Suh MH, Suh SI, Baek WK, Kim HJ, Ahn SY, Choe BK, Park JW: Immune response induced by immunization with hepatitis B virus core DNA isolated from chronic active hepatitis patients. Immunol Lett 2001;78:13– 20.
- 173 Lau GK, Suri D, Liang R, Rigopoulou EI, Thomas MG, Mullerova I, Nanji A, Yuen ST, Williams R, Naoumov NV: Resolution of chronic hepatitis B and anti-HBs seroconversion in humans by adoptive transfer of immunity to hepatitis B core antigen. Gastroenterology 2002;122:614–624.
- 174 Lenhoff RJ, Luscombe CA, Summers J: Competition in vivo between a cytopathic variant and a wild-type duck hepatitis B virus. Virology 1998;251:85–95.
- 175 Köck J, Nassal M, MacNelly S, Baumert TF, Blum HE, von Weizsäcker F: Efficient infection of primary tupaia hepatocytes with purified human and woolly monkey hepatitis B virus. J Virol 2001;75:5084–5089.
- 176 Ren S, Nassal M: Hepatitis B virus (HBV) virion and covalently closed circular DNA formation in primary tupaia hepatocytes and human hepatoma cell lines upon HBV genome transduction with replication-defective adenovirus vectors. J Virol 2001;75:1104– 1116.
- 177 Sprinzl MF, Oberwinkler H, Schaller H, Protzer U: Transfer of hepatitis B virus genome by adenovirus vectors into cultured cells and mice: Crossing the species barrier. J Virol 2001;75:5108–5118.
- 178 Norder H, Hammas B, Lee SD, Bile K, Courouce AM, Mushahwar IK, Magnius LO: Genetic relatedness of hepatitis B viral strains of diverse geographical origin and natural variations in the primary structure of the surface antigen. J Gen Virol 1993;74:1341–1348.
- 179 Lindh M, Andersson AS, Gusdal A: Genotypes, nt 1858 variants, and geographic origin of hepatitis B virus – large-scale analysis using a new genotyping method. J Infect Dis 1997; 175:1285–1293.

- 180 Stuyver L, De Gendt S, Van Geyt C, Zoulim F, Fried M, Schinazi RF, Rossau R: A new genotype of hepatitis B virus: Complete genome and phylogenetic relatedness. J Gen Virol 2000;81:67–74.
- 181 Swenson PD, Van Geyt C, Alexander ER, Hagan H, Freitag-Koontz JM, Wilson S, Norder H, Magnius LO, Stuyver L: Hepatitis B virus genotypes and HbsAg subtypes in refugees and injection drug users in the United States determined by LiPA and monoclonal EIA. J Med Virol 2001;64:305– 311.
- 182 Lindh M, Horal P, Dhillon AP, Furuta Y, Norkrans G: Hepatitis B virus carriers without precore mutations in hepatitis B e antigen-negative stage show more severe liver damage. Hepatology 1996;24:494–501.
- 183 Fujie H, Moriya K, Shintani Y, Yotsuyanagi H, Iino S, Koike K: Hepatitis B virus genotypes and hepatocellular carcinoma in Japan. Gastroenterology 2001;120:1564–1565.
- 184 Schödel F, Weimer T, Will HBV: Molecular biology and immunology. Biotest Bull 1990;4: 63–83.
- 185 Valenzuela P, Gray P, Quiroga M, Zaldivar J, Goodman HM, Rutter WJ: Nucleotide sequence of the gene coding for the major protein of hepatitis B virus surface antigen. Nature 1979;280:815–819.
- 186 Chiou HL, Lee TS, Kuo J, Mau YC, Ho MS: Altered antigenicity of 'a' determinant variants of hepatitis B virus. J Gen Virol 1997;78: 2639–2645.
- 187 Chong-Jin O, Wie NC, Shiuan K, Gek KL: Identification of hepatitis B surface antigen variants with alterations outside the 'a' determinant in immunized Singapore infants. J Infect Dis 1999;179:259–263.
- 188 Roznovsky L, Harrison TJ, Fang ZL, Ling R, Lochman I, Orsagova I, Pliskova L: Unusual hepatitis B surface antigen variation in a child immunised against hepatitis B. J Med Virol 2000;61:11–14.
- 189 Seddigh-Tonekaboni S, Waters JA, Jeffers S, Gehrke R, Ofenloch B, Horsch A, Hess G, Thomas HC, Karayiannis P: Effect of variation in the common 'a' determinant on the antigenicity of hepatitis B surface antigen. J Med Virol 2000;60:113–121.
- 190 Ijaz S, Torre F, Tedder RS, Williams R, Naoumov NV: Novel immunoassay for the detection of hepatitis B surface 'escape' mutants and its application in liver transplant recipients. J Med Virol 2001;63:210–216.
- 191 Manegold C, Hannoun C, Wywiol A, Dietrich M, Polywka S, Chiwakata CB, Günther S: Reactivation of hepatitis B virus replication accompanied by acute hepatitis in patients receiving highly active antiretroviral therapy. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32:144–148.

Intervirology 2002;45:233-236 DOI: 10.1159/000067913

In vitro Expression of Human Hepatitis B Virus Genomes Carrying Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Pre-S1 Sequences

Christophe Hourioux Jonas Kneser Volker Bruss

Department of Virology, University of Göttingen, Göttingen, Germany

Key Words

Hepatitis B virus · Woodchuck hepatitis virus · Virus tropism · Pre-S domain · Chimeric virus

Abstract

Many hepatitis B virus (HBV) in vivo experiments are unfeasible because this virus infects only humans. Former studies demonstrated that the pre-S1 domain of the viral envelope protein L determines host range. Therefore, we tried to generate HBV recombinants which might be able to infect woodchucks by exchanging different portions of the pre-S1 encoding gene with homologous parts from the related woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) in a cloned HBV genome. In 6 mutants, 11-92 Nterminal HBV pre-S1 codons were replaced by 20-120 codons from WHV. Four mutants carried C-terminal substitutions. The pre-S1 region overlaps with the viral polymerase gene, which is therefore also affected. After transfection of Huh7 cells, the DNA polymerase activity in cytoplasmic nucleocapsids was found to be only slightly affected. All mutants except for the largest C-terminal substitution allowed virion formation. Only the smallest N- and C-terminal substitutions had a wild-type phenotype. The remaining 7 variants allowed virion yields between 5 and 50% of that of the wild type. This demonstrated that substitution of up to 92 pre-S1 codons in an HBV genome with up to 120 codons from WHV pre-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0233\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int S1 was compatible with DNA replication and virion formation. Some recombinant viruses might be able to grow in woodchucks.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

The hepatitis B virus (HBV), the prototype member of the virus family Hepadnaviridae, is a major human pathogen frequently causing persistent infections and chronic inflammations of the liver. Worldwide, more than 300 million persons carry this virus and are, as a consequence, at risk of developing liver cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma [1]. While the molecular biology of the virus has been explored to a significant degree [for a review, see ref. 2], mainly by using in vitro systems like cell lines transfected with molecular cloned HBV genomes, a number of important questions concerning virus-host interactions on a tissue or organ level are unanswered due to the lack of suitable experimental in vivo systems; HBV infects only humans and can be transmitted experimentally only to higher primates. Other members of the Hepadnaviridae family [3], such as duck HBV, heron HBV, ground squirrel hepatitis virus, woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) and woolly monkey HBV, also display a very narrow host range and liver specificity. They are used as surrogates for in vivo studies. However, avian hepatitis B viruses are quite distinct from HBV in several aspects and therefore their use as a model for HBV is limited.

Dr. Volker Bruss Department of Virology, University of Göttingen Kreuzbergring 57 D–37075 Göttingen (Germany) Tel. +49 551 395759, Fax +49 551 394471, E-Mail vbruss@gwdg.de



Fig. 1. Map of the parental plasmid pSVHBV1.5 carrying the HBV genome and of the recombinations. A A 1.2-mer of the HBV genome, genotype A (black bar), was inserted downstream of an SV40 early promoter (SV40). Numbers indicate nucleotide positions in the HBV genome; nucleotide 1 is the dC residue of the single EcoRI site. Open boxes show the HBV genes (C: core gene; P: DNA polymerase gene; E: envelope gene; X: X gene). The vertical bars in the P gene specify the boundaries between the 4 polymerase protein domains: terminal protein, spacer, reverse transcriptase and RNaseH. The vertical bars in the E gene separate the pre-S1, pre-S2 and S domains of the envelope proteins. B The mutants of the N series carry 20-120 codons of WHV pre-S1 (black boxes) fused to different positions of the HBV pre-S1 gene (open boxes). Numbers on the right indicate the C-terminal WHV and the N-terminal HBV codon fused in each construct. WT = Wild type. **C** For the mutants of the C series, the different 5' recombination sites are indicated by the numbers on the right (Cterminal pre-S1 codon of HBV and N-terminal pre-S1 codon of WHV fused). The 3' recombination site indicated by an asterisk fuses WHV pre-S1 codon 120 to HBV pre-S1 codon 93. The drawings are not to scale.

One determinant of the restriction of hepadnaviruses to single host species probably acts during virus attachment or uptake into the hepatocyte and may be based on a selective interaction between a species-specific virus receptor and a viral surface protein domain. While a virus receptor has been found only for duck HBV to date [4], the potential viral receptor ligand has been mapped for hepadnaviruses to reside in the N-terminal domain of the large envelope protein (L protein) [5]. This domain is called pre-S1 for mammalian and pre-S for avian hepadnaviruses. Exchange of this protein domain between two avian hepadnaviruses [6] or between HBV and woolly monkey HBV [7] by phenotypic mixing of envelope proteins caused the corresponding conversion of the species specificity.

Changing the host range by phenotypic mixing of envelope proteins has the disadvantage that the hepadnaviruses are limited to one round of infections. This limitation can be overcome by recombining foreign pre-S1 sequences into an acceptor HBV genome. However, one potential serious problem with this approach is that alterations in the viral envelope gene also modify the overlapping viral P gene which encodes a multifunctional protein with DNA polymerase activity (fig. 1A). However, the part of the P gene which overlaps with pre-S1 encodes a spacer region separating the terminal protein domain from the DNA polymerase domain and possessing no enzymatic function [8] (fig. 1A).

In this paper, we describe our approach to generating a human HBV carrying portions of the WHV pre-S1 domain by recombination of the viral genomes. We show that the DNA polymerases of the recombinant viruses were active, and demonstrate that recombinant virus was secreted from transiently transfected hepatoma cell lines. The goal is to create a quasi-human virus which is able to grow in woodchucks.

We cloned a 1.2-mer of the HBV genome genotype A [9] into the bacterial plasmid pSV65 3' of an SV40 early promoter [10], resulting in plasmid pSVHBV1.5 (fig. 1A). The HBV genome copy starts with nucleotide 1816 (numbering of the 3,221-base pair long HBV genome starts with the deoxycytosine residue of the single *Eco*RI site) and is inserted behind the promoter in such a way that the 5' ends of the majority of the SV40 promoter-driven transcripts correspond to the authentic 5' end of the HBV RNA pregenome (data not shown). The inserted HBV DNA ends 600 base pairs downstream of the viral polyA site. By PCR, 10 recombinant genomes were constructed in the background of plasmid pSVHBV1.5. In a first series comprising 6 variants (N1-N6, fig. 1B), 20, 40, 60, 80, 100 or 120 codons, respectively, of the WHV pre-S1 sequence (total length: 149 codons [11]) were introduced into the HBV genome. The 5' recombination sites between the HBV pre-S1 (total length: 119 codons) and the WHV sequence are the start codons of the pre-S1 regions. The 3' recombination sites were chosen after aligning the pre-S1 amino acid sequences of both viruses (fig. 2). The HBV pre-S1 sequence downstream of amino acid 93 was not exchanged in any construct because this domain was shown to be important for nucleocapsid envelopment [12]. In a second series comprising 4 constructs (C1-C4, fig. 1C, 2), the 3' recombination site between the WHV and HBV pre-S1 sequences corresponds to the site in N6,



Fig. 2. Alignment of WHV (upper line) and HBV (lower line) pre-S1 amino acid sequences and depiction of the recombination sites. The amino acid sequences were aligned using the computer program blastp. Identical residues are distinguished by bars above the sequence. Dashes indicate gaps. Recombination sites for all 10 mutants are marked by vertical bars. The asterisk indicates the 3' recombination site in all mutants of the C series. The C-terminal homologous region is important for virion morphogenesis [12] and was not exchanged.

but the 5' recombination sites are varied. The portions generated by PCR were sequenced in all plasmids to exclude unintentional mutations.

These constructs, together with the parental wild-type plasmid pSVHBV1.5, were used for transient transfections of the human hepatoma cell line Huh7 by the calcium phosphate precipitation technique in 10-cm dishes [13]. As a negative control, a point mutant of pSVHBV1.5 (pSVHBV1.5-S⁻) carrying an ATG to ACG missense mutation of the start codon for the small surface protein S was used. This mutation is silent in the overlapping P gene but blocks synthesis of the S protein which is essential for envelopment of the nucleocapsid and therefore impedes virion secretion [14]. Five days after transfection, the cleared culture medium and a cleared Nonidet P-40 lysate of the cells were harvested. Nucleocapsids from the cells and virions from the media were immunoprecipitated with rabbit anti-HBc and goat anti-HBs, respectively, bound to protein A sepharose beads and washed with phosphate-buffered saline [13]. The concentrated viral particles were then incubated with 50 µl of a solution containing 50 mM Tris-Cl, pH 7.5, 75 mM NH₄Cl, 1 mM EDTA, 20 mM MgCl₂, 0.1% (v/v) betamercaptoethanol, 0.5% (v/v) Nonidet P-40, 0.4 mM deoxyguanosine triphosphate, 0.4 mM deoxyadenosine triphosphate, 0.4 mM thymidine triphosphate and 10 µCi of



Fig. 3. Detection of DNA polymerase activity and virion formation. Huh7 cells were transiently transfected with the parental HBV construct (wild type; WT) and the indicated recombinants. As a negative control for nucleocapsid envelopment/secretion, a wild-type genome carrying a missense mutation of the start codon for the small envelope protein (S⁻) was used. Nucleocapsids from cell lysates (left panels) and virions from culture media (right panels) were immunoprecipitated with anti-HBc and anti-HBs, respectively, and detected by radioactive labeling of the viral genome using the endogenous virus polymerase. The isolated genomes were separated on an agarose gel and depicted by phosphoimaging. **A** N series of mutants. **B** C series of mutants. In lanes labeled 'C', 2 μ l of a highly viremic human serum containing approximately 4 × 10⁶ genomes were directly used for the labeling reaction.

alpha-[32 P]-deoxycytosine triphosphate (3,000 Ci/mmol) at 37° overnight. During this incubation, the viral DNA polymerase in nucleocapsids and virions elongated the incomplete plus strand of the viral DNA genome. The radioactively labeled genomes were then isolated by the addition of 50 µl of a solution containing 1% (w/v) SDS, 10 m*M* Tris-Cl, pH 7.5, 10 m*M* EDTA, 0.1 mg of tRNA/ml and 0.4 mg of proteinase K/ml, incubation for 30 min at 37°, phenol-chloroform extraction and two ethanol-ammonium acetate precipitations [13]. The viral DNA was separated on a 1% agarose-tris-acetate-EDTA gel. The gel was dried and documented using a phosphoimager.

The N series of mutants displayed viral DNA polymerase activities similar to that of wild type (fig. 3A, left panel), demonstrating that the exchange of up to 92 amino acids in the spacer region of the HBV polymerase, starting with amino acid position 183, with up to 120 amino acids of the WHV polymerase had no or little influence on the enzyme activity. The C series of mutants showed an increasingly negative effect of the increasing WHV proportion on P protein functions (fig. 3B, left panel). Whereas the DNA polymerase of mutant C1 had wildtype activity, the activity dropped slightly from mutant C2 to mutant C4. The reason for the different behavior of the N and C series mutants is not clear.

With the exception of mutant C4, all of the other nine mutants allowed detection of virions in the culture media (fig. 3A, B, right panels). Mutant N1 was comparable to wild type. Mutants N2–N6 showed between 5 and 50% of the virion production of the wild type. For mutants C1–C3, the ratio of intracellular nucleocapsids to secreted virions was near to wild type. Only mutant C4, showing the lowest DNA polymerase activity, failed to produce detectable virions. The S-negative HBV mutants, as expected, generated no virions. The weak band for this mutant (fig. 3B, right panel) is most probably due to low amounts of contaminating naked nucleocapsids present in the culture medium.

This study demonstrated that it was possible to generate recombinant hepatitis B virions carrying up to 120 Nterminal amino acids of the WHV pre-S1 sequence. By analogy to former experiments [6, 7], it seems reasonable to expect that variant N6, for example, might be infectious in woodchucks and could represent a quasi-human virus able to grow in a rodent. Whether the clearly reduced virion yield of this mutant relative to wild type (compare, for example, lane WT with lane N6 in fig. 3, right panel) still allows spread of the infection in the animal has to be elucidated.

During the design of this project, we expected that the most critical point could be a negative influence of the recombinations on polymerase functions. Surprisingly, this effect was rather mild, especially for the N series of mutants. On the other hand, we expected no profound effect of the recombinations on nucleocapsid envelopment and virion release because it has been shown that the HBV pre-S1 sequence 2-92 could be deleted without changing virion yields by transcomplementation [15] and that the WHV pre-S1 sequence could functionally substitute the homologous HBV sequence in phenotypic mixing experiments [16]. Surprisingly, we found that nucleocapsid envelopment and release was affected. This effect was not due to impaired folding, oligomerization or retention of the recombinant L proteins, because the secretion of subviral HBs antigen particles was not correspondingly altered (data not shown). We speculate that the foreign N-terminal WHV sequences in the HBV L proteins of mutants N2-N6 might influence the folding or accessibility of more C-terminal domains of the L protein important for morphogenesis.

Acknowledgment

C.H. was supported by a fellowship from the Association pour la Recherche contre le Cancer.

References

- Blumberg BS: Hepatitis B virus, the vaccine, and the control of primary cancer of the liver. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:7121–7125.
- 2 Seeger C, Mason WS: Hepatitis B virus biology. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2000;64:51–68.
- 3 Ganem D: Hepadnaviridae: The viruses and their replication; in Fields BN, Knipe DM, Howley RM (eds): Virology. Philadelphia, Lippincott-Raven, 1996, pp 2703–2737.
- 4 Urban S, Breiner KM, Fehler F, Klingmüller U, Schaller H: Avian hepatitis B virus infection is initiated by the interaction of a distinct pre-S subdomain with the cellular receptor gp180. J Virol 1998;72:8089–8097.
- 5 Le Seyec J, Chouteau P, Cannie I, Gugen-Guillouzo C, Gripon P: Infection process of the hepatitis B virus depends on the presence of a defined sequence in the pre-S1 domain. J Virol 1999;73:2052–2057.
- 6 Ishikawa T, Ganem D: The pre-S domain of the large viral envelope protein determines host range in avian hepatitis B viruses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:6259–6263.

- 7 Chouteau P, Le Seyec J, Cannie I, Nassal M, Gugen-Guillouzo C, Gripon P: A short N-proximal region in the large envelope protein harbors a determinant that contributes to the species specificity of human hepatitis B virus. J Virol 2001;75:11565–11572.
- 8 Radziwill G, Tucker W, Schaller H: Mutational analysis of the hepatitis B virus P gene product: Domain structure and RNase H activity. J Virol 1990;64:613–620.
- 9 Valenzuela P, Quiroga M, Zaldivar J, Gray R, Rutter W: The nucleotide sequence of the hepatitis B viral genome and the identification of the major viral genes. UCLA Symp Mol Cell Biol 1980;18:57–70.
- 10 Persing D, Varmus H, Ganem D: Inhibition of secretion of hepatitis B surface antigen by a related presurface polypeptide. Science 1986; 234:1388–1392.
- 11 Cohen JI, Miller RH, Rosenblum B, Dennison K, Gerin JL, Purcell RH: Sequence comparison of woodchuck hepatitis virus replicative forms shows conservation of the genome. Virology 1988;162:12–20.

- 12 Bruss V: A short linear sequence in the pre-S domain of the large hepatitis B virus envelope protein required for virion formation. J Virol 1997;71:9350–9357.
- 13 Koschel M, Oed D, Gerelsaikhan T, Thomssen R, Bruss V: Hepatitis B virus core gene mutations which block nucleocapsid envelopment. J Virol 2000;74:1–7.
- 14 Bruss V, Ganem D: The role of envelope proteins in hepatitis B virus assembly. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:1059–1063.
- 15 Bruss V, Thomssen R: Mapping a region of the large envelope protein required for hepatitis B virion maturation. J Virol 1994;68:1643– 1650.
- 16 Gerhardt E, Bruss V: Phenotypic mixing of rodent but not avian hepadnavirus surface proteins into human hepatitis B virus particles. J Virol 1995;69:1201–1208.

Intervirology 2002;45:237-250 DOI: 10.1159/000067914

Immunogenic Effects of Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Surface Antigen Vaccine in Combination with Antiviral Therapy: Breaking of Humoral and Cellular Immune Tolerance in Chronic Woodchuck Hepatitis Virus Infection

Stephan Menne^a Carol A. Roneker^a Bud C. Tennant^a Brent E. Korba^b John L. Gerin^b Paul J. Cote^b

^aGastrointestinal Unit, Department of Clinical Sciences, College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y., ^bDivision of Molecular Virology and Immunology, Georgetown University Medical Center, Rockville, Md., USA

Key Words

Therapeutic vaccination • Drug/antiviral therapy • Lymphocyte proliferation • Immunologic tolerance • In vivo animal models • Woodchuck • Woodchuck hepatitis virus • Hepatitis B

Abstract

Objective: A rational treatment strategy for chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection might involve the modulation of immunity after the reduction of viremia and antigenemia. This strategy was tested in woodchucks chronically infected with the woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) by combining antiviral treatment with 1-(2-fluoro-5-methyl- β -*L*-arabinofuranosyl)-uracil (L-FMAU) and therapeutic vaccination with WHV surface antigen (WHsAg). **Methods:** Chronic WHV carriers were treated with L-FMAU or placebo for 32 weeks. Half the woodchucks in each group then received four injections of a conventional WHsAg vaccine during the next 16 weeks. **Results:** Vaccination alone elicited low-level antibody to WHsAg (anti-WHs) in most carriers but did not affect serum WHV DNA, WHsAg

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0237\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int or liver enzyme responses. Carriers treated first with L-FMAU to reduce WHV DNA and WHsAg and then vaccinated developed similar low-level anti-WHs and normalized liver enzymes. Following vaccinations, WHsAg-specific cell-mediated immunity (CMI) was demonstrated in both groups, but was significantly enhanced in carriers treated with L-FMAU, and was broadened to include WHV core antigen (WHcAg) and selected peptide epitopes of WHcAg and WHsAg. Anti-WHs and associated CMI to WHcAg and WHsAg were observed after drug discontinuation in half of the carriers that received L-FMAU alone. Conclusions: Vaccination with WHsAg following treatment with L-FMAU disrupted virus-specific humoral and cell-mediated immune tolerance in chronic WHV infection and enhanced the immune response profiles beyond those seen with monotherapies alone. The combination therapy resulted in immune response profiles that resembled those observed during resolution of WHV infection. The results in woodchucks demonstrate the feasibility of using such a combination therapy for the control of chronic HBV infection in humans.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Stephan Menne

Gastrointestinal Unit, Department of Clinical Sciences College of Veterinary Medicine, Room C-2005 VMC Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853 (USA) Tel. +1 607 253 3280, Fax +1 607 253 3289, E-Mail sm119@cornell.edu

Introduction

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a major public health problem and is responsible for about 1.2 million deaths per year worldwide. More than 350 million people throughout the world are chronically infected with HBV [1] and are at high risk of developing chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Such individuals could benefit immensely from timely and effective antiviral and/or immunotherapeutic treatment. Chronic HBV infection is associated with defects in immunity [reviewed in ref. 2, 3]. The HBV carrier appears immunologically tolerant with a lack of detectable antibodies (anti-HBs) to the viral surface antigen (HBsAg) and hyporesponsive T helper cells to viral antigens [4-6]. In contrast, self-limited HBV infection is characterized by the development of anti-HBs antibodies and appropriate T helper cell responses to HBV [4-6]. The humoral and cellular immune responses that are sometimes detected in the HBV carrier are generally dysfunctional [4-9], in that they contribute more to disease progression than to viral clearance [reviewed in ref. 2] [4, 10, 11].

Current treatment strategies for chronic HBV infection are suboptimal when compared to the curative process observed in self-limited HBV infection. Antiviral approaches to reduce viral load include lamivudine (3TC), interferon-alpha (IFN- α) and their combination [10, 12–16]. Even with such combination therapy, seroconversion to anti-HBs antibody and improvements in endogenous T cell responses to HBV are usually not induced. Cessation of 3TC treatment is frequently associated with viral recrudescence [13, 16]. Prolonged treatment with 3TC leads to the emergence of drug-resistant mutants and an associated increase in viral load [15]. About 70% of HBV patients treated with IFN-α are nonresponsive or only partially responsive [17–19]; the other 30% of patients can clear the virus, but major side effects are frequently observed.

Imunotherapeutic approaches to reducing viral load in chronic HBV carriers include licensed prophylactics, such as HBsAg vaccines and hepatitis B immunoglobulin preparations. About 90% of HBV-naîve vaccine recipients develop strong anti-HBs antibody and T cell responses to HBsAg [20–24]. Vaccination of chronic HBV carriers with HBsAg vaccines, however, elicits only weak and transient anti-HBs antibodies and HBsAg-specific T cell responses in a low proportion of such patients [21, 25, 26]. Sustained reductions in viremia in chronic HBV carriers receiving HBsAg vaccine have been observed in some cases as well [26, 27]. Approaches combining antivirals with immunotherapeutic vaccination included the treatment of HBV carriers with IFN- α before and following vaccination with HBsAg [17–19, 26]. Such combination treatments elicit transient anti-HBs responses in a few patients. In addition, although viremia was reduced in about half of the patients, and HBsAg-specific T cell responses became detectable in about 25%, none of the patients cleared HBsAg from serum.

The above examples clearly indicate that a more potent therapy for chronic HBV infection is needed, i.e. one that involves more pronounced reductions of HBV viremia and HBs antigenemia and sustained seroconversion to anti-HBs antibody and associated T cell responses to HBV antigens, as observed in patients undergoing selflimited HBV infection. One rational strategy to terminate chronic HBV infection would be to first reduce the viral and antigen load by a potent antiviral drug and then to modulate the antiviral immune responses by therapeutic vaccination with HBsAg. The feasibility of such a strategy was tested in the present report using woodchucks as an animal model of human HBV infection.

The Eastern woodchuck (*Marmota monax*) infected with the woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) has been used to investigate the basic pathogenesis of acute and chronic HBV infection [reviewed in ref. 3, 28–30]. Chronic WHV carrier woodchucks have been used in the preclinical development of drugs for HBV therapy [31, 32] and for the testing of prophylactic and immunotherapeutic approaches [33–39]. This animal model mimics many of the virologic and immune response features observed in human HBV infection [40–49], and predicts human responses to antiviral agents as well [31].

The present report describes a promising approach to the therapeutic eradication of chronic WHV infection using a combination of an antiviral drug and WHV surface antigen (WHsAg) therapeutic vaccine. Antiviral studies in chronic WHV carrier woodchucks using the new and potent antiviral drug 1-(2-fluoro-5-methyl-β-Larabinofuranosyl)-uracil (L-FMAU) demonstrated that L-FMAU significantly reduces the serum concentration of both WHV DNA and WHsAg and also reduces the levels of covalently closed circular viral DNA in the liver [32]. Conventional alum-adsorbed WHsAg vaccine induces anti-WHs antibody responses and protects woodchucks from WHV challenge [33, 34]. A double-placebo-controlled study has now been performed in chronic WHV carrier woodchucks involving treatment with L-FMAU followed by therapeutic vaccination with a conventional WHsAg vaccine. The results demonstrate that the combination therapy breaks immunologic tolerance in chronic WHV carriers by inducing virus-specific humoral and cellular immune responses. The immune response profile elicited in carriers during the combination therapy appeared to result from an additive effect of monotherapies and resembled that observed in self-limited WHV infection.

Materials and Methods

Woodchucks

Use of woodchucks born in our laboratory colony (College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University, Ithaca, N.Y., USA) was approved by the Cornell University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Ten adult WHV-susceptible woodchucks, approximately 1 year of age, were used to study vaccine safety (n = 3) and immunogenicity (n = 7). Thirty-two chronic WHV carrier woodchucks, 1–2 years of age, were stratified by age and sex into four experimental groups in order to study the influence of antiviral drug treatment on the immune response to the therapeutic vaccination. The WHV carriers had been infected experimentally at 3 days of age with WHV7P1 as described previously [41], and were verified as chronic carriers by detection of persistent WHV viremia and WHs antigenemia from 2–3 months of age.

Drug and Vaccine

The antiviral drug L-FMAU (Clevudine[®]) was provided by Triangle Pharmaceuticals Inc. (Research Triangle Park, N.C., USA). The subunit vaccine (22-nm-diameter WHsAg particles) was purified by zonal ultracentrifugation from serum of WHV7P1-infected chronic carriers [50], and was therefore homologous to the WHsAg in the WHV inoculum used to infect the present chronic carriers. The particles were formalin inactivated and adsorbed to alum and were not pretreated with enzymes that remove pre-S sequences. Prior to alum adsorption, the purified, formalin-inactivated WHsAg was safety tested in 3 WHV-susceptible woodchucks (50 µg of WHsAg, i.v.) and demonstrated to be free of residual infectious WHV (data not shown). The WHsAg-alum-adsorbed vaccine was tested in 7 WHV-susceptible woodchucks (50 µg, i.m., at 0, 4, 8 and 16 weeks) and confirmed to be immunogenic for the induction of antibodies against WHsAg (anti-WHs) and WHsAg-specific cell-mediated immunity (CMI).

Study Design

Sixteen chronic WHV carrier woodchucks received L-FMAU (L+ carriers; 10 mg/kg/day, one dose orally for 32 weeks) and 16 received saline placebo (L– carriers). Two woodchucks (one in each group) died before the start of the vaccine phase of the study. Eight of the L+ carriers received 50 μ g of the WHsAg vaccine (L+V+ carriers; referred to as combination therapy) beginning at week 32 and then again at weeks 36, 40 and 48, while 7 L+ carriers received a saline placebo injection control at these times (L+V– carriers). Eight of the L– carriers received the same course of vaccine (L–V+ carriers), while 7 L– carriers received a saline placebo injection control at below of vaccine (L–V+ carriers), while 7 L– carriers received a saline placebo injection control (L–V– carriers; referred to as double-placebo carrier controls). The immune responses in each experimental group were compared during the placebo-controlled drug treatment phase (weeks 0–32) and during the

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks

placebo-controlled vaccine phase (weeks 32–60). Serum samples were obtained throughout the study for measurement of viral markers (WHV DNA and WHsAg) and anti-WHs antibody. CMI was monitored by in vitro proliferation assay using peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) isolated from whole blood. Most of the woodchucks in each group (63–86%) were monitored at 2- to 4-week intervals. The remainder were tested at intervals of 8–12 weeks.

Assays of Viral Markers, Antibodies and Liver Enzymes

Serum WHV DNA was measured by dot blot hybridization [31, 32, 41] either directly or following polymerase chain reaction amplification (limit of sensitivity: 30 virus genomic equivalents/ml). Serum WHsAg was measured by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) [51] using a 1/10 or greater dilution of serum (lower sensitivity: circa 30 ng/ml of serum). Anti-WHs antibody was quantified by ELISA [51] in reciprocal standard dilution units (U/ml). Serum activities of the liver enzymes alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase and sorbitol dehydrogenase were determined by the Institute of Clinical Pathology (Cornell University) for the biochemical assessment of hepatic injury as described previously [52].

Polyclonal Activators, Viral Antigens and Synthetic Peptides

In vitro stimulators were used at concentrations optimal for woodchuck PBMC cultures as described previously [40, 44-47]. Concanavalin A (8 µg/ml) and lipopolysaccharide (0.5 µg/ml) were purchased from Sigma (St. Louis, Mo., USA). Human recombinant interleukin-2 (100 IU/ml) was obtained from Cetus (Emeryville, Calif., USA). Viral antigen stimulators consisted of native 22-nm WHsAg (0.5 and 2 µg/ml; the same purified antigen used to prepare the vaccine and for the assay of anti-WHs) and recombinant WHV core antigen (rWHcAg; 0.5 and 1 µg/ml). Two synthetic peptides (20 amino acids in length; 10 µg/ml) were purchased from Genosys-Sigma (The Woodlands, Tex., USA), corresponding to amino acid residues 100-119 of WHcAg (C100-119) [44, 46, 47] and amino acid residues 226-245 of WHsAg (S226-245, starting at the N-terminus of the large surface protein and also corresponding to residues 77-96 and 17-36, respectively, of the middle and small surface proteins) [45].

In vitro PBMC Proliferation Assay

The in vitro proliferation assays using woodchuck PBMC were comparable to those performed in human studies [4–6, 10], except that dividing cells were labeled with [2-³H]adenine [46, 47] (37 kBq/ well, specific activity 703 GBq/m*M*; Amersham Pharmacia Biotech Inc., Arlington Heights, Ill., USA). Woodchuck PBMC were isolated from whole blood and stimulated in vitro as described elsewhere [44–47]. Counts per minute of PBMC triplicate cultures were averaged and expressed as a stimulation index by dividing the average sample counts per minute in the presence of stimulator by that in the absence of stimulator (7 replicates).

Parameters of Humoral and Cellular Immune Responses

The frequency of responding woodchucks was defined as the percentage of woodchucks in each group that developed positive responses at one or more time points. This was expressed as a cumulative frequency for a given study interval (e.g. drug treatment or vaccine phases of the study). The frequency of positive samples was defined as the percentage of samples testing positive above the assay cutoff during a given study interval.



Fig. 1. Kinetics of virological, serum biochemical and immunological responses for representative chronic WHV carrier woodchucks from the four experimental groups in the L-FMAU and WHsAg vaccine study. Experimental groups: L+V+ = L-FMAU/vaccine, woodchuck No. 5437; L-V+ = placebo/vaccine, woodchuck No. 5444; L+V- = L-FMAU/placebo, woodchuck No. 5476; L-V- = double-placebo control, woodchuck No. 5481. Top panels: O = serum WHV DNA [virus genomic equivalents (vge)/ml]; \triangle = serum WHsAg (µg/ml); ◆ = serum anti-WHs antibody response (U/ml). Middle panels: serum biochemical activities of liver enzymes (IU/ml): O = sorbitol dehydrogenase (SDH); ▲ = aspartate aminotransferase (AST); \triangle =

Statistical Analysis

Mean serum concentrations of WHV DNA and WHsAg were compared by Student's t test in accordance with an F test for equal versus unequal variances. The frequency of responding woodchucks and the frequency of positive samples from the experimental groups were compared by Fisher's test for proportions (one-tailed). p values <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

Results

Overview of Responses to L-FMAU Treatment and

Therapeutic Vaccination with WHsAg-Alum Vaccine

Figure 1 shows representative virological, serum biochemical and immunological responses through to week 60 for one chronic WHV carrier woodchuck from each of

alanine aminotransferase (ALT). Bottom panels: vCMI to WHV antigens and selected peptides (stimulation index): \bigcirc = rWHcAg; \triangle = WHsAg; \bigcirc = WHc peptide C100–119; \blacktriangle = WHs peptide S226– 245. The positive cutoff for specific vCMI at a stimulation index of 3.1 is marked by a partial, horizontal dotted line. The drug treatment phase (0–32 weeks) and the vaccine and immediate follow-up phases (32–60 weeks) are separated by a vertical dotted line. L-FMAU treatment for 32 weeks is indicated by a horizontal bar. Vertical arrowheads represent the 4 immunizations with 50-µg doses of an alumadsorbed WHsAg vaccine at weeks 32, 36, 40 and 48.

the four experimental groups in the drug treatment/therapeutic vaccination study. Treatment of WHV carriers with L-FMAU for 32 weeks resulted in prompt and marked reductions in both serum WHV DNA and WHsAg compared with placebo controls. By the end of drug treatment (week 32), significant reductions in serum WHV DNA (8 logs) and WHsAg (2 logs) were evident in most of the L+V+ and L+V- carriers (table 1). Serum WHV DNA and WHsAg remained essentially unchanged in the carriers that did not receive drug (L-V+, L-V-). Serum enzyme responses were variable during the drug treatment phase in the two control carrier groups (L-V+, L-V-), but appeared to undergo some degree of normalization associated with drug treatment (L+V+, L+V-; fig. 1).

After cessation of drug treatment at week 32, the low levels of serum WHV DNA and WHsAg in the drugtreated carriers (L+V-, L+V+) were sustained for at least 2 months in most cases, or increased only slightly above the lowest level (circa 10-fold; fig. 1). In the drug-treated carriers that received vaccine (L+V+), the 4 doses of WHsAg vaccine (weeks 32, 36, 40 and 48) induced frequent anti-WHs antibody responses that were also associated with virus-specific CMI (vCMI) to WHsAg and WHs peptides (fig. 1–3). In carriers that did not receive drug, vaccination also induced anti-WHs antibodies and vCMI to WHsAg, but did not significantly affect serum viral and antigen load compared to double-placebo controls (fig. 1, L-V+ versus L-V-). Serum enzymes were normalized in most of the carriers by week 32 of the study. There were no significant elevations in serum enzymes associated with L-FMAU treatment, withdrawal of L-FMAU or WHsAg vaccination (fig. 1). Thus, the anti-WHs and vCMI responses observed in response to therapeutic vaccination (and to drug withdrawal in some cases) did not lead to hepatic flare reactions involving significant liver injury. Later serum enzyme elevations near or after week 60 of the study (e.g. fig. 1, L-V+, woodchuck No. 5444) were associated with the progression of chronic hepatitis and development of hepatocellular carcinoma (data not shown). We conclude that there were no adverse effects associated with therapeutic vaccination in either the high (L-V+) or low (L+V+) viral and antigen load settings.

Anti-WHs Antibody Responses following Therapeutic Vaccinations

The WHsAg vaccine was shown initially to be safe and immunogenic in WHV-susceptible woodchucks. All of the 7 WHV-susceptible woodchucks developed strong anti-WHs antibody responses after their second dose of vaccine, with titers of 2,000 U/ml of serum or higher and an overall frequency of anti-WHs-positive serum samples of 95% (fig. 2, bottom panel). The WHsAg vaccine elicited vCMI to WHsAg and WHs peptides, but not to other viral antigens (data not shown). Thus, the responses observed in vaccinated carriers were specific to the immunization with WHsAg.

The anti-WHs antibody titers induced by therapeutic vaccination of L+V+ and L–V+ carriers were about 10 times lower on average than those observed in the WHV-susceptible woodchucks, and the overall frequencies of anti-WHs-positive samples in the carriers were not as high (fig. 2; p < 0.01). Among the double-placebo carrier controls, there were no anti-WHs responses during either phases of the study, except for one sporadic positive sam-

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks

Table 1. Mean serum WHV DNA and WHsAg concentrations

 before and after treatment with L-FMAU for 32 weeks

| | Treatment wi | Treatment with | | |
|----------------------|------------------------|----------------------------|---------|--|
| | L-FMAU (L+ (n = 16) |) placebo (L–) (n = 16) | | |
| Serum WHV DI | NA, vge/ml | | | |
| Week 0 | 4.95×10^{10} | 4.29×10^{10} | NS | |
| Week 32 | 2.78×10^{2} | 1.45×10^{10} | < 0.006 | |
| p value ^b | < 0.001 | < 0.005 | | |
| Serum WHsAg, | µg/ml | | | |
| Week 0 | 262.6 | 258.9 | NS | |
| Week 32 | 3.5 | 176.7 | < 0.001 | |
| p value ^b | < 0.001 | NS | | |

Data are from before the start of drug treatment (week 0) and at the end of drug treatment (week 32). For further reference, the standard deviations of the arithmetic means shown in the table were: serum WHV DNA: week 0: L+, $\pm 2.76 \times 10^{10}$, L-, $\pm 3.09 \times 10^{10}$; week 32: L+, $\pm 4.85 \times 10^2$, L-, $\pm 1.81 \times 10^{10}$; serum WHsAg: week 0: L+, ± 229.5 , L-, ± 116.3 ; week 32: L+, ± 5.4 , L-, ± 117.7 . ^aL+ versus L-; ^bweek 0 versus week 32. vge = Virus genomic equivalents; NS = not significant.

ple in woodchuck No. 3733 (fig. 2, L-V-, week 42). L+V+ and L-V+ carriers developed anti-WHs responses most frequently during the vaccine phase. Anti-WHs responses were even observed occasionally without vaccination in carriers that received L-FMAU alone, but mainly after the drug was discontinued (fig. 2, L+V-).

The percentages of vaccinated carriers (L+V+, L-V+)developing anti-WHs antibodies and the frequencies of anti-WHs-positive samples in these groups were significantly higher than in the L–V– control carriers (fig. 2; p <0.05 for both parameters). The L+V+ and L-V+ groups did not differ significantly based on these anti-WHs antibody parameters. The anti-WHs responses induced by therapeutic WHsAg vaccination were similar and sustained through to week 60 in both the high (L-V+) and low (L+V+) viral and antigen load settings. About half of the L+V- carriers developed transient anti-WHs responses, mainly after drug withdrawal at week 32 (fig. 2, L+V-). While the percentage of L+V- carriers with anti-WHs responses did not differ significantly from the other carrier groups, the frequency of anti-WHs-positive samples among the L+V- carriers was intermediate between double-placebo carrier controls (fig. 2, L–V–; p < 0.01) and the L+V+ and L–V+ carriers (p < 0.01).



Fig. 2. Serum anti-WHs antibody responses of chronic WHV carrier woodchucks from the four experimental groups in the L-FMAU and WHsAg vaccine study and of WHV-susceptible woodchucks in the WHsAg vaccine immunogenicity study. L+V+ = L-FMAU/vaccine; L-V+ = placebo/vaccine; L+V- = L-FMAU/placebo; L-V- = doubleplacebo control; V+ = WHV-susceptible vaccinated woodchucks. - and + represent undetectable (titer values of $\leq 100 \text{ U/ml}$) or detectable (titer values of >100 U/ml) anti-WHs, respectively. Bold + represents detectable anti-WHs with titer values of $\geq 2,000$ U/ml. An asterisk indicates that the woodchuck died. The respective frequencies of woodchucks developing anti-WHs antibodies and cumulative frequencies of serum samples positive for anti-WHs antibody were: drug phase (weeks 4-32): L+V+, 13 and 11%; L-V+, 13 and 2%; L+V-, 38 and 6%; L-V-, 0%; vaccine phase (weeks 36-60): L+V+, 88 and 67%; L-V+, 75 and 58%; L+V-, 57 and 22%; L-V-, 14 and 2%; V+, 100 and 95%. L-FMAU treatment for 32 weeks is indicated by a horizontal bar. Vertical arrowheads represent the 4 immunizations with 50-microgram doses of an alum-adsorbed WHsAg vaccine at weeks 32, 36, 40 and 48.

Fig. 3. vCMI to WHsAg (left panels) and WHs peptide S226-245 (right panels) of chronic WHV carriers from the four experimental groups in the L-FMAU and WHsAg vaccine study. L+V+ = L-FMAU/vaccine; L-V+ = placebo/vaccine; L+V- = L-FMAU/placebo; L-V- = double-placebo control. - and + represent undetectable (stimulation index values of <3.1) or detectable (stimulation index values of \geq 3.1) vCMI to WHsAg and WHs peptide S226-245, respectively. The respective frequencies of woodchucks responding with positive vCMI and cumulative frequencies of PBMC samples positive for vCMI to WHsAg were: drug phase (weeks 4-32): 0% for all groups; vaccine phase (weeks 36-60): L+V+, 100 and 71%; L-V+, 88 and 40%; L+V-, 43 and 28%; L-V-, 0%. Regarding the positive vCMI to WHs peptide S226-245, these frequencies were: drug phase (weeks 4-32): L+V+, L-V+ and L-V-, 0%; L+V-, 13 and 2%; vaccine phase (weeks 36-60): L+V+, 63 and 38%; L-V+, 0%; L+V-, 14 and 4%; L-V-, 0%.

242

Menne/Roneker/Tennant/Korba/Gerin/ Cote

| Study phase | Cumulative frequency of responding woodchucks, % | | | Cumulative frequency of positive PBMC samples, % | | | | |
|----------------------|--|---------|---------|--|----------|----------|----------|----------|
| | L+V+ | L–V+ | L+V- | L-V- | L+V+ | L-V+ | L+V- | L-V- |
| Drug treatment phase | (n = 8) | (n = 8) | (n = 8) | (n = 8) | (n = 54) | (n = 49) | (n = 54) | (n = 54) |
| ConA | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 |
| rIL-2 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 |
| LPS | 88 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 69 | 70 | 68 | 63 |
| Vaccine phase | (n = 8) | (n = 8) | (n = 7) | (n = 7) | (n = 58) | (n = 45) | (n = 47) | (n = 46) |
| ConA | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 98 |
| rIL-2 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 100 | 96 |
| LPS | 100 | 100 | 86 | 86 | 72 | 71 | 77 | 65 |

Table 2. Cumulative frequencies of responding woodchucks and of PBMC samples positive to polyclonal activators in experimental groups during the drug treatment and vaccine phases of the study

The drug treatment phase (i.e. L-FMAU or placebo) was from week 0 to week 32; the vaccine phase and follow-up (i.e. vaccine or placebo) was from week 32 to week 60. Note that the cumulative frequencies of responding wood-chucks and of positive PBMC samples were not significantly different between any of the experimental groups. L+V+ = L-FMAU/vaccine; L-V+ = placebo/vaccine; L+V- = L-FMAU/placebo; L-V- = double-placebo control; n = number of woodchucks or number of PBMC samples tested; ConA = concanavalin A; rIL-2 = human recombinant interleukin-2; LPS = lipopolysaccharide.

vCMI Responses to WHsAg and WHs Peptide S226–245 following Therapeutic Vaccinations

The anti-WHs responses of carriers correlated with vCMI to WHsAg (fig. 2, 3, left panels, L+V+, L-V+, L+V-). The vCMI to WHsAg was specific to the therapeutic vaccine in that the double-placebo carrier controls (L-V-) had no detectable vCMI to WHsAg during the entire 60-week observation period (fig. 3). Thus, L-Vcontrol carriers remained tolerant to WHsAg at the level of cellular (and humoral) immune responses (fig. 2, 3). Carriers from the experimental groups had no significant vCMI to WHsAg during the first 32 weeks, including those carriers that had achieved marked reductions in viral and antigen load as a result of drug treatment (fig. 1, 3, L+V+ and L+V–). The absence of vCMI during any treatment phase of the study was not due to a general unresponsiveness of carrier PBMC or to drug-induced lymphotoxicity, since samples from all groups of carriers were highly responsive to the polyclonal activators concanavalin A, human recombinant interleukin-2 and lipopolysaccharide (table 2).

Essentially all carriers immunized with the therapeutic WHsAg vaccine (except woodchuck No. 5358, L-V+) had detectable vCMI to WHsAg (fig. 3, left panel). The frequency of PBMC samples positive for WHsAg-specific vCMI in the L-V+ carriers (fig. 3) was significantly higher

Interestingly, the frequencies of PBMC samples positive for WHsAg-specific vCMI in the L+V+ carriers (71%) and L–V+ carriers (40%) were significantly higher than those observed in the 7 vaccinated WHV-susceptible woodchucks used in the immunogenicity study (i.e. 23% of PBMC samples positive, p < 0.01 versus L+V+, p < 0.05 versus L–V+; see below in Discussion). In terms of the overall vCMI response to WHsAg, the trend for frequencies of PBMC samples positive for vCMI to WHsAg, i.e. L+V+ 71%, L–V+ 40%, L+V– 28% and L–V– 0%, suggested that the sustained vCMI to WHsAg in the combination therapy group (L+V+) resulted from a possible additive effect of the monotherapies (L–V+ and L+V–).

than in the double-placebo carrier controls (p < 0.01), but was significantly less than in the L+V+ carriers (p < 0.05). This was related mainly to the reduced detection of vCMI to WHsAg in the L–V+ carriers after the fourth dose of WHsAg vaccine at week 48 (fig. 3). The vCMI to WHsAg in several L+V- carriers observed after discontinuation of drug treatment was significantly less than in the L+V+ group in terms of responder frequency and frequency of positive samples (p < 0.05; fig. 3). The frequency of L+V-PBMC samples positive for vCMI to WHsAg was clearly intermediate (p < 0.01) between L–V- and L+V+ carriers, but not significantly different from L–V+ carriers.

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks



Fig. 4. vCMI to rWHcAg (left panels) and WHc peptide C100–119 (right panels) of chronic WHV carriers from the four experimental groups in the L-FMAU and WHsAg vaccine study. L+V+ = L-FMAU/vaccine; L-V+ = placebo/vaccine; L+V- = L-FMAU/placebo; L-V- = double-placebo control. – and + represent undetectable (stimulation index values of <3.1) or detectable (stimulation index values of <3.1) or WHcAg and WHc peptide C100–119, respectively. The respective frequencies of woodchucks responding with positive vCMI and cumulative frequencies of PBMC samples

positive for vCMI to rWHcAg were: drug phase (weeks 4–32): L+V+, 13 and 2%; L–V+, 25 and 4%; L+V–, 38 and 6%; L–V–, 25 and 4%; vaccine phase (weeks 36–60): L+V+, 63 and 48%; L–V+, 13 and 2%; L+V–, 43 and 30%; L–V–, 0%. Regarding the positive vCMI to WHc peptide C100–119, these frequencies were: drug phase (weeks 4–32): L+V+, 13 and 2%; L–V+, 0%; L+V–, 25 and 4%; L–V–, 0%; vaccine phase (weeks 36–60): L+V+, 63 and 35%; L–V+, 38 and 7%; L+V–, 29 and 17%; L–V–, 0%.

WHs peptide S226–245 is recognized by PBMC of woodchucks with acute self-limited WHV infection [45]. Most of the L+V+ carriers developed frequent vCMI to S226–245 following vaccination (fig. 3, right panel; p <0.01 vs. L–V–). Although most of the carriers in the L–V+ group developed frequent vCMI responses to WHsAg (see above and fig. 3, left panel), none of these carriers had detectable vCMI to S226–245 (fig. 3, right panel), but they did have weak responses to other WHs peptides (data not shown). S226–245 was not recognized to a significant extent by L+V– or L–V– carriers. The results suggest that the vCMI response to S226–245 (an S-region epitope) requires vaccination in the presence of a low viral load.

Collateral vCMI Responses to WHcAg and WHc

Peptide C100–119 following Therapeutic Vaccinations Collateral vCMI responses were observed following L-FMAU treatment and therapeutic vaccination with WHsAg. vCMI to rWHcAg and WHc peptide C100–119 was most evident in L+V+ carriers (fig. 4). WHc peptide C100–119 represents an epitope of the WHcAg that is broadly recognized by the PBMC of woodchucks with acute self-limited WHV infection [44, 46, 47] and that was demonstrated to be an immunogen capable of protecting woodchucks against experimental challenge with WHV [44]. The effect of WHsAg vaccine on collateral vCMI appeared to depend at least in part on prior drug treatment and drug withdrawal. For example, discontin-



Fig. 5. Kinetics of virological, serum biochemical and immunological responses for one chronic WHV carrier woodchuck with viral recrudescence after discontinuation of L-FMAU treatment (L+V-, woodchuck No. 5385). Top panels: O = serum WHV DNA [virus genomic equivalents (vge)/ml]; \triangle = serum WHsAg (µg/ml); \blacklozenge = serum anti-WHs antibody response (U/ml). Middle panels: serum biochemical activities of liver enzymes (IU/ml): O = sorbitol dehydrogenase (SDH); \blacktriangle = aspartate aminotransferase (AST); \triangle = alanine aminotransferase (ALT). Bottom panels: vCMI to WHV antigens and selected peptides (stimulation index): $O = rWHcAg; \triangle =$ WHsAg; \bullet = WHc peptide C100–119; \blacktriangle = WHs peptide S226–245. The positive cutoff for specific vCMI at a stimulation index of 3.1 is marked by a partial, horizontal dotted line. The drug treatment phase (0-32 weeks) and the vaccine and immediate follow-up phases (32-60 weeks) are separated by a vertical dotted line. L-FMAU treatment for 32 weeks is indicated by a horizontal bar.

uation of drug treatment was associated coincidentally with sustained vCMI to rWHcAg in 2 of the 7 L+V- carriers and with at least one positive response in another carrier of this group (fig. 4, left panel). vCMI to WHc peptide C100-119 was sustained in one of the carriers and was detected once in another carrier (fig. 4, right panel). In contrast, L–V+ carriers responded to vaccine mainly with WHsAg-specific vCMI, with only a small number of PBMC samples showing sporadic vCMI to rWHcAg and WHc peptide C100–119 (fig. 4). The frequencies of positive PBMC samples for vCMI to rWHcAg and WHc peptide C100-119 were highest in the L+V+ carriers compared to all other carrier groups (fig. 4; p < 0.05 to p < 0.050.01). Those same frequencies in L+V- carriers were significantly higher than in the double-placebo carrier controls (fig. 4, L–V–; p < 0.01) and significantly less than in the L+V+ carriers (p < 0.05 to p < 0.01). They were significantly higher for rWHcAg (p < 0.01) but not significantly different for WHc peptide C100-119 compared to those in the L-V+ carriers.

Possible Role for Viral Recrudescence following L-FMAU Treatment

Low viral and antigen loads were sustained at or slightly above (circa 10-fold) the lowest levels achieved in most drug-treated (L+) carriers after the drug was discontinued and throughout the vaccine phase. This feature allowed a comparison of the effects of therapeutic vaccination with WHsAg on the responses of carriers with either low (L+V+) or high (L-V+) viral and antigen loads. Occasionally, however, a drug-treated carrier did have recrudescence of serum WHV DNA and WHsAg (fig. 5, L+V-, woodchuck No. 5385). WHV DNA and WHsAg concentrations in serum returned to pre-treatment levels after several months. This appeared to provide an endogenous stimulus for vCMI to WHsAg and rWHcAg, as shown in the case of woodchuck No. 5385. Late and complete viral recrudescence was also associated with elevated serum activities of liver enzymes in these carriers. The lower level of recrudescence (circa 10-fold) in several of the drugtreated carriers immediately after drug treatment was discontinued (fig. 1, L+V+ and L+V-) was not associated with elevated serum enzyme activities. This may have

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks

provided an endogenous stimulus for the anti-WHs anti-body responses and vCMI to WHV antigens observed in some of the L+V– carriers, and for the enhanced immunologic effects observed in L+V+ carriers.

Discussion

High viral and antigen load may contribute to the observed immunologic tolerance in chronic HBV carriers. A rational treatment strategy for chronic HBV infection might therefore involve the modulation of immunity in chronic HBV carriers after the reduction of high viral and antigen load. In the present report, this strategy was tested in chronic WHV carrier woodchucks by combining therapeutic vaccination with WHsAg and antiviral treatment with L-FMAU.

Influence of L-FMAU Treatment on the Immune Responses of Chronic WHV Carriers

L-FMAU treatment of chronic WHV carriers produced marked and sustained reductions in serum WHV DNA and WHsAg (fig. 1, table 1). Reduction of serum viral load during the 32 weeks of drug treatment was insufficient in itself to induce significant seroconversion to anti-WHs antibodies or vCMI in carriers (fig. 1-4). The sporadic detection of anti-WHs antibody in a few L-FMAU-treated carriers during the drug treatment phase was not associated with vCMI to WHsAg. The lack of vCMI in double-placebo carrier controls (L-V-) during this time reflects the specificity of cellular immune tolerance to WHV during chronic WHV infection and during this phase of therapy. Furthermore, no significant changes in the vCMI of placebo-treated carriers were observed with the usual progression of WHV infection and chronic liver disease through to week 60 of the study. Although transient vCMI became detectable in some carriers at the time of increased serum liver enzymes (e.g. fig. 1, L+V+, week 20) or during complete viral recrudescence (fig. 5), serum liver enzymes overall appeared to normalize during and just after drug treatment and throughout most of the vaccine phase of the study (fig. 1). Therefore, the drug and vaccine treatments were not directly associated with the induction of hepatic flare reactions resulting in severe liver injury.

Inhibition of viral replication and WHsAg production by L-FMAU was probably abrogated, in part, when drug treatment was discontinued and this may have provided an appropriate endogenous stimulant for virus-specific humoral and cellular immune responses, also including vCMI to rWHcAg (as in some L+V– carriers). Although the timing of transient anti-WHs antibody responses and vCMI to WHV in L+V– carriers was consistent with an effect of drug withdrawal, with the present study design it is not possible to exclude the possibility that these effects might have occurred if drug treatment had been continued.

In addition to inhibition of WHsAg production, L-FMAU also reduces the expression of WHV core gene products in liver [i.e. WHcAg and WHV e antigen (WHeAg)] [32]. Although there are no established assays for WHeAg, it is reasonable to assume that WHeAg, along with WHcAg, was likely reduced in serum and liver, since L-FMAU produces such a profound inhibition of viral replication, covalently closed circular WHV DNA and mRNA transcription [32]. The WHcAg-specific vCMI elicited in L+V- carriers following drug withdrawal may represent a consequence of the prior reduction of core gene products, which may also be involved in the maintenance of immune tolerance [8, 9]. This could provide a rational explanation for the improved collateral effect of therapeutic vaccination with WHsAg on WHcAg-specific vCMI in carriers that received the combination therapy (L+V+; see below).

Influence of WHsAg Vaccine on the Immune Responses of Chronic WHV Carriers

The immune responses in WHV-susceptible woodchucks demonstrated that the anti-WHs antibodies and WHsAg-specific vCMI responses elicited in chronic carriers (L-V+) were specific to the WHsAg vaccine and not to possible contaminating viral antigens. Therapeutic vaccination of carriers with WHsAg had no effect on serum WHV DNA and WHsAg (fig. 1). Most L-V+ carriers developed anti-WHs antibodies that were associated with vCMI to WHsAg. The overall results for humoral responses of carriers from the four experimental groups indicated that seroconversion to anti-WHs antibody was driven more by WHsAg vaccination than by treatment with and discontinuation of L-FMAU. However, the average antibody titers following therapeutic vaccination were approximately 10-20 times lower than in the uninfected vaccine recipients. The class of antibodies (i.e. IgM or IgG) elicited and their fine epitope specificity and potential immunocomplex composition are unknown. The relatively low antibody levels in vaccinated carriers may be explained, in part, by the presence of excess WHsAg in serum. This is suggested by the observation that some circulating WHsAg was still detectable in most of the treated carriers by the end of drug treatment and thereafter (table 1). Thus, immunocomplexes may explain the reduced levels of antibody responses.

Collateral vCMI to rWHcAg, including WHc peptide C100–119, was not very frequent in L-V+ carriers when compared to carriers that received the combination therapy (L+V+). This may be explained, in part, by the absence of an effect of WHsAg vaccine on viral and antigen load in these carriers (fig. 1, L-V+). Furthermore, as discussed above, L-FMAU treatment alone followed by withdrawal was associated with an interruption of immunologic tolerance, providing evidence for the presence of endogenous, virus-specific immune responses in some carriers (fig. 1, L+V-) and for the negative influence of high viral and antigen load on these responses in non-drug-treated carriers (L-V+). In fact, the L-V+ carriers vaccinated under conditions of high viral and antigen load may have become refractory to later immunizations, as observed by the absence of WHsAg-specific vCMI after the last vaccination at week 48 (fig. 1, 3).

Influence of Combination Therapy on the Immune Responses of Chronic WHV Carriers

In carriers that received the combination therapy (L+V+), the anti-WHs antibody responses were not enhanced beyond those in carriers that received vaccine alone (L-V+). The similar anti-WHs antibody responses in L+V+ and L-V+ carriers (fig. 2) did not predict the observed differences in vCMI between both groups. However, additional tests of anti-WHs antibodies may uncover differences in the humoral immune responses between these groups.

The vCMI to WHsAg in L+V+ carriers was rapid and sustained (fig. 1, 3). In fact, these carriers responded sooner to the WHsAg vaccine when compared to the vCMI in WHV-susceptible vaccine recipients, which became detectable mostly after the second and third immunizations (data not shown). This apparent difference in vCMI response may be explained, in part, by the fact that carriers were already primed from the infection. Continual exposure to low levels of WHsAg between vaccinations might facilitate sustained responses in carriers once they are elicited. WHsAg-specific vCMI elicited by vaccination was more sustained in L+V+ carriers with low viral and antigen load than in L–V+ carriers with high viral and antigen load. These differences might also be related to group differences in the trafficking of responding cells.

The collateral enhancement of vCMI to include rWHcAg and WHc peptide C100–119 in L+V+ carriers appeared to be dependent partly on the subsequent discontinuation of drug treatment, as observed during

monotherapy in L+V- carriers (fig. 1, 4). The mechanism(s) for induction of collateral vCMI by the therapeutic WHsAg vaccine still remains unknown, but may be related to the drug-induced reductions of core gene product expression as discussed above. In any case, the collateral enhancement of vCMI beyond WHsAg to include rWHcAg, WHc peptide C100-119 and WHs peptide S226–245 appeared to be the result of an additive effect of drug and vaccine. The immunogenic effect of combination therapy was to increasingly modulate the humoral and cellular immune response profiles of carriers toward that observed during resolution of WHV infection. Woodchucks with acute self-limited WHV infection usually clear serum WHV DNA and WHsAg, seroconvert to anti-WHs antibodies and have vigorous, sustained and polyclonal vCMI responses to WHV antigens, at least for WHcAg [40, 42, 44, 46, 47]. vCMI to WHsAg during resolution of WHV infection is less well characterized [45] but seems to be directed against several epitopes of WHsAg [Menne et al., unpubl. results]. These aspects are analogous to the situation in self-limited human HBV infection [4-6].

Implications for the Immunotherapeutic Eradication of Chronic HBV Infection

Therapeutic vaccination of chronic HBV carriers with commercial HBsAg vaccine alone, or before and after treatment with IFN-α, elicited transient anti-HBs antibody responses, associated T cell responses in some patients and modest to sustained reductions in viremia in about 50% of patients, but clearance of HBsAg from serum was not reported in any of these patients [18, 19, 21, 26, 27]. Comparable reductions in viremia were not observed in the chronic WHV carrier woodchucks given vaccine alone (L–V+) in this study. Hervas-Stubbs et al. [35] immunized chronic WHV carriers with a WHsAgbased vaccine using an experimental adjuvant and showed anti-WHs antibody responses, some vCMI to WHsAg and some transient reductions in viremia in a few of the vaccinated carriers. Caution in the use of the therapeutic WHsAg vaccine was recommended, however, since some of the carriers died during the vaccinations. Such adverse effects could have been related to the experimental adjuvant and/or to liver disease present in the woodchucks at entry into the study. In this study, a conventional WHsAg-alum vaccine, homologous to the WHsAg in the infectious inoculum, which was given repeatedly under conditions of high or low viral and antigen load and minimal liver injury, appeared to be safe and immunogenic. There remains ample room for improving

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks

responses to achieve a safe and more effective antiviral state using vaccines alone. Based on the results presented for a conventional WHsAg vaccine, an improved and sustained antiviral state following therapeutic vaccination may only be possible under initial conditions of reduced viral and antigen load. After additional time and with further immunizations, the vaccine responses might then be able to control WHV infection independently of an antiviral drug. This could represent an alternative to lifelong treatment with an antiviral drug, and thereby reduce the possibilities for selection of drugresistant viral mutants.

Clinical studies in chronic HBV patients have shown that 3TC administered either alone or in combination with IFN-α did not reduce HBsAg [13–17]. Likewise, 3TC alone does not consistently reduce serum levels of WHsAg in chronic WHV carrier woodchucks [31]. In several studies, there were no improvements in T cell responses to HBcAg during treatment of chronic HBV patients with 3TC alone or in combination with IFN- α [16, 17]. However, T cell responses to HBcAg became detectable after discontinuation of drug treatment during viral recrudescence [16, 17]. In the present study in L-FMAU-treated chronic WHV carrier woodchucks, vCMI to WHV was not usually detected during the phase of drug treatment, but was observed on occasion during complete viral recrudescence several months after discontinuation of L-FMAU treatment (fig. 5).

In another study [12], however, chronic HBV patients were reported to develop strong and sustained T cell responses to HBcAg and to several HBc peptides shortly after initiation of 3TC treatment, and general enhancement of T cell responses to mitogen and tetanus toxoid was also observed. Possible explanations for variability in the detectability of vCMI during antiviral treatment may relate to the use of different drugs (3TC versus L-FMAU), to host age during infection and at initiation of chronicity (adult-versus neonatal-acquired chronicity) and/or to levels of serum liver enzymes indicative of liver disease at the start of treatment. Most of the 3TC-treated chronic HBV patients with T cell responses had increased serum liver enzyme levels at the start of treatment, whereas the nonresponders had little or no evidence of preexisting liver disease [12]. The chronic WHV carrier woodchucks in this study were preselected for minimal liver disease on entry into the drug treatment phase. Thus, these carriers may not have had sufficient existing liver injury to unmask vCMI immediately after L-FMAU treatment was initiated. Consistent with this explanation, furthermore, is the observed lack of (vCMI/T cell-dependent) antiWHs antibody induction in most carriers during treatment with L-FMAU.

The presented results in the woodchuck model of human HBV infection will help to improve the understanding of humoral and cellular immune responses elicited by therapeutic vaccination alone and after sustained reduction of viral and antigen load induced by antiviral therapy. The results will open the way for the development of new strategies for the immunotherapeutic eradication of chronic HBV infection and immunological control of its disease sequelae. Furthermore, the results of this report demonstrate the apparent safety and feasibility of using combined drug treatment and therapeutic vaccination in humans with chronic HBV infection.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by contract NO1-AI-45179 to the College of Veterinary Medicine, Cornell University, with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases and contract NO1-AI-95390 to the Division of Molecular Virology and Immunology, Georgetown University, School of Medicine, with the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases.

The authors gratefully acknowledge the expert assistance of Betty Baldwin, Lou Ann Graham, Richard Moore and Dr. Chris Bellezza (Cornell University), and of Karen Gaye, Francis Wells and Christine Ferrar (Georgetown University). We also gratefully acknowledge the generous supply of L-FMAU (Clevudine[®]) provided by Triangle Pharmaceuticals Inc.

This work was presented at the 3rd International Workshop 'Virus-Like Particles as Vaccines', September 26–29, 2001, Berlin, Germany.

References

- 1 Kane MA: Status of hepatitis B immunization programmes in 1998. Vaccine 1998;16 (suppl):S104–S108.
- 2 Chisari FV: Rous-Whipple Award Lecture. Viruses, immunity, and cancer: Lessons from hepatitis B. Am J Pathol 2000;156:1117–1132.
- 3 Menne S, Tennant BC: Unraveling hepatitis B virus infection of mice and men (and wood-chucks and ducks). Nat Med 1999;10:1125–1126.
- 4 Ferrari C, Penna A, Bertoletti A, Valli A, Antoni AD, Giuberti T, Cavalli A, Petit MA, Fiaccadori F: Cellular immune response to hepatitis B virus-encoded antigens in acute and chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Immunol 1990;145:3442–3449.
- 5 Jung MC, Diepolder HM, Spengler U, Wierenga EA, Zachoval R, Hoffmann RM, Eichenlaub D, Froesner G, Will H, Pape GR: Activation of a heterogeneous hepatitis B (HB) core and e antigen-specific CD4+ T-cell population during seroconversion to anti-HBe and anti-HBs in hepatitis B virus infection. J Virol 1995;69: 3358–3368.
- 6 Löhr HF, Weber W, Schlaak J, Goergen B, Meyer zum Bueschenfelde KH, Gerken G: Proliferative response of CD4+ T-cells and hepatitis B virus clearance in chronic hepatitis with or without hepatitis B e-minus hepatitis B virus mutants. Hepatology 1995;22:61–68.
- 7 Bertoletti A, D'Elios MM, Boni C, De Carli M, Zignego AL, Durazzo M, Missale G, Penna A, Fiaccadori F, Del Prete G, Ferrari C: Different cytokine profiles of intrahepatic T cells in chronic hepatitis B and hepatitis C virus infections. Gastroenterology 1997;112:193–199.
- 8 Milich DR, Jones JE, Hughes JL, Price J, Raney AK, McLachlan A: Is a function of the secreted hepatitis B e antigen to induce immunologic tolerance in utero? Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1990;487:6599–6603.
- 9 Milich DR, Chen MK, Hughes JL, Jones JE: The secreted hepatitis B precore antigen can modulate the immune response to the nucleocapsid: A mechanism for persistence. J Immunol 1998;160:2013–2021.
- 10 Marinos G, Torre F, Chokshi S, Hussain M, Clarke BE, Rowlands DJ, Eddleston AL, Naoumov NV, Williams R: Induction of T-helper cell response to hepatitis B core antigen in chronic hepatitis B: A major factor in activation of the host immune response to the hepatitis B virus. Hepatology 1995;22:1040–1049.
- 11 Tsai SL, Chen PJ, Lai MY, Yang PM, Sung JL, Huang JH, Hwang LH, Chang TH, Chen DS: Acute exacerbations of chronic type B hepatitis are accompanied by increased T cell responses to hepatitis B core and e antigens. Implications for hepatitis B e antigen seroconversion. J Clin Invest 1992;89:87–96.
- 12 Boni C, Bertoletti A, Penna A, Cavalli A, Pilli M, Urbani S, Scognamiglio P, Boehme R, Panebianco R, Fiaccadori F, Ferrari C: Lamivudine treatment can restore T cell responsiveness in chronic hepatitis B. J Clin Invest 1998; 102:968–975.

- 13 Dienstag JL, Perrillo RP, Schiff ER, Bartholomew M, Vicary C, Rubin M: A preliminary trial of lamivudine for chronic hepatitis B infection. N Engl J Med 1995;333:1657–1661.
- 14 Hoofnagle JH: Therapy of viral hepatitis. Digestion 1998;59:563–578.
- 15 Lau DT, Khokhar MF, Doo E, Ghany MG, Herion D, Park Y, Kleiner DE, Schmid P, Condreay LD, Gauthier J, Kuhns MC, Liang TJ, Hoofnagle JH: Long-term therapy of chronic hepatitis B with lamivudine. Hepatology 2000; 32:828–834.
- 16 Marinos G, Naoumov NV, Williams R: Impact of complete inhibition of viral replication on the cellular immune response in chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology 1996;24: 991–995.
- 17 Pontesilli O, Van Nunen A, Van Riel D, Bruijns S, Niesters B, Uytdehaag F, De Man RA, Schalm SW, Osterhaus AD: Immune responses during lamivudine/interferon-α combination therapy of chronic HBV infection. Antivir Ther 2000;5(suppl 1):B18.
- 18 Fruttaldo L, Schettino G, Mongio F: Anti-HBV vaccination before therapy with interferon (IFN) in chronic B hepatitis. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 1997;1:197–201.
- 19 Kaymakoglu S, Demir K, Cakaloglu Y, Tuncer I, Dincer D, Gurel S, Okten A: Combination therapy with hepatitis B vaccine and interferon alfa in chronic hepatitis B. Am J Gastroenterol 1999;94:856–857.
- 20 Celis E, Ou D, Otvos L Jr: Recognition of hepatitis B surface antigen by human T lymphocytes. Proliferative and cytotoxic responses to a major antigenic determinant defined by synthetic peptides. J Immunol 1988;140:1808– 1815.
- 21 Couillin I, Pol S, Mancini M, Driss F, Brechot C, Tiollais P, Michel ML: Specific vaccine therapy in chronic hepatitis B: Induction of T cell proliferative responses specific for envelope antigens. J Infect Dis 1999;180:15–26.
- 22 Deulofeut H, Iglesias A, Mikael N, Bing DH, Awdeh Z, Yunis J, Marcus-Bagley D, Kruskall MS, Alper CA, Yunis EJ: Cellular recognition and HLA restriction of a midsequence HBsAg peptide in hepatitis B vaccinated individuals. Mol Immunol 1993;30:941–948.
- 23 Ferrari C, Cavalli A, Penna A, Valli A, Bertoletti A, Pedretti G, Pilli M, Vitali P, Neri TM, Giuberti T, Fiaccadori F: Fine specificity of the human T-cell response to the hepatitis B virus preS1 antigen. Gastroenterology 1992;103: 255–263.
- 24 Honorati MC, Dolzani P, Mariani E, Piacentini A, Lisignoli G, Ferrari C, Facchini A: Epitope specificity of Th0/Th2 CD4+ T-lymphocyte clones induced by vaccination with rHBsAg vaccine. Gastroenterology 1997;112: 2017–2027.
- 25 Hsu HY, Chang MH, Hsieh RP, Ni YH, Chi WK: Humoral and cellular immune responses to hepatitis B vaccination in hepatitis B surface antigen-carrier children who cleared serumhepatitis B surface antigen. Hepatology 1996; 24:1355–1360.

- 26 Pol S, Couillin I, Michel ML, Driss F, Nalpas B, Carnot F, Berthelot P, Brechot C: Immunotherapy of chronic hepatitis B by anti HBV vaccine. Acta Gastroenterol Belg 1998;61:228– 233.
- 27 Pol S, Driss F, Carnot F, Michel ML, Berthelot P, Brechot C: Efficacy of immunotherapy with vaccination against hepatitis B virus on virus B multiplication (in French). C R Acad Sci III 1993;316:688–691.
- 28 Cote PJ, Gerin JL: The woodchuck as a model of hepadnavirus infection, pathogenesis and therapy. Forum Trends Exp Clin Med 1996;6: 131–159.
- 29 Roggendorf M, Tolle TK: The woodchuck: An animal model for hepatitis B virus infection in man. Intervirology 1995;38:100–112.
- 30 Tennant BC, Gerin JL: The woodchuck model of hepatitis B virus infection. ILAR J 2001;42: 89–102.
- 31 Korba BE, Cote PJ, Hornbuckle WE, Tennant BC, Gerin JL: Treatment of chronic woodchuck hepatitis virus infection in the Eastern woodchuck (*Marmota monax*) with nucleoside analogues is predictive of therapy for chronic hepatitis B virus infection in humans. Hepatology 2000;31:1165–1175.
- 32 Peek SF, Cote PJ, Jacob JR, Toshkov IA, Hornbuckle WE, Baldwin BH, Wells FV, Chu CK, Gerin JL, Tennant BC, Korba BE: Antiviral activity of clevudine [L-FMAU, (1-(2fluoro-5-methyl-beta, L-arabinofuranosyl) uracil)] against woodchuck hepatitis virus replication and gene expression in chronically infected woodchucks (*Marmota monax*). Hepatology 2001;33:254–266.
- 33 Cote PJ, Korba BE, Tennant BC, Gerin JL: Immunopathogenesis and immunomodulation of woodchuck hepatitis virus infection; in Hollinger FB, Lemon SM, Margolis HS (eds): Viral Hepatitis and Liver Disease. Baltimore, Williams & Wilkins, 1991, pp 483–486.
- 34 Gerin JL, Tennant BC, Popper H, Tyeryar FJ, Purcell RH: The woodchuck model of hepadnavirus infection and disease; in Brown F, Chanock R, Lerner R (eds): Vaccines, '86: New Approaches to Immunization – Developing Vaccines against Parasitic, Bacterial and Viral Diseases. Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1986, pp 383–386.
- 35 Hervas-Stubbs S, Lasarte JJ, Sarobe P, Prieto J, Cullen JM, Roggendorf M, Borras-Cuesta F: Therapeutic vaccination of woodchucks against chronic woodchuck hepatitis virus infection. J Hepatol 1997;27:726–737.
- 36 Hervas-Stubbs S, Lasarte JJ, Sarobe P, Vivas I, Condreay L, Cullen JM, Prieto J, Borras-Cuesta F: T-helper cell response to woodchuck hepatitis virus antigens after therapeutic vaccination of chronically-infected animals treated with lamivudine. J Hepatol 2001;35:105–111.
- 37 Lu M, Hilken G, Kruppenbacher J, Kemper T, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J, Roggendorf M: Immunization of woodchucks with plasmids expressing woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) core antigen and surface antigen suppresses WHV infection. J Virol 1999;73:281–289.

Breaking Immune Tolerance in Chronic WHV Carrier Woodchucks

- 38 Schodel F, Neckermann G, Peterson D, Fuchs K, Fuller S, Will H, Roggendorf M: Immunization with recombinant woodchuck hepatitis virus nucleocapsid antigen or hepatitis B virus nucleocapsid antigen protects woodchucks from woodchuck hepatitis virus infection. Vaccine 1993;11:624–628.
- 39 Putzer BM, Stiewe T, Rodicker F, Schildgen O, Ruhm S, Dirsch O, Fiedler M, Damen U, Tennant BC, Scherer C, Graham FL, Roggendorf M: Large nontransplanted hepatocellular carcinoma in woodchucks: Treatment with adenovirus-mediated delivery of interleukin 12/B7.1 genes. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:472–479.
- 40 Cote PJ, Gerin JL: In vitro activation of woodchuck lymphocytes measured by radiopurine incorporation and interleukin-2 production: Implications for modeling immunity and therapy in hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology 1995;22:687–699.
- 41 Cote PJ, Korba BE, Miller RH, Jacob JR, Baldwin BH, Hornbuckle WE, Purcell RH, Tennant BC, Gerin JL: Effects of age and viral determinants on chronicity as an outcome of experimental woodchuck hepatitis virus infection. Hepatology 2000;31:190–200.
- 42 Cote PJ, Toshkov IA, Bellezza C, Ascenzi M, Roneker CA, Graham LA, Baldwin BH, Gaye K, Nakamura I, Korba BE, Tennant BC, Gerin JL: Temporal pathogenesis of experimental neonatal woodchuck hepatitis virus infection: Increased initial viral load and decreased severity of acute hepatitis during the development of chronic viral infection. Hepatology 2000;32: 807–817.

- 43 Guo JT, Zhou H, Liu C, Aldrich C, Saputelli J, Whitaker T, Barrasa MI, Mason WS, Seeger C: Apoptosis and regeneration of hepatocytes during recovery from transient hepadnavirus infections. J Virol 2000;74:1495–1505.
- 44 Menne S, Maschke J, Tolle TK, Lu M, Roggendorf M: Characterization of T-cell response to woodchuck hepatitis virus core protein and protection of woodchucks from infection by immunization with peptides containing a Tcell epitope. J Virol 1997;71:65–74.
- 45 Menne S, Maschke J, Klaes R, Grosse-Wilde H, Roggendorf M: Cellular immune response of woodchucks to woodchuck hepatitis virus surface protein during acute WHV infection; in Rizzetto M, Gerin JL, Verme G (eds): Viral Hepatitis and Liver Disease. Turin, Minerva Medica, 1997, pp 453–457.
- 46 Menne S, Maschke J, Lu M, Grosse-Wilde H, Roggendorf M: T-cell response to woodchuck hepatitis virus (WHV) antigens during acute self-limited WHV infection and convalescence and after viral challenge. J Virol 1998;72: 6083–6091.
- 47 Menne S, Roneker CA, Gerin JL, Cote PJ, Tennant BC: Deficiencies in the acute-phase cellmediated immune response to viral antigens are associated with development of chronic woodchuck hepatitis virus infection following neonatal inoculation. J Virol 2002;76:1769– 1780.

- 48 Hodgson PD, Michalak TI: Augmented hepatic interferon gamma expression and T-cell influx characterize acute hepatitis progressing to recovery and residual lifelong virus persistence in experimental adult woodchuck hepatitis virus infection. Hepatology 2001;34:1049–1059.
- 49 Nakamura I, Nupp JT, Cowlen M, Hall WC, Tennant BC, Casey JL, Gerin JL, Cote PJ: Pathogenesis of experimental neonatal woodchuck hepatitis virus infection: Chronicity as an outcome of infection is associated with a diminished acute hepatitis that is temporally deficient for the expression of interferon-gamma and tumor necrosis factor-alpha messenger RNAs. Hepatology 2001;33:439–447.
- 50 Gerin JL, Faust RM, Holland PV: Biophysical characterization of the adr subtype of hepatitis B antigen and preparation of anti-d sera in rabbits. J Immunol 1975;115:100–105.
- 51 Cote PJ, Roneker CA, Cass K, Schoedel F, Peterson D, Tennant BC, De Noronha F, Gerin JL: New enzyme immunoassays for the serologic detection of woodchuck hepatitis virus infection. Viral Immunol 1993;6:161–169.
- 52 Hornbuckle WE, Graham ES, Roth L, Baldwin BH, Wickenden C, Tennant BC: Laboratory assessment of hepatic injury in the woodchuck (*Marmota monax*). Lab Anim Sci 1985;35: 376–381.

Intervirology 2002;45:251-259 DOI: 10.1159/000067916

Selective Expression of Immunogenic, Virus-Like Particle-Derived Antibody-Binding Epitopes

Shereen El Kholy Petra Riedl Marcin Kwissa Jörg Reimann Reinhold Schirmbeck

Institute for Medical Microbiology and Immunology, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany

Key Words

Virus-like particles · Protein expression · Stress proteins · DNA vaccination · Antibodies

Abstract

The incorporation of linear and conformational antibodybinding epitopes into polyepitope, chimeric antigens with satisfactory immunogenicity is a challenge. We selectively expressed antigen fragments encoding the linear e2 epitope (C₇₉₋₁₄₉) of hepatitis B virus (pre)core antigen (HBc/eAg) and the conformational 'a' epitope (S₈₀₋₁₈₀) of hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) in a novel system. The domains were expressed as chimeric antigens containing either heat shock protein (hsp)73-binding simian virus 40 large tumor antigen (e.g. T₇₇) or nonhsp-binding (e.g. T₆₀) sequences at their N-termini. We compared their type of expression with their immunogenicity for B cells (when delivered as a DNA vaccine). The type of expression investigated included their level of expression, the secretion or intracellular expression of the antigen and the stress protein (hsp)-associated versus nonassociated expression. The linear e2 epitope of HBc/eAg was efficiently expressed as an intracellular, hsp73-binding fusion protein, and efficiently primed an HBc/eAg-specific antibody response when delivered in this form. The conformational 'a' epitope of HBsAg most efficiently stimulated B cells as a secreted, non-hsp-asso-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0251\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int ciated fusion protein. These data demonstrate that different B cell-stimulating epitopes of vaccine-relevant viral antigens can be selectively isolated and expressed in suitable expression systems, but that the requirements that have to be fulfilled to obtain optimal immunogenicity differ strikingly between individual epitopes.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Virus-like particles (VLP) are complex macromolecular structures formed by viral envelope proteins (pseudocapsids) or nucleoproteins (core particles). These particles are potent immunogens because they display a number of features that contribute to their exceptional efficacy as T celland B cell-stimulating antigens. These include: (1) a stable package containing hundreds of copies of the same protein antigen that are focused on the site of priming of an immune response; (2) a diverse content of antigenic epitopes present on the particle-forming proteins that can trigger multispecific immune responses, and (3) that synergistic interactions between CD4+ 'helper' T cells and CD8+ 'effector' T cells as well as B cells specifically coprimed by the large variety of different epitopes presented by the VLP can enhance the immunogenicity of many epitopes.

A multitude of antibody-binding epitopes is presented on the surface of VLP. Some of these epitopes are known

Reinhold Schirmbeck Institute for Medical Microbiology, University of Ulm

Helmholtzstrasse 8/1

D-89081 Ulm (Germany)

Fax +49 731 503 3654, E-Mail reinhold.schirmbeck@medizin.uni-ulm.de



to elicit neutralizing B cell responses. Many of the viral epitopes that elicit protective antibody responses are conformational. These epitopes are therefore preferred targets for vaccines. As the integrity of the conformation of the antigenic epitope is required to induce protective antibody responses, this represents a challenge in vaccinology. Recombinant proteins used as vaccines may lack essential posttranslational modifications or may be subjected to partial denaturation during the production or purification process that can destroy conformational epitopes. DNA vaccines may not encode all the discontinuous sequences required for the correct folding of the conformational epitope. There is therefore an interest in developing expression systems suitable for the production of recombinant,

Intervirology 2002;45:251-259

El Kholy/Riedl/Kwissa/Reimann/ Schirmbeck



Fig. 1. Expression of HBV surface and core antigen domains using a novel hsp73-binding, SV40 T-Ag-derived expression system. a Map of antigenic regions within the HBV small (S) surface antigen. The antibodydefined S₁₂₀₋₁₄₇ 'a' determinant is expressed by the S80-180 fragment. A proposed model of transmembrane interactions of the HBsAg [51] is presented. ER = Endoplasmic reticulum. b Construction of hsp73-binding and non-hsp-binding fusion proteins. Fusion fragments consist of the N-terminal hsp73binding unit, i.e. the SV40 cT₂₇₂ fragment (containing a deletion of the nuclear localization signal sequence) or the T_{77} fragment, or of the non-hsp-binding T₆₀ fragment and Cterminal in-frame fusion sequences S₈₀₋₁₈₀ (SII). c Map of antigenic regions within the HBV core gene. The antibody-defined C126-135 'e2' determinant is selectively expressed by the C79–149 fragment. Arg = Arginine. d The C79-149 encoding sequence was cloned in frame to the N-terminal hsp73-binding T77 fragment or the nonhsp-binding T₆₀ fragment.

vaccine-relevant antigens with minimal but immunogenic conformational antibody-binding epitopes. To critically evaluate this approach, the relative efficacy of priming conformation-sensitive antibody responses can be compared to the relative efficacy of priming responses against linear, antibody-binding epitopes using a similar vaccine delivery technique. The success of this approach would lay the foundations for the design of large chimeric antigens as polyvalent vaccines that contain multiple, immunogenic T cell- or B cell-stimulating determinants.

The Hepatitis B Surface Antigen and the Hepatitis B Core Antigen of the Hepatitis B Virus

The hepatitis B virus (HBV) contains two immunogenic VLP: the hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg), which forms porous 20- to 30-nm lipoproteasomes, and the hepatitis B core antigen (HBcAg), which forms 28-nm protein particles.

HBsAg particles secreted in abundance by HBV-infected hepatocytes are present in the plasma of infected individuals as 20- to 30-nm coreless proteoliposomes [1, 2]. Extensive experimental and clinical data are available for HBsAg, the antigen in the commercial vaccine against HBV. Protection against HBV induced by this vaccine is correlated with high levels of serum antibodies specific for HBsAg. Some 100-150 subunits of the 226-residue p24 small surface protein S self-assemble into stable, 20- to 30-nm lipoprotein particles that are very rigid due to multiple inter- and intramolecular disulfide cross-links [3]. The group-specific, immunodominant 'a' determinant is a conformational epitope present on the secreted nonglycosylated p24 and monoglycosylated gp27 small S protein in almost all HBV isolates known. It spans residues 120-147 of the envelope protein and forms a loop between two transmembrane domains (fig. 1a). We selected a sequence encoding residues 80-180 of the small S protein (i.e. the SII fragment), which contains the complete 'a' determinant of HBsAg and the two flanking transmembrane regions.

Immunogenic, icosahedral 30-nm HBcAg particles self-assemble from p21 (21-kD) core (C) proteins of HBV [4]. The N-terminal 144 amino acids (aa) of the C protein are required for its oligomerization into capsids [5]. The 5' precore AUG within the core gene region directs production of the 25-kD precore protein, which is longer than the HBcAg protein by 29 N-terminal residues. A 19-aa signal sequence that targets this precore protein precursor to the secretory pathway is removed in the endoplasmic reticulum to generate the p22 intermediate protein, from which the C-terminal 34 residues (aa 150-183) are cleaved to give rise to the secreted p17 protein (i.e. the precore antigen HBeAg or HBe). The in vivo function of HBeAg in the HBV life cycle is unknown, but it plays no role in HBV replication and assembly. Particle formation of HBeAg is prevented by formation of a disulfide bridge between cysteines at position 7 (in the precore region) and 61 (in the core region) [6]. HBcAg and HBeAg thus share a 149-aa sequence but differ structurally (particle versus soluble protein dimer) and with respect to the C-terminal arginine-rich nucleic acid-binding domain (present in HBcAg but not in mutant HBcAg and HBeAg). Most antibody responses to HBcAg and HBeAg are cross-reactive and map to the immunodominant c/e1 and e2 epitopes [4, 7]. We selectively expressed the linear e2 epitope spanning residues 126–135 [4] of HBcAg in a DNA vaccine.

Here, we studied the induction of antibody responses to the conformational HBsAg 'a' determinant and the linear hepatitis B (pre)core antigen (HBc/eAg) e2 epitope determinant by a DNA vaccine based on a novel expression system. This system allowed us to address the following four questions: (1) Can we express a conformational, antibody-binding epitope in the system in immunogenic form? (2) Is the immunogenicity of the conformational, B cell-stimulating epitope superior when the epitope is expressed as a secreted product compared to when it is expressed as an intracellular product? (3) Does the expression of the antigen in association with stress proteins enhance or suppress the immunogenicity of either conformational or linear epitopes? (4) Are the rules that can be defined for the immunogenic expression of antibodybinding epitopes similar for both linear and conformational determinants?

A System for the Stable, Heat Shock Protein-Associated Expression of Protein Fragments

Using a novel system [8], we expressed the protein fragments containing the conformational 'a' determinant of HBsAg or the linear e2 determinant of HBc/eAg as a fusion protein with N-terminal sequences from the large tumor antigen (T-Ag) of simian virus 40 (SV40). The N-terminal residues of varying length we used were either residues 1–60 or 1–77 of the wild-type SV40 T-Ag, or residues 1–272 of the mutant cT-Ag (with a deleted nuclear localization signal).

N-terminal domains of SV40 T-Ag associate with the heat shock protein (hsp)73 through a DnaJ-like structure,

i.e. the J domain [9–11]. The integrity of a conserved HPD motif as well as the helical structure of the J domain is required for the association of T-Ag with hsp73 [11]. We found that many mutant T-Ags show stable association with hsp73 [12, 13]. The intact N-terminal J domain of T-Ag was required for stable expression, as the T_{77} fragment (with an intact J domain) but not the T_{60} (with a disrupted J domain) was found to be expressed at readily detectable levels. This correlated with the association with hsp73, confirming that the intact J domain with the conserved HPD motif plays a key role in hsp73 association and stable expression [11].

From these observations, we developed a vector system for the efficient expression of hsp73-associated, chimeric proteins in which the T-Ag-derived J domain is fused N-terminally to different fragments of unrelated antigens. When different sequences from heterologous viral antigens were fused C-terminally to the T-Ag J domain, chimeric, hsp73-binding proteins could be stably expressed at a high level. The conformationally intact J domain of the T-Ag is thus accessible and remains conformationally intact when fused to many different C-terminal fragments of different origins and lengths.

An expression system that can efficiently produce large, chimeric protein antigens in stable association with hsp73 is of interest for new approaches in vaccine designs. To test this option, we cloned different viral antigens (containing antibody- and cytotoxic T-lymphocytes (CTL)-defined epitopes) behind the J domain of the T-Ag to generate DNA vaccines with high, stable, hsp-associated expression of the chimeric antigen. The system greatly facilitated antigen expression and allowed us to design novel DNA vaccine concepts.

Hsp molecules enhance and modulate the immunogenicity of protein and peptide antigens [reviewed in ref. 14, 15] and are thus innate adjuvants [16–19]. Hsp molecules exert their 'adjuvant effect' by binding to surface receptors [20, 21], including CD91, TLR2/4 and/or CD14 [21-24]. This induces migration and maturation (including cvtokine/chemokine release) of dendritic cells [19, 25-30]. Hsp molecules can deliver antigens to processing pathways for the MHC class I-restricted presentation of their epitopes, thereby facilitating priming of CTL to peptides from tumor antigens, minor H antigens or viruses [31–39]. Hsp molecules facilitate CD4+ T helper-independent priming of CTL responses to antigens [29, 40]. Hsp73-bound endogenous antigens undergo TAP-independent, endolysosomal processing for MHC class Irestricted epitope presentation [12, 13]. Association of antigens with hsp facilitates cross-priming of CTL [41] and priming of antibody responses to endogenous antigen by DNA vaccines [8]. Incorporating a hsp as an 'innate adjuvant' into a vaccine formulation is thus an attractive and rational choice to enhance its immunogenicity.

Expression of a Conformationally Intact HBsAg 'a' Determinant

The pCI/SII vector DNA encoding the 80-180 residue fragment of HBsAg without a heterologous N-terminus did not express detectable amounts of the protein and did not prime a humoral anti-HBsAg response. Therefore, alternative ways to express this fragment had to be used. The fragment SII (S_{80-180}) of HBsAg was fused in frame behind the hsp73-binding, N-terminal 272-residue fragment of the SV40 T-Ag from which the nuclear localization signal (residues 110–152) had been deleted (fig. 1b) [42]. This generated a vector encoding a cT_{272} -SII fusion protein (pCI/cT-SII). Products of the expected size were immunoprecipitated with the anti-T-Ag monoclonal antibody PAb108 from lysates of radiolabeled, transiently transfected cells (fig. 2a). The two 38- and 40-kD fusion products were coprecipitated with large amounts of hsp73 (fig. 2a). Western blot analyses of the immunoprecipitates with polyclonal anti-hsp73, anti-T or anti-HBsAg antisera confirmed that both bands contained T-Ag-derived and HBsAg-derived sequences, and that the coprecipitated 70-kD protein was hsp73, confirming our previously published data [12]. The vector pCI/cT-SII thus expresses an HBsAg fragment carrying its 'a' determinant as a hsp73binding fusion protein. The 'a' determinant is a loop between the second and third transmembrane domain of HBsAg that contains a glycosylation site at Asn 146 [2]. Similar to the native 'a' loop, the isolated 'a' loop of HBsAg carried by the cT-SII fusion protein is glycosylated, because its treatment with endoglycosidase H strikingly reduces the 40-kD band at the expense of the 38-kD band. Similar to native LS [2], the cT-SII protein is intracellular but not secreted (fig. 2b).

Binding of hsp73 to the T-Ag depends on the J domain, which comprises the N-terminal 77 residues of the T-Ag [11, 43]. To investigate the role of hsp73 binding to the fusion construct, we designed and expressed two constructs in which the fragment SII (S_{80-180}) was fused either to the hsp73-binding 77-residue T_{77} N-terminus (with an intact J domain) or to the non-hsp-binding 60-residue T_{60} N-terminus (with a disrupted J domain) (fig. 1b). Transiently transfected cells expressed both fusion proteins. In contrast to the hsp-associated T_{77} -SII protein, the non-



Fig. 2. Expression of wild-type HBV surface antigen or chimeric, surface antigen-encoding fusion antigens. Chicken hepatoma cells (LMH) were transiently transfected with pCI/S, pCI/cT₂₇₂-SII, pCI/T₇₇-SII, pCI/T₆₀-SII and pCI/SII DNA. Cells were labeled with ³⁵S-methionine. Cell lysates (**a**) and cell culture supernatants (**b**) were immunoprecipitated with HBsAg-specific antiserum (pCI/S, pCI/SII) or with the anti T-Ag monoclonal antibody Pab 108, and processed for SDS-PAGE followed by fluorography of the gels. The positions of glycosylated and nonglycosylated forms of S, cT₂₇₂-SII, T₇₇-SII and T₆₀-SII and of hsp73 are indicated.

hsp-associated T_{60} -SII protein was secreted (fig. 2). This allowed us to directly compare the immunogenicity of an isolated, antibody-binding epitope delivered either as an intracellular, hsp73-associated protein or as a secreted, non-hsp-associated protein.

Intervirology 2002;45:251-259

Table 1. DNA vaccination of BALB/c mice induces HBsAg- and HBc/eAg-specific serum antibody responses

| Group | DNA vaccine | Serum antibody titer |
|-------|---------------------------|----------------------|
| 1 | pCI/S | $4,170\pm 2,100$ |
| 2 | pCI/T ₂₇₂ -SII | 80 ± 30 |
| 3 | pCI/T ₇₇ -SII | 160 ± 40 |
| 4 | pCI/T ₆₀ -SII | $2,400 \pm 450$ |
| 5 | pCI/SII | <10 |
| 6 | pCI/C | $102,400 \pm 25,600$ |
| 7 | T ₇₇ -e2 | $12,800 \pm 3,200$ |
| 8 | T ₆₀ -e2 | 600 ± 100 |

BALB/c mice were immunized twice with the indicated vectors $(100 \ \mu g, i.m.)$, and surface- (mIU/ml, groups 1–5) and core (endpoint titer, groups 6–8)-specific serum antibodies were determined as described previously [52, 53].

Eliciting HBsAg-Specific Antibody Responses by DNA Vaccines Encoding the 'a' Determinant either as an Intracellular, hsp73-Associated Protein or as a Secreted, Non-hsp-Associated Protein

We immunized mice intramuscularly with plasmid DNA vaccines encoding (1) the native (secreted) small (S) HBsAg, (2) the hsp73-associated, intracellular T₇₇-SII fusion protein, or (3) the secreted, non-hsp-associated T_{60} -SII fusion protein. Only serum antibodies specific for the conformational 'a' determinant of native HBsAg are detected by the commercial IMxAUSAB[®] system (Abbott), which is a competitive ELISA readout. High HBsAg-specific serum antibody responses were induced after inoculation of the pCI/T₆₀-SII DNA vaccine (encoding the secreted, non-hsp-binding S_{80-180} antigen) as efficiently as after injection of the pCI/S DNA vaccine (encoding native HBsAg) (table 1, groups 1-5). Comparable HBsAgspecific serum antibody responses were induced after inoculation of the pCI/T₅-SII or the pCI/T₄₅-SII DNA vaccine (encoding either 5- or 45-residue T-Ag and the S_{80-180} antigen) (data not shown). In contrast, the pCI/T₇₇-SII DNA vaccine (encoding nonsecreted, hsp73-associated S₈₀₋₁₈₀) was less potent in stimulating this HBsAg-specific antibody response by two orders of magnitude (table 1). Antibodies binding linear HBsAg determinants or determinants of the T-Ag or hsp73 were very low or undetectable in Western blot analyses. Two important conclusions can thus be drawn from these results: (1) expression of the S_{80-180} fragment as a fusion protein by

the pCI/ T_{60} -SII and pCI/ T_{77} -SII DNA vaccines selectively presents the conformational 'a' determinant of HBsAg to the immune system but does not elicit antibody responses to the T-Ag-derived carrier or the hsp autoantigen, and (2) secreted T_{60} -SII fusion antigen delivered by a DNA vaccine can prime an antibody response to a conformational HBsAg determinant as efficiently as a DNA vaccine encoding native, secreted HBsAg.

Expression of the Linear HBc/eAg e2 Determinant

The pCI/C vector DNA encodes the intracellular core protein HBcAg (fig. 1c). The linear, antibody-binding e2 epitope (encoded by residues 126-135 of the HBcAg) was fused as a C79–149 fragment in frame behind the Nterminal hsp73-binding 77-residue T₇₇ N-terminus or the non-hsp-binding 60-residue T₆₀ N-terminus (fig. 1d). In transfected cells, the intracellular hsp73-associated T₇₇-e2 fusion protein was efficiently expressed, whereas the nonhsp-associated T₆₀-e2 fusion protein was barely detectable (data not shown). This system confirmed our experience that association with hsp73 greatly facilitates expression of a chimeric protein. The good expression of the T₇₇-e2 fusion protein and the very poor expression of the T₆₀-e2 fusion protein have to be taken into account in the interpretation of the vaccination studies.

Priming HBc/eAg-Specific Antibody Responses by DNA Vaccines Encoding the e2 Determinant as an Intracellular, hsp73-Associated Protein

We immunized mice intramuscularly with plasmid DNA vaccines encoding (1) the native HBcAg (pCI/C), (2) the well-expressed, hsp73-associated, intracellular T_{77} -e2 fusion protein (pCI/ T_{77} -e2), or (3) the poorly expressed, non-hsp-associated T₆₀-e2 fusion protein (pCI/ T₆₀-e2). High HBV core-specific serum antibody responses were stimulated after injection of the pCI/C (table 1, groups 6–8). Antibody titers induced by the pCI/ T₇₇-e2 DNA vaccine were significantly reduced compared to those induced by pCI/C. These findings were expected, as the T₇₇-e2 fusion protein did not express the immunodominant c/e1 epitope [4]. However, e2-specific antibodies were barely detectable after injection of the pCI/ T_{60} -e2 plasmid DNA (encoding the poorly expressed T_{60} e2) (table 1). A very similar pattern of humoral immune responses was observed when either recombinant HBcAg **Table 2.** Expression pattern andimmunogenicity of HBsAg- andHBc/eAg-derived antibody-bindingepitopes

| Group | Chimeric antigen ¹ | Expression | n ² | Potency of priming specific | |
|-------|----------------------------------|------------|----------------------|-----------------------------|--|
| | | stable | hsp73- associated | secreted | antibody responses when delivered as DNA vaccine³ |
| 1 | HBsAg (S) | ++ | _ | ++ | +++ |
| 2 | T ₂₇₂ -SII | ++++ | ++ | _ | + |
| 3 | T ₇₇ -SII | ++++ | + | _ | + |
| 4 | T ₆₀ -SII | ++ | _ | + | +++ |
| 5 | SII | _ | _ | _ | _ |
| 6 | HBcAg | +++ | _ | _ | +++++ |
| 7 | T ₇₇ -e2 | +++ | + | _ | +++ |
| 8 | T ₆₀ -e2 | + | - | - | + |

¹ HBV surface and core antigen encoding genes or gene fragments were cloned into pCI expression constructs.

² LMH cells were transiently transfected with the respective expression vectors, immunoprecipitated and processed for SDS-PAGE. Expression levels were determined (1) in Coomassie blue-stained gels and (2) by fluorographic analyses.

 3 BALB/c mice were immunized twice with the indicated vectors (100 µg, i.m.), and surface- and core-specific serum antibodies were determined.

or HBeAg was used as detection antigen in the ELISA. Thus, the linear e2 determinant was accessible for antibody recognition on the respective antigens. We draw the following conclusions from these data: (1) expression of the linear, antibody-binding e2 epitope as an intracellular, hsp-associated fusion protein elicits efficient antibody responses; (2) non-hsp-associated T_{60} -e2 is difficult to express and not immunogenic, demonstrating the essential role of hsp association in expression and/or immunogenicity in this system, and (3) these data thus differ from those presented above for the immunogenic delivery of the conformational 'a' determinant of HBsAg (expressed in the same system) (table 2).

Designing Expression Systems for Enhancing the Immunogenic Delivery of Antibody-Binding Epitopes from VLP

Our experience with the expression of linear and conformational antibody-binding epitopes from the two major antigen systems of HBV and their immunogenicity when delivered by DNA-based vaccines is summarized in table 2.

Expression System

We developed a novel expression system from our previous work with the SV40 T-Ag [12, 13, 42, 44–50]. This system is based on the finding that the N-terminus of the T-Ag carries a J domain that tightly associates with the constitutively expressed, cytosolic stress protein hsp73. Hsp binding is very stable when the T-Ag is mutated (outside the J domain region) or when the J domain is fused to heterologous proteins or their fragments. Apparently, hsp fulfils a number of different functions in this novel expression system: (1) it supports expression of mutant, truncated or chimeric proteins (compare, for example, the expression of T₇₇-e2 and T₆₀-e2); (2) it changes the processing pattern of proteins it has bound for the generation of antigenic, MHC class I-binding peptides [12, 13], and (3) it enhances the immunogenicity of the protein it has bound, facilitating, for example, cross-priming of CTL [41] or priming of antibody responses to intracellular antigens [8].

As this system exploits a physiological feature of chaperone 'help' in protein synthesis, folding and traffic, it is ideally suited for use in DNA-based vaccination.

Expression Level

In the system used, hsp association facilitates expression. This has been our universal experience in expressing more than 40 different fragments from vaccine-relevant antigens. To our knowledge, this is the most efficient system for the expression of mutant, truncated or chimeric fusion proteins. Even proteins (or their fragments) with a very short half-life accumulated to impressive levels in stable transfectants when expressed in this system. The system tolerates expression of chimeric proteins of at least 800 aa. No length restriction has been encountered to date.

Hsp Association

Stable association of the T-Ag-derived J domain with hsp73 seems specific. Stress-induced, cytosolic hsp72 or the endoplasmic reticulum-resident hsp of the 70-kD family do not associate with this viral domain. Stable hsp73 association seems to inhibit secretion of the bound substrate (compare, for example, expression of T_{77} -SII and T_{60} -SII). As hsp association facilitates cross-priming and renders intracellular antigens visible to the B cell system, some type of export of the complexes from the cell is to be expected. The route and mode of this export is obscure.

Expression in Immunogenic Form of Linear versus Conformational Viral Epitopes That Bind Antibodies

The 'a' determinant could be expressed with its intact (cross-reactive) conformation in the system. This is unusual because very few complex antibody-binding determinants have been isolated and expressed in a functional way up to now. For optimal immunogenicity, the antigen fragment had to be expressed as a secreted fusion protein. Hsp association was not essential but actually reduced its immunogenicity for B cells. In secreted form, the T₆₀-SII fusion protein was as effective as the natural, secreted HBsAg particle in priming conformation-specific antibody responses. This may be a special case of the HBsAg fragment chosen for expression that may form stable, secreted, macromolecular complexes similar to those of natural HBsAg particles. The situation was different when

References

- Ellis RW, Kniskern PJ: Recombinant hepatitis B vaccines; in McLachlan A (ed): Molecular Biology of the Hepatitis B Virus. Boca Raton, CRC, 1991, pp 307–322.
- 2 Heermann K-H, Gerlich WH: Surface proteins of hepatitis B virus; in McLachlan A (ed): Molecular Biology of the Hepatitis B Virus. Boca Raton, CRC, 1991, pp 109–132.
- 3 Diminsky D, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J, Barenholz Y: Comparison between hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) particles derived from mammalian cells (CHO) and yeast cells (*Hansenula polymorpha*): Composition, structure and immunogenicity. Vaccine 1997;15:637– 647.
- 4 Pumpens P, Grens E: Hepatitis B core particles as a universal display model: A structure-function basis for development. FEBS Lett 1999; 442:1–6.

- 5 Hattori T, Zhou S, Standring DN: RNA- and DNA-binding activities in hepatitis B virus capsid protein: A model for their roles in viral replication. J Virol 1992;66:5232–5241.
- 6 Nassal M, Rieger A: An intramolecular disulfide bridge between Cys-7 and Cys61 determines the structure of the secretory core gene product (e antigen) of hepatitis B virus. J Virol 1993;67:4307–4315.
- 7 Baumeister MA, Medina SA, Coit D, Nguyen S, George NC, Gyenes A, Valenzuela P, Kuo G, Chien DY: Hepatitis B virus e antigen specific epitopes and limitations of commercial anti-HBe immunoassays. J Med Virol 2000;60: 256–263.
- 8 Schirmbeck R, Gerstner O, Reimann J: Truncated or chimeric endogenous protein antigens gain immunogenicity for B cells by stress protein-facilitated expression. Eur J Immunol 1999;29:1740–1749.

the linear e2 epitope was expressed and its immunogenicity was assayed. In this system, hsp association was mandatory for achieving detectable levels of expression and to prime antibody responses. Although the hsp-associated T_{77} -e2 was an intracellular antigen, it was efficiently expressed and immunogenic for B cells. In contrast, only barely detectable levels of the non-hsp-associated T_{60} -e2 antigen were expressed, and low antibody responses could be primed or boosted with this fusion protein. This resembles our published data using the preS domain of the large LS variant of HBsAg fused to the T-Ag J domain [8]. Hence, small linear epitopes are readily expressed in immunogenic form in association with hsp in the system while large, complex, conformational epitopes may each need their own rules governing efficient expression. Interestingly, hsp-associated, antibody-binding epitopes efficiently stimulate a B cell response even when expressed as intracellular antigens. This offers a broad range of potential applications for the design of polyepitope vaccines that combine T cell-stimulating and B cell-stimulating epitopes.

Acknowledgments

The excellent technical assistance of Tanja Guentert is appreciated. The generous gifts of recombinant HBsAg from Dr. K. Melber (Rhein Biotech, Düsseldorf, Germany), HBeAg and HBcAg preparations from Dr. H.-J. Schlicht (Ulm, Germany) and Drs. V. Bruus and K.-H. Heermann (Göttingen, Germany) are gratefully acknowledged. This work was supported by grants from the German Federal Ministry for Science and Technology (01-GE 9907) and the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG Schi 505/2-1) to R.S. and J.R.

- 9 Campbell KS, Mullane KP, Aksoy IA, Stubdal H, Zalvide J, Pipas JM, Silver PA, Roberts TM, Schaffhausen BS, DeCaprio JA: DnaJ/ hsp40 chaperone domain of SV40 large T antigen promotes efficient viral DNA replication. Genes Dev 1997;11:1098–1110.
- 10 Srinivasan A, McClellan AJ, Vartikar J, Marks I, Cantalupo P, Li Y, Whyte P, Rundell K, Brodsky JL, Pipas JM: The amino-terminal transforming region of simian virus 40 large T and small t antigens functions as a J domain. Mol Cell Biol 1997;17:4761–4773.
- Brodsky JL, Pipas JM: Polyomavirus T antigens: Molecular chaperones for multiprotein complexes. J Virol 1998;72:5329–5334.

- 12 Schirmbeck R, Reimann J: Peptide transporter-independent, stress protein-mediated endosomal processing of endogenous protein antigens for major histocompatibility complex class I presentation. Eur J Immunol 1994;24: 1478–1486.
- 13 Schirmbeck R, Böhm W, Reimann J: Stress protein (hsp73)-mediated, TAP-independent processing of endogenous, truncated SV40 large T antigen for Db-restricted peptide presentation. Eur J Immunol 1997;27:2016– 2023.
- 14 Young R, Elliott TJ: Stress proteins, infection, and immune surveillance. Cell 1989;59:5–8.
- 15 Schild H, Arnold SD, Lammert E, Rammensee HG: Stress proteins and immunity mediated by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Curr Opin Immunol 1999;11:109–113.
- 16 Roman E, Moreno C: Delayed-type hypersensitivity elicited by synthetic peptides complexed with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* hsp 70. Immunology 1997;90:52–56.
- 17 Birk OS, Gur SL, Elias D, Margalit R, Mor F, Carmi P, Bockova J, Altmann DM, Cohen IR: The 60-kDa heat shock protein modulates allograft rejection. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999; 96:5159–5163.
- 18 Breloer M, Fleischer B, Von Bonin A: In vivo and in vitro activation of T cells after administration of Ag-negative heat shock proteins. J Immunol 1999;162:3141–3147.
- 19 Todryk S, Melcher AA, Hardwick N, Linardakis E, Bateman A, Colombo MP, Stoppacciaro A, Vile RG: Heat shock protein 70 induced during tumor cell killing induces Th1 cytokines and targets immature dendritic cell precursors to enhance antigen uptake. J Immunol 1999; 163:1398–1408.
- 20 Singh JH, Toes RE, Spee P, Munz C, Hilf N, Schoenberger SP, Ricciardi CP, Neefjes J, Rammensee HG, Arnold SD, Schild H: Crosspresentation of glycoprotein 96-associated antigens on major histocompatibility complex class I molecules requires receptor-mediated endocytosis. J Exp Med 2000;191:1965–1974.
- 21 Sondermann H, Becker T, Mayhew M, Wieland F, Hartl FU: Characterization of a receptor for heat shock protein 70 on macrophages and monocytes. Biol Chem 2000;381:1165– 1174.
- 22 Asea A, Kraeft SK, Kurt-Jones EA, Stevenson MA, Chen LB, Finberg RW, Koo GC, Calderwood SK: HSP70 stimulates cytokine production through a CD14-dependant pathway, demonstrating its dual role as a chaperone and cytokine. Nat Med 2000;6:435–442.
- 23 Binder RJ, Han DK, Srivastava PK: CD91: A receptor for heat shock protein gp96. Nat Immunol 2000;1:151–155.
- 24 Basu S, Binder RJ, Ramalingam T, Srivastava PK: CD91 is a common receptor for heat shock proteins gp96, hsp90, hsp70, and calreticulin. Immunity 2001;14:303–313.
- 25 Byrd CA, Bornmann W, Erdjument-Bromage H, Tempst P, Pavletich N, Rosen N, Nathan CF, Ding A: Heat shock protein 90 mediates macrophage activation by Taxol and bacterial lipopolysaccharide. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:5645–5650.

- 26 Kol A, Bourcier T, Lichtman AH, Libby P: Chlamydial and human heat shock protein 60s activate human vascular endothelium, smooth muscle cells, and macrophages. J Clin Invest 1999;103:571–577.
- 27 Singh JH, Scherer HU, Hilf N, Arnold SD, Rammensee HG, Toes RE, Schild H: The heat shock protein gp96 induces maturation of dendritic cells and down-regulation of its receptor. Eur J Immunol 2000;30:2211–2215.
- 28 Yoo CG, Lee S, Lee CT, Kim YW, Han SK, Shim YS: Anti-inflammatory effect of heat shock protein induction is related to stabilization of I kappa B alpha through preventing I kappa B kinase activation in respiratory epithelial cells. J Immunol 2000;164:5416–5423.
- 29 Cho BK, Palliser D, Guillen E, Wisniewski J, Young RA, Chen J, Eisen HN: A proposed mechanism for the induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte production by heat shock fusion proteins. Immunity 2000;12:263–272.
- 30 Paul AG, van Kooten PJ, van Eden W, van der Zee R: Highly autoproliferative T cells specific for 60-kDa heat shock protein produce IL-4/IL-10 and IFN-γ and are protective in adjuvant arthritis. J Immunol 2000;165:7270–7277.
- 31 Arnold D, Faath S, Rammensee HG, Schild H: Cross-priming of minor histocompatibility antigen-specific cytotoxic T cells upon immunization with the heat shock protein gp96. J Exp Med 1995;182:885–889.
- 32 Feldweg AM, Srivastava PK: Molecular heterogeneity of tumor rejection antigen/heat shock protein GP96. Int J Cancer 1995;63:310–314.
- 33 Lammert E, Arnold D, Rammensee HG, Schild H: Expression levels of stress protein gp96 are not limiting for major histocompatibility complex class I-restricted antigen presentation. Eur J Immunol 1996;26:875–879.
- 34 Nieland TJF, Tan MCA, van Muijen MM, Koning F, Kruisbeek AM, van Bleek GM: Isolation of an immunodominant viral peptide that is endogenously bound to the stress protein GP96/GRP94. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93:6135–6139.
- 35 Roman E, Moreno C: Synthetic peptides noncovalently bound to bacterial hsp70 elicit peptide-specific T-cell responses in vivo. Immunology 1996;88:487–492.
- 36 Blachere NE, Li Z, Chandawarkar RY, Suto R, Jaikaria NS, Basu S, Udono H, Srivastava PK: Heat shock protein-peptide complexes, reconstituted in vitro, elicit peptide-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response and tumor immunity. J Exp Med 1997;186:1315–1322.
- 37 Heikema A, Agsteribbe E, Wilschut J, Huckriede A: Generation of heat shock proteinbased vaccines by intracellular loading of gp96 with antigenic peptides. Immunol Lett 1997; 57:69–74.
- 38 Ciupitu AM, Petersson M, O'Donnell CL, Williams K, Jindal S, Kiessling R, Welsh RM: Immunization with a lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus peptide mixed with heat shock protein 70 results in protective antiviral immunity and specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes. J Exp Med 1998;187:685–691.
- 39 Ishii T, Udono H, Yamano T, Ohta H, Uenaka A, Ono T, Hizuta A, Tanaka N, Srivastava PK,

Nakayama E: Isolation of MHC class I-restricted tumor antigen peptide and its precursors associated with heat shock proteins hsp70, hsp90, and gp96. J Immunol 1999;162:1303– 1309.

- 40 Chen CH, Wang TL, Hung CF, Yang Y, Young RA, Pardoll DM, Wu TC: Enhancement of DNA vaccine potency by linkage of antigen gene to an HSP70 gene. Cancer Res 2000;60: 1035–1042.
- 41 Kammerer R, Stober D, Riedl P, Oehninger C, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J: Non-covalent association with stress protein facilitates the cross priming of CD8⁺T cells to tumor cell antigens by dendritic cells. J Immunol 2002;168:108–117.
- 42 Schirmbeck R, Zerrahn J, Kuhröber A, Deppert W, Reimann J: Immunization of mice with the N-terminal (1–272) fragment of simian virus 40 large T-antigen (without adjuvants) specifically primes cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol 1993;23:1528–1534.
- 43 Sullivan CS, Pipas JM: The virus-chaperone connection. Virology 2001;287:1–8.
- 44 Schirmbeck R, Deppert W: Specific interaction of simian virus 40 large T antigen with cellular chromatin and nuclear matrix during the course of lytic infection. J Virol 1987;61:3561– 3569.
- 45 Schirmbeck R, Deppert W: Nuclear subcompartmentalization of simian virus 40 large T antigen: Evidence for in vivo regulation of biochemical activities. J Virol 1989;63:2308–2316.
- 46 Schirmbeck R, Deppert W: Structural topography of simian virus 40 DNA replication. J Virol 1991;65:2578–2588.
- 47 Schirmbeck R, Zerrahn J, Kuhröber A, Kury E, Deppert W, Reimann J: Immunization with soluble simian virus 40 large T antigen induces a specific response of CD3⁺ CD4⁻ CD8⁺ cytotoxic T lymphocytes in mice. Eur J Immunol 1992;22:759–766.
- 48 Schirmbeck R, Deppert W, Kury E, Reimann J: In vitro expansion distorts the detectable pattern of specific recognition of in vivo primed cytotoxic T lymphocyte populations. Cell Immunol 1993;149:444–449.
- 49 Schirmbeck R, von der Weth A, Deppert W: Structural requirements for simian virus 40 replication and virion maturation. J Virol 1993;67:894–901.
- 50 Schirmbeck R, Böhm W, Reimann J: DNA vaccination primes MHC class I-restricted, simian virus 40 large tumor antigen-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in H-2^d mice that reject syngeneic tumors. J Immunol 1996;157: 3550–3558.
- 51 Prange R, Streeck RE: Novel transmembrane topology of the hepatitis B virus envelope proteins. EMBO J 1995;14:247–256.
- 52 Schirmbeck R, Reimann J: Modulation of gene-gun-mediated Th2 immunity to hepatitis B surface antigen by bacterial CpG motifs or IL-12. Intervirology 2001;44:115–123.
- 53 Kuhröber A, Pudollek HP, Reifenberg K, Chisari FV, Schlicht HJ, Reimann J, Schirmbeck R: DNA immunization induces antibody and cytotoxic T cell responses to hepatitis B core antigen in H-2^b mice. J Immunol 1996;156: 3687–3695.

Antibody-Binding Epitopes on Virus-Like Particles

Intervirology 2002;45:260–266 DOI: 10.1159/000067917

HIV: Epidemiology and Strategies for Therapy and Vaccination

Ulrich Marcus^a Matthias T. Dittmar^b Hans-Georg Kräusslich^b

^aRobert Koch-Institut, Berlin, ^bAbteilung Virologie, Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany

Key Words

HIV · AIDS · Epidemiology · Treatment · Vaccine

Abstract

In the decades since its discovery, the acquired immunodeficiency syndrome AIDS has developed into one of the leading causes of death worldwide, with a dramatic situation in many countries of subsaharan Africa. A large body of knowledge has been acquired regarding the molecular biology and replication properties of the causative agent of AIDS, the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV). However, despite these advances the global spread of HIV and especially its spread in developing countries continues almost unabated. During the last decade, drugs inhibiting HIV replication have been introduced into clinical use and highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) using a combination of several drugs has been proven to slow or halt the course of the disease in most patients. However, HAART is currently only available in countries of the developed world and the emergence of resistant variants may rapidly lead to a partial loss of this therapeutic arsenal. Thus, the development of a prophylactic vaccine against HIV must be the ultimate goal to control the global pandemic of AIDS. This minireview summarises the state of the epidemic

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0260\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int and discusses current treatment strategies as well as future developments. Finally, strategies towards the development of a vaccine against HIV are presented and recent studies using prime-boost regimens to achieve protection from disease in animal models while not preventing infection with the challenge virus are discussed. Copyright©2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Epidemiology of HIV/AIDS

Since AIDS was recognized as a new disease in the beginning of the 1980s and HIV was isolated and identified as a transmissible pathogen causing this disease, HIV has spread all over the world and has already claimed more than 25 million lives. The number of persons currently living with HIV infection worldwide is estimated by the Joint United Nations Programme on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS) at more than 40 million (fig. 1). About 5 million new infections with HIV occurred in the year 2001 (fig. 2) and about 3 million people died from HIV/AIDS (fig. 3), making HIV infection the single most important cause of death from infectious diseases (for more information, visit www.unaids.org).

If these staggering numbers are broken down according to region, gender and age, it is revealed that meanwhile,

Hans-Georg Kräusslich Abteilung Virologie, Universitätsklinikum Heidelberg Im Neuenheimer Feld 324 D–69120 Heidelberg (Germany) Tel. +49 6221 565002, Fax +49 6221 565003


Fig. 1. Number of adults and children estimated to be living with HIV/AIDS as at the end of 2001.



Fig. 2. Estimated number of adults and children newly infected with HIV during 2001.

more than 95% of the approximately 15,000 new infections per day are transmitted in developing countries. More than 60% of infections occur in young people under the age of 25; among these, about 1,700 infections are in children under 15 years of age, mainly through motherto-child-transmission. Worldwide, 48% of HIV-positive adults are women (table 1).

The most severely affected part of the world is sub-Saharan Africa, with more than two thirds of all infected persons living in this region and 3.4 million new infections occurring in 2001. It is estimated that 2.3 million Africans died of AIDS in 2001, a death toll considerably higher than from famine and wars. There are now 16 countries in sub-Saharan Africa in which more than 10% of those aged 15–49 years are infected with HIV. In some countries and regions in southern Africa, HIV prevalence rates among pregnant women attending antenatal clinics have reached catastrophic proportions, with levels of more than 30%. In urban areas in Botswana, the corresponding figure is 44%; in South Africa's KwaZulu-Natal province, the figure stands at 36%.

The principal mode of transmission of HIV in Africa is unprotected heterosexual intercourse, which is responsible for more than 85% of new infections. About 10% of new infections are due to mother-to-child transmission. Intravenous drug use has not played a large role in dissemination of HIV in Africa so far, but drug abuse is increasing in several countries and the risk of amplification of HIV infections among intravenous drug users, once HIV is introduced into this population, is very high.



Fig. 3. Estimated number of adult and child deaths from HIV/AIDS during 2001.

Other regions already heavily affected are South Asia and South-East Asia, with about 800,000 new infections in 2001 and an estimated total of 6.1 million persons living with HIV/AIDS, as well as Eastern Europe, with 250,000 additional infections in 2001, bringing the cumulative number in this region to 1 million. As in Africa, in Asia, HIV is spreading mainly by heterosexual contact. However, since the epidemic in many countries is still in an early phase, the commercial sex sector is still playing a large role in the emerging epidemic. This is reflected by a higher proportion of men than women among AIDS and HIV patients. In several countries, intravenous drug users

HIV: Epidemiology and Strategies for Therapy and Vaccination

Table 1. Regional HIV/AIDS statistics and features, end of 2001

| | When | Adults and childre | en | Adult | Percentage of | Main mode(s) of | |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------|---|-------------|-------------------------------------|---|---|--|
| | epidemic started | living withnewly infectedHIV/AIDSwith HIV in 2001 | | prevalence rate ¹ , % | HIV-positive adults who are women | transmission for those living with HIV/AIDS | |
| Sub-Saharan Africa | late 1970s early 1980s | 28.1 million | 3.4 million | 8.4 | 55 | Hetero | |
| North Africa and Middle East | late 1980s | 440,000 | 80,000 | 0.2 | 40 | Hetero, IDU | |
| South and South-East Asia | late 1980s | 6.1 million | 800,00 | 0.6 | 35 | Hetero, IDU | |
| East Asia and Pacific | late 1980s | 1 million | 270,000 | 0.1 | 20 | IDU, Hetero, MSM | |
| Latin America | late 1970s early 1980s | 1.4 million | 130,000 | 0.5 | 30 | MSM, IDU, Hetero | |
| Caribbean | late 1970s early 1980s | 420,000 | 60,000 | 2.2 | 50 | Hetero, MSM | |
| Eastern Europe and Central Asia | ealry 1990s | 1 million | 250,000 | 0.5 | 20 | IDU | |
| Western Europe | late 1970s early 1980s | 560,000 | 30,000 | 0.3 | 25 | MSM, IDU | |
| North America | late 1970s early 1980s | 940,000 | 45,000 | 0.6 | 20 | MSM, IDU, Hetero | |
| Australia and New Zealand | late 1970s early 1980s | 15,000 | 500 | 0.1 | 10 | MSM | |
| Total | | 40 million | 5 million | 1.2 | 48 | | |

From the UNAIDS report 'AIDS epidemic update - December 2001' (http://www.unaids.org/epidemic-update/report-dec01).

Hetero = Heterosexual transmission; IDU = transmission through injecting drug use. MSM = Male homosexuals.

The proportion of adults (15–49 years of age) living with HIV/AIDS in 2001, using 2001 population numbers.

were among the first to be affected by the spread of HIV. The virus has reached high prevalence levels in this group, and the incidence of HIV infection is still high. Major HIV epidemics among drug users have been experienced in Thailand, Burma, Malaysia, Vietnam, China and India.

In Eastern Europe, the epidemic spread of HIV started only recently. Until the mid-1990s, there were only a few sporadic cases, with the exception of some nosocomial outbreaks of HIV in hospitals, caused by inadequate sterilization procedures. Then, starting in the Ukraine, HIV began to be introduced into the rapidly expanding population of intravenous drug users, resulting in explosive regional epidemics. While the peak of the epidemic among drug users seems to have passed in the Ukraine, most other countries in the region are currently witnessing a phase of almost exponential spread of HIV among intravenous drug users. To make things even more complicated, widespread intravenous drug use is a relatively new and still growing phenomenon in this area. There are very few drug abuse treatment and rehabilitation facilities, and the society as a whole has huge difficulties in coming to terms with this new problem. The majority of drug

addicts are young men and adolescents. Heroin is quickly becoming the most popular illegal drug among young people, and lack of knowledge as well as lack of sterile needles and syringes are both contributing to the extensive spread of HIV and hepatitis viruses in this population group.

There is also a considerable risk of sexual transmission of HIV, since the incidence of sexually transmitted infections has increased in the recent past due to greater population mobility, a growing commercial sex industry and a breakdown of the health care system and of traditional public health control strategies.

In Latin America and the Caribbean, there is a complex mix of heterosexual transmission, men having sex with men (MSM) and intravenous drug abuse involved in the spread of HIV. In most Caribbean islands, some countries of Central America and the northern part of the Pacific coast of South America, HIV is mainly transmitted among heterosexuals. Mexico, Costa Rica, Nicaragua, Ecuador, Cuba, Brazil, Uruguay and Chile have experienced HIV epidemics among homo- and bisexual men, while intravenous drug users are heavily affected in Argentina, Uruguay and Brazil.

In North America and the European Union, the original dominance of MSM has been replaced by intravenous drug abuse as the most important risk factor for HIV transmission. Also, the proportion of heterosexually acquired infections has increased in recent years, and in some countries, migrants from regions with a high prevalence of HIV meanwhile form the second largest group of people infected with HIV. However, concerning the decrease of MSM transmission among persons affected by HIV, there is no room for complacency. There have been reports from most of these countries of increasing rates of sexually transmitted infections and outbreaks of syphilis among MSM. The increase in risk behaviour among MSM follows a period of shrinking budgets for prevention and a process of 'normalization' of HIV/AIDS which has been accelerated by improved treatment options. This has weakened the originally very successful model of behavioural change and condom promotion among MSM. Habitualization of condom use, which was achieved at least for sex with non-steady partners, is slowly fading away. If there are no reinvigorated efforts for prevention, we may well see a second wave of the HIV epidemic among homo-/bisexual men in the developed countries in the near future.

Treatment

The benefits of improved treatment so far have been restricted to only a minority of patients, mainly from the richer, developed countries. In those countries, morbidity and mortality from AIDS has dropped dramatically, to about one third of the rates before the introduction of triple combination therapy. Consequently, implementation of antiretroviral therapies in resource-poor settings has been strongly advocated and there has been significant pressure on the pharmaceutical industry to bring down the cost of drugs. However, the implementation of effective and sustained HIV therapy will depend not only on lower prices, although this is an essential prerequisite. In addition, public awareness of the HIV epidemic needs to increase and the level of acceptance of antiretroviral therapy has to be raised in the general population as well as among HIV-infected people. In particular, the need for (life)long treatment on a regular, daily schedule has to be understood and ensured. In the absence of planned and controlled intervention programs, the provision of antiretroviral drugs (even at low prices) to people in resourcepoor settings could lead to stigmatization and marginalization of those infected with HIV. Furthermore, this may

contribute to the selection of resistant variants due to intermittent drug usage leading to frequent subtherapeutic drug concentrations. Thus, the ethical goal of bringing therapy to people outside the richer countries could in fact prove to be unethical if not achieved as part of a wellplanned intervention strategy. Recently, however, it was shown in a rural area of Haiti that such a strategy can be successfully implemented in a poor country, where directly observed HIV therapy was introduced following the model of tuberculosis control efforts [1]. Importantly, the demand for HIV testing in this community has risen since highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) was made available, indicating that access to effective therapy may even lessen the AIDS-related stigma and providing strong support for extended treatment programs in resourcepoor countries. Programs to prevent or lower mother-tochild transmission of HIV are currently being started in many countries. The rate of infection of newborns by their HIV-positive mothers can be dramatically reduced by a short course of therapy with only a single antiretroviral drug, and programs to prevent mother-to-child transmission may therefore set the stage for more widespread general intervention strategies.

Current antiretroviral therapy always involves a combination of three or more drugs, which need to be given at regular intervals. Initial therapeutic trials in the early 1990s applying inhibitors of the viral reverse transcriptase (RT) as single drugs proved unsuccessful, mainly because of the rapid emergence of resistant escape variants. Once additional drugs became available, combination therapy, usually applying three antiretroviral agents (HAART), dramatically reduced the progression to AIDS in HIV-positive subjects. It should be emphasized, however, that although such treatment can substantially lower the virus load (reaching undetectable levels in many patients), it does not eliminate the virus. Residual virus may persist due to the presence of long-lived infected cells, ongoing low-level replication in privileged sites and delayed reactivation of cells harbouring latent viral genomes.

The current HAART regimen commonly includes either two inhibitors of RT (nucleosidal RT inhibitors as well as non-nucleosidal RT inhibitors) plus one inhibitor of the viral protease or a combination of three different RT inhibitors (usually 2 nucleosidal RT inhibitors and 1 non-nucleosidal RT inhibitor). RT inhibitors block reverse transcription of the incoming viral genome and therefore prevent infection of the cell, while inhibitors of the viral protease prevent the maturation of infectious virions (fig. 4). At the end of 2001, there were 18 licensed



Fig. 4. Antiretroviral treatment strategies.

antiretroviral drugs, which all belong to these classes of agents (for more information, visit http://hivatis.org/ trtgdlns.html). Under HAART, a significant suppression of virus load (usually to undetectable levels) can be achieved in most patients. However, significant side effects, including anaemia, neutropenia, allergic reactions and lipodystrophy, can limit the therapeutic options and may require changes in the HAART regimen. Most importantly, emergence of resistant variants has been observed for every drug, and an increasing number of doubly or multi-resistant strains has been detected in patients treated for extended periods of time [2]. Analysis of the prevalence of antiretroviral drug resistance in the USA and UK indicates that up to 50% of infected people harbour HIV variants which are already resistant to at least one antiretroviral drug. Furthermore, transmission of viruses with a more than tenfold resistance to one or more of the antiretroviral agents has been reported for up to 14% of recently infected people [3, 4], and an increasing number of multi-resistant strains is being observed. Therefore, the emergence of drug resistance will be the major and increasing problem in coming years, and a partial loss of the therapeutic arsenal may be anticipated as a consequence of spreading resistance.

The development of resistance requires modification of the capacity of the target enzyme to interact with the inhibitor while preserving its function. The error-prone nature of the viral RT, which lacks a proofreading mechanism, leads to approximately one misincorporation of a nucleotide per replication cycle. Given the very high virus production rate, which has been estimated at 10⁹ per day [5], one may assume that every possible point mutation is in fact generated in every HIV-infected person. While most mutations are expected to be either lethal or lead to a selective disadvantage, one may predict that mutations conferring partial resistance to antiviral agents pre-exist in people never treated with the respective agent, and this has in fact been observed. Stochastic events (e.g. activation of an infected cell) and the relative fitness of the respective variant will determine whether a specific variant is selected for and the presence of antiviral agents or a specific immune response (antibodies and/or cytotoxic T cells) will shift the balance. Evolution of drug resistance may therefore best be described as a stepwise process building on a pre-existing partially resistant variant which is selected for upon introduction of the drug and accumulates further mutations, thus increasing its relative resistance and/or fitness. Drug-resistant mutants may persist as the dominant quasi-species or as minor variants after the selective pressure has been removed. These HIV variants are capable of re-emergence once the drug is reintroduced, and treatment failure is the consequence.

Given the evolution and increasing spread of multiresistant strains, it becomes obvious that novel compounds targeting additional steps in the viral life cycle will be important to maintain successful HIV therapy. Several compounds acting on different steps of the entry pathway have been developed and are currently being tested in early phase I/II trails. The most promising candidates are the so-called fusion and entry inhibitors. These inhibitors prevent virus attachment (e.g. PRO542), interaction between the envelope protein and chemokine receptors (e.g. AMD3100) or the completion of the fusion process between the viral membrane and the cell membrane (e.g. T20) (fig. 4). Preclinical and clinical assessment of these inhibitors is ongoing and will determine if they possess properties required for drug licensure. The next class of antiretroviral drugs will probably be directed against the viral integrase, the third viral enzyme, which is also essential for HIV replication and serves to integrate the viral genome into a host chromosome (fig. 4). Active lead compounds targeting the integrase have been developed and are currently being analysed.

Vaccines

As stated above, treatment of HIV infection does not achieve eradication of the virus, and the problems of drug resistance may reduce the success rates of HAART in the future. Therefore, a prophylactic vaccine is necessary and urgent. In the absence of a prophylactic vaccine, immune stimulation of HIV-infected people under HAART may also be attempted in order to regain immunological competence and control of the virus (therapeutic vaccination). Studies in monkeys and analysis of HIV-infected longterm survivors indicated that induction of a strong, polyclonal T cell response is most important for efficient control of the virus, while neutralizing antibodies play a role as well. Therefore, induction of a sustained and polyclonal response targeting both arms of the immune system may be essential to achieve protection.

Initial attempts to develop a vaccine mainly involved the viral glycoproteins and were unsuccessful [reviewed in ref. 6]. More recently, several approaches, including DNA vaccines, recombinant viral vectors and virus-like particles, have been developed and are currently being tested in animal experiments. Promising results have been reported for so-called prime-boost regimens. Recently, several groups showed that applying a DNA vaccine cocktail (expression vectors for several viral proteins) followed by boosting with a recombinant viral vector (either replication-defective adenovirus or modified vaccinia virus strain Ankara carrying HIV-specific sequences) can successfully protect monkeys from disease [reviewed in ref. 7] [8, 9]. The animals were challenged with a pathogenic SIV/HIV hybrid virus 6 months after vaccination was completed. Importantly, all monkeys were infected by the challenge virus, but there was no development of disease over a 5-month period in the vaccinated animals,

while the control animals succumbed to AIDS during the observation period. Vaccination with another recombinant viral vector expressing several HIV proteins has already been evaluated in the recently completed ALVAC (canary pox vectored HIV vaccine) trial in Uganda. This study used a canary pox vector, which is replication defective in human cells, for vaccination and provided important information on the safety of this vector, as well as regarding the interaction with representatives from the communities, the need for regulatory control mechanisms and how to deal with widespread public and media fear about the risks of participation in such a trial [10].

Another phase I clinical trial applying a DNA vaccinemodified vaccinia virus strain Ankara prime-boost regimen has recently been initiated in Oxford, UK, and in Nairobi, Kenya, by the group of A. McMichael with support from the International AIDS Vaccine Initiative (for further information, visit www.iavi.org and www.oxavi. org). It has been announced that similar vaccination studies using DNA and recombinant adenovirus-based vaccines will be started in the near future by Merck & Co. in cooperation with the HIV Vaccine Trials Network (www.hvtn.org). Another vaccine trial, recently announced by GlaxoSmithKline Biologicals in collaboration with the HIV Vaccine Trials Network, will rely on immunization with several HIV-derived proteins formulated with a novel adjuvant.

These studies will certainly be important steps towards an HIV vaccine, but there are many open questions and obstacles remaining. These include the long-term effectiveness of vaccines, their potential to be protective in humans, the high level of variation and viral escape and in particular the long-term prognosis of those infected despite vaccination. It must be emphasized that none of the vaccines tested to date induced a sterilizing immunity, and all animals subsequently challenged became infected, although there was a clear protective effect regarding the development of disease. Importantly, a recent report provided evidence that at least one vaccinated and subsequently challenged animal showed a delayed onset of immunodeficiency caused by the challenge virus. This could be attributed to a mutation in a cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope of the challenge virus leading to escape from the protective immune response [11]. The frequency and kinetics of such escape will affect the ultimate usefulness of vaccines that are based on this approach. Although disappointing, this result is not really surprising, since escape from cytotoxic T lymphocyte control has been reported before. It may be predicted, however, that such escape from initial control of replication will increase over time,

which could represent a fundamental challenge to the idea of containing, rather than preventing, HIV infection [12]. Nevertheless, all experimental data suggest that these vaccines slow the course of the disease significantly, which must be considered to be a major step forward compared to the current situation.

Based on other examples, one may predict that the most effective vaccine would be an attenuated virus which replicates in the vaccinated host, but lacks the capacity to induce disease. However, given that such a virus would still have the capacity to integrate into the host's genome and that the possibility of long-term pathogenic effects can never be excluded, such an approach is clearly too dangerous and should not be pursued. It will be important, however, to apply this and other models to understand how protective immunity can be achieved and to use this information to develop vaccination strategies which may succeed in achieving the currently unrealistic goal of sterilizing immunity.

References

- Farmer P, Leandre F, Mukherjee JS, Claude M, Nevil P, Smith-Fawzi MC, Koenig SP, Castro A, Becerra MC, Sachs J, Attaran A, Kim JY: Community-based approaches to HIV treatment in resource-poor settings. Lancet 2001; 358:404–409.
- 2 Phillips A: Will the drugs still work? Transmission of resistant HIV. Nat Med 2001;7:993–994.
- 3 Little SJ: Is transmitted drug resistance in HIV on the rise? It seems so. BMJ 2001;322:1074– 1075.
- 4 Fidler S, Frater J, Clarke J, Weber J: HIV-1 drug resistance in primary infections in the UK. BMJ 2001;323:632–633.
- 5 Malim MH, Emerman M: HIV-1 sequence variation: Drift, shift, and attenuation. Cell 2001;104:469–472.
- 6 Nabel GJ: Challenges and opportunities for development of an AIDS vaccine. Nature 2001;410:1002–1007.

- 7 Barouch DH, Letvin NL: DNA vaccination for HIV-1 and SIV. Intervirology 2000;43:282– 287.
- 8 Barouch DH, Santra S, Schmitz JE, Kuroda MJ, Fu TM, Wagner W, Bilska M, Craiu A, Zheng XX, Krivulka GR, Beaudry K, Lifton MA, Nickerson CE, Trigona WL, Punt K, Freed DC, Guan L, Dubey S, Casimiro D, Simon A, Davies ME, Chastain M, Strom TB, Gelman RS, Montefiori DC, Lewis MG, Emini EA, Shiver JW, Letvin NL: Control of viremia and prevention of clinical AIDS in rhesus monkeys by cytokine-augmented DNA vaccination. Science 2000;290:486–492.
- 9 Amara RR, Villinger F, Altman JD, Lydy SL, O'Neil SP, Staprans SI, Montefiori DC, Xu Y, Herndon JG, Wyatt LS, Candido MA, Kozyr NL, Earl PL, Smith JM, Ma HL, Grimm BD, Hulsey ML, Miller J, McClure HM, McNicholl JM, Moss B, Robinson HL: Control of a mucosal challenge and prevention of AIDS by a multiprotein DNA/MVA vaccine. Science 2001; 292:69–74.

- 10 Mugerwa RD, Kaleebu P, Mugyenyi P, Katongole-Mbidde E, Hom DL, Byaruhanga R, Salata RA, Ellner JJ: First trial of the HIV-1 vaccine in Africa: Ugandan experience. BMJ 2002; 324:226–229.
- 11 Barouch DH, Kunstman J, Kuroda MJ, Schmitz JE, Santra S, Peyerl FW, Krivulka GR, Beaudry K, Lifton MA, Gorgone DA, Montefiori DC, Lewis MG, Wolinsky SM, Letvin NL: Eventual AIDS vaccine failure in a rhesus monkey by viral escape from cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Nature 2002;415:335–339.
- 12 Lifson JD, Martin MA: One step forwards, one step back. Nature 2002;415:272–273.

Intervirology 2002;45:267-274 DOI: 10.1159/000067918

Vaccine Development Using the Simian Immunodeficiency Virus Model for AIDS

Stephen Norley^{a,b} Brigitte Beer^b Doris Binninger-Schinzel^b Thorsten Vogel^b Oliver Hohn^a Erik Seibold^a Dörte Radke^a Corina Cosma^b Reinhard Kurth^{a,b}

^aRobert Koch-Institut, Berlin, ^bPaul-Ehrlich-Institut, Langen, Germany

Key Words

AIDS · Vaccine · Primate · Whole inactivated virus · Lipopeptide · Live attenuated virus

Abstract

Objective: A number of trials in primates using a wide range of putative vaccines based on simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) have been performed and are summarised here. *Methods:* Rhesus macagues and African green monkey (AGMs) were immunised with the test vaccines and challenged with live virus to test the efficacy of the induced or transferred immune responses to protect from infection or disease development. *Results:* In initial studies, successful protection from challenge by whole inactivated virus vaccines was subsequently shown to be mediated by immune responses to human cell rather than viral proteins. Passive transfer of neutralising antibodies failed to protect against challenge. The induction of SIV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) using lipopeptides also failed to protect from infection, and whereas the frequency of post-infection CTLs (as mea-

This article is dedicated to Harald zur Hausen on the occasion of his retirement as head of the German Cancer Research Center (Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum) in Heidelberg with gratitude and appreciation for 20 years of leadership.

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0267\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int sured by limiting dilution CTL assay and MHC/tetramer staining) correlated inversely with the cell-associated virus load, no correlation with the plasma virus load was observed. No immunological correlation of protection could be identified in macaques immunised with live attenuated SIV, with sterilising immunity being induced as early as 10 weeks after infection with the attenuated virus. Similarly, whole inactivated virus and passive IgG transfer failed to protect the natural host AGM species from challenge with apathogenic SIVagm, although live attenuated SIVagm afforded some protection despite the lack of overt vaccine virus replication. Conclusions: 'Traditional' types of vaccine are either ineffective or inappropriate for use in humans. Current efforts are therefore focusing on the rapidly evolving field of genetic vaccines based on vector DNA and recombinant, attenuated viral and bacterial vectors.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

At present, over 40 million people worldwide are living with HIV/AIDS and over 25 million have already succumbed to this modern plague. Although recent advances in the design and production of antiviral drugs have been instrumental in prolonging the life expectancy of most HIV-infected individuals in developed countries, the vast

Dr. Stephen Norley Robert Koch-Institut Nordufer 20 D-13353 Berlin (Germany) Tel. +49 30 4547 2380, Fax +49 30 4547 2914, E-Mail NorleyS@rki.de majority of those infected or at risk of infection have no access to such expensive treatments. With the continuing failure of education and social efforts to stop the spread of HIV, the only real prospect for combatting the pandemic is the development of an inexpensive and effective vaccine.

The early optimism surrounding the prospects for an AIDS vaccine has been tempered by the poor success of vaccine candidates in inducing protective immune responses in animal models or humans. Due to the enormous logistical, political and economical problems associated with an AIDS vaccine trial in human volunteers and the lack of a clear correlate of protective immunity, it is often necessary to address basic questions of vaccine formulation and efficacy in animal models before progressing to clinical trials. By far the most widely used model involves the infection of Asian macaques with one of the pathogenic simian immunodeficiency virus (SIV) isolates available or, more recently, with a simian/human immunodeficiency virus hybrid virus. These models have been instrumental in expanding our knowledge and understanding of the way in which the immunodeficiency viruses interact with the host immune system, leading to its eventual demise, and of the types of immune responses that are able to limit virus replication.

In this paper, we summarise some of the primate vaccine experiments performed at our institutes and discuss the lessons learned from the results.

Materials and Methods

Details of the materials and methods used to generate the data presented and discussed here can be found in previous publications on SIVmac whole inactivated virus [1, 2], SIVagm whole inactivated virus [3], live attenuated SIVmac [4], live attenuated SIVagm [5] and lipopeptide immunogen [6].

Results

SIVmac Whole Inactivated Virus Vaccine

In an initial study performed as part of a European Community Concerted Action and designed to measure the optimal dose and breadth of protection induced by whole inactivated SIVmac immunogen, groups of rhesus macaques were immunised four times with either 0.5 or 0.1 mg of formalin-inactivated, purified SIVmac produced in human T cells. Following intravenous challenge with live, pathogenic SIVmac also grown in human T cells, all four of the high-dose-treated animals and 1 of the 4 low-dose-treated animals were fully protected from infection [2]. No trace of virus replication could be found serologically, by sensitive co-culture of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) or by PCR analysis. Such a high degree of 'sterilising immunity' was obviously very encouraging for the prospects of AIDS vaccine development and, due to concerns about the safety of inactivated virus immunogens, a second experiment was performed to identify the protective component of the immunogen [1]. Taking the approach of starting with material known to be effective (whole virus) and sequentially depleting viral components, four immunogen preparations were prepared: (1) whole virus, (2) outer envelope glycoproteindepleted ('shaved') virus, (3) viral cores and (4) purified Gag protein. Groups of rhesus macaques were repeatedly immunised with these preparations as a prelude to challenge, inducing a range of antiviral immune responses. However, during the course of the study, results from colleagues in the UK were published suggesting that the protection induced by whole virus vaccines was due, at least in part, to immune reactions specific for human cell proteins incorporated into both the immunogen and challenge virus preparations [7]. To address this alarming possibility, half of the animals in each group receiving the sequentially depleted immunogens were challenged with the 'standard' human cell-grown SIVmac stock and the other half with the same virus passaged once through rhesus PBMC (and therefore devoid of human proteins). Although a total of five animals totally resisted infection with the human cell-derived virus, none were protected from the same virus passaged through rhesus cells (table 1). This demonstrated that, indeed, the vigorous protection induced by the whole inactivated virus immunogens was due primarily to xenogeneic rather than antiviral immune responses. As the induction of xenogeneic responses would have little relevance in humans, there would appear to be little chance of a whole inactivated HIV vaccine inducing protective immunity in humans.

To ensure that the failure of the whole inactivated virus vaccines to protect in the absence of xenogeneic reactions was not an artifact of the SIVmac/rhesus macaque model, a vaccine experiment was performed using the African green monkey (AGM)/SIVagm natural host system [3]. AGMs immunised repeatedly with inactivated SIVagm and challenged with the homologous live virus grown in AGM PBMC were not protected despite the induction of strong humoral antibody responses (table 1). The lack of efficacy of whole virus immunogens was therefore proved in two distinct primate/SIV systems.

| | - 0 | (| • • • | • | 1 1 | • .• | | | • | 1 | • | . 1 1 | |
|-------|-------|---------|--------------|--------|-------|--------|-------|----------|----------|-----|---------|----------|----------|
| ISHIC | | narvot | evnerimento | 110100 | whole | 102011 | wated | VITIC | Vaccines | and | naccive | antihodi | trancter |
| lanc | - Sum | mary Or | CADUIIIIUIIU | using | whole | macu | valuu | i vii us | vaccincs | anu | Dassive | annouv | transier |
| | | | · · · · · · | | | | | | | | 1 | | |

| Immunogen/treatment | Dose | Challenge virus | Number of animals protected |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| Whole inactivated SIVmac | $4 \times 0.1 \text{ mg}$ | human cell-derived SIVmac | 1/4 |
| | $4 \times 0.5 \text{ mg}$ | | 4/4 |
| Whole inactivated SIVmac | $4 \times 20 \mu g$ Gag equivalent | human cell-derived SIVmac | 2/2 |
| | | rhesus cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| Envelope-depleted virus | $4 \times 20 \mu g$ Gag equivalent | human cell-derived SIVmac | 2/2 |
| | | rhesus cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| Viral cores | $4 \times 20 \mu g$ Gag equivalent | human cell-derived SIVmac | 1/2 |
| | | rhesus cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| Purified Gag protein | $4 \times 20 \mu g$ Gag equivalent | human cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| | | rhesus cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| Whole inactivated SIVagm | 4×0.35 mg | AGM cell-derived SIVagm | 0/2 |
| SIVmac-specific IgG | 1×65 mg/kg body weight | rhesus cell-derived SIVmac | 0/2 |
| SIVagm-specific IgG | 1×500 mg/kg body weight | AGM cell-derived SIVagm | 0/2 |

Passive Antibody Transfer

Whole inactivated virus immunogens are designed to induce strong antibody responses and are not expected to stimulate the production of antiviral cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs). Although the anti-SIV antibody responses induced by such immunogens were unable to protect against infection, it was possible that antibodies induced by live infection would perform better. Uninfected rhesus macaques were therefore injected with high doses of IgG purified from the plasma of SIVmac-infected monkeys shortly before challenge with the homologous virus [1]. Despite conferring high titres of neutralising antibodies in the blood of recipient animals, none were protected from challenge (table 1). Furthermore, AGMs receiving extremely high amounts of anti-SIVagm IgG from infected animals were also unable to resist challenge (table 1) [3]. These results demonstrated that even antibodies produced in response to infection were ineffective alone against infection.

Live Attenuated Virus Vaccines

Historically, live attenuated virus vaccines have been the most successful in combatting a variety of major viral epidemics such as smallpox and polio. The initial demonstration that attenuated forms of SIV were both apparently harmless and also able to induce 'sterilising' immunity to pathogenic SIV challenge was therefore very promising [8, 9]. However, by its very nature, a live attenuated retroviral vaccine would maintain the ability to integrate into the host genome with unknown long-term effects. For this and other reasons, the use of a live attenuated HIV vaccine in humans was generally considered to be too dangerous. Rather, research focussed on identifying the immunologic mechanisms of protection in the hope that based on this knowledge, it would be possible to stimulate the same mechanisms using a safe vaccine.

As part of a second European Community collaborative project designed to determine the breadth of protection and the mechanisms of protective immunity induced by live attenuated SIV, rhesus macaques were infected with the naturally occurring C8 variant of SIVmac32H, which is primarily attenuated by a four-amino acid deletion in the Nef protein. Experiments using SIVs with large Nef deletions indicated that protective immunity required up to 40 weeks to develop, possibly due to the slow production of high-affinity antibodies [10], although C8 was known to be effective as early as 20 weeks. To facilitate the identification of protective immune responses, the C8-infected monkeys at our institute were therefore challenged with pathogenic SIVmac32H at 10 or 20 weeks [4]. Surprisingly, three of the four animals challenged after 10 weeks were nevertheless fully protected from challenge, as were three of four of those challenged at 20 weeks. Analysis of the antiviral immune responses failed to identify a clear correlate of immunity, however.

As the Nef-defective C8 virus was apparently too efficient at inducing protection, a series of SIVmac BK28 mutants containing large deletions in the *nef* gene were selected [11]. These viruses, when used as candidate vaccines, were clearly more attenuated in vivo than C8, and

Using SIV to Develop AIDS Vaccines



Fig. 1. Cell-associated virus loads in rhesus macaques 'vaccinated' with live attenuated SIVmac mutants (BK28 Δ nef1 and BK28 Δ nef13) and challenged with a full-length pathogenic wild-type SIVmac32H. All animals except Rh 123 showed a second peak in viral load after challenge (shaded area).

challenge was correspondingly performed after 40 weeks. In this case, however, only one of eight immunised macaques resisted challenge (fig. 1).

In both the C8 and the BK28 Δ nef experiments, the balance of protected versus unprotected animals was too biased one way or the other to make clear identification of immune responses associated with protection possible. However, as all 16 animals had been challenged with the same virus stock at the same dose via the same route, it was possible at least to compare the levels of different antiviral antibodies at the time of challenge. Although there was a tendency for protected animals to have higher

titres of binding antibodies, high-affinity binding antibodies and homologous neutralising antibodies, there were cases of protected animals with low titres and unprotected animals with high titres (fig. 2). The generation of these antibodies did not therefore appear to be the sole mechanism of protection.

Taking advantage once again of the AGM/SIVagm natural host system, AGMs were 'immunised' with a highly attenuated Nef-deleted mutant of SIVagm [5]. Replication of this virus was barely detectable in vivo and no immune responses could be detected. However, upon challenge with the wild-type SIVagm, rapid anamnestic



Fig. 2. Comparison of antibody levels and protection on the day of challenge in rhesus macaques previously vaccinated with different live attenuated SIVmac mutants (SIVmac32H C8, BK28 Δ nef1 and BK28 Δ nef13). All animals were challenged with the same dose, route and virus stock of SIVmac32H. Titres in individual animals are shown, along with the median titre for each group (marked by a horizontal bar). Env = Envelope glycoprotein.

immune responses and suppression or prevention of challenge virus replication were observed. Clearly, the mechanisms of protection induced by live attenuated SIVs are critically dependent on the model system used, the degree of attenuation, the 'aggressiveness' of the challenge virus and the timing of the challenge. This makes identification of general immune correlates of protection (if they exist) very difficult.

Synthetic Peptide Vaccines

The failure of whole inactivated virus vaccines or passive antibody transfer and the lack of correlation between antibody levels and protection in Δ nef-immunised macaques indicated that protection requires the stimulation of cellular effector mechanisms, in particular the CTL response, in addition to antibodies. CTLs are generally induced as a result of active infection (e.g. attenuated viruses or live recombinant vectors), although modern technologies such as the use of naked DNA or virus-like particles are overcoming these restrictions. One of the safer methods for inducing CTLs is to use modified synthetic peptides corresponding to known CTL epitopes in the viral proteins [12]. Peptides based on SIVmac CTL epitopes were therefore synthesised, modified by addition of a tripalmitic acid tail ('lipopeptide'), and used to immunise macaques [6]. In addition, multiple antigenic peptides corresponding to neutralising antibody epitopes were used to induce humoral effector mechanisms. As, at the time of the experiment, only one macaque MHC molecule (MaMu-A*01) with a matching SIV CTL epitope (p11C) was known [13], all animals were prescreened and selected for this haplotype.

The peptide immunogens were indeed found to induce antiviral CTLs and neutralising antibodies, albeit at low levels. Although upon challenge with pathogenic SIVmac, no animal remained virus free, a significant anamnestic CTL response was observed with some animals having p11C-specific CTLp accounting for as many as 1 in 20 of their total circulating PBMC, as measured by limiting dilution CTL assay. These extraordinarily high frequencies of CTLs called into question the accuracy or specificity of the assay used. However, with the advent of tetramer technology, it was possible to confirm these data by directly staining and counting p11C-specific CTLs via FACS, with up to 25% of all circulating CD8+ cells binding the tetrameric complexes (fig. 3).

Although the animals were not protected from infection, it was interesting to note that the strength of the CTL response following challenge correlated well with the suppression of the number of infected cells in circulation. However, when compared with the level of viraemia, i.e. the number of SIV RNA copies per millilitre of plasma,

Using SIV to Develop AIDS Vaccines



Fig. 3. FACS analyses of PBMC taken 3 weeks after challenge for binding of the Mamu-A*01/p11C,C \rightarrow M tetramer. Figures within the selected areas refer to the percentage of CD3+CD8+ cells staining positive for the tetramers.

no such correlation was seen [6]. Indeed, the two control animals that had not been immunised appeared to have lower plasma viral loads than the immunised macaques. This suggests that whereas immunisation with lipopeptides corresponding to single CTL epitopes had primed the immune response to react to and eliminate infected cells in circulation, these CTLs were unable to suppress virus replication in general. Indeed, focussing on single epitopes may have compromised the immune system's ability to react effectively to multiple epitopes in different viral proteins.

Genetic Vaccines

Much of the current effort to develop AIDS vaccines focuses on the use of 'genetic vaccines' alone or in combination. The simplest and most versatile form of genetic vaccine consists of purified plasmid DNA coding for the virus gene or gene fragment of interest under the control of a strong eukaryotic promoter. Immunisation with such constructs leads to stimulation of both humoral and cellular immune responses similar to those induced by infection itself but without the associated dangers [14]. Although rapid progress has been made in improving the immunogenicity of such 'naked DNA' vaccines, the best results are often achieved by using DNA to prime the immune response followed by administration of the same genes expressed in recombinant vectors. For example, our group is currently performing a study as part of a European Union-funded collaborative project to assess the immunogenicity and protective efficacy of multigenic combination genetic vaccines. In our part of the study, macaques have been primed by plasmid DNA corresponding to the SIV gag, pol, env, tat, rev and nef genes and will receive one boost with the same genes expressed in replication-defective recombinant modified vaccinia Ankara constructs [15]. After a further two immunisations with all genes expressed by replication-defective recombinant Semliki Forest virus [16], the macaques will receive a mucosal challenge with SIV. Pooling the data of all participant laboratories should enable the identification of the optimal immunisation strategy and the correlate(s) of protective immunity.

Discussion

The vaccine experiments summarised here describe advances and setbacks experienced in our own laboratory but in many ways are representative of progress in the field of AIDS vaccine development in general. The early

Using SIV to Develop AIDS Vaccines

optimism stimulated by the cloning, expression and immunogenicity of HIV proteins [17] was dampened by the relatively poor capacity to protect in animal models or even in human volunteers. As described here, classical vaccines such as whole inactivated virus or live attenuated virus, while conferring a high degree of protection in the macaque model, were either ineffective in a more relevant setting or potentially too dangerous to be used in humans. Indeed, the cautions taken the live attenuated vaccines were shown to have been justified by the observation that the vaccine viruses themselves can induce rapid AIDS development in newborn macagues [18] and eventually even in adult monkeys [19]. Nevertheless, protection by such vaccines is prolonged and vigorous, and identification of the immune correlates remains a high priority in many groups, including our own.

The recent advances made in the use of genetic vaccines to stimulate both arms of the immune response have rekindled the early optimism concerning the prospects for an AIDS vaccine. A first-generation vaccine is now expected to 'only' suppress viral loads to the point that prevents (or at least delays) disease development and renders the vaccinee non-infectious for others. Such a vaccine would have an enormous impact on the spread of HIV and the lives of those at risk of infection. Different types of genetic vaccines are becoming increasingly successful in achieving this degree of vaccine effect in the animal model, and clinical trials using corresponding HIV immunogens are planned or are already in progress. We can only hope that such trials prove to be successful and that an effective AIDS vaccine will become available to those most in need in the not too distant future.

Acknowledgements

The work presented here has been supported in part by contract No. 1506/TG04 to R.K. from the German Federal Ministry of Health and by EU contracts QLK2-1999-00871 and BMH4-CT97-2055 to S.N. We would also like to thank the many colleagues who have provided excellent technical and logistical assistance over the years.

References

- Norley S, Beer B, Konig H, Jensen F, Kurth R: SIVmac vaccine studies using whole inactivated virus antigen sequentially depleted of viral proteins. J Med Primatol 1998;27:184– 192.
- 2 Hartung S, Norley SG, Ennen J, Cichutek K, Plesker R, Kurth R: Vaccine protection against SIVmac infection by high- but not low-dose whole inactivated virus immunogen. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 1992;5:461–468.
- 3 Siegel F, Kurth R, Norley S: Neither whole inactivated virus immunogen nor passive immunoglobulin transfer protect against SIVagm infection in the African green monkey natural host. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr Hum Retrovirol 1995;8:217–226.
- 4 Norley S, Beer B, Binninger-Schinzel D, Cosma C, Kurth R: Protection from pathogenic SIVmac challenge following short-term infection with a nef-deficient attenuated virus. Virology 1996;219:195–205.
- 5 Beer B, Baier M, zur Megede J, Norley S, Kurth R: Vaccine effect using a live attenuated nefdeficient simian immunodeficiency virus of African green monkeys in the absence of detectable vaccine virus replication in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:4062–4067.
- 6 Vogel TU, Beer BE, zur Megede J, Ihlenfeldt HG, Jung G, Holzammer S, Watkins DI, Altman JD, Kurth R, Norley S: Induction of antisimian immunodeficiency virus cellular and humoral immune responses in rhesus macaques by peptide immunogens: Correlation of CTL activity and reduction of cell-associated but not plasma virus load following challenge. J Gen Virol 2002;83:81–91.

- 7 Stott EJ, Kitchin PA, Page M, Flanagan B, Taffs LF, Chan WL, Mills KHG, Silvera P, Roders A: Anti-cell antibody in macaques. Nature 1991;353:393.
- 8 Kestler HW, Ringler DJ, Mori K, Panicali DL, Sehgal PK, Daniel MD, Desrosiers RC: Importance of the nef gene for maintenance of high virus loads and for development of AIDS. Cell 1991;65:651–662.
- 9 Daniel MD, Kirchhoff F, Czajak SC, Sehgal PK, Desrosiers RC: Protective effects of a live attenuated SIV vaccine with a deletion in the nef gene. Science 1992;258:1938–1941.
- 10 Cole KS, Rowles JL, Jagerski BA, Murphey-Corb M, Unangst T, Clements JE, Robinson J, Wyand MS, Desrosiers RC, Montelaro RC: Evolution of envelope-specific antibody responses in monkeys experimentally infected or immunized with simian immunodeficiency virus and its association with the development of protective immunity. J Virol 1997;71:5069– 5079.
- 11 Binninger D, Ennen J, Bonn D, Norley SG, Kurth R: Mutational analysis of the simian immunodeficiency virus SIVmac nef gene. J Virol 1991;65:5237–5243.
- 12 Deres K, Schild H, Wiesmueller KH, Jung G, Rammensee HG: In vivo priming of virus-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes with synthetic lipopeptide vaccine. Nature 1989;342:561– 564.
- 13 Miller MD, Yamamoto H, Hughes AL, Watkins DI, Letvin NL: Definition of an epitope and MHC class I molecule recognized by gagspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in SIVmacinfected rhesus monkeys. J Immunol 1991;147: 320–329.

- 14 Fynan EF, Webster RG, Fuller DH, Haynes JR, Santoro JC, Robinson HL: DNA vaccines: Protective immunization by parenteral, mucosal, and gene-gun inoculations. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1993;90:11478–11482.
- 15 Sutter G, Moss B: Nonreplicating vaccinia vector efficiently expresses recombinant genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89:10847– 10851.
- 16 Berglund P, Quesada-Rolander M, Putkonen P, Biberfeld G, Thorstensson R, Liljestrom P: Outcome of immunization of cynomolgus monkeys with recombinant Semliki Forest virus encoding human immunodeficiency virus type 1 envelope protein and challenge with a high dose of SHIV-4 virus. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1997;13:1487–1495.
- 17 Arthur LO, Pyle SW, Nara PL, Bess JW, Gonda MA, Kelliher JC, Gilden RV, Robey WG, Bolognesi DP, Gallo RC, et al: Serological responses in chimpanzees inoculated with human immunodeficiency virus glycoprotein (gp120) subunit vaccine. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1987;84:8583–8587.
- 18 Baba TW, Jeong YS, Pennick D, Bronson R, Greene MF, Ruprecht RM: Pathogenicity of live, attenuated SIV after mucosal infection of neonatal macaques. Science 1995;267:1820– 1825.
- 19 Baba TW, Liska V, Khimani AH, Ray NB, Dailey PJ, Penninck D, Bronson R, Greene MF, McClure HM, Martin LN, Ruprecht RM: Live attenuated, multiply deleted simian immunodeficiency virus causes AIDS in infant and adult macaques. Nat Med 1999;5:194– 203.

Intervirology 2002;45:275–286 DOI: 10.1159/000067919

Impact of Codon Usage Modification on T Cell Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV-1 Gag-Specific DNA Vaccines

Alexandra Bojak Jens Wild Ludwig Deml Ralf Wagner

Institute of Medical Microbiology, University of Regensburg, Regensburg, Germany

Key Words

$$\label{eq:HIV} \begin{split} \text{HIV} \cdot \text{Synthetic genes} \cdot \text{DNA vaccine} \cdot \text{T cell} \\ \text{immunogenicity} \end{split}$$

Abstract

In this study, we analyzed the in vitro expression, potency and longevity of immune responses induced in a Balb/ c mouse model by a synthetic HIV-1 gag gene exhibiting a codon usage that was adapted to that of highly expressed mammalian genes (syngag). In contrast to a vector containing the wild-type (wt) gag gene, the syngag construct enabled highly efficient Gag expression in both human and rodent cell lines in complete absence of Rev and Rev-responsive element. Immunization of Balb/c mice with the wt gag plasmid DNA induced only weak and inconsistent humoral immune responses. Mice vaccinated by syngag but not wt gag developed substantial and highly consistent Gag-specific antibody titers showing a clear T helper 1 polarization even with low doses of DNA. Moreover, vaccinated mice developed a strong Gag-specific cellular immune response, including cytotoxic T cells, which was not observed in wt gag-immunized animals. Both humoral and cellular immunity were efficient and lasted for more than 20 weeks. Furthermore, the induction of the humoral as well as the

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0275\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int cellular immune response was independent of the immunization route (intramuscular or subcutaneous). These results clearly show the advantages of codonoptimized genes with respect to the expression and immunogenicity of plasmid DNA constructs, making them promising vaccine candidates for further studies.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Infection of humans by human immunodeficiency virus type-1 (HIV-1) leads in the vast majority of reported cases to immunodeficiency, severe clinical symptoms and death often within less than 10 years. The development of a prophylactic and therapeutic HIV-1 vaccine therefore remains one of the most desirable objectives of research aimed at controlling the current AIDS epidemic. Abundant clinical evidence suggests that, besides neutralizing antibodies, other effectors of the cellular immune response such as cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) may be of importance in controlling HIV-1 infection [1–3].

A strong antiviral cytotoxic activity has been shown to correlate temporally with the clearance of viremia in primary infection [3–6], and it could be further demonstrated that Gag-specific T helper cell and CTL responses

Ralf Wagner Institute of Medical Microbiology, Klinikum Regensburg Franz-Josef-Strauss-Allee 11, D-93053 Regensburg (Germany) Tel. +49 941 944 6452, Fax +49 941 944 6402 E-Mail ralf.wagner@klinik.uni-regensburg.de correlates inversely with the viral load [7, 8]. In addition, a decline of Gag-specific CTL precursors was shown to coincide with a drop in CD4, increasing viral load and disease progression in chronically infected persons [9]. Furthermore, evidence from studies in long-term nonprogressing individuals suggests that the quality of epitope recognition by the individual's CTLs may account for a long-lasting control of viral replication [10, 11]. In this regard, Gag-derived immunogens seem to be very useful for vaccine development and immunotherapeutic interventions because the protein is relatively conserved among diverse HIV-1 subtypes, and broad cross-clade CTL recognition directed against Gag-specific targets has been documented [12–14].

Over the last decade, the direct injection of naked DNA has been shown to be a promising approach to inducing humoral and cellular immune responses [15-17]. There seem to be potential advantages of using plasmid DNA for immunization compared to traditional protein vaccination due to the induction of strong T helper 1 (Th1) and CTL responses, prolonged antigen expression and long-lived effector activity [17-19]. Plasmids expressing nonoptimized HIV-1-derived genes have recently been shown to induce humoral and cellular immune responses in rodents [16, 18], nonhuman primates [20-22] and in phase I studies in humans [23, 24]. However, in most of these studies, both the titers of induced antibodies and specific CTLs were transient and low. Several factors are suggested to be essential for the efficacy of a DNA expression vector, e.g. the quality of foreign gene expression unit, composition of DNA backbone and gene-regulatory elements [17]. It has also been shown that the route and method of immunization can be important modulators of DNA vaccination [17, 25].

We recently reported the construction of a synthetic *gag* gene exhibiting a codon usage that was adapted to that of highly expressed mammalian genes. This resulted in a Rev/Rev-responsive element (RRE)-independent, stable and increased expression of Gag and the induction of strong humoral and cellular immune responses following DNA immunization of mice compared to wild-type (wt) gag constructs [26–28].

In the present study, we compared the expression rates and immunogenicity of vectors containing a wt or a codon-optimized *gag* gene in different cell lines of mammalian origin. Furthermore, we characterized more closely the induction of immune responses by the superior synthetic DNA vaccine construct with respect to (1) dose dependency, (2) influence of the route of delivery and (3) the longevity of humoral and cellular immunity.

Materials and Methods

Plasmid Constructs

The construction and cloning of UTRgagRRE and the p-syngag plasmid has been described previously in detail [26]. The plasmid pCsRevsg25-GFP (termed p-Rev in this report), expressing Rev fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP), was kindly provided by Dr. Marcus Neumann (GSF, Munich, Germany).

Virus-Like Particles and Synthetic Peptides

Virus-like particles (VLPs) were produced as described in detail previously [29]. The p24(CA)-derived 9-mer peptide A9I (AMQML-KETI) and the 10-mer peptides E10F (EPFRDYVDRF) and R10I (RGPGRAFVTI) were purchased from Toplab (Martinsried, Germany). Recombinant p24 was purchased from Mikrogen (Munich, Germany).

Cell Lines and Transfections

The H-2^d mastocytoma cell line P815 (TIB 64) and the H-2^d Blymphoma cell line A20 (TIB 208) were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection (Rockville, Md., USA). P815 and A20 cells were propagated in RPMI medium supplemented with 5% (v/v) heat-inactivated FCS, 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. CHO (Chinese hamster ovary cells), H1299 (human lung carcinoma cells) and C2C12 (mouse muscle cells) were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (Gibco BRL, Eggenstein, Germany) supplemented with 10% FCS, 2 mM *L*-glutamine, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 μ g/ml streptomycin. All mammalian cell lines were maintained in a humidified atmosphere with 7% CO₂ at 37°.

The cells were transfected by the calcium coprecipitation technique as described previously [26]. Briefly, 1.5×10^6 C2C12 cells or 3×10^6 H1299 or baby hamster kidney cells were seeded on 100mm-diameter culture dishes, incubated for 24 h and then transfected with 45 µg of different Nucleobond AX (Macherey-Nagel, Düren, Germany) purified plasmid constructs. Sixteen hours after transfection, the cell culture supernatant was replaced by fresh medium. Cells and supernatants were harvested 48 h after transfection.

Immunoblotting and p24 Capture Assay

Total cell lysates were prepared 48 h after transfection using a triple-detergent buffer system (RIPA) which was supplemented with a cocktail of protease inhibitors (CompleteTM Mini Kit, Boehringer Mannheim GmbH, Mannheim, Germany). Immunoblotting and p24 capture assay were performed as described previously in detail [27].

Vaccination of Mice

Female Balb/c mice (Charles River, Sulzfeld, Germany) were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions and injected at the age of 8-12 weeks. Mice were immunized with the indicated plasmid or VLP concentrations by intramuscular saline injection with 50 µl each in both tibialis anterior muscles or by subcutaneous saline injection with 200 µl at the base of tail, followed by indicated booster immunizations with the same doses.

Evaluation of Antibody Responses

Serum was recovered from mice by tail bleeding at the indicated time points after the booster injection. Anti-Gag antibodies were quantified by an end-point dilution ELISA assay (in duplicate) on samples from individual animals as described before [27]. The reported titers correspond to the reciprocal of the highest serum dilution that gave an optical density value three times higher than the corresponding dilution of a nonimmune system.

Determination of Cytokines in Supernatants

Spleens were recovered under sterile conditions from mice 5 days after the booster injection and the obtained splenic single-cell suspensions were seeded at 2×10^6 cells/ml in RPMI-1640 medium containing 10% heat-inactivated FCS and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco), in the presence or absence of Gag protein (10 µg/ml). After 48 h of culture, cytokine levels were determined from the precleared supernatant using a commercial ELISA assay following the manufacturer's instructions (Becton Dickinson).

Intracellular IFN-y Staining and FACS Analysis

IFN- γ expression by CD8+ cells was detected by intracellular staining. Splenocytes were stimulated with $10 \,\mu M$ peptide in RPMI medium or medium alone as negative control for 6 h including brefeldin A (5 mg/ml) for the whole incubation time. Cells were harvested and transferred to U-bottomed microtiter plates (Greiner, Frickenhausen, Germany), washed twice in FACS buffer I [PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 1% FCS, 0.1% (w/v) sodium azide], incubated (10 min, 4°) with purified 2.4G2 antibody to block nonspecific binding of antibody to receptors for the invariant region of immunoglobulin (FcR), washed with staining buffer, surface stained with anti-CD4-FITC (catalog No. 553047, BD, Heidelberg, Germany) and anti-CD8-APC (catalog No. 553035, BD), washed twice with FACS buffer II [PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 0.1% (w/v) sodium azide], resuspended in 100 µl of Cytofix/Cytoperm (4% paraformaldehyde, 1% saponin) solution for 20 min at 4° and washed twice in 200 µl of Perm/Wash (PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 0.1% saponin) solution. Fixed and permeabilized cells were resuspended in 100 µl of Perm/Wash solution and stained for 25 min at 4° with anti-IFN-y-phycoerythrin (catalog No. 554412, BD) or the corresponding phycoerythrin-conjugated rat IgG1 isotype control antibody. Cells were washed twice in Perm/Wash solution and suspended in FACS buffer I. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using a FACS Calibur and CellQuest software (BD). 3×10^4 CD8+ lymphocytes were analyzed.

ELISPOT Assay

96-well multiscreen MAHA-S45 plates (Millipore, Eschborn, Germany) were coated with 50 μ l of anti-mouse IFN- γ antibody (catalog No. 554431, BD, Heidelberg, Germany; 1/500 PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺). After incubation overnight at 4°, wells were washed 6 times with blocking buffer (PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 10% FCS) and blocked with 200 µl of blocking buffer for 1 h at 37°. 100 µl containing 106 isolated spleen cells in RPMI medium and 100 µl of RPMI with 0.2 µg peptide or medium as negative control. After 24 h of incubation at 37°, plates were washed 6 times with washing buffer (PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 0.05% Tween 20). Then, wells were incubated with 100 μl of biotinylated anti-mouse IFN-γ antibody (catalog No. 554410, BD; 1/500 in PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 0.05% Tween 20, 10% FCS) at room temperature for 2 h and subsequently washed 6 times with washing buffer. Then, 100 µl of streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (catalog No. 1089161, Roche, Mannheim, Germany; 1/5,000 in PBS without Mg²⁺/Ca²⁺, 0.05% Tween 20, 10% FCS) was added and incubated for 1 h at room temperature. Wells were washed 10 times with washing buffer. 50 µl of nitro-blue-tetrazolium chloride/5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate (NBT/BCIP) sub-



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the wt and synthetic HIV *gag*containing expression plasmids used. The wt gag reading frame was fused to the 5' UTR containing a splice donor and the RRE containing a 3' splice acceptor. LTR = Long terminal repeats.

strate (catalog No. 49008620, Roche; diluted according to manufacturer's instructions) were added to each well. After incubation at room temperature for about 15–30 min, the reaction was stopped by discarding the substrate solution and washing the plates under running water. The plates were then air dried and colored spots were counted.

CTL Assay

CTL assay by measuring ⁵¹Cr release has been described before [27]. The percentage specific release was calculated as [(experimental release – spontaneous release)/(total release – spontaneous release)] \times 100. Total counts were measured after adding 1% Triton X-100 to the labeled target cells.

Results

Codon Usage Optimization Enables Increased and Rev-Independent HIV-1 Gag Expression in vitro

The construction of the syngag expression vector psyngag and the wt gag expression vector UTRwtgagRRE has been previously described in detail [26] (fig. 1). As already reported [27], Gag expression from wt gag without any cis-acting elements is extremely low or even undetectable after transfection of mammalian cells. By adding the authentic untranslated region (UTR) localized at the 5' end of the HIV-1 gag gene, the resulting UTRwtgagRRE gene was expressed in human H1299, mouse C2C12 and hamster CHO cells (fig. 2). Cotransfection with the Rev expression vector p-Rev increased the Gag expression 7-fold in H1299 cells but had no significant influence on the expression in the rodent cell lines, sug**Fig. 2.** Expression of HIV gag in different mammalian cell lines. H1299, C2C12 and CHO cells were transiently transfected by calcium phosphate precipitation with (1) pCDNA3, (2) UTRwtgagRRE, (3) UTRwtgagRRE + pRev and (4) syngag. Cells were harvested after 48 h, then 100 µg of total protein of cell lysates were separated by 12.5% SDS-PAGE and analyzed by immunoblotting with a p24-specific antibody. The content of Gag protein in the cell lysates was measured by a p24 capture ELISA using purified Gag for standardization. Bars are the mean of triplicate determinations.





Fig. 3. Humoral immune response after intramuscular immunization of Balb/c mice. Mice were immunized and boostered with $20 \ \mu$ g (**A**) or $100 \ \mu$ g (**B**) of total plasmid DNA of (1) pCDNA33, (2) UTRwtgagRRE + pCDNA33 (2:1), (3) UTRwtgagRRE + pRev (2:1) and (4) syngag + pCDNA33 (2:1). Mice were boostered at weeks 3 and 6 and bled 1 week after the initial and booster immunizations. Each symbol represents the value of one mouse for anti-Gag-specific immunoglobulin antibodies as determined by end-point dilution ELISA assay. At the right, IgG1 to IgG2a ratios 1 week after the second booster immunization are shown. Bars represent the group mean (n = 5) for anti-Gag titers.

Bojak/Wild/Deml/Wagner

Intervirology 2002;45:275-286



Fig. 4. Dose dependency of the humoral immune response after immunization with syngag plasmid DNA. Balb/c mice were intramuscularly immunized and boostered twice at weeks 3 and 6 with the indicated dose of syngag plasmid DNA. Anti-Gag-specific immunoglobulin titers (**A**) and IgG1 and IgG2a titers (**B**) were determined at weeks 2, 5 and 7. Bars in **B** represent the group mean (n = 5) for anti-Gag titers.

gesting that cell type-specific factors may contribute to the observed Rev responsiveness of UTRwtgagRRE. The highest expression rates were observed after transfection with the codon-optimized syngag vector in all three cell lines, with a 3- to 9-fold higher expression yield compared to the UTRwtgagRRE construct without Rev and a similar ratio in H1299 cells compared to the UTRwtgagRRE plus Rev. This strongly suggests that the adaptation of the gag codon usage to that of highly expressed mammalian genes allows highly efficient Gag expression independent of Rev and cis-acting regulatory elements.

Syngag Plasmid DNA Induces an Increased Humoral Immune Response

To compare the capacity of the different constructs to induce a humoral immune response, we immunized 5 Balb/c mice intramuscularly with 20 or 100 µg of a mix of p-UTRwtgagRRE/pCDNA3, p-UTRwtgagRRE/p-Rev or p-syngag/pCDNA3 and boosted them twice, at weeks 3 and 6. A control group was immunized with equal amounts of pCDNA3 plasmid DNA. Total immunoglobulin and IgG1/IgG2a titers were determined by ELISA (fig. 3). Vaccination with 20 µg of p-UTRwtgagRRE induced only low antibody titers, while using a dose of 100 µg increased the titers significantly, but some mice failed to develop an immune response. The coadministration of p-UTRwtgag and p-Rev neither induced higher nor more consistent antibody titers within the tested group of mice than p-UTRwtgagRRE alone. This finding is in agreement with our previous observation from expression studies (fig. 2), suggesting that Rev/RRE is not functional in rodent cells. Conversely, syngag plasmid DNA induced a substantial and in all mice comparable Gag-specific antibody response even with the low dose of 20 µg already after the initial immunization. Gag-specific antibody responses of all mice, irrespectively of the plasmid construct used, showed a clear Th1 polarization characterized by high titers of IgG2a, resulting in an IgG1/ IgG2a ratio <1. No Gag-specific antibody response was detectable at any time point in the sera of control mice.

To evaluate the minimal dose inducing a substantial Gag-specific antibody response and to clarify the question of whether the antibody titers can be further enhanced by escalating plasmid DNA amounts, 5 Balb/c mice were immunized intramuscularly with 20, 50, 100 or 180 µg of syngag plasmid DNA and boosted twice at weeks 3 and 6. Nonimmunized mice were used as controls. Total immunoglobulin and IgG1/IgG2a titers were determined by ELISA (fig. 4). Almost all mice showed substantial Gagspecific humoral immune responses 1 week after the initial immunization; after the first booster immunization, all mice within each group showed a consistent increase in Gag-specific antibody titers, whereas a second booster immunization revealed only a weak impact on overall Gag-specific titers. The first booster immunization increased the induced antibody titers by 50- to 100-fold, the second boost only 2- to 5-fold, underlining the necessity of at least one booster immunization to obtain substantial antibody titers. Optimal titers were obtained using DNA doses of 50–100 µg, reaching a plateau at \geq 100 µg. Irrespective of the DNA dose used and the time point of bleeding, all mice showed a clearly Th1-polarized immune response (fig. 4).

Codon Usage Optimization Enables the Induction of Cellular Immune Responses

Balb/c mice were immunized and boostered twice intramuscularly with 100 µg of p-syngag or UTRwtgag-RRE/Rev plasmid DNA. One week after the last booster immunization, splenic cells were prepared, specifically restimulated in a 5-day mixed lymphocyte tumor cell culture and tested for cytotoxic activity in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay. The p24(CA)-derived 9-mer and 10-mer peptides A9I (AMQMLKETI) and E10F (EPFRDYV-DRF), known to be murine H-2^d-restricted p24 CTL epitopes [30, 31], were used for stimulation and readout; the 10-mer peptide R10I (RGPGRAFVTI), known to be a murine H-2^d-restricted V3/IIIB-specific CTL epitope [32, 33], was used as negative control peptide. In p-syngagimmunized mice, substantial numbers of Gag-specific CTLs were detectable after stimulation with the A9I peptide and, at a slightly reduced extent, after stimulation with E10F (fig. 5A). No CTL priming was observed using the V3/IIIB control peptide R10I, ensuring the specificity of the assay. In contrast, the mixture of the UTRwtgagRRE and Rev constructs did not induce a Gag-specific cellular immune response, thus underlining the superiority of the codon-optimized gene. Accordingly, in attempts to further characterize the immunogenicity of Gag-based DNA vaccines, we focussed on codon-optimized p-syngag. The induction of a strong cellular immune response was then characterized in more detail by measuring the specific induction of IFN- γ using different assays. For that purpose, spleen cells were stimulated with VLPs (1 or 5 µg), and supernatants were harvested and analyzed for their IFN-γ content after 48 h (fig. 5B). Stimulation with VLPs induced dramatically high IFN-y titers (up to 17,000 pg/ml) with a relatively high background in pCDNA3-immunized mice, probably due to per se mitogenic properties of the VLPs. A very clear result without any background was seen after a more specific stimulation with the described panel of peptides; A9I again stimulated better than the weaker E10F epitope, whereas the control peptide R10I did not induce any IFN- γ at all. To assess Th2 differentiation, ELISA was performed from aliquots of the same cell culture supernatants to quantify the concentrations of secreted IL-4 and IL-5. In all groups of immunized and nonimmunized mice, no IL-4 or IL-5 secretion was detectable from the supernatants of specifically restimulated as well as nonstimulated splenocytes (data not shown). To quantify the number of IFN-γ-producing cells, an ELISPOT assay was performed; spleen cells were stimulated for 24 h with the most potent A9I peptide and thereafter analyzed. Significant Gag-specific numbers of IFN- γ spots were only detectable in the case of stimulated p-syngag-immunized mice (fig. 5C). Spleen cells were furthermore analyzed to quantify the number of CD8+ lymphocytes producing IFN- γ and were therefore stimulated with the A9I peptide for 6 h in the presence of brefeldin A, surface stained for CD4 and CD8 and thereafter labeled for intracellular IFN-y. Analysis of the CD8+ lymphocytes showed a strong Gag-specific IFN-y induction in p-syngag-immunized mice compared to control mice vaccinated with empty pCDNA3 vector (fig. 5D). There was no increase in IFN- γ production by other CD8+ cells detectable, underlining the specificity of the peptide stimulation.

Intramuscular and Subcutaneous Immunization Induce Comparable Immune Responses

Due to the fact that the route and method of DNA delivery are discussed as being important parameters concerning the aimed optimization of DNA vaccination protocols, we compared intramuscular and subcutaneous injection of p-syngag. Mice immunized and boostered twice developed substantial Gag-specific antibody titers with a clear Th1 polarization irrespective of the immunization route used (fig. 6). Nevertheless, subcutaneous immunization showed a delayed increase in antibody induction. However, after the second boost, there was no significant difference between the titers of intramuscularly and subcutaneously vaccinated mice. Furthermore, by both immunization routes, a substantial and comparable CTL activity was detectable in spleen cells isolated 1 week after



Fig. 5. Cellular immune responses after immunization with syngag plasmid DNA. Balb/c mice were intramuscularly immunized and boostered with 100 µg of syngag or UTRwtgagRRE/Rev plasmid DNA. One week after the second booster, immunized spleen cells were isolated and tested for Gag-specific CTL activity (**A**) and IFN- γ production (**B–D**). **A** Spleen cells were stimulated with A20 cells pulsed with the indicated peptide (irradiated with 20,000 rads) for 5 days. Cytotoxic response was read against P815 cells pulsed with the indicated peptide and untreated P815-negative target cells in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay. The data shown are the mean values of triplicate cultures with a standard error less than 15% of the mean. E/T = Effector-target ratio. **B** Spleen cells of mice immunized with VLPs

or the indicated peptides; unstimulated spleen cells served as negative controls. After 48 h, supernatants were harvested and tested for IFN- γ by a commercial ELISA. The bars represent the mean values of triplicate cultures. **C** Spleen cells of mice immunized with pCDNA3 or with syngag plasmid DNA were stimulated with 10 μ M A9I peptide. After 24 h, IFN- γ production was determined using a commercial ELISPOT assay. The bars represent the mean values of triplicate cultures. **D** Spleen cells of mice immunized with pCDNA3 or with syngag plasmid DNA were stimulated with pCDNA3 or with syngag plasmid DNA were stimulated with pCDNA3 or with syngag plasmid DNA were stimulated with pCDNA3 or with syngag plasmid DNA were stimulated with 10 μ M A9I peptide for 6 h in the presence of brefeldin A; spleen cells not stimulated with peptide served as negative controls. Cells were surface stained for CD8 and intracellularly stained for IFN- γ production.

Impact of Codon Modification on Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV DNA Vaccines





the second booster immunization and tested in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay against A9I peptide-pulsed P815 cells (fig. 7). Conversely, IFN- γ release into cell supernatant after 48 h of stimulation with VLPs (5 or 10 µg) or recombinant p24 protein revealed a significant reduction in the case of subcutaneous immunized mice compared to intramuscular injection. Thus, aside from cytokine release, both immunization routes induce comparable humoral and cellular immune responses.

Immune Responses Induced by p-syngag Are Long Lasting

In order to analyze the progression and longevity of humoral and cellular immune responses, we immunized Balb/c mice with 50 µg of syngag DNA plasmid and boosted them twice. At weeks 2, 5, 7 and 20 after the initial immunization, mice were bled and tested for Gag-specific immunoglobulins. Antibody titers reached their maximum at week 7 and decreased only slightly until week 20 (fig. 8A). Throughout the whole observation period, the antibody response showed a clear Th1 polarization (fig. 8B). Spleen cells isolated at weeks 7 and 20 after the initial plasmid DNA injection and tested in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay against A9I peptide-pulsed P815 cells showed substantial CTL activity (fig. 8C). The lysis capability was reduced only slightly by week 20 compared to week 7. These results clearly demonstrate that vaccination with p-syngag efficiently induces long-lasting humoral as well as cellular immune responses in mice.

Discussion

As we and others were able to show previously, the use of wt gag DNA plasmids for immunization studies is highly limited both for reasons of safety and efficacy. This is primarily due to the Rev/RRE dependency of late HIV-1 gene expression including the wt gag gene. In the absence of Rev, wt gag mRNA is unstable and characterized by a short nuclear half-life, both of which account for a weak or even undetectable Gag expression. Accordingly, previous attempts to use wt gag for plasmid DNA vaccination induced only insufficient or no immunogenicity. We were recently able to show that the Rev-dependent expression from the wt gag gene is the result of a concerted action of multiple cis-acting sequences, involving intragenic AUrich sequence clusters and the 5' UTR including the major splice donor site as well as a 3' RRE [26]. Although the coadministration of p-Rev with UTRwtgagRRE can enhance the expression of Gag in human H1299 cells, there



Fig. 7. Influence of immunization route on the Gag-specific cellular immune response. Balb/c mice were immunized with 50 µg of syngag plasmid DNA either by intramuscular (i.m.) or subcutaneous (s.c.) immunization and boostered twice at weeks 3 and 6. One week after the second booster immunization, spleen cells were isolated and tested for Gag-specific CTL activity (**A**) and IFN- γ production (**B**). **A** Spleen cells of immunized and nonimmunized mice were stimulated with A20 cells pulsed with the A9I peptide (irradiated with 20,000 rads) for 5 days. Cytotoxic response was read against P815 cells

pulsed with A9I peptide and untreated P815-negative target cells in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay. Data shown are the mean values of triplicate cultures with a standard error less than 15% of the mean. E/T = Effector-target ratio. **B** Spleen cells of immunized and nonimmunized mice were stimulated with VLPs or recombinant p24; unstimulated spleen cells served as negative controls. After 48 h, supernatants were harvested and tested for IFN- γ by a commercial ELISA. The bars represent the mean values of triplicate cultures.



Fig. 8. Kinetics and strength of humoral and cellular immune response induced by intramuscular immunization with syngag plasmid DNA. Balb/c mice were immunized with 50 μ g of syngag plasmid DNA and boostered twice at weeks 3 and 6 (time points indicated by arrows). Anti-Gag-specific immunoglobulin titers (**A**) and IgG1 and IgG2a titers (**B**) of immunized and nonimmunized mice were determined at the indicated time points. Symbols and bars represent the group mean (n = 5) for anti-Gag titers. p.i. = Postimmu-

nization. **C** Spleen cells of immunized and nonimmunized mice were stimulated with A20 cells pulsed with the A9I peptide (irradiated with 20,000 rads) for 5 days. Cytotoxic responses were read against P815 cells pulsed with A9I peptide and untreated P815-negative target cells in a standard ⁵¹Cr release assay. The data shown are the mean values of triplicate cultures with a standard error less than 15% of the mean. E/T = Effector-target ratio.

Impact of Codon Modification on Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV DNA Vaccines Intervirology 2002;45:275-286

is no detectable effect in rodent cell lines, especially in mouse cells. This suggests that a lack of specific cellular [34, 35] and viral factors [36, 37] may be responsible for defects in Gag protein production and the lack of virion assembly in murine cells [27]. Hence, it was not surprising that a mixture of p-UTRwtgagRRE and p-Rev did not induce better humoral immune responses than the UTRwtgagRRE construct alone. However, suggesting that the coadministration of Rev could be successful in humans, there is still a limitation in use due to the highrisk potential of regulatory viral proteins and cis-acting sites within 5' UTR that entirely overlap the HIV-1 RNA packaging signal [38]. Moreover, a multicomponent plasmid DNA containing gagpol and rev, for example, would be expected to have a highly reduced transfection capability due its size. The utilization of synthetic genes with a codon usage adapted to that of highly expressed genes of mammals represents an effective means to bypass complex viral regulation and, at the same time, to increase immunogenicity and safety profiles of current HIV-specific DNA vaccines. Accordingly, the resulting syngag construct was shown to be expressed independently of Rev/RRE, probably due to the destruction of inhibitory AT-rich sequences of wt gag, and its expression therefore was dramatically enhanced in vitro [26, 28].

Moreover, modification of codon usage within the gag gene resulted in an efficient induction not only of humoral immune responses but also in the efficient priming of Gag-specific CTLs. In contrast, p-UTRwtgagRRE with or without p-Rev was only capable of inducing weak and inconsistent antibody responses and no CTL activity. The improved immunogenicity of syngag- compared to wt gag-based vaccine vectors obviously correlated with the more efficient in vitro Gag protein expression observed in cultures of murine C2C12 cells. Alternative explanations suggesting that CpG islets randomly generated by increasing the overall CpG content within the synthetic gene could be excluded. Single point mutations destroying CpG motifs without altering the amino acid sequence did not alter the immunogenicity of the tested gag candidate DNA vaccines [27].

Even doses as low as 20 μ g per intramuscular injection were sufficient to induce high and consistent antibody titers after a single booster immunization. These humoral responses displayed a clear Th1 bias characterized by an IgG1 to IgG2a ratio clearly less than 1. Furthermore, an initial vaccination with 100 μ g of p-syngag was sufficient to induce Gag-specific antibody titers of about 1,000; further booster immunizations increased those titers to >1,000,000. Mice immunized and boostered twice with 100 µg of p-syngag developed strong cytotoxic activity against two known p24 CTL epitopes in Balb/c mice. This CTL response was highly Gag specific, as shown by the missing activity against target cells pulsed with an irrelevant peptide. Furthermore, spleen cells of p-syngagimmunized mice produced high amounts of IFN- γ , the key mediator of Th1-biased cellular immunity, after Gagspecific stimulation, verified by intracellular IFN- γ staining, ELISPOT assays and analysis of cell supernatants. A substantial release of Th2-associated cytokines like IL-4 or IL-5 was not detectable (data not shown).

A number of studies have shown that the method of DNA administration can influence both the strength and nature of immune responses [17]. In the present study, the capacity to induce an efficient immune response was comparable between intramuscular and subcutaneous vaccination. Both routes of plasmid DNA delivery induced a Th1-biased immune response with mostly IgG2a isotypes and comparable titers of Gag-specific immuno-globulins, although the increase in titer was slightly delayed in the case of subcutaneous immunization. The induced cellular immune response measured by ⁵¹Cr release assay was comparably high between both groups, although spleen cells of subcutaneously vaccinated mice showed significantly decreased IFN- γ release.

It is worth noting that intramuscular vaccination with p-syngag induces both long-lasting humoral and cellular immune responses. Antibody titers as well as the cytotoxic capacity were nearly unchanged even after 5 months, thus underlining the induction of prolonged memory cell responses.

In sum, these findings confirm and considerably extend data of several groups clearly demonstrating that vaccine vectors exploiting codon optimization of genes to enhance expression yields elicit enhanced humoral and cellular responses compared to vector constructs encoding the corresponding wt gene [39–41]. Due to the obvious advantages of synthetic genes regarding safety profiles and immunogenicity, many current protocols to prevent or treat infectious diseases such as HIV infections or malaria rely on optimized DNA sequences. The advantages of synthetic genes are utilized not only in the context of DNA vaccines. Accordingly, optimized DNA sequences are exploited to foster expression of, for example, viral or prarasitic antigens in cell culture or to enhance the immunogenicity and safety of viral and bacterial vectors such as recombinant vaccinia viruses (e.g. modified vaccinia virus Ankara), alpha viruses (Semliki Forest virus, Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus) or recombinant salmonella or listeria. Of note, one of the most prominent HIV vaccine projects worldwide (EuroVac, www. eurovac.net) utilizes synthetic genes encoding gagpolnef and env polygenes derived from a primary Asian clade C-based HIV-1 isolate for antigen delivery via the abovementioned plasmid, viral and bacterial vectors. The strain underlying the engineered gene constructs has been selected carefully from amongst now several hundred virus isolates and is representative for the clade C HIV-1 epidemic in China [42]. Preclinical efficacy trials have already proven the potential of the above-mentioned DNA candidate vaccines in a prime boost strategy together with some of the mentioned delivery systems in a nonhuman primate SHIV 89.6P challenge model [in preparation]. Also, based on these promising results, clinical phase I trials in Europe comparing different prime boost strategies in combination with synthetic gene-based DNA vaccines are scheduled for the first quarter of 2003.

Acknowledgements

We thank Dr. Marcus Neumann (GSF, Munich, Germany) for providing us with the Rev expression plasmid pCsRevsg25-GFP. This work was supported by Deutsches Zentrum für Luft- und Raumfahrt grant number 01 KI 97 65/3 to R.W.

References

- 1 Koup RA, Ho DD: Shutting down HIV. Nature 1994;370:416.
- 2 Rinaldo C, Huang XL, Fan ZF, Ding M, Beltz L, Logar A, Panicali D, Mazzara G, Liebmann J, Cottrill M, et al: High levels of anti-human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity and low viral load are associated with lack of disease in HIV-1-infected long-term nonprogressors. J Virol 1995:69:5838–5842.
- 3 Borrow P, Lewicki H, Hahn BH, Shaw GM, Oldstone MB: Virus-specific CD8+ cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity associated with control of viremia in primary human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. J Virol 1994;68: 6103–6110.
- 4 Ferbas J, Kaplan AH, Hausner AM, Hultin LE, Matud JL, Liu Z, Panicali DL, Nerng Ho H, Detels R, Giorgi JV: Virus burden in long-term survivors of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection is a determinant of anti-HIV CD8+ lymphocyte activity. J Infect Dis 1995; 172:329–339.
- 5 Rinaldo CR Jr, Beltz LA, Huang XL, Gupta P, Fan Z, Torpey DJ: Anti-HIV type 1 cytotoxic T lymphocyte effector activity and disease progression in the first 8 years of HIV type 1 infection of homosexual man. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1995;11:481–489.
- 6 Harrer E, Harrer T, Barbosa P, Feinberg M, Johnson RP, Buchbinder S, Walker BD: Recognition of the highly conserved YMDD region in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 reverse transcriptase by HLA-A2-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes from an asymptomatic long-term nonprogressor. J Infect Dis 1996; 173:476–479.
- 7 Ogg GS, Jin X, Bonhoeffer S, Dunbar PR, Nowak MA, Monard S, Segal JP, Cao Y, Rowland Jones SL, Cerundolo V, Hurley A, Markowitz M, Ho DD, Nixon DF, McMichael AJ: Quantitation of HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and plasma load of viral RNA. Science 1998;279:2103–2106.

- 8 Rosenberg ES, Billingsley JM, Caliendo AM, Boswell SL, Sax PE, Kalams SA, Walker BD: Vigorous HIV-1-specific CD4+ T cell responses associated with control of viremia. Science 1997;278:1447–1450.
- 9 Klein M, Van Baalen C, Holwerda A, Garde SR, Bende R, Keet IP, Eeftinck Schattenkerk JK, Osterhaus ADM, Schuitemaker H, Miedema F: Kinetics of Gag-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses during the clinical course of HIV-1 infection: A longitudinal analysis of rapid progressors and long-term asymptomatics. J Exp Med 1995;181:1365–1372.
- 10 Harrer E, Harrer T, Buchbinder S, Mann DL, Feinberg M, Yilma T, Johnson RP, Walker BD: HIV-1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte response in healthy, long-term nonprogressing seropositive persons. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1994;10(suppl 2):S77–S78.
- 11 Wagner R, Leschonsky B, Harrer E, Paulus C, Weber C, Walker BD, Buchbinder S, Wolf H, Kalden JR, Harrer T: Molecular and functional analysis of a conserved CTL epitope in HIV-1 p24 recognized from a long-term nonprogressor: Constraints on immune escape associated with targeting a sequence essential for viral replication. J Immunol 1999;162:3727–3734.
- 12 Betts MR, Krowka J, Santamaria C, Balsamo K, Gao F, Mulundu G, Luo C, N'Gandu N, Sheppard H, Hahn BH, Allen S, Frelinger JA: Cross-clade human immunodeficiency virus (HIV-1)-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses in HIV-infected Zambians. J Virol 1997;71:8908–8911.
- 13 Durali D, Morvan J, Letourneur F, Schmitt D, Guegan N, Dalod M, Saragosti S, Sicard D, Levy JP, Gornard E: Cross-reactions between the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte responses of human immunodeficiency virus-infected African and European patients. J Virol 1998;72:3547– 3553.

- 14 Lynch JA, deSouza M, Robb MD, Markowitz L, Nitayaphan S, Sapan CV, Mann DL, Birx DL, Cox JH: Cross-clade cytotoxic T cell response to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 proteins among HLA disparate North Americans and Thais. J Infect Dis 1998;178: 1040–1046.
- 15 Robinson HL, Torres CA: DNA vaccines. Semin Immunol 1997;9:271–283.
- 16 Donnelly JJ, Ulmer JB, Shiver JW, Liu MA: DNA vaccines. Annu Rev Immunol 1997;15: 617–648.
- 17 Gurunathan S, Klinman DM, Seder RA: DNA vaccines: Immunology, application and optimization. Annu Rev Immunol 2000;18:927– 974.
- 18 Ulmer JB, Donnelly JJ, Parker SE, Rhodes GH, Felgner PL, Dwarki VJ, Gromkowski SH, Deck RR, DeWitt CM, Friedman A, et al: Heterologous protection against influenza by injection of DNA encoding a viral protein. Science 1993;259:1745–1749.
- 19 Yankauckas MA, Morrow JE, Parker SE, Abai A, Rhodes GH, Dwarki VJ, Gromkowski SH: Long-term anti-nucleoprotein cellular and humoral immunity is induced by intramuscular injection of plasmid DNA containing NP gene. DNA Cell Biol 1993;12:771–776.
- 20 Boyer JD, Wang B, Ugen KE, Agadjanyan M, Javadian A, Frost P, Dang K, Carrano RA, Ciccarelli R, Coney L, Williams WV, Weiner DB: In vivo protective anti-HIV immune responses in non-human primates through DNA immunization. J Med Primatol 1996;25:242–250.
- 21 Lu S, Arthos J, Montefiori DC, Yasutomi Y, Manson K, Mustafa F, Johnson E, Santoro JC, Wissink J, Mullins JI, Haynes JR, Letvin NL, Wyard M, Robinson HL: Simian immunodeficiency virus DNA vaccine trial in macaques. J Virol 1996;70:3978–3991.

Impact of Codon Modification on Immunogenicity and Longevity of HIV DNA Vaccines

- 22 Mossman SP, Pierce CC, Robertson MN, Watson AJ, Montefiori DC, Rabin M, Kuller L, Thompson J, Lynch JB, Morton WR, Benveniste RE, Munn R, Hu SL, Greenberg P, Haigwood NL: Immunization against SIVmne in macaques using multigenic DNA vaccines. J Med Primatol 1999;28:206–213.
- 23 MacGregor RR, Boyer JD, Ugen KE, Lacy KE, Gluckman SJ, Bagarazzi ML, Chattergoon MA, Baine Y, Higgins TJ, Ciccarelli RB, Ginsberg RS, Weiner DB: First human trial of a DNA-based vaccine for treatment of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection: Safety and host response. J Infect Dis 1998;178:92– 100.
- 24 Boyer JD, Cohen AD, Vogt S, Schumann K, Nath B, Ahn L, Lacy K, Bagarazzi ML, Higgins TJ, Baine Y, Ciccarelli RB, Ginsberg RS, Mac-Gregor RR, Weiner DB: Vaccination of seronegative volunteers with a human immunodeficiency virus type 1 env/rev DNA vaccine induces antigen-specific proliferation and lymphocyte production of beta-chemokines. J Infect Dis 2000;181:476–483.
- 25 Böhm W, Mertens T, Schirmbeck R, Reimann J: Routes of plasmid DNA vaccination that prime murine humoral and cellular immune responses. Vaccine 1998;16:949–954.
- 26 Graf M, Bojak A, Deml L, Bieler K, Wolf H, Wagner R: Concerted action of multiple cisacting sequences is required for Rev dependence of late human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gene expression. J Virol 2000;74:10822– 10826.
- 27 Deml L, Bojak A, Steck S, Graf M, Wild J, Schirmbeck R, Wolf H, Wagner R: Multiple effects of codon usage optimization on expression and immunogenicity of DNA candidate vaccines encoding the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein. J Virol 2001; 75:10991–11001.

- 28 Wagner R, Graf M, Bieler K, Wolf H, Grunwald T, Foley P, Uberla K: Rev-independent expression of synthetic gag-pol genes of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 and simian immunodeficiency virus: Implications for the safety of lentiviral vectors. Hum Gene Ther 2000;11:2403–2413.
- 29 Wagner R, Deml L, Schirmbeck R, Niedrig M, Reimann J, Wolf H: Construction, expression and immunogenicity of chimeric HIV-1 viruslike particles. Virology 1996;220:128–140.
- 30 Selby MJ, Doe B, Walker CM: Virus-specific cytotoxic T-lymphocyte activity elicited by coimmunization with human immunodeficiency virus type I genes regulated by the bacteriophage T7 promoter and T7 RNA polymerase protein. J Virol 1997;71:7827–7831.
- 31 Nakamura Y, Kameoka M, Tobiume M, Kaya M, Ohki K, Yamada T, Ikuta K: A chain section containing epitopes for cytotoxic T, B and helper T cells within a highly conserved region found in the human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag protein. Vaccine 1997;15:489–496.
- 32 Takahashi H, Cohen J, Hosmalin A, Cease KB, Houghten R, Cornette JL, DeLisi C, Moss B, Germain RN, Berzofsky JA: An immunodominant epitope of the human immunodeficiency virus envelope glycoprotein gp160 recognized by class I major histocompatibility complex molecule-restricted murine cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85: 3105–3109.
- 33 Hanke T, Schneider J, Gilbert SC, Hill AV, McMichael A: DNA multi-CTL epitope vaccines for HIV and *Plasmodium falciparum*: Immunogenicity in mice. Vaccine 1998;16:426– 435.
- 34 Mariani R, Rutter G, Harris ME, Hope TJ, Krausslich HG, Landau NR: A block to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 assembly in murine cells. J Virol 2000;74:3859–3870.

- 35 Bieniasz PD, Cullen BR: Multiple blocks to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication in rodent cells. J Virol 2000;74:9868– 9877.
- 36 Pomerantz RJ, Trono D, Feinberg MB, Baltimore C: Cells nonproductively infected with HIV-1 exhibit an aberrant pattern of viral RNA expression: A molecular model for latency. Cell 1990;61:1271–1276.
- 37 Winslow BJ, Trono D: The blocks to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat and Rev functions in mouse cell lines are independent. J Virol 1993;67:2349–2354.
- 38 Swanstrom R, Wills JW: Synthesis, assembly, and processing of viral proteins; in Coffin J, Hughes SH, Varmus H (eds): Retroviruses. Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 1997, pp 263–334.
- 39 Andre S, Seed B, Eberle J, Schraut W, Bultmann A, Haas J: Increased immune response elicited by DNA vaccination with a synthetic gp120 sequence with optimized codon usage. J Virol 1998;72:1497–1503.
- 40 Qiu JT, Song R, Dettenhofer M, Tian C, August T, Felber BK, Pavlakis GN, Yu XF: Evaluation of novel human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Gag DNA vaccines for protein expression in mammalian cells and induction of immune responses. J Virol 1999;73:9145–9152.
- 41 zur Megede J, Chen MC, Doe B, Schaefer M, Greer CE, Selby M, Otten GR, Barnett SW: Increased expression and immunogenicity of sequence-modified human immunodeficiency virus type 1 gag gene. J Virol 2000;74:2628– 2635.
- 42 Su L, Graft M, Zhang Y, von Briesen H, Xing H, Kostler J, Melzl H, Wolf H, Shao Y, Wagner R: Characterization of a virtually full-length human immunodeficiency virus type 1 genome of a prevalent intersubtype (C/B') recombinant strain in China. J Virol 2000;74:11367–11376.

Intervirology 2002;45:287-289 DOI: 10.1159/000067920

A Short Introduction to Papillomavirus Biology

Rolf E. Streeck

Institute of Medical Microbiology and Hygiene, University of Mainz, Mainz, Germany

Key Words

Papillomavirus · Human papillomavirus · Cervical carcinoma · Capsid proteins · Immortalization · Virus-like particles · Pseudovirion · POD · Receptor · Neutralization

Abstract

In this report, the tropism of papillomaviruses, the structure of virions, the function of viral proteins and the use of pseudovirions for the analysis of the immune response against papillomaviruses and the search for the viral receptor are briefly described.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Papillomaviruses are non-enveloped DNA viruses of higher vertebrates [for a detailed description of the biology of papillomaviruses, see ref. 1]. They are strictly species specific and replicate exclusively in epithelia. To produce a persisting infection, papillomaviruses have to invade basal cells, the only cells capable of dividing in the epithelium. Viral replication is linked to the differentiation program of developing keratinocytes. Synthesis of viral DNA and expression of early genes occurs in cells of the stratum germinativum, and some infected cells may persist here for many years. Synthesis of capsid proteins and assembly of virions occurs only in the terminally differentiated keratinocytes, and viral particles are released from dead cells.

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300-5526/02/0456-0287\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int

Tropism

In addition to their species specificity and epitheliotropism, some papillomaviruses have a tendency to preferentially infect particular regions of the body. Among the human papillomaviruses (HPV), for example, HPV-1 is associated with deep plantar warts on the feet and HPV-2 with common warts on the hands. Warts (papillomas) arise due to increased cell proliferation stimulated by HPV infection and prolonged retention of the superficial epithelial layers. A large group of HPVs preferentially infect the genital mucosa. Some of these viruses (HPV-6, -11) are associated with condyloma, while others (e.g. HPV-16, -18) are more or less strongly (e.g. HPV-33, -35) associated with metastatic genital cancer. The genital HPVs are sexually transmitted, and the risk of being infected has been estimated to be of the order of 4%/HPV type/lifetime sexual partner [2]. Oral and non-melanoma skin cancer have also been found to be associated with HPVs. Fortunately, our immune system can cope well with HPVs, and most infections pass subclinically. The incidence of infected individuals who develop a genital cancer is less than 0.1%, and additional risk factors, probably some weaknesses of the immune system, are involved. However, since the rate of HPV infection among sexually active women may be as high as 25–40% [3], cervical carcinoma is one of the most frequent forms of cancer in women worldwide. This is why the development of HPV vaccines is urgently needed.

Hochhaus am Augustusplatz D-55101 Mainz (Germany)

Univ. Prof. Dr. Rolf E. Streeck

Institut für Medizinische Mikrobiologie und Hygiene

Tel. +49 6131 393 3209, Fax +49 6131 393 2359, E-Mail streeck@mail.uni-mainz.de

Virions

Virions isolated from warts are visualized by electron microscopy as spherical particles of icosahedral symmetry and about 55 nm in diameter. The building block of the capsid is the capsomere, a star-shaped pentamer of the major capsid protein, L1. Within capsids, capsomeres are highly cross-linked by disulfide bonds between L1 molecules, and the cysteine residues involved have been identified [4]. A complete viral capsid consists of 360 L1 molecules and some copies of a minor capsid protein, L2, possibly 12 per virion. The capsid accomodates a single molecule of circular double-stranded DNA of about 8,000 bp. associated with histones to form a minichromosome. The genetic organization of all papillomaviruses is very similar. The viral genome carries a non-coding control region and encodes six non-structural, early expressed (E) proteins, in addition to the two late (L) capsid proteins.

Early Proteins

The E1 and E2 proteins are required for replication and maintenance of the viral genome. Full-length and shorter forms of E2 also function as transcriptional activator and repressor, respectively. There is no E3 protein. The E4 protein is encoded in the early region but expressed late in infection. It has been observed to induce the collapse of the cellular cytoskeleton, suggesting that it may facilitate the escape of virus from infected cells. E5 is a small highly hydrophobic protein with some oncogenic potential. It integrates into membranes and activates specific growth factor receptors. E6 and E7 encode the papillomavirus major oncoproteins. Together they can immortalize primary human fibroblasts and keratinocytes. The E6 protein of the high-risk papillomaviruses induces the degradation of p53, the gatekeeper of the cell cycle. Too low levels of p53 promote, of course, uncontrolled growth by preventing the repair of DNA damage or the induction of apoptosis. E6 proteins of low-risk papillomaviruses do not affect p53 levels. The E7 protein binds the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor (pRB) and the related p107 and p130 proteins. These proteins control the activity of the essential transcription factor E2F. E7 liberates active E2F from an inactive pRB-E2F complex by targetting pRB. E2F then drives the cell into S phase and proliferation. The E7 proteins of the high-risk HPVs have high binding constants for pRB and promote its proteolysis, whereas the low-risk HPV E7 proteins bind to the pRB proteins with much lower efficiency. E6 and E7 interact with other

proteins but the exact physiologic consequences of these interactions remain to be determined.

Late Proteins

The L1 major capsid proteins spontaneously assemble into virus-like particles (VLPs) when synthesized in recombinant expression systems. The minor capsid protein L2 is not required for the assembly, but it is integrated into VLPs when coexpressed together with L1 [5]. Although VLPs are similar to virions according to cryoelectron microscopy, biochemical analyses have shown that the L1 proteins in VLPs exhibit less disulfide bonding and more exposed C-termini than in virions. Encapsidation of heterologous DNA generating pseudovirions induces conformational shifts in L1 which make its organization more like that in virions [6]. X-ray crystallographic analysis of small HPV-16 VLPs has recently shown that the folding of L1 within capsomeres closely resembles VP1 of polyomaviruses [7].

Although the L2 protein is only a minor component of the viral capsid, it is critical for the infectivity of viruses and pseudovirions [8]. It may facilitate the uptake by cells [9] and somehow helps the infecting DNA to reach the nucleus. Recent studies have shown that L2 seems to play an essential role in viral morphogenesis. It associates with nuclear subdomains called PODs or ND10 [10] and induces specific changes in their protein composition [11]. It also attracts the L1 protein, suggesting that the viral particles may be assembled at these nuclear substructures.

Pseudovirions

Since no efficient cell culture system for the propagation of papillomaviruses is available, VLPs and pseudovirions have been used to analyze the early steps of papillomavirus infection. HeLa cells were shown to bind approximately 2×10^4 VLPs per cell with a dissociation constant of about 100 pM [12]. Proteoglycans carrying heparan sulfate were recently identified as primary papillomavirus receptors using VLPs of HPV-11 [13] and pseudovirions of HPV-16 and HPV-33 [14]. Since proteoglycans are attached to the surface of many types of cells, the high specificity of papillomavirus infection is probably due rather to host regulatory proteins than to receptor interactions.

Immunology

VLPs and pseudovirions have also been extremely useful for the analysis of the immune response to papillomavirus infections. The major neutralizing antigens have been identified on L1, and they are conformational and type specific [15]. Cross-neutralization can therefore only be partially achieved between very closely related types of virus [16]. In contrast, a broadly cross-reactive epitope has been identified on the minor capsid protein L2 [17]. Whereas neutralizing antibodies can prevent infection, T cell responses to early proteins, e.g. E6 and E7, are expected to be critical for viral clearance, and they seem to be type specific as well [18]. However, the relative importance of B and T cell responses to viral determinants responsible for viral regression still remain uncertain.

References

- Knipe DM, Howley PM (eds): Fields' Virology, ed 4. Baltimore, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001.
- 2 Dillner J, Kallings I, Brihmer C, Sikström B, Koskela P, Lehtinen M, Schiller JT, Sapp M, Mårdt PA: Seropositivity to human papillomavirus types 16, 18 or 33 capsids and to *Chlamydia trachomatis* are markers of sexual behavior. J Infect Dis 1996;173:1394–1398.
- 3 Koutsky L: Epidemiology of genital human papillomavirus infection. Am J Med 1997;102: 3–8.
- 4 Sapp M, Fligge C, Petzak I, Harris JR, Streeck RE: Papillomavirus assembly requires trimerization of the major capsid protein by disulfides between two highly conserved cysteines. J Virol 1998;72:6186–6189.
- 5 Hagensee ME, Yaegashi N, Galloway DA: Selfassembly of human papillomavirus type 1 capsids by expression of the L1 protein alone or by coexpression of the L1 and L2 capsid proteins. J Virol 1993;67:315–322.
- 6 Fligge C, Schäfer F, Selinka H-C, Sapp C, Sapp M: DNA-induced structural changes in the papillomavirus capsid. J Virol 2001;75:7727– 7731.
- 7 Chen XS, Garcea RL, Goldberg I, Casini G, Harrison SC: Structure of small virus-like particles assembled from the L1 protein of human papillomavirus 16. Mol Cell 2000;5:557–567.

- 8 Unckell F, Streeck RE, Sapp M: Generation and neutralization of pseudovirions of human papillomavirus type 33. J Virol 1997;71:2934– 2939.
- 9 Kawana Y, Kawana K, Yoshikawa H, Taketani Y, Yoshiike K, Kanda T: Human papillomavirus type 16 minor capsid protein 12 N-terminal region containing a common neutralization epitope binds to the cell surface and enters the cytoplasm. J Virol 2001;75:2331–2336.
- 10 Day PM, Roden RBS, Lowy RL, Schiller JT: The papillomavirus minor capsid protein, L2, induces localization of the major capsid protein, L1, and the viral transcription/replication protein, E2, to PML oncogenic domains. J Virol 1998;72:142–150.
- 11 Florin L, Schäfer F, Sotlar K, Streeck RE, Sapp M: Reorganization of nuclear domain 10 induced by papillomavirus capsid protein L2. Virology 2002;295:97–107.
- 12 Volpers C, Unckell F, Schirmacher P, Streeck RE, Sapp M: Binding and internalization of human papillomavirus type 33 virus-like particles by eukaryotic cells. J Virol 1995;69:3258– 3264.
- 13 Joyce JG, Tung JS, Przysiecki CT, Cook JC, Lehman ED, Sands JA, Jansen KU, Keller PM: The L1 major capsid protein of human papillomavirus 11 recombinant virus-like particles interacts with heparin and cell-surface glycosaminoglycans on human keratinocytes. J Biol Chem 1999;274:5810–5822.

- 14 Giroglou T, Florin L, Schäfer F, Streeck RE, Sapp M: Human papillomavirus infection requires cell surface heparan sulfate. J Virol 2001;75:1565–1570.
- 15 Breitburd F, Kirnbauer R, Hubbert NL, Nonnenmacher B, Trin-Dinh-Desmarquet C, Orth G, Schiller JT, Lowy DR: Immunization with virus-like particles from cottontail rabbit papillomavirus (CRPV) can protect against experimental CRPV infection. J Virol 1995;69:3959– 3963.
- 16 Giroglou T, Sapp M, Lane L, Fligge C, Christensen ND, Streeck RE, Rose RC: Immunological analyses of human papillomavirus capsids. Vaccine 2001;19:1783–1793.
- 17 Roden RBS, Weissinger EM, Henderson DW, Booy F, Kirnbauer R, Mushinski JF, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Neutralization of bovine papillomavirus by antibodies to L1 and L2 capsid proteins. J Virol 1994;68:7570–7574.
- 18 Greenstone HL, Nieland JD, de Visser KE, de Bruijn ML, Kirnbauer R, Roden RBS, Lowy DR, Kast WM, Schiller JT: Chimeric papilloma virus-like particles elicit antitumor immunity against the E7 oncoprotein in an HPV16 tumor model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:1800–1805.

Intervirology 2002;45:290-299 DOI: 10.1159/000067923

T Cell Response to Human Papillomavirus 16 E7 in Mice: Comparison of Cr Release Assay, Intracellular IFN-γ Production, ELISPOT and Tetramer Staining

Nico Michel^a Peter Öhlschläger^a Wolfram Osen^a Eva-Jasmin Freyschmidt^a Heidrun Guthöhrlein^a Andreas M. Kaufmann^b Martin Müller^a Lutz Gissmann^a

^aDeutsches Krebsforschungszentrum, Heidelberg, ^bUniversitäts-Frauenklinik, Friedrich-Schiller-Universität Jena, Jena, Germany

Key Words

DNA immunization \cdot HPV 16 E7 \cdot Tetramer staining \cdot ELISPOT \cdot Cr release \cdot Intracellular IFN- γ

Abstract

Successful vaccination against infections by high-risk papillomaviruses aiming at the prevention of cervical cancer most likely requires the induction of neutralizing antibodies and human papillomavirus (HPV)-specific T cells directed against early viral proteins such as E7. Whereas the technology for detection of antibodies is well established, measurement of T cells is more cumbersome and standardization of assays is difficult. By using chromium release assay, ELISPOT, tetramer staining and intracellular IFN-y assay, we compared the levels of HPV 16 E7-specific T cells obtained after immunization of C57BL/6 mice with different DNA expression vectors. We found that all four assays gave highly comparable results. ELISPOT can be recommended for future studies as it indicates the presence of activated (i.e. IFN-y-secreting) T cells in a quantitative manner and combines high sensitivity with relatively low T cell demand.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0290\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int

Introduction

Persistent infection by high-risk human papillomaviruses (HPVs) is the main risk factor for the development of cervical cancer. Approximately half a million cases are diagnosed worldwide each year, representing the third most frequent malignant disease in women on a global scale [1]. Considerable efforts are currently being undertaken to develop efficient vaccination strategies aimed at the reduction of the incidence of cervical cancer. The overall plurality of HPVs is also demonstrated in the various cancer-associated HPV types [2]. As there is limited immunological reactivity across types [3], the development of 'the cervical cancer vaccine' is an extremely difficult task. Despite this drawback, there are efforts towards the development of various vaccines against HPV 16, the most common type found in cervical cancer, which accounts for more than 50% of cases worldwide [4]. Based upon the natural history of this disease (infection through sexual contact, development of cancer as a late and rare consequence of persistent infection), the following vaccination scenarios are currently being discussed and suitable vaccines are under development.

Lutz Gissmann Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum Im Neuenheimer Feld 242 D–69120 Heidelberg (Germany) E-Mail Lgissmann@dkfz.de

Treatment of Precursor Lesions of Cervical Cancer

Cervical cancer arises through a spectrum of histologically well-defined precursor lesions (cervical intraepithelial neoplasias, CIN) [5]. High-grade CIN is considered a bona fide premalignant tumor with an estimated progression rate of 15% if left untreated [6]. Such lesions are detected during cytology screening programs, diagnosed by colposcopy and histology and are usually removed surgically or by destructive laser therapy or cryotherapy [7]. There is, however, a certain degree of morbidity associated with such treatments that also sometimes may lead to infertility. Since many of the affected women are still at a reproductive age, alternative methods of treatment are being looked for. HPV-specific immune therapy is a valuable option since T cell responses seem to play an important role in controlling this disease [for review, see ref. 8]. The most logical target molecules are the early viral proteins that are expressed during malignant progression of the infected cells, i.e. E6 and E7. In fact, the presence of these molecules appears to be a sine qua non for continuous cell proliferation [9]. The most intensively studied protein is E7, of which several T helper and cytotoxic T cell (CTL) epitopes have been identified both in experimental animals and in humans [10-22]. A variety of experimental vaccines have been analyzed in preclinical studies to verify the concept of an HPV-specific antitumor immune response [for reviews, see ref. 23, 24]. Thus, growth of HPV 16-transformed cells in syngeneic mice was prevented by prior immunization and, under certain circumstances, even existing tumors were induced to regress. The vaccines were administered either (1) as a purified protein (in combination with an appropriate adjuvant or fused to another protein for improved targeting into the MHC class I pathway), (2) as peptides that represent the CTL epitope(s) matching the HLA type of the experimental system, or (3) as expression plasmids injected either as naked DNA or delivered through viral or bacterial vectors [25-28]. Initial clinical trials are ongoing to provide proof of principle that treatment of precursor lesions of cervical (vulval or anal) cancer can be cured immunologically [for reviews, see ref. 23, 29-31]. The possibility of treatment not only of precursor lesions but also of fully developed cervical cancer by HPV-specific immune therapy is also discussed. Although it is unlikely that the immune system can handle a large tumor by itself, there is optimism that patients could benefit in terms of prolonged disease-free intervals and improved quality of life when this treatment is given as an adjunct to the standard therapy.

Postexposure Prevention

Follow-up studies have demonstrated that persistent infection is the prerequisite for development of a highgrade CIN and that infection often precedes clinical symptoms by several years [32, 33]. Therefore, it is assumed that there is a window for cervical cancer prophylaxis even in a postexposure situation. Since the cells express early viral proteins during persistent infection, it is expected that infection can be cleared by the aid of CTLs before the onset of disease. According to current discussions, it seems likely that testing for HPV infection (via detection of the viral DNA) will be included as a complementary measure into cytology screening programs [34]. Women repeatedly found to be HPV positive but devoid of a clinically visible (and therefore treatable) lesion would be eligible for this type of vaccination. Yet, it would be reasonable to include a 'prophylactic component' into such a vaccine protocol since (1) the usually young women are still at risk for new HPV infections that may reinitiate the multistep carcinogenesis and (2) the previous natural infection may not confer sufficient protection [35]. Development of prophylactic vaccines that aim at protection from HPV infection is fairly advanced. The most promising candidates are virus-like particles (VLPs), which consist only of the structural viral proteins (or even only of the major capsid protein L1) and assemble during expression by recombinant vectors in the appropriate host cells (e.g. baculovirus in insect cells). Preclinical data obtained in animals as well as first results from clinical trials demonstrate that VLPs or L1-specific expression plasmids [36, 37] are highly immunogenic, i.e. they induce high-titer neutralizing antibodies even in the absence of adjuvant [38] [for a review, see ref. 30]. In animal experiments studying papillomavirus infections in their natural host (e.g. the canine oral papillomavirus in dogs), such antibodies were previously shown to confer protection against experimental challenge.

Preexposure Prevention

There are considerable efforts both by companies and nonprofit organizations to develop prophylactic vaccines for prevention of primary infection. In order to be successful, the respective programs must be designed for immunization of children before onset of sexual activity and both females and males must be vaccinated. For the reasons discussed above, VLP vaccines are most likely to be the first products on the market. Some researchers, however, question the efficacy of such vaccines since complete protection ('sterilizing immunity') may not be achieved. It is therefore conceivable that, in addition to

T Cell Response to HPV 16 E7 in Mice

neutralizing antibodies, a CTL response needs to be induced within a preexposure vaccination scheme in case there is some escape from the primary immune attack.

Current State of Knowledge

We are working on several aspects of HPV-specific immune therapy and our data obtained so far can be summarized as follows. Chimeric VLPs consisting of HPV 16 L1 proteins fused at their C-terminally truncated portion to the first 60 amino acids of the HPV 16 E7 protein (HPV 16 L1/E7₁₋₆₀) were shown to induce both neutralizing antibodies [39] and an E7- and L1-specific CTL response in a preclinical system [40, 41] [Öhlschläger et al., unpubl. data]. Furthermore, the growth of HPV 16transformed mouse cells in a syngeneic immunocompetent host (C57BL/6 mice) was inhibited both in a prophylactic and therapeutic vaccination protocol. Similar effects were observed when chimeric VLPs containing only the 55 N-terminal amino acids of the HPV E7 protein (HPV 16 $L1/E7_{1-55}$) were tested in mouse immunization experiments [41]. HPV 16 L1/E7₁₋₅₅ chimeric VLPs are currently being evaluated for treatment of patients with HPV 16-positive CIN (www.medigene.de). Among the preventive vaccination strategies, the use of empty VLPs has been proven to be very efficient in inducing neutralizing antibodies; thus, different studies have already reached the status of clinical phase II. In contrast, most therapeutic vaccination strategies against HPV are still at a less advanced stage, although many different approaches have been undertaken so far (e.g. peptide vaccines, ex vivo pulsed dendritic cells, different viral and nonviral vector systems) [for reviews, see ref. 23, 29].

One reason for the head start of prophylactic vaccination strategies is based on the more straightforward and easy-to-standardize type of assays that are required to measure the immune response. In brief, a powerful prophylactic vaccine needs to induce neutralizing antibodies against the viral capsid proteins (HPV L1 and/or L2 proteins). Antibody titers obtained by VLP-specific ELISA have been shown to correlate well with neutralizing activity [42]. Since ELISA systems allow a standardized, highthroughout screening of humoral immune responses, evaluation of the outcome of a prophylactic vaccine is, at least at this early stage, possible with reasonable costs and effort.

The conditions change completely when it comes to therapeutic vaccination strategies; eradication of virusinfected and virus-transformed cells is obtained by priming cytotoxic T cell responses against the early HPV proteins E7 and/or E6. These viral proteins are sufficient for the induction and maintenance of the transformed state of infected cells in vitro and are the only viral proteins that are expressed at high levels during persistent infections. Therefore, E6 and E7 can be regarded as tumor markers for HPV-transformed cells. For this reason, most therapeutic vaccination strategies aim to induce CTL responses against E7 and E6. Unfortunately, measuring CTL responses is much more complex than measuring serum antibody titers. Consequently, therapeutic vaccination studies suffer from relatively high costs and demands for laboratory equipment and labor.

Having this in mind, we were interested in comparing different assay systems to determine E7-specific T cell responses (in particular, CD8+ CTL responses) in a mouse model system. Following different standard strategies for the measurement of CD8+ T cells, we intended to find differences in the readout of each assay and to set up a future standard protocol to substitute the very laborintensive chromium release assay. The E7-specific immune response was induced by vaccination with naked plasmid DNA encoding for either wild-type or recombinant E7 proteins and it was analyzed at different time points after vaccination, either ex vivo or after one to two rounds of in vitro restimulation.

Materials and Methods

Cloning of E7 Genes for DNA Vaccination

The various recombinant E7 genes were cloned in the eukaryotic expression vector pcDNA3.1 as described earlier [43, 44].

Purification of Plasmid DNA for Vaccination

Plasmids used in DNA vaccination were purified from *Escherichia coli* DH5 α by alkali lysis and CsCI density gradient centrifugation. The supercoiled plasmid DNA was resuspended in H₂O and stored at -20° until used in the DNA vaccination experiments.

Mice

C57BL/6 mice from Charles River WIGA (Sulzfeld, Germany) were kept under conventional conditions and on a standard diet at the animal facilities of the Deutsches Krebsforschungszentrum (German Cancer Research Center).

Cell Lines and Culture Conditions

RMA cells [45] and RMA-E7 transfected cells [46] derived from C57BL/6 mice were cultured in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 5–10% FCS, penicillin-streptomycin and glutamine. Additionally, 0.8 mg/ml G418 was given to the cultured RMA-E7 cells for stable expression of the E7 transgene.

DNA Vaccination of Mice

Six-to-eight-week-old female C57BL/6 mice were treated by bilateral injection of 50 μ l of 10 μ M cardiotoxin into each musculus tibialis anterior 5–6 days prior to DNA injection. For vaccination, 50 μ l of plasmid DNA (1 μ g/ μ l in PBS) were injected into each pretreated muscle. Ten days later, mice were killed to set up spleen cell cultures out of the spleen.

In vitro Restimulation of CTL Lines

 $1-2 \times 10^6 \gamma$ -irradiated (100 Gy) RMA-E7 cells were added to cultures of 2×10^7 isolated spleen cells that had been pretreated with ACT (17 m*M* Tris-HCl, 0.16 *M* NH₄Cl, pH 7.2) to deplete erythrocytes. Cells were grown in 10 ml of α MEM (Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany) supplemented with 10% FCS, β -mercaptoethanol, glutamine and penicillin-streptomycin. Effector cells were expanded in 2 ml of the above-mentioned medium with an additional 2.5% (v/v) supernatant of a concanavalin-A-induced rat spleen cell culture together with $1-2 \times 10^5 \gamma$ -irradiated (100 Gy) RMA-E7 transfectants plus $5 \times 10^6 \gamma$ -irradiated (33 Gy) syngeneic feeder cells. Cultures were grown at 37° in 7.5% CO₂.

⁵¹Cr Release Assay

Subconfluent growing RMA and RMA-E7 cells were trypsinized, washed once in PBS and resuspended in serum-free RPMI medium with glutamine and antibiotics (target cells). 2×10^6 target cells were labeled with 100 µCi of Na2⁵¹CrO₄ for 60-80 min in a volume of 100-150 µl of the above-mentioned medium at 37°. Cells were washed 3 times by centrifugation at 200 g for 3 min and resuspended in 10 ml of RPMI plus 5% FCS, glutamine and antibiotics. To pulse RMA cells with peptide, 100 ng/ml E7-derived antigenic peptide ⁴⁹RAHYNIVTF⁵⁷ [47] was added to the suspension and incubated at 37° for 20-30 min. Target cells were distributed in a 96-well roundbottomed plate (5 \times 10³ cells/well) together with titrated numbers of effector cells. Maximum release and spontaneous release of target cells was determined by the addition of either 5% Triton X-100 or RPMI medium alone, respectively. Following a 4.5-hour incubation at 37° in 5% CO₂, the assay plate was centrifuged for 3 min at 200 g, then 50 µl of culture supernatant was transferred onto a solid-phase scintillation plate (LumaPlate-96, Packard, Dreieich, Germany) and measured in a microplate scintillation counter (1450 Microbeta Plus, Wallac, Turku, Finland). Specific lysis was calculated as follows:

(experimental ⁵¹Cr release – spontaneous ⁵¹Cr release)/ (maximum ⁵¹Cr release – spontaneous ⁵¹Cr release) × 100%.

FACS Staining with MHC Class I Tetramers

HPV 16 E7₄₉₋₅₇ peptide-loaded D^b tetramers conjugated with phycoerythrin were kindly provided by Ton N.M. Schumacher (The Netherlands Cancer Institute, Amsterdam, The Netherlands) [44]. Ten days after immunization, 10⁶ erythrocyte-depleted spleen cells were stained in 96-well plates using 1/15 diluted tetramers together with 1/100 diluted fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-anti-mouse CD8a (clone 53-6.7, BD Pharmingen) in FACS medium (PBS, pH 7.5, 3% FCS, 0.02% NaN₃). After incubation for 30 min at 4°, cells were washed 5 times with 200 µl of FACS medium and subsequently centrifuged at 200 g for 2 min. Prior to FACS analysis, cells were resuspended in 400 µl of FACS medium containing 5 µl of 7-AAD (BD Pharmingen). 10⁵ lymphocytes in living gate (7-AAD negative) were acquired. Tetramer-positive and CD8+ cells are shown as a percentage of total CD8+ cells.

FACS Staining of IFN-y Production

T cells were isolated 10 days after immunization and optionally restimulated in vitro with RMA-E7 cells as described above. 2.5×10^4 RMA-E7 cells, RMA cells pulsed with 100 nM E7₄₉₋₅₇ peptide

and untreated RMA cells were seeded separately in 50 µl of RPMI plus 5% FCS and antibiotics in 96-well round-bottomed plates and incubated for 15 h at 37° in 5% CO2. Cultured T cells were transferred into 15-ml tubes and sedimented at 250 g for 5 min. After resuspension in 1 ml of aMEM, 200,000 cells were added to the wells of the stimulator cells and then centrifuged (1 min, 250 g, 4°). Following incubation at 37° in 6% CO₂ for 1 h, cytokine secretion was inhibited by adding 2.5 μ M monensin (Sigma) to each well. After 5 h, cells were centrifuged (2 min, 250 g, 4°) and subsequently resuspended thoroughly in 100 µl of Cytofix/Cytoperm (BD Pharmingen) and incubated for 20 min at 4°. Following centrifugation as described above and washing twice with 100 μ l of 1 \times Perm/Wash solution (BD Pharmingen), cells were stained in 20 μ l of 1 \times Perm/Wash solution containing 1/50 phycoerythrin-conjugated anti-mouse IFN-γ (clone XMG1.2, BD Pharmingen), 1/100 Cy-chrome-conjugated anti-mouse CD4 (clone H129.19, BD Pharmingen) and 1/100 FITC-conjugated anti-mouse CD8 antibody (clone 53-6.7, BD Pharmingen) for 30 min on ice. After two further washing steps using 100 μ l of 1 \times Perm/Wash, cells were resuspended in 130 μ l of PBS-0.5% BSA and analysed by FACS. 10,000 events of a gate for CD8+ lymphocytes of the living (determined by forward scatter/side scatter) cell population were acquired. IFN- γ and CD8+ cells are shown as a percentage of the total CD8+ cells.

IFN-γ ELISPOT

96-well MultiScreen-HA sterile plates (MAHAS4510, Millipore) were equilibrated with PBS and coated with 150-200 ng of antimouse IFN-γ capture antibody (clone R4-6A2, BD Pharmingen) in 100 µl of PBS overnight at 4°. After blocking for 2 h with 100 µl of medium (RPMI, 5% FCS and antibiotics) at 37°, splenocytes were seeded as triplicates in a serial dilution ranging from 400,000 to 12,500 cells/well in 100 µl of medium. One of each triplicate dilution was left either untreated (background control), received 200 ng of pokeweed mitogen (Sigma) in 20 µl of medium (positive control) or received 40 pmol of $E7_{49-57}$ peptide in 20 µl of medium (test sample). The plates were incubated for 18-20 h at 37°. Cells were removed by washing three times with PBS and 0.05% Tween 20 and once with PBS. Following the addition of 100 µl of PBS containing 200 ng of biotinylated anti-mouse IFN-y antibody (clone XMG1.2, BD Pharmingen) per well, plates were kept at 4° overnight. The wells were washed three times with PBS and filled with 100 µl of 1/1,000 streptavidin-alkaline phosphatase (BD Pharmingen) in PBS. After 2 h at room temperature, wells were washed three times with PBS and developed for 2-15 min with 100 µl of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl phosphate/nitroblue tetrazolium liquid substrate system (Sigma). The reaction was stopped by rinsing the wells with water. Spots were quantified in an ELISPOT Reader (Zeiss-Vison C, Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Wells with medium instead of T cells and wells without capture antibody were run in parallel as background controls.

Results and Discussion

We have analyzed the E7-specific T cell response following immunization with a series of expression clones that have been assayed by us in earlier studies [43, 44] (table 1). All clones are based on the pcDNA3.1(–) (Invi-



Fig. 1. E7-specific T cell responses in immunized mice ex vivo and after one round of restimulation. Results from the mice immunized in the first experiment are shown (table 1). Tetramer staining, IFN- γ ELISPOT, Cr release assay and intracellular IFN- γ staining were performed with lymphocytes that were isolated from the spleen and used either ex vivo or after one round of E7-specific in vitro restimulation. The reactivity of each vaccinated mouse is shown with the same symbol in all four assays.

trogen, Groningen, The Netherlands) background and contain the HPV 16 E7 gene in different modifications (complete 98 amino acids, amino acids 1–60, 152 amino acids comprising a rearranged E7 gene: $E7_{SH}$ [43]) with or without different heterologous N- or C-terminal sequences (VP22, the secretion signal peptide of Ig κ , translocation motif) that modify the intercellular transport of the protein and were previously shown to modify the immunogenicity of E7 [44]. Here, we performed a comparison of different assays, i.e., in addition to the chromium release assay used routinely in our laboratory, tetramer staining, intracellular IFN- γ production measured by FACS analysis and detection of secreted IFN- γ by ELISPOT. The first experiment was designed to find out which assay is most suitable for the analysis of E7-specific CTL activity of DNA-immunized C57BL/6 mice ex vivo, i.e. without additional restimulation of the lymphocytes in vitro prior to the assay. A total of 8 mice were immunized, 3 of which received the empty vector, while the others received either the E7 (n = 2) or the VP22-E7_{SH} expression clone (n = 3) (table 1). In the ex vivo analysis, tetramer staining and (to a lesser degree) the ELISPOT revealed a clear difference between all mice that were immunized with the E7-encoding DNA versus those that received the empty vector (ratio of the means: 20 and 6.6; fig. 1). In contrast, two of the mice immunized with the

294



Fig. 2. E7-specific T cell responses in DNA-vaccinated mice with four different assays. Results from the subgroup of mice that were vaccinated with the secE7 vector in the second experiment (table 2) are shown. Tetramer staining and IFN- γ ELISPOT were performed simultaneously with ex vivo isolated lymphocytes from the spleen. Additionally, a fraction of the lymphocytes was analyzed by Cr release assay after one round of E7-specific in vitro restimulation and by intracellular IFN- γ staining after a further round of in vitro restimulation. The reactivity of the individual mice is presented by the same symbol in all four assays.

Table 1. Constructs used for DNA vaccination experiments

| Insert | Number of mice | | | | |
|-------------------------|----------------|----------------|--|--|--|
| | 1st experiment | 2nd experiment | | | |
| _ | 3 | 2 | | | |
| E7 | - | 5 | | | |
| VP22-E7 | 2 | 5 | | | |
| VP22-E7 _{SH} | 3 | - | | | |
| VP22-E7 ₁₋₆₀ | - | 5 | | | |
| VP22-ΔС-Е7 | - | 5 | | | |
| SecE7 | - | 5 | | | |
| SecE7-TLM | - | 6 | | | |

The indicated number of mice were immunized with the corresponding recombinant E7 expression vectors (pcDNA3.1) in two separate experiments. The various E7 fusion genes were known from earlier studies to have a different potential in inducing an E7-specific CTL response after DNA vaccination [43, 44].

E7-encoding vectors did not have reactions above background in the intracellular IFN- γ assay (ratio of the means: 2.1). No CTL activity was detected by the ⁵¹Cr release assay when the lymphocytes were tested ex vivo. Upon one round of in vitro restimulation of the splenocytes, all E7-immunized mice had reactions clearly above those of the controls (fig. 1), the ratios of means ranging from 3.1 (Cr release assay) to 80 (tetramer staining). It is noteworthy that the relatively low yet significant difference between E7- and vector control-immunized mice resulted from the high background of about 10% specific lysis following the in vitro restimulation. Next, we wanted to test whether the different T cell assays actually produce comparable results following immunization of C57BL/6 mice and whether repeated in vitro restimulation of the splenocytes changes the overall profile of the T cell response. Thirty-three animals were injected with the different expression vectors (table 1) as described in Materials and Methods. After 10 days, mice were sacrificed and spleen cells were tested for E7-specific activity ex vivo (tetramer staining, ELISPOT) and after a first (51Cr release) and second restimulation (intracellular IFN-y staining). When the results were plotted as positive or negative, all but one mice scored the same in all assays (table 2). One animal (injected with VP22-E7₁₋₆₀) was positive by ELISPOT and negative by tetramer staining, and the positive result was confirmed by Cr release assay and detection of intracellular IFN-y after in vitro restimulation (table 2). Furthermore, there was a good correlation of the reactivity of individual mice when tested by the different assays (fig. 2, 3).

In our hands, the ELISPOT appears to be the most sensitive assay, allowing the detection of functionally active, i.e. IFN- γ secreting, T cells even without in vitro restimu-

T Cell Response to HPV 16 E7 in Mice




Fig. 3. Comparison of E7-specific T cell responses using different assays. The responses of the individual mice immunized in the second experiment are shown in all six two-by-two comparisons of the four assays (tetramer staining, IFN- γ ELISPOT, Cr release assay and intracellular IFN- γ assay) (**a**) and in a direct comparison of the Cr release assay, tetramer staining and ELISPOT (**b**).

Table 2. Comparison of different assays for an E7-specific CTL response (qualitative readout)

| Assay | Cells | Cutoff | Vector | | | | | | Total |
|------------|-------------------|-----------|--------|-------|---------------|---------|------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------|
| | | | E7 | secE7 | secE7- TLM | VP22-E7 | VP22- ΔC-E7 | VP22- E7 ₁₋₆₀ | _ |
| Tetramer | ex vivo | 0.4% | 0/5 | 4/5 | 3/6 | 5/5 | 5/5 | 3/5* | 20/31 |
| ELISPOT | ex vivo | 0.002% | 0/5 | 4/5 | 3/6 | 5/5 | 4/4 ¹ | 4/5 | 20/30 ¹ |
| Cr release | 1st restimulation | 15% lysis | 0/5 | 4/5 | 3/6 | 5/5 | 5/5 | 4/5 | 21/31 |
| IFN-γ FACS | 2nd restimulation | 0.4% | 0/5 | 4/5 | 3/6 | 5/5 | 5/5 | 4/5 | 21/31 |

E7-specific CTL-positive mice are indicated as a fraction of the total number of mice in the individual groups tested in the second experiment (for details, see text). Using the cutoff values as indicated for each assay, the E7-specific T cell responses were scored as positive or negative for each mouse in all four assays. The cutoff values were arbitrarily set as follows: 0.4% tetramer-positive cells among total CD8+ cells (tetramer staining): 0.002% IFN- γ -secreting cells among total cells (ELISPOT); 15% specific lysis of E7-expressing target cells above the specific lysis of control target cells at an effector to target ratio of 20:1 (Cr release assay); 0.4% IFN- γ -producing cells among total CD8+ cells (intracellular IFN- γ staining using FACS). Except for one mouse (*), all responses were identical in all four assays. Tetramer = Tetramer staining using murine H2 D^b MHC I tetramers carrying the E7₄₉₋₅₇ epitope; ELISPOT = INF- γ ELISPOT; Cr release = ⁵¹Cr release assay; IFN- γ FACS = intracellular IFN- γ staining using FACS.

¹ Due to technical problems, lymphocytes of one mouse were not tested by ELISPOT.

lation of the lymphocytes. As the intracellular IFN-y assay is less sensitive under ex vivo conditions, it offers the advantage of simultaneous characterization of the cells (e.g. by CD4 staining). Identification of T cell receptorpositive T cells after tetramer staining also permits a further characterization of these cells in a most timely fashion (2–3 h). Yet the presence of a specific T cell receptor on the surface of CD8+ cells does not necessarily define their functionality. This is particularly important when antigens are investigated that have the potential to induce peripheral tolerance inducing T cell anergy as described for the HPV 16 E7 protein [48]. The ⁵¹Cr release assay best defines functionally active CTLs, as it measures the lysis of antigen-presenting target cells. Compared to the other assays, however, it is of low sensitivity (often becoming positive only after repeated restimulation) and provides only semiquantitative information.

We conclude from our data that the ex vivo analysis of splenocytes (tetramer staining together with ELISPOT) yields sufficiently reliable data to determine an E7-specific CTL response in mice, thus permitting completion of the analysis in a timely fashion. In particular, there is no need to perform the labor-intensive cell-killing assay, which requires special precautions due to the radioactively labeled compounds involved, at least not in routine testing, e.g. when different antigen preparations are analyzed for their immunogenicity. It would be helpful to substitute the chromium release assay in studies with human samples to avoid the sophisticated generation of autologous target cells. Obviously, a similar comparative study needs to be conducted to verify whether our data also apply when lymphocytes of human donors are analyzed. Our data further suggest that the ex vivo assays (tetramer staining and ELISPOT) can provide quantitative information when different antigens or immunization protocols are compared. Tetramer staining has certain advantages in terms of the time required for completion of the assay, but it depends upon the availability of defined reagents (MHC-peptide complexes), which may prove to be inconvenient for the analysis of human samples, as often the appropriate T cell epitopes are not known for a given MHC haplotype.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to C. Scheibenboden for helpful advice on the ELISPOT technology. This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (grant to M.M.: DFG MU1656/1-1) and by the Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (HGF Verbundprojekt 89/03 granted to L.G.).

References

- Parkin DM, Pisani P, Ferlay J: Estimates of the worldwide incidence of 25 major cancers in 1990. Int J Cancer 1999:80:827–841.
- 2 Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Munoz N: Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide (see comments). J Pathol 1999;189:12–19.
- 3 Giroglou T, Sapp M, Lane C, Fligge C, Christensen ND, Streeck RE, Rose RC: Immunological analyses of human papillomavirus capsides. Vaccine 2001;19:1783–1793.
- 4 Bosch FX, Manos MM, Munoz N, Sherman M, Jansen AM, Peto J, Schiffman MH, Moreno V, Kurman R, Shah KV: Prevalence of human papillomavirus in cervical cancer: A worldwide perspective. International biological study on cervical cancer (IBSCC) Study Group (see comments). J Natl Cancer Inst 1995;87:796–802.
- 5 Richart RM: Cervical intraepithelial neoplasia. Pathol Annu 1973;8:301–328.
- 6 Ostor AG: Natural history of cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: A critical review. Int J Gynecol Pathol 1993;12:186–192.

- 7 Kurman RJ, Henson DE, Herbst AL, Noller KL, Schiffman MH: Interim guidelines for management of abnormal cervical cytology. The 1992 National Cancer Institute Workshop. JAMA 1994;271:1866–1869.
- 8 Konya J, Dillner J: Immunity to oncogenic human papillomaviruses. Adv Cancer Res 2001;82:205–238.
- 9 von Knebel Doeberitz M, Oltersdorf T, Schwarz E, Gissmann L: Correlation of modified human papilloma virus early gene expression with altered growth properties in C4-1 cervical carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 1998;48: 3780–3786.
- 10 Hohn H, Pilch H, Gunzel S, Neukirch C, Freitag K, Necker A, Maeurer MJ: Human papillomavirus type 3 E7 peptides presented by HLA-DR*0402 to tumor-infiltrating T cells in cervical cancer. J Virol 2000;74:6632–6636.
- 11 van der Burg SH, Ressing ME, Kwappenberg KM, de Jong A, Straathof K, de Jong J, Geluk A, van Meijgaarden KE, Franken KL, Ottenhoff TH, Fleuren GJ, Kenter G, Melief CJ, Offringa R: Natural T-helper immunity against human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV16) E7derived peptide epitopes in patients with HPV16-positive cervical lesions: Identification of 3 human leukocyte antigen class II-restricted epitopes. Int J Cancer 2001;91:612–618.

- 12 Rudolf MP, Man S, Melief CJ, Sette A, Kast WM: Human T-cell responses to HLA-A-restricted high binding affinity peptides of human papillomavirus type 18 proteins E6 and E7. Clin Cancer Res 2001;7:788s-795s.
- 13 Ressing ME, de Jong JH, Brandt RM, Drijfhout JW, Benckhuijsen WE, Schreuder GM, Offringa R, Kast WM, Melief CJ: Differential binding of viral peptides to HLA-A2 alleles. Implications for human papillomavirus type 16 E7 peptide-based vaccination against cervical carcinoma. Eur J Immunol 1999;29: 1292–1303.
- 14 Ressing ME, van Driel WJ, Celis E, Sette A, Brandt MP, Hartman A, Anholts JD, Schreuder GM, ter Harmsel WB, Fleuren GJ, Trimbos BJ, Kast WM, Melief CJ: Occasional memory cytotoxic T-cell responses of patients with human papillomavirus type 16-positive cervical lesions against a human leukocyte antigen-A *0201-restricted E7-encoded epitope. Cancer Res 1996;56:582–588.
- 15 Luxton JC, Rowe AJ, Cridland JC, Coletart T, Wilson P, Shepherd PS: Proliferative T cell responses to the human papillomavirus type 16 E7 protein in women with cervical dysplasia and cervical carcinoma and in healthy individuals. J Gen Virol 1996;77:1585–1593.

- 16 Vandebriel RJ, van der Kolk M, Geerse L, Steerenberg PA, Krul MR: A helper T-cell epitope of the E7 protein of human papillomavirus type 16 in BALB/c mice. Virus Res 1995; 37:13–22.
- 17 Sarkar AK, Tortolero-Luna G, Nehete PN, Arlinghaus RB, Mitchell MF, Sastry KJ: Studies on in vivo induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses by synthetic peptides from E6 and E7 oncoproteins of human papillomavirus type 16. Viral Immunol 1995;8:165–174.
- 18 Ressing ME, Sette A, Brandt RM, Ruppert J, Wentworth PA, Hartman M, Oseroff C, Grey HM, Melief CJ, Kast WM: Human CTL epitopes encoded by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 identified through in vivo and in vitro immunogenicity studies of HLA-A*0201-binding peptides. J Immunol 1995; 154:5934–5943.
- 19 Kast WM, Brandt RM, Drijfhout JW, Melief CJ: Human leukocyte antigen-A2.1 restricted candidate cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitopes of human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 proteins identified by using the processing-defective human cell line T2. J Immunother 1993; 14:115–120.
- 20 Tindle RW, Fernando GJ, Sterling JC, Frazer IH: A 'public' T-helper epitope of the E7 transforming protein of human papillomavirus 16 provides cognate help for several E7 B-cell epitopes from cervical cancer-associated human papillomavirus genotypes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1991;88:5887–5891.
- 21 Comerford SA, McCance DJ, Dougan G, Tite JP: Identification of T- and B-cell epitopes of the E7 protein of human papillomavirus type 16. J Virol 1991;65:4681–4690.
- 22 Fernando GJ, Tindle RW, Frazer IH: T-helper epitopes of the E7 transforming protein of cervical cancer associated human papillomavirus type 18 (HPV18). Virus Res 1995;36:1–13.
- 23 Gissmann L, Osen W, Müller M, Jochmus I: Therapeutic vaccines for human papillomaviruses. Intervirology 2001;44:167–175.
- 24 Da Silva DM, Eiben GL, Fausch SC, Wakabayashi MT, Rudolf MP, Velders MP, Kast WM: Cervical cancer vaccines: Emerging concepts and developments. J Cell Physiol 2001; 186:169–182.
- 25 Daemen T, Pries F, Bungener L, Kraak M, Regts J, Wilschut J: Genetic immunization against cervical carcinoma: Induction of cytotoxic T lymphocyte activity with a recombinant alphavirus vector expressing human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7. Gene Ther 2000;7:1859–1866.
- 26 He Z, Wlazlo AP, Kowalczyk DW, Cheng J, Xiang ZQ, Giles-Davis W, Ertl HC: Viral recombinant vaccines to the E6 and E7 antigens of HPV-16. Virology 2000;270:146–161.

- 27 Liu DW, Tsao YP, Kung JT, Ding YA, Sytwu HK, Xiao X, Chen SL: Recombinant adenoassociated virus expressing human papillomavirus type 16 E7 peptide DNA fused with heat shock protein DNA as a potential vaccine for cervical cancer. J Virol 2000;74:2888–2894.
- 28 Boursnell ME, Rutherford E, Hickling JK, Rollinson EA, Munro AJ, Rolley N, McLean CS, Borysiewicz LK, Vousden K, Inglis SC: Construction and characterisation of a recombinant vaccinia virus expressing human papillomavirus proteins for immunotherapy of cervical cancer. Vaccine 1996;14:1485–1494.
- 29 Tindle R: Vaccines for Human Papillomavirus Infection and Anogenital Disease. Austin, Landes, 1999.
- 30 Breitburd F, Coursaget P: Human papillomavirus vaccines. Semin Cancer Biol 1999;9:431– 444.
- 31 Da Silva DM, Velders MP, Rudolf MP, Schiller JT, Kast WM: Papillomavirus virus-like particles as anticancer vaccines. Curr Opin Mol Ther 1999;1:82–88.
- 32 Ho GY, Bierman R, Beardsley L, Chang CJ, Burk RD: Natural history of cervicovaginal papillomavirus infection in young women. N Engl J Med 1998;338:423–428.
- 33 Nobbenhuis MA, Walboomers JM, Helmerhorst TJ, Rozendaal L, Remmink AJ, Risse EK, van der Linden HC, Voorhorst FJ, Kenemans P, Meijer CJ: Relation of human papillomavirus status to cervical lesions and consequences for cervical-cancer screening: A prospective study. Lancet 1999;354:20–25.
- 34 Cuzick J, Sasieni P, Davies P, Adams J, Normand C, Frater A, van Ballegooijen M, van den Akker E: A systematic review of the role of human papillomavirus testing within a cervical screening programme. Health Technol Assess 1999;3:1–196.
- 35 Christensen ND, Kreider JW, Shah KV, Rando RF: Detection of human serum antibodies that neutralize infectious human papillomavirus type 11 virions. J Gen Virol 1992;73:1261– 1267.
- 36 Schreckenberger C, Sethupathi P, Kanjanahaluethai A, Müller M, Zhou J, Gissmann L, Qiao L: Induction of an HPV 6bL1-specific mucosal IgA response by DNA immunization. Vaccine 2000;19:227–233.
- 37 Leder C, Kleinschmidt JA, Wiethe C, Müller M: Enhancement of capsid gene expression: Preparing the human papillomavirus type 16 major structural gene L1 for DNA vaccination purposes. J Virol 2001;75:9201–9209.
- 38 Harro CD, Pang YY, Roden RB, Hildesheim A, Wang Z, Reynolds MJ, Mast TC, Robinson R, Murphy BR, Karron RA, Dillner J, Schiller JT, Lowy DR: Safety and immunogenicity trial in adult volunteers of a human papillomavirus 16 L1 virus-like particle vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:284–292.

- 39 Müller M, Zhou J, Reed TD, Rittmüller C, Burger A, Gabelsberger J, Braspenning J, Gissmann L: Chimeric papillomavirus-like particles. Virology 1997;234:93–111.
- 40 Jochmus I, Schäfer K, Faath S, Müller M, Gissmann L: Chimeric virus-like particles of the human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV 16) as a prophylactic and therapeutic vaccine. Arch Med Res 1999;30:269–274.
- 41 Schäfer K, Müller M, Faath S, Henn A, Osen W, Zentgraf H, Benner A, Gissmann L, Jochmus I: Immune response to human papillomavirus 16 L1E7 chimeric virus-like particles: Induction of cytotoxic T cells and specific tumor protection. Int J Cancer 1999;81:881–888.
- 42 Balmelli C, Roden R, Potts A, Schiller J, De Grandi P, Nardelli-Haefliger D: Nasal immunization of mice with human papillomavirus type 16 virus-like particles elicits neutralizing antibodies in mucosal secretions. J Virol 1998; 72:8220–8229.
- 43 Osen W, Peiler T, Öhlschläger P, Caldeira S, Faath S, Michel N, Müller M, Tommasino M, Jochmus I, Gissmann L: A DNA vaccine based on a shuffled E7 oncogene of the human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV 16) induces E7-specific cytotoxic T cells but lacks transforming activity. Vaccine 2001;19:4276–4286.
- 44 Michel N, Osen W, Gissmann L, Schumacher TNM, Zentgraf H, Müller M: Enhanced immunogenicity of HPV 16 E7 fusion proteins in DNA vaccination. Virology 2002;294:47–59.
- 45 Ljunggren HG, Kärre K: Host resistance directed selectively against H-2-deficient lymphoma variants. Analysis of the mechanism. J Exp Med 1985;162:1745–1759.
- 46 Speidel K, Osen W, Faath S, Hilgert I, Obst R, Braspenning J, Momburg F, Hammerling GJ, Rammensee HG: Priming of cytotoxic T lymphocytes by five heat-aggregated antigens in vivo: Conditions, efficiency, and relation to antibody responses. Eur J Immunol 1997;27: 2391–2399.
- 47 Feltkamp MC, Smits HL, Vierboom MP, Minnaar RP, de Jongh BM, Drijfhout JW, ter Schegget J, Melief CJ, Kast WM: Vaccination with cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope-containing peptide protects against a tumor induced by human papillomavirus type 16-transformed cells. Eur J Immunol 1993;23:2242–2249.
- 48 Tindle RW, Herd K, Doan T, Bryson G, Leggatt GR, Lambert P, Frazer IH, Street M: Nonspecific down-regulation of CD8+ T-cell responses in mice expressing human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncoprotein from the keratin-14 promoter. J Virol 2001;75:5985–5997.

Intervirology 2002;45:300-307 DOI: 10.1159/000067921

Comparison of Human Papillomavirus Type 16 L1 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles versus L1/L2 Chimeric Virus-Like Particles in Tumor Prevention

Mark T. Wakabayashi^{a,b} Diane M. Da Silva^a Ronald K. Potkul^b W. Martin Kast^a

^aCancer Immunology Program, Cardinal Bernardin Cancer Center, and Department of Microbiology and Immunology, ^bDepartment of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Loyola University Chicago, Maywood, III., USA

Key Words

Virus-like particle · Vaccine · Human papillomavirus type 16 · Cytotoxic T cell

Abstract

Chimeric human papillomavirus (HPV) virus-like particles (cVLPs) with the HPV16 E7 antigen fused to either the major capsid protein, L1, or the minor capsid protein, L2, have been used independently to protect against the formation of HPV-induced tumors in animal models. However, the advantages and disadvantages of both types of particles with respect to production and vaccine efficacy have never been analyzed. Therefore, in this study, we compared cVLPs with the HPV16 E7 antigen fused to L1 versus cVLPs with E7 fused to L2 with respect to their ability to protect mice from tumor challenge. The first 57 amino acids of E7 were used to overcome the size limitation and limited VLP production imposed by inserting polypeptides into L1 cVLPs. C57BL/6 mice were immunized with the above cVLPs at various doses. Tumor challenge was then performed with HPV16 E7-positive TC-1 cells. HPV16 L1-E7(1-57) was superior to HPV16

M.T.W. and D.M.D contributed equally to this work.

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0300\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ in eliciting tumor protection at equivalent doses, although both types of particles were able to protect mice. Both cVLPs induced a specific cytotoxic T lymphocyte (CTL) response to the H2-D^b-restricted E7 peptide (E7₄₉₋₅₇) as determined by an ELISPOT assay and tetramer staining; however, immunization with the L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs resulted in twofold higher CTL precursor frequencies. Our results demonstrate that cVLPs with the antigen fused to L1 are a more efficient vaccine with respect to tumor prevention than cVLPs with the antigen fused to L2. At the same time, however, L1 cVLPs are limited by the size of the antigen that can be incorporated and in the amount of cVLP that can be obtained from cultures when compared to L1/L2 cVLPs. This balances out their superior ability to induce protective immunity.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Human papillomaviruses (HPV) are considered to be the causative agent in the development of cervical cancer. More than 99% of cervical cancers are positive for HPV, with HPV16 being the most frequently found type [1]. In the United States and other industrialized countries, the incidence of cervical cancer has decreased dramatically

Dr. W. Martin Kast

Cancer Immunology Program, Cardinal Bernardin Cancer Center Loyola University Chicago, 2160 S. First Avenue Maywood, IL 60153 (USA) Tel. +1 708 327 3325, Fax +1 708 327 3238, E-Mail mkast@lumc.edu

since the advent of Pap smears and early treatment of precancerous lesions [2]. Unfortunately, in lower socioeconomic groups and in third world nations, where the majority of cervical cancers occur, most women do not have access to yearly Pap smears and/or treatment [2]. In these cases, a preventive and/or therapeutic HPV vaccine would be most helpful.

Presently, the best candidate for vaccine development is the papillomavirus virus-like particle (VLP). VLPs can be obtained by overexpression of the major capsid protein L1 alone, or by coexpression with the minor capsid protein L2 [3, 4]. HPV VLPs mimic infectious virions in structure and morphology and in their ability to induce neutralizing antibodies [3, 5]. Addition of L2 to L1 VLPs not only provides an increase in the number of neutralizing antibodies but also an increase in particle yield [4, 6, 7]. Several animal studies have shown protective effects after immunization with papillomavirus VLP-based vaccines. These studies have included both L1 VLP vaccines and L1/L2 VLP vaccines [8-11]. A phase I clinical study using an HPV16 VLP composed only of the L1 major structural viral protein has already shown promising results for the generation of neutralizing antibodies in humans [12].

Others have gone a step further and produced chimeric VLPs (cVLPs). cVLPs are made by incorporation of heterologous proteins or peptides as fusions behind either the major or minor capsid proteins [13–15]. The cVLPs deliver the nonstructural virus proteins to the MHC class I processing pathway, induce CD8+ MHC class I-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) and protect mice against challenge with E7-transformed tumor cells [14, 15]. cVLPs can also potentially be used as a therapeutic vaccine, leading to regression of established tumors [16, 17].

There are approximately 360 L1 molecules and 12 L2 molecules per VLP, a ratio of 30:1 [4]. The L1 protein can only accommodate a polypeptide of up to 60 amino acids without disrupting the three-dimensional structure of the VLP [13], whereas the L2 protein can certainly accommodate a polypeptide of up to 391 amino acids [15]. Assuming that an L1 cVLP delivers 30 times more antigen to an antigen-presenting cell (APC) than an L1/L2 cVLP, we hypothesized that an L1 fusion would result in more efficient priming of T cells at an equivalent dose compared to an L2 fusion. If, however, both cVLPs are equivalent in inducing T cell responses to the incorporated antigen, fusion to L2 would be more beneficial, since L2 can incorporate larger polypeptides, and thus more potential antigenic epitopes, without disrupting the VLP tertiary structure [15].

capsid provirions in y to induce to L1 VLPs of neutralizyield [4, 6, tive effects -based vac-P vaccines inical study e L1 major promising tibodies in 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µg/ml kanamycin, 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2 mM nonessential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µg/ml kanamycin, 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2 mM nonessential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µg/ml kanamycin, 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2 mM nonessential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µg/ml kanamycin, 50 mM 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2 mM nonessential amino acids, 2 mM L-glutamine, 50 µg/ml kanamycin, 50 mM 2-mercaptoetha-

epithelial cells transformed by HPV16 E6/E7 plus activated c-Ha-*ras* [18]. TC-1 cells were cultured in RPMI medium (Biowhittaker, Walkersville, Md., USA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2 m*M L*-glutamine, 50 μg/ml kanamycin, 50 m*M* 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 m*M* sodium pyruvate, 2 m*M* nonessential amino acids, 0.4 mg/ml G418 and 0.2 mg/ml hygromycin. Cells were grown at 37° with 5% CO₂. Anti-HPV16 L1 (Camvir-1) was purchased from BD Pharmingen (San Diego, Calif., USA). Antibodies H16.V5 (mouse IgG2b) and H16.E70 (mouse IgG2b) were a generous gift from Dr. Neil Christensen (Penn State University, Hershey, Pa., USA). Antibody 8F (mouse anti-HPV16 E7) was a generous gift from Dr. Robert Tindle (Royal Children's Hospital, Queensland, Australia). Anti-HPV16 L2 polyclonal rabbit antibody was a gift from Dr. John T. Schiller (National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, Md.,

In this study, we compared the vaccine efficacy of an

HPV16 L1 cVLP with the first 57 amino acids of the

HPV16 E7 oncoprotein fused to the L1 protein, HPV16

L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, to that of an HPV16 L1/L2 cVLP with the same polypeptide fused to the L2 protein, HPV16 L1/L2-

 $E7_{(1-57)}$. Mice immunized with either the HPV16 L1-

 $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLP or the HPV16 L1/L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLP were

challenged with E7-expressing murine tumor cells to

determine the extent of protection elicited by both of the cVLPs. Additionally, the HPV16 E7-specific CTL pre-

Animals

USA).

C57BL/6 (H2-D^b) female mice, 4–5 weeks of age, were purchased from Taconic (Germantown, N.Y., USA). All mice were approximately 6–8 weeks of age at the time of tumor challenge. Mice were housed under specific pathogen-free conditions.

Virus-Like Particles

Two HPV16 cVLPs were produced: HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ and HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎. E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ was PCR amplified from a plasmid containing the open reading frame of HPV16 E7, pZero-HPV16E7, using the following primers: forward, 5'-<u>ATC</u>ATGCATGGAGAT-ACACCTACATTG-3', and reverse, 5'-T<u>TCA</u>AAAGGTTACAATA-TTGTAATGGGC-3'. The forward primer added an *Eco*RV site (underlined) in front of the start codon and the reverse primer added a translational stop codon (underlined) after amino acid 57. The PCR product was cloned into the *Eco*RV site of pBluescript II (Stratagene, La Jolla, Calif., USA) and was sequenced. E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ was subcloned into plasmid 16L1 Δ C#155 in which the last 34 C-terminal amino acids of L1 had been deleted [13]. The resulting L1 Δ C-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ fusion was then subcloned into the baculovirus transfer vector pFastBac1 (Invitrogen Life Technologies, Carlsbad, Calif., USA) under the polyhe-

dron promoter. To construct the L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ fusion, HPV16 E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ was subcloned behind the HPV16 L2 gene in which the stop codon had been deleted by PCR, forming the plasmid HPV16 L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ in pBluescript II. The L2-E7 fusion was subcloned into pFastbac DUAL (Invitrogen Life Technologies) under the p10 baculovirus promoter with wild-type (wt) HPV16 L1 cloned into a second multicloning site under the baculovirus polyhedron promoter. Both of the final constructs were sequenced to confirm that no unintended mutations had been introduced. Recombinant HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ and HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ baculoviruses were generated using the Bac-to-Bac system (Invitrogen Life Technologies) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

HPV16 L1/L2 VLPs, HPV16 L1- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLPs and HPV16 L1/ L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLPs were produced in *Trichoplusia ni* (High Five) cells by infection with recombinant baculoviruses at a multiplicity of infection of 5–10. VLPs were purified from cells after 3 days by sucrose and CsCl gradient centrifugation, quantified and examined by electron microscopy, Western blot and ELISA as previously described [13, 15].

Electron Microscopy

Transmission electron microscopy was performed by adsorbing $20-\mu l$ VLP samples to carbon-coated copper grids and staining with 2% uranyl acetate. Specimens were examined with a Zeiss EM 900 electron microscope at 75 kV.

VLP ELISA

Purified cVLPs and wt L1/L2 VLPs (250 ng/well) were used to coat 96-well Maxisorp ELISA plates (Nunc, Naperville, Ill., USA). The conformation-dependent antibodies H16.V5 and H16.E70 detected intact VLPs. Bound antibody was detected by the addition of peroxidase-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG antibody (Biosource, Camarillo, Calif., USA), followed by the addition of o-phenylenediamine substrate in 0.05 M phosphate citrate buffer (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo., USA).

Immunization and Tumor Challenge

For in vitro experiments, two mice were immunized subcutaneously with 50 µg of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ and two mice with 50 µg of HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎. Mice were boosted on day 12 with another 50 µg of cVLPs. Control mice were injected with PBS. Mice were sacrificed 7 days later, after which the spleens and inguinal and axillary lymph nodes were removed. For in vitro stimulation, cells were stimulated for 5 days in 24-well tissue culture plates with 5 µg/ml RAHYNIVTF peptide (E7₍₄₉₋₅₇₎) [19].

For tumor challenge experiments, mice (groups of 10) were immunized subcutaneously with HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ or HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ at the following concentrations: 90, 30, 10, 3, 1, 0.3 or 0.1 μ g or PBS alone. Tumor challenge was performed 12 days later with 5 × 10⁴ TC-1 tumor cells suspended in 100 μ l of Hanks' balanced salt solution. Tumor diameter was measured two times a week along three axes and tumor volume was calculated (diameter 1 × diameter 2 × diameter 3). Mice were sacrificed when the tumor burden reached >1,500 mm³ or when tumors broke through the skin surface.

ELISPOT Assay

The number of peptide-specific IFN- γ -producing cells was measured as follows. Multiscreen HA plates (Millipore, Bedford, Mass., USA) were coated with 5 µg/ml anti-mouse IFN- γ antibody (Phar-

mingen) in PBS at 4° overnight. Plates were washed with PBS-0.5% Tween 20 and blocked with culture medium. Freshly isolated splenocytes or stimulated splenocytes were added at 1 × 10⁶ cells/well in triplicate followed by three twofold dilutions in medium containing 10 IU of interleukin-2 and 10 µg/ml RAHYNIVTF peptide. After 24 h of incubation at 37° in 5% CO₂, plates were washed with PBS-Tween and incubated for 2 h at room temperature with 2.5 µg/ml biotinylated anti-mouse IFN- γ antibody (Pharmingen). After extensive washing, 1.25 µg/ml avidin-alkaline-phosphatase (Sigma) was added to the wells for 2 h. Plates were developed by the addition of BCIP-NBT substrate (Promega, Madison, Wisc., USA) for 15 min. Tap water was used to stop the reaction and the plates were dried in air overnight. Individual spots were counted with a dissecting microscope. A positive response was defined as a value greater than the average of PBS-immunized mice ± 3 SD.

Tetramer Analysis

H2-D^b tetramers labeled with phycoerythrin and containing the HPV 16E7₍₄₉₋₅₇₎ peptide RAHYNIVTF were obtained from the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Tetramer Facility (Atlanta, Ga., USA). Splenocytes from immunized and control mice were cultured for 5 days in 24-well plates with 5 µg/ml RAHY-NIVTF peptide. CD8+ T cells were enriched using MACS cell sorting (Miltenyi Biotec, Auburn, Calif., USA) prior to tetramer staining. One million CD8+-enriched splenocytes were incubated for 1 h with 20 µl of 1/100 diluted tetramer and 2 µg of FITC-labeled anti-mouse CD8 antibody (Pharmingen) in PBS-0.5% BSA-2 m*M* EDTA. Cells were washed four times and analyzed by flow cytometry for the percentage of double-positive cells. A positive response was defined as a value greater than the average of nonimmunized mice ± 3 SD.

Statistical Analysis

Data were subjected to Kaplan-Meier survival analysis comparing survival curves with the log-rank test. Tumor incidence data were analyzed in 2×2 contingency tables by a two-tailed Fisher's exact test. In both cases, a p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results

Generation of cVLPs

To make a comparison between an L1 cVLP and an L1/L2 cVLP carrying the identical inserted heterologous polypeptide, DNA encoding $E7_{(1-57)}$ was cloned in frame behind either the L1 major capsid protein or the L2 minor capsid protein (fig. 1). The first 57 amino acids of HPV16 E7 were chosen as the length of inserted protein to be used for production of the two types of cVLPs for the following reasons. First, there is a size limitation for inserts when producing fusions to the L1 capsid protein. A maximum of 60 amino acids can be inserted behind a C-terminal truncated L1 without disrupting VLP assembly [13]. An attempt was made to produce HPV16 L1- $E7_{(1-60)}$ cVLPs; however, the VLP yield was not sufficient to produce an adequate amount for in vivo immunization experiments.



Fig. 1. Construction of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ and HPV16 L1/L2- E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs. **A** E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ was PCR amplified and cloned behind HPV16 L1 Δ C. The resulting construct was subcloned into the baculovirus transfer vector pFastBacI under the control of the polyhedron promoter. **B** E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ was PCR amplified and cloned behind HPV16 L2. The resulting chimeric L2-E7 construct was cloned into the second multicloning site of pFastBac DUAL under the control of the minor p10 promoter. wt HPV16 L1 was cloned into the first multicloning site under the polyhedron promoter. The final construct allowed expression of both the L1 protein and the L2-E7 fusion protein in the same baculovirus-infected cell.

Secondly, amino acids 49–57 from the E7 protein encode the murine H2-D^b-binding epitope, which is the major tumor rejection epitope for HPV16 E7-transformed tumor cells [19].

The protein yield of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs was significantly lower than that of HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs. Two milligrams of HPV16 L1 Δ C-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP were obtained from a total of 12 liters of cultured insect cells. Conversely, 4 mg of HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs were obtained from a 1-liter culture of insect cells. Therefore, to make an equivalent amount of L1 cVLP containing a maximum insert length requires 24 times more culture material compared to an L1/L2 cVLP. Though the yield of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs was much less than that of HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs, sufficient amounts could be produced to perform the necessary experiments.

To confirm that insertion of $E7_{(1-57)}$ did not lead to irregularly shaped VLPs, electron microscopy was performed. Both the L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ and L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs were morphologically indistinguishable from wt L1/L2 VLPs and were approximately 55 nm in diameter (fig. 2A). The presence of L1, L2 and E7 proteins was determined by Western blot analysis of the VLP preparations. For HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, only antibodies recognizing L1 or E7 reacted with a band migrating at approximately 70 kD, which is a slightly higher molecular weight than that of the wt L1 protein, as expected (fig. 2B). HPV16 L1/L2-E7(1-57) was positive for all three antibodies (fig. 2B). L2 and E7 co-migrated at approximately 100 kD, with a minor band below 75 kD potentially representing some degradation of the proteins. The L1 protein contained in the HPV16 L1/L2-E7(1-57) cVLPs was detected as the wt L1 55-kD protein (fig. 2B). Antibodies that recognize conformationally dependant epitopes of intact HPV16 VLPs were used in an ELISA assay to confirm that the cVLPs were also conformationally indistinguishable from their wt VLP counterpart (fig. 3). Both HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs and HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs reacted with H16.V5 and H16.E70 monoclonal antibodies with similar affinity to that of wt HPV16 L1/ L2 VLPs. These results support the conclusion that the cVLPs contained the appropriate proteins and were morphologically and conformationally identical to wt HPV16 L1/L2 VLPs except for the inserted E7 polypeptide.

Cell-Mediated Immunity Induced by $L1-E7_{(1-57)}$ *and* $L1/L2-E7_{(1-57)}$ *cVLPs*

A dose titration was performed in vivo with both types of cVLPs to determine to what extent the cVLPs were able to induce cell-mediated immunity against HPV16 E7-



Fig. 2. Electron microscopy and immunoblot analysis of cVLPs. **A** CsCl-purified wt HPV16 L1/L2 VLPs, L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs and L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs were analyzed by electron microscopy for retention of 55-nm icosahedral structure. Bar = 100 nm. **B** Western blot analysis of VLP preparations. L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs (lane 1), L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs (lane 2), wt baculovirus-infected Hi-5 cells (lane 3), wt HPV16 L1/L2 VLPs (lane 4) and insect cell-purified His-tagged E7 protein (lane 5) were separated by SDS-PAGE, blotted onto nitrocellulose membranes and probed with antibodies to HPV16 L1, HPV16 L2 or HPV16 E7. Reactivity was detected by enhanced chemiluminescence.

transformed tumors. Mice (groups of 10) were immunized with a single dose of 0.1, 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30 or 90 μ g of cVLPs or a PBS control. Mice were then challenged with E7-expressing TC-1 tumor cells to examine E7-specific antitumor immunity. Because the cells used to induce tumors are transformed by HPV16 E6/E7 and do not express either the L1 or L2 proteins, only immunization



Fig. 3. cVLPs retain conformational B cell epitopes similar to wt VLPs. Conformational-dependent monoclonal antibodies H16.V5 and H16.E70 were used to confirm the presence of L1 epitopes on L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs and L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs. Dilutions of antibody (Ab) were tested for reactivity against purified VLPs in an ELISA assay. Reactivity was detected by the addition of a peroxidase-labeled anti-mouse antibody followed by addition of substrate. Colorimetric changes were measured at 490 nm. OD = Optical density.

with E7-containing cVLPs, and not wt L1/L2 VLPs, protects mice from tumor challenge [15]. Immunization with 90 or 30 µg of HPV16 L1-E7(1-57) and 90 µg of HPV16 L1/L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ resulted in significantly more tumor-free mice compared to PBS-vaccinated control mice (table 1). A significant survival advantage was seen in the mice immunized with 3 µg or more of HPV16 L1-E7(1-57) cVLPs (fig. 4). One mouse in the group immunized with 90 μ g of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ had a small tumor that did not progress for the duration of the experiment, resulting in 90% survival overall seen in this group. In contrast, a survival advantage was only seen in the HPV16 L1/L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLP-immunized mice that had received the 90-µg dose. In the naive group, 9/10 mice developed tumors; however, 1 mouse in this group died fro unrelated causes (table 1, fig. 4).

Both ELISPOT and tetramer analysis were performed to confirm the specificity of the CTL response to the E7 peptide by both cVLPs. Splenocytes from vaccinated and control mice were tested in an ELISPOT assay for specific IFN- γ release upon stimulation with the H2-D^b-binding E7₍₄₉₋₅₇₎ peptide, and for binding of E7-specific T cells to H2-D^b-RAHYNIVTF tetramer complexes. In freshly isolated splenocytes from HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP-immunized mice, there were twice as many E7-specific IFN- γ secreting cells than in those from the control mice (table 2). When splenocytes were stimulated in vitro, there



Fig. 4. Long-term survival of mice immunized with HPV16 L1- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLPs or HPV16 L1/L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ cVLPs. C57BL/6 mice (10 animals/group) were immunized subcutaneously with various doses of cVLPs or PBS. Twelve days later, mice were challenged subcutaneously with TC-1 tumor cells. Tumor occurrence and volume were assessed 2 times a week. Mice were sacrificed when tumor volume reached >1,500 mm³ or when tumors broke through the skin surface. p values were calculated with the log-rank test for each dose com-

pared to the naive group. Only those doses of cVLPs that resulted in a significant survival advantage and the highest dose that did not result in a survival advantage are shown. p values are as follows: 90 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.0001; 30 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.0001; 10 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.001; 3 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.0005; 1 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.75; 90 µg of L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.003; 30 µg of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎, p = 0.6.

Table 1. In vivo dose response and effect of immunization with L1- $E7_{(1-57)}$ VLPs versus L1/L2- $E7_{(1-57)}$ VLPs

| Vaccine group | Tumor-free animals | p value |
|-----------------|--------------------|-----------|
| PBS | 1/10 | reference |
| 90 μg L1-E7 | 8/10 | 0.0055 |
| 30 µg L1-E7 | 8/10 | 0.0055 |
| 10 μg L1-E7 | 3/10 | 0.582 |
| 3 μg L1-E7 | 3/10 | 0.582 |
| 1 μg L1-E7 | 2/10 | 1.0 |
| 0.3 μg L1-E7 | 2/10 | 1.0 |
| 0.1 µg L1-E7 | 1/10 | 1.526 |
| 90 μg L1/L2-E7 | 6/10 | 0.05 |
| 30 µg L1/L2-E7 | 0/10 | 1.0 |
| 10 µg L1/L2-E7 | 2/10 | 1.0 |
| 3 µg L1/L2-E7 | 1/10 | 1.526 |
| 1 μg L1/L2-E7 | 2/10 | 1.0 |
| 0.3 µg L1/L2-E7 | 1/10 | 1.526 |
| 0.1 μg L1/L2-E7 | 1/10 | 1.526 |

p values were determined by a two-tailed Fisher's exact test comparing tumor incidence in PBS-vaccinated control animals to that in each vaccine group. PBS = Phosphate-buffered saline.

Table 2. Analysis of $E7_{(49-57)}$ CTL frequencies by ELISPOT and H2-Db-RAHYNIVTF tetramer staining

| Vaccine | Mouse | ELISF | ОТ | Tetramer staining | | | |
|----------------------------|-------|-----------|-----------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|--|--|
| | No. | fresh | following stimulation | fresh | following stimulation | | |
| PBS | 1 | 10 | 33 | 0.04 | 0.19 | | |
| | 2 | 17 | 46 | 0.05 | 0.25 | | |
| L1-E7 ₍₁₋₅₇₎ | 3 | 28 | 378 | 0.06 | 0.85 | | |
| | 4 | 31 | 438 | 0.05 | 0.73 | | |
| L1/L2-E7 ₍₁₋₅₇₎ | 5 | 25 | 210 | 0.05 | 0.44 | | |
| | 6 | 14 | 202 | 0.09 | 0.43 | | |

Values for the ELISPOT assay represent the number of spots per 10^6 splenocytes following stimulation with RAHYNIVTF peptide in freshly isolated splenocytes and in splenocyte cultures stimulated for 5 days. Values for tetramer staining represent the percentage of H2-D^b-RAHYNIVTF tetramer-positive CD8+ T cells in freshly isolated splenocytes and in splenocyte cultures stimulated for 5 days. Figures in bold represent positive responses. PBS = Phosphate-buffered saline.

were 10 times as many specific IFN- γ -secreting cells than in the control mice. In the HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPimmunized mice, the number of IFN- γ -secreting cells was half that of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP-immunized mice. Tetramer binding analysis of in vitro stimulated splenocytes showed a 3.6- and 2.0-fold increase in tetramer-positive CD8+ T cells in HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP- and HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP-immunized mice, respectively (table 2). Taken together, these data suggest that immunization with a lower dose of HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLP is equivalent to the effects seen with a high dose of HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs.

Discussion

This study has shown that heterologous protein fusion to the major capsid protein, L1, is more effective in delivering antigenic epitopes than fusion to the minor capsid protein, L2. This is consistent with the 30:1 ratio of L1 to L2 molecules in the HPV16 VLP [4]. An L1-E7 fusion would theoretically result in 360 copies of the E7 antigen being delivered to the cytosol of an APC, compared to the delivery of 12 copies of the antigen by an L2-E7 fusion. Although both HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs and HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs could elicit E7-specific T cells, immunization with HPV16 L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ cVLPs was more effective in protecting mice from tumor development and for overall survival after tumor challenge.

Müller et al. [13] showed that the construct HPV16 L1 Δ C-E7₍₁₋₆₀₎ could produce a significant amount of capsid but the number of particles was approximately two orders of magnitude less than HPV16 L1 Δ C-E7₍₁₋₅₅₎ cVLPs or wt VLPs. In our laboratory, an attempt was made to produce HPV16 L1 Δ C-E7₍₁₋₆₀₎ cVLPs in order to compare them with HPV16 L1/L2-E7₍₁₋₆₀₎ cVLPs that were also constructed in our laboratory. However, we were unable to reproduce the protein production described by Müller et al. [13] and Schafer et al. [17] that would yield enough VLP for the planned experiments. Therefore, to facilitate VLP assembly and production, we chose to incorporate a slightly smaller insert while including the presence of the murine E7 CTL epitope.

As indicated in the results, the yield of L1 cVLPs was very poor compared to that of L1/L2 cVLPs. Presumably, the inefficient VLP assembly we encountered is due to the presence of the inserted polypeptide, since L1 Δ C VLP formation is similar to wt L1 VLP formation (data not shown) [13]. This is important because even though a smaller dose of the L1 cVLP is needed for tumor suppres-

sion, the immunization efficiency for tumor protection is offset by a decrease in VLP production efficiency.

The numbers in this study are too small to state that one needs exactly 30 times less L1-E7 cVLP than L1/L2-E7 cVLP to induce an equivalent immune response against the E7 protein. Theoretically, a 3-µg dose of L1-E7₍₁₋₅₇₎ should be equivalent to a 90- μ g dose of L1/ $L2-E7_{(1-57)}$ in terms of the amount of E7 delivered to the immune system by the VLPs. The 3-ug dose of L1- $E7_{(1-57)}$ was not able to result in a significant amount of tumor-free animals; however, the overall survival of the group was significant (p = 0.0005) compared to that seen with the 90-µg dose of $L1/L2-E7_{(1-57)}$ (p = 0.003). These data suggest that the limiting factor for L1/L2 cVLPs may simply be the total amount of E7 antigen that is delivered to the immune system for processing and presentation to T cells. A single APC would have to take up 30 L1/L2-E7 cVLPs for every one L1-E7 cVLP to receive equal amounts of E7 peptides that would become available for presentation on the cell surface by MHC class I molecules. Because multiple T cell receptors must be engaged on a T cell in order to become activated [20], a single L1/L2 cVLP carrying 12 molecules of heterologous protein may not supply a sufficient dose for optimal presentation of multiple MHC-peptide complexes by an APC.

Whether an L1 cVLP or an L1/L2 cVLP is used for vaccination purposes, it is clear that both types of cVLPs are able to induce specific cell-mediated immunity in mice. The advantage of an L1 cVLP is that each VLP delivers 360 copies of the antigen to an APC. The disadvantage is that the length of polypeptide that can be accommodated limits the number of T cell epitopes that can be supplied. One way around this is by constructing cVLPs that contain multiple CTL epitopes. Liu et al. [21] demonstrated that bovine papillomavirus L1 VLPs carrying a string of four CTL epitopes (48-amino acid insert) can be used to deliver the epitopes to the immune system. Although their cVLPs showed some loss of icosahedral structure and the addition of different immunodominant B cell epitopes, the VLPs were still able to induce CTL responses. However, they too had difficulty with VLP assembly and capsid protein yields [21]. Addition of polypeptides to the L2 protein appears to be more forgiving when it comes to VLP assembly and VLP integrity. This is likely because the addition of extra protein to L2 does not interfere with how the L1 proteins interact with each other. Therefore, when making cVLPs, one can deliver a limited number of foreign epitopes with L1. If a large protein is desired for delivery (greater than 50 amino acids), L2

would be the fusion protein of choice. Since both types of cVLP can be used as antigen delivery vehicles, the difficulties with VLP assembly and yield of product for immunization purposes offset the increase in vaccine efficacy with L1 cVLPs.

Acknowledgements

We thank Mr. Steven Creech for assistance with the statistical analysis and Ms. Patricia Simms for assistance with flow cytometry. We thank Dr. Martin Müller for providing plasmid constructs and for helpful technical advice on VLP production. M.T.W. was supported by the John G.L. Masterson Endowment. This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants R01 CA74397 and P01 CA74182 to W.M.K.

References

- Walboomers JM, Jacobs MV, Manos MM, Bosch FX, Kummer JA, Shah KV, Snijders PJ, Peto J, Meijer CJ, Munoz N: Human papillomavirus is a necessary cause of invasive cervical cancer worldwide. J Pathol 1999;189:12– 19.
- 2 Cain JM, Howett MK: Preventing cervical cancer. Science 2000;288:1753–1755.
- 3 Kirnbauer R, Booy F, Cheng N, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Papillomavirus L1 major capsid protein self-assembles into virus-like particles that are highly immunogenic. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1992;89:12180–12184.
- 4 Kirnbauer R, Taub J, Greenstone H, Roden R, Durst M, Gissmann L, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Efficient self-assembly of human papillomavirus type 16 L1 and L1-L2 into virus-like particles. J Virol 1993;67:6929–6936.
- 5 Hagensee ME, Olson NH, Baker TS, Galloway DA: Three-dimensional structure of vaccinia virus-produced human papillomavirus type 1 capsids. J Virol 1994;68:4503–4505.
- 6 Roden RB, Weissinger EM, Henderson DW, Booy F, Kirnbauer R, Mushinski JF, Lowy DR, Schiller JT: Neutralization of bovine papillomavirus by antibodies to L1 and L2 capsid proteins. J Virol 1994;68:7570–7574.
- 7 Kawana K, Matsumoto K, Yoshikawa H, Taketani Y, Kawana T, Yoshiike K, Kanda T: A surface immunodeterminant of human papillomavirus type 16 minor capsid protein L2. Virology 1998;245:353–359.
- 8 Breitburd F, Kirnbauer R, Hubbert NL, Nonnenmacher B, Trin-Dinh-Desmarquet C, Orth G, Schiller JT, Lowy DR: Immunization with viruslike particles from cottontail rabbit papillomavirus (CRPV) can protect against experimental CRPV infection. J Virol 1995;69:3959– 3963.

- 9 Christensen ND, Reed CA, Cladel NM, Han R, Kreider JW: Immunization with viruslike particles induces long-term protection of rabbits against challenge with cottontail rabbit papillomavirus. J Virol 1996;70:960–965.
- 10 Kirnbauer R, Chandrachud LM, O'Neil BW, Wagner ER, Grindlay GJ, Armstrong A, McGarvie GM, Schiller JT, Lowy DR, Campo MS: Virus-like particles of bovine papillomavirus type 4 in prophylactic and therapeutic immunization. Virology 1996;219:37–44.
- 11 Suzich JA, Ghim SJ, Palmer-Hill FJ, White WI, Tamura JK, Bell JA, Newsome JA, Jenson AB, Schlegel R: Systemic immunization with papillomavirus L1 protein completely prevents the development of viral mucosal papillomas. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1995;92:11553– 11557.
- 12 Harro CD, Pang YY, Roden RB, Hildesheim A, Wang Z, Reynolds MJ, Mast TC, Robinson R, Murphy BR, Karron RA, Dillner J, Schiller JT, Lowy DR: Safety and immunogenicity trial in adult volunteers of a human papillomavirus 16 L1 virus-like particle vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93:284–292.
- 13 Müller M, Zhou J, Reed TD, Rittmuller C, Burger A, Gabelsberger J, Braspenning J, Gissmann L: Chimeric papillomavirus-like particles. Virology 1997;234:93–111.
- 14 Peng S, Frazer IH, Fernando GJ, Zhou J: Papillomavirus virus-like particles can deliver defined CTL epitopes to the MHC class I pathway. Virology 1998;240:147–157.
- 15 Greenstone HL, Nieland JD, de Visser KE, De Bruijn ML, Kirnbauer R, Roden RBS, Lowy DR, Kast WM, Schiller JT: Chimeric papillomavirus virus-like particles elicit antitumor immunity against the E7 oncoprotein in an HPV16 tumor model. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:1800–1805.

- 16 Nieland JD, Da Silva DM, Velders MP, de Visser KE, Schiller JT, Müller M, Kast WM: Chimeric papillomavirus virus-like particles induce a murine self-antigen-specific protective and therapeutic antitumor immune response. J Cell Biochem 1999;73:145–152.
- 17 Schafer K, Müller M, Faath S, Henn A, Osen W, Zentgraf H, Benner A, Gissmann L, Jochmus I: Immune response to human papillomavirus 16 L1E7 chimeric virus-like particles: Induction of cytotoxic T cells and specific tumor protection. Int J Cancer 1999;81:881–888.
- 18 Lin KY, Guarnieri FG, Staveley-O'Carroll KF, Levitsky HI, August JT, Pardoll DM, Wu TC: Treatment of established tumors with a novel vaccine that enhances major histocompatibility class II presentation of tumor antigen. Cancer Res 1996;56:21–26.
- 19 Feltkamp MC, Smits HL, Vierboom MP, Minnaar RP, de Jongh BM, Drijfhout JW, ter Schegget J, Melief CJM, Kast WM: Vaccination with cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope-containing peptide protects against a tumor induced by human papillomavirus type 16-transformed cells. Eur J Immunol 1993;23:2242– 2249.
- 20 Mescher MF: Molecular interactions in the activation of effector and precursor cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Immunol Rev 1995;146:177– 210.
- 21 Liu WJ, Liu XS, Zhao KN, Leggatt GR, Frazer IH: Papillomavirus virus-like particles for the delivery of multiple cytotoxic T cell epitopes. Virology 2000;273:374–382.

Intervirology 2002;45:308-317 DOI: 10.1159/000067922

Generation of Recombinant Virus-Like Particles of Human and Non-Human Polyomaviruses in Yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*

K. Sasnauskas^a A. Bulavaite^a A. Hale^c L. Jin^d W.A. Knowles^d A. Gedvilaite^a A. Dargevičiūte^a D. Bartkevičiūte^a A. Žvirblienė^a J. Staniulis^b D.W.G. Brown^d R. Ulrich^e

Institutes of ^aBiotechnology and ^bBotany, Vilnius, Lithuania; ^cLeeds Public Health Laboratory, Leeds, ^dCentral Public Health Laboratory, London, UK; ^eInstitute of Virology, Charité Medical School, Berlin, Germany

Key Words

Polyomavirus · Simian virus 40 · Avian, murine and human polyomavirus · Capsid protein VP1 · Expression · Yeast · Virus-like particles

Abstract

Objectives: Non-viral methods of gene transfer have been preferred in gene therapy approaches for several reasons, particularly for their safety, simplicity and convenience in introducing heterologous DNA into cells. Polyomavirus virus-like particles (VLPs) represent a promising carrier for encapsidation of foreign nucleic acids for gene therapy. For the development of such gene delivery systems as well as for providing reagents for improving virus diagnostics, an efficient yeast expression system for the generation of different polyomavirus VLPs was established. Methods: A galactoseinducible Saccharomyces cerevisiae yeast expression system was used. Formation of empty VLPs was confirmed by cesium chloride ultracentrifugation, agarose gel electrophoresis and electron microscopy. Cross-reactivity of the major capsid proteins (VP1) of different polyomaviruses was analyzed by Western blot using rabbit and mice sera raised against the VP1 proteins. Results: VP1 of polyomaviruses from humans (JC poly-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0308\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int omavirus and serotypes AS and SB of BK polyomavirus), rhesus monkeys (simian virus 40), hamsters (hamster polyomavirus), mice (murine polyomavirus) and birds (budgerigar fledgling disease virus) were expressed at high levels in yeast. Empty VLPs formed by all yeastexpressed VP1 proteins were dissociated into pentamers and reassociated into VLPs by defined ion and pH conditions. Different patterns of cross-reactivity of the VP1 proteins with heterologous mice and rabbit sera were observed. Conclusion: The developed heterologous yeast expression system is suitable for high-level production of polyomavirus VLPs. Yeast-derived VLPs are generally free of toxins, host cell DNA and proteins. These VLPs might be useful for the generation of new diagnostical tools, gene delivery systems and antiviral vaccines.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Polyomaviruses are nonenveloped double-stranded DNA viruses. Thirteen members of the Polyomaviridae family have been identified so far, with the majority infecting mammalian species [1]. Only two viruses infecting birds have been identified: budgerigar fledgling poly-

K. Sasnauskas

Institute of Biotechnology V. Graiciuno 8

LT-2028 Vilnius (Lithuania)

Tel. +370 5 260 2104, Fax +370 5 260 2116, E-Mail sasnausk@ibt.lt

omavirus (BFPyV) [2], previously designated budgerigar fledgling disease virus [1], and a recently discovered goose polyomavirus [3].

Most of these viruses display a narrow host range and do not efficiently infect other species. In addition, polyomaviruses exhibit a high level of tissue tropism due to a combination of receptor specificity and a need for intracellular effector proteins. The initial impetus for studies of these viruses was their ability to malignantly transform cells and their potential to induce tumors.

Murine polyomavirus (MPyV), discovered in 1953, is able to cause a variety of different types of tumors in newborn mice [1, 4, 5]. It emerged in a surprising fashion in the course of experiments aimed at demonstrating a viral agent in mouse leukemia. Newborn mice injected with cell-free extracts of leukemic tissues developed, instead of leukemia, salivary gland carcinomas and a range of other solid tumors. The agent responsible for this action was given the name 'polyoma' for its ability to induce multiple tumors [5]. The virus has also been shown to induce other pathologies, including a runting syndrome [5–7], a myeloproliferative disease [8] and polyarteritis [9], as well as effects in enhancing autoimmune disease [10], depending in part on the particular virus strain and host genetic background.

Simian virus 40 (SV-40), isolated in 1960 from rhesus monkey kidney cell cultures used for production of poliovirus vaccines, has been demonstrated to be oncogenic for newborn hamsters. Recently, SV-40 T antigen sequences have been detected in some cancers, leading to a renewed interest in a potential role of SV-40 infection in the development of some human tumors [11, 12].

Two polyomaviruses of humans have been described, i.e. JC polyomavirus (JCPyV) and BK polyomavirus (BKPyV). JCPyV was originally isolated from patients with progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML). It establishes a persistent infection in its human host and may cause, in immunocompromised individuals and AIDS patients, the fatal brain disease PML [13]. Interestingly, recent investigations suggested that JCPvV could be used as a marker for investigations of human migration [14]. BKPyV was first isolated from the urine of an immunosuppressed renal transplant recipient and is associated with hemorrhagic cystitis in bone marrow transplant recipients [15, for a review, see ref. 16]. Both human viruses induce tumors in experimental animals; transgenic mice expressing BKPyV and JCPyV develop hepatocellular carcinoma and renal tumors, and primitive neuroectodermal tumors and neurologic illness, respectively [17].

Hamster polyomavirus (HaPyV) was originally isolated from spontaneously occurring hair follicle epithelioma of the Syrian hamster [18–20]. Other mammalian polyomaviruses include bovine polyomavirus, rabbit polyomavirus, a rat polyomavirus and Kilham virus, an additional polyomavirus of mice.

Most members of the Polyomaviridae family have capsids similar in size that are constructed from three viral capsid proteins, VP1, VP2 and VP3. Only avian polyomavirus BFPvV incorporates agnoprotein 1a into the virus particle as a fourth structural protein, VP4 [21, 22]. The major capsid protein VP1 of all polyomaviruses comprises approximately 80% of total virus capsid proteins. Because of its biological functions, e.g. interaction with the cellular receptor, encapsidation and intracellular transport of the viral genome, it is highly conserved between all polyomaviruses [23] (fig. 1). Previously, the assembly of VP1 originating from different polyomaviruses into virus-like particles (VLPs) using different eukaryotic and prokaryotic expression systems was demonstrated [24-35]. Recently, we generated HaPyV VP1derived VLPs in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae [36], which can be used as a carrier for the presentation of foreign epitopes on their surface [37]. Here, we describe the use of this yeast system for high-level expression and selfassembly of VP1 originating from different polyomaviruses, e.g. human polyomaviruses BKPyV (antigenic variants SB and AS) and JCPyV, SV-40, murine polyomavirus MPyV and avian polyomavirus BFPyV. These yeastexpressed recombinant VLPs might be useful for the generation of new diagnostical tools and antiviral vaccines.

Materials and Methods

Generation of Yeast Expression Plasmids

All DNA manipulations were performed according to standard procedures. Enzymes and kits for DNA manipulations were purchased from Fermentas AB (Vilnius, Lithuania). VP1-encoding DNA of the BKPyV strains AS and SB were amplified directly from urine samples from which these strains were originally isolated [38–40] (accession numbers: M23122, Z19536). The template DNAs for PCR amplification of VP1-encoding sequences of JCPyV [41] (accession number: U61771), SV-40 [30] (accession number: J02400), MPyV and BFPyV [26, 27] (accession numbers: J02289, AF118150) were kindly provided by Profs. D. Chang, H. Handa and R.A. Consigli, respectively.

The primers used for amplification of the VP1-encoding sequences incorporated *Xba*I or *Bcu*I sites for subcloning into the yeast vector pFX7, a unique ATG initiation codon in the forward primer and a stop TAA codon in the reverse primer (table 1).

The PCR amplification products were cloned into *Xba*I site of yeast expression vector pFX7 [36], allowing the selection of yeast

| ВКРуV (AS) VP1 ВКРуV (SB) VP1 JCРуV VP1 SV40 VP1 НаРуV VP1 МРуV VP1 ВFРуV VP1 | 10 1 MAPTKRKG 1 MAPTKRKG 1MAPTKRKG 1 MKMAPTKRKG 1MAPKRKSG 1MAPKRKSG 1 MSQKGKG | 20 ECPGAAP ECPGAAP E SCPGAAP ASSRCANPCG VS-KCETKCT SCP | 30 KKPKEPVQVP KKPKEPVQVP KKPKEPVQVP KRPCPKPANVP KACPRPAPVP RPQQVP | 40 KLLIKGGVEV KLLIKGGVEV KLUIKGGIEV KLIMRGGVGV KLLIKGGMEV RLLVKGGIEV | 50 LEVKTGVDAI LEVKTGVDAI LEVKTGVDSI LGVKTGVDSF LDLVTGEDSI LDLVTGPDSV LDVKSGPDSI |
|---|---|---|---|---|---|
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 60 51 TEVECFLNPE 51 TEVECFLNPE 51 TEVECFLTPE 51 TEVECFLNPQ 51 TQIEAYLNPR 51 TEIEAFLNPR 51 TTIEAYLQPR | 70 MGDP MGDP MGDP MGQNKPGTG- MGQPPTPESL PGQKN | 80 DDNLRGYS DDNLRGYS DEHLRGFS DEHQKGLS -TDGQYYGFS TEGGQYYGWS GYS | 90 QHLSAENAFE LKLTAENAFD KSISISDTFE KSLAAEKQFT QSIKVNSSLT RGINLATSDT TVITVQAEGY | 100 SDSPDRKMLP SDSPDKKMLP DDSPDKEQLP ADEVKANQLP EDSPENNTLP QDAPHSTEVP |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 110 101 CYSTARIPLP 101 CYSTARIPLP 101 CYSVARIPLP 101 CYSVARIPLP 101 YYSMAKIQLP 101 TWSMAKLQLP 101 CYSCARIPLP | 120 NLNEDLTCGN NLNEDLTCGN NLNEDLTCGN TLNEDLTCDT MLNEDLTCDT TINDDITCPT | 130 LLMWEAVTVK LLMWEAVTVK ILMWEAVTVK LQMWEAVSVK LQMWEAVSVK LLMWEAVSVK | 140 TEVIGITSML TEVIGITSML TEVIGVTTLM TEVIGVTAML TEVVGVGSLL TEVVGSSLL TEVVGVSSIL | 150 NLHAGSQ NLHAGSQ NVHSNGQ NLHSGTQ NVHGYGSRSE DVHGFNKPTD NMHSGAFR |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 160 151 KVHENGGGKP 151 KVHENGGGKP 151 ATHDNGAGKP 151 KTHENGAGKP 151 TKDI-GISKP 151 TVNTKVISTP 151 AFNGYGGGFT | 170 VQGSNFHFFA VQGSNFHFFA VQGTSFHFFS IQGSNFHFFA VEGTTYHMFA VEGSQYHVFA ICGPRIHFFS | 180 VGGDPLEMQG VGGEALELQG VGGEPLELQG VGGEPLDLQG VGGEPLDLQG VGGEPLDLQA | 190 VLMNYRTKYP VLMNYRTKYP VLANYRTKYP LVQNYNANY- LVTDARTKYK CMQNSKTVYP | 200 QGTI DGTI AQTV EAAIVSIKTV EEGVVTIKTI APLIGP |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 210 201 TPKNPTAQSQ 201 TPKNPTAQSQ 201 FPKNATVQSQ 201 TPKNATVDSQ 201 TGKAMTSTNQ 201 TKKDMVNKDQ 201 GEGEPRETAQ | 220 VMNTDHKAYL VMNTDHKAYL VMNTEHKAYL QMNTDHKAVL VLDPTAKAKL VLDPISKAKL VLDTGYKARL | 230 DKNNAYPVEC DKNNAYPVEC DKNKAYPVEC DKDNAYPVEC DKDGRYPIEI DKDGMYPVEI DKDGLYPIEC | 240 WIPDPSRNEN WIPDPSRNEN WVPDPTRNEN WVPDPSKNEN WGPDPSKNEN WHPDPAKNEN WCPDPAKNEN | 250 TRYFGTYTGG TRYFGTYTGG TRYFGTYTGG SRYYGNFTGG TRYFGNYTGG TRYYGNLTGG |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 260 251 ENVPPVLHVT 251 ENVPPVLHVT 251 ENVPPVLHIT 251 ENVPPVLHIT 251 TGTPPVMQFT 251 TTTPPVLQFT 251 PETPPVLAFT | 270 NTATTVLLDE NTATTVLLDE NTATTVLLDE NTLTTVLLDE NTLTTVLLDE NTLTTILLDE | 280 QGVGPLCKAD QGVGPLCKAD FGVGPLCKGD QGVGPLCKAD NGVGPLCKGD NGVGPLCKGD | 290 SLYVSAADIC SLYVSAADIC NLYLSAVDVC SLYVSAVDIC GLYLSAADVM GLYLSCVDIM GLFLSAADVA | 300 GLFTNSS-GT GLFTNSS-GT GMFTNRS-GS GLFTNTS-GT GWYIEYNSAG GRRVTRNYDV GTYVDQR-GR |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 310 301 QQWRGLARYF 301 QQWRGLARYF 301 QQWRGLSRYF 301 QQWKGLPRYF 301 WHWRGLPRYF 301 HHWRGLPRYF 301 QYWRGLPRYF | 320 KIRLRKRSVK KIRLRKRSVK KVQLRKRRVK KITLRKRSVK NVTLRKRWVK KITLRKRWVK SIQLRKRNVR | 330 NPYPISFLLS NPYPISFLLS NPYPISFLLS NPYPVTSLLA NPYPMASLIS NPYPVSGLLN | 340 DLINRRTQKV DLINRRTQKV DLINRRTPKV DLINRRTQRV SLYNNMLPTI SLFNNMLPQV SLFNDLMPRM | 350 DGQPMYGMES DGQPMYGMES DGQPMYGMDA DGQPMIGMSS EGQPMEGEAA QGQPMEGENT TGQSMQGSDA |
| BKPyV (AS) VP1 BKPyV (SB) VP1 JCPyV VP1 SV40 VP1 HaPyV VP1 MPyV VP1 BFPyV VP1 | 360 351 QVEEVRVFDG 351 QVEEVRVFDG 351 QIEEVRVFEG 351 QVEEVRVYED 351 QVEEVRVYEG 351 QVEEVRVYDG 351 QVEEVRVYEG | 370 TEQLPGDPDM TEQLPGDPDM TEELPGDPDM TEAVPGDPDW TEPVPGDPDM MEGLAPEIDM | 380 IRYIDRQGQL IRYIDRQGQL MRYVDRYGQL IRYIDEFGQT NRFIDKYGQQ TRYVDRFGKT | 390 QTKMV QTKMV TTRMQ HTKPPAKPAN KTVFPGN PPKAPR | 400 |

Sasnauskas et al.

| Table 1. Primers used for PCR amplificat | ion of VP1-encoding sequences | of BKPyV, JCPyV, SV-4 | 40 and murine and avian po | lyomavirus |
|---|-------------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|------------|
| | U 1 | | | - |

| Forward primer | Reverse primer |
|---|--|
| 5'-gtg tct aga ata <u>ATG</u> gcc cca acc aaa aga aaa g-3' 5'-gtg act agt ata ATG gcc cca acc aaa aga aga g_{-3} ' | 5'-gtg tct aga \underline{TTA} aac cat ttt tgt ttg caa ttc-3' 5'-gtg act agt \underline{TTA} can cat ttt tgt ctg caa ctg-3' |
| 5'-gtg tct aga ata <u>ATG</u> gee cca aca aaa aga ada g-3' | 5'-gtg tet aga $\underline{\text{TTA}}$ etg cat tet get tet get tte-3' |
| 5'-aga act agt ata <u>ATG</u> gct cca aaa aga aaa agc gg-3' 5'-aga act agt aca ATG tcc caa aaa gga aaa gga-3' | 5'-aga act agt <u>TTA</u> att tcc agg aaa tac agt-3' 5'-aga act agt TTA gcg ggg agc ttt ggg ggg cat-3' |
| | Forward primer 5'-gtg tct aga ata <u>ATG</u> gcc cca acc aaa aga aaa g-3' 5'-gtg act agt ata <u>ATG</u> gcc cca aca aaa aga aaa g-3' 5'-gtg tct aga ata <u>ATG</u> aag atg gcc cca aca aaa ag-3' 5'-aga act agt ata <u>ATG</u> gct cca aaa aga aaa agc gg-3' 5'-aga act agt ata <u>ATG</u> gct cca aaa aga aaa agc gg-3' 5'-aga act agt aca ATG tcc caa aaa gga aaa gga-3' |

The start and stop codons are underlined and the sites for restriction with XbaI and BcuI are given in bold.

transformants by permitting resistance to formaldehyde [42]. The sequences of the inserted VP1-encoding PCR products were verified by DNA sequencing. The generation of plasmid pFX-VP1-Ha (previously designated pFX7-VP1-12), encoding the authentic VP1 of HaPyV, has been described previously [36].

Expression and Purification of VP1-Derived VLPs

The pFX7-derived expression plasmids pFX-VP1-AS, pFX-VP1-SB, pFX-VP1-JC, pFX-VP1-SV, pFX-VP1-Ha, pFX-VP1-Py and pFX-VP1-Av, encoding the VP1 proteins of BKPyV-AS, BKPyV-SB, JCPyV, SV-40, HaPyV, MPyV and BFPyV, respectively, were transformed into *S. cerevisiae* AH22 derivative (*ura3 leu2 his4*). This strain was selected after comparing the expression of HaPyV VP1 in many *S. cerevisiae* strains derived from different genetic lines (*S. cerevisiae* DC5, FH4C and AH22 and some industrial wild-type strains) because it was found to be the most suitable in terms of expression and VLP formation. The original plasmid pFX7 (without any insert) was used as a control.

Yeast transformation, cultivation and recombinant protein purification were carried out as described previously [36, 37]. After disruption of the cells, yeast lysate was centrifuged at 3,000 g for 10 min at 4°. The supernatant was collected and loaded onto a chilled 30% sucrose cushion in centrifuge tubes and ultracentrifuged at 100,000 gfor 3 h at 4°. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in a small volume (4 ml) of chilled disruption buffer. The suspension was then loaded on top of a chilled CsCl gradient ranging from 1.23 to 1.38 g/ml and centrifuged at 100,000 g for 48 h. Fractions of 1 ml were collected and subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis. Fractions containing a protein corresponding to the molecular weight of VP1 (approximately 35-45 kD) were pooled, diluted with 1.31 g/ml CsCl and recentrifuged on a second CsCl gradient. Fractions were collected and those containing VP1 were pooled and dialyzed against 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.2, and 100 mM NaCl for electron microscopic and Western blot analysis. The buoyant density of the fractions was determined with a refractometer.

Fig. 1. Alignment of VP1 protein amino acid sequences of human (BKPyV-AS, M23122; BKPyV-SB, Z19536; JCPyV, U61771), primate (SV-40, J02400), rodent (HaPyV, AJ006015; MPyV, J62289) and avian (BFPyV, AF118150) polyomaviruses.

SDS-PAGE and Western Blot Analysis

Samples boiled in sample buffer were applied to a 12% SDS-PAGE and run in SDS-Tris-glycine buffer. Proteins were stained by the addition of Coomassie brilliant blue. After SDS-PAGE, proteins were transferred to nitrocellulose membrane HybondTM ECL (Amersham Life Science, Buckinghamshire, UK). After blocking for 1 h in 5% dry milk-PBS-0.1% Tween 20, (PBS-phosphate-buffered saline, 8 g of NaCl, 0.2 g of KCl, 1.44 g of Na₂HPO₄, and 0.24 g of KH₂PO₄ in 1,000 ml of H₂O, pH 7.4), the filters were incubated overnight in the antibody solution [mouse serum raised against yeastexpressed BKPyV-AS VP1, diluted 1/1,000; mouse serum against yeast-expressed JCPyV VP1, diluted 1/1,500; rabbit serum against baculovirus-expressed JCPyV VP1, diluted 1/1,000; rabbit serum against SV-40 virions, diluted 1/1,000; rabbit serum against Escherichia coli-expressed truncated HaPvV VP1, amino acids 29-320 [23], diluted 1/1,000; rabbit serum against MPyV VP1, diluted 1/2,000; rabbit serum against VP1 of B-lymphotropic polyomavirus (LPyV) diluted 1/2,000]. For detection of specific antibody binding, peroxidase-labeled anti-mouse or anti-rabbit immune globulin conjugate (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo., USA) was used. The blots were stained with TMB (3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine) substrate (Fermentas AB, Vilnius, Lithuania).

Detection of Formation of VLPs by Electron Microscopy

CsCl gradient fractions containing recombinant VP1 were placed on 400-mesh carbon-coated palladium grids. The samples were stained with 2% aqueous uranyl acetate solution and examined with a JEM-100S electron microscope.

Nucleic Acid Contamination and Stability of VP1-Derived VLPs

Dialyzed VP1-derived VLPs purified by cesium chloride gradient centrifugation were treated with pancreatic DNase I and RNase A (Fermentas) and again centrifuged in a cesium chloride gradient. Subsequently, 100 μ g of particles were lysed with 25 mM EDTA-1% SDS, deproteinized with a phenol-chloroform mix and precipitated with 2.5 volumes of ethanol, using glycogen as carrier. The samples were dissolved in 25 μ l of TE (10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8) buffer and analyzed in a 1.5% agarose gel. 0.5 μ g of RNA or 0.5 μ g of DNA were added to control samples before deproteinization.

The dissociation of yeast-derived VP1 particles was investigated by addition of 10 mM EDTA-10 mM DTT (dithiothreitol) in 10 mMTris-HCl, pH 9, at 37° for 60 min. After incubation, electron microscopy analysis was carried out.

Generation of Polyomavirus VLPs in Yeast

Results

Previously, we demonstrated the highly efficient generation of HaPyV VP1-derived VLPs in the yeast *S. cerevisiae* AH22 using the pFX7-derived expression plasmid pFX-VP1-Ha and subsequently expressed the human polyomaviruses BKPyV and JCPyV [36, 38]. We have now further extended these studies by inserting the VP1encoding sequences of SV-40, murine polyomavirus MPyV and avian polyomavirus BFPyV into this expression plasmid (to produce pFX-VP1-AS, pFX-VP1-SB, pFX-VP1-JC, pFX-VP1-SV, pFX-VP1-Py and pFX-VP1-Av) and introduced the recombinant plasmids into the yeast *S. cerevisiae* AH22.

Upon galactose induction of the yeast GAL10-PYK1 hybrid promoter, the recombinant polyomavirus VP1 proteins were purified by ultracentrifugation of crude yeast lysates through a sucrose cushion and subsequently on a cesium chloride gradient. SDS-PAGE analysis revealed additional protein bands of approximately 35-45 kD for all constructs (fig. 2A). In general, these protein bands correspond to the expected molecular weights of the different polyomavirus VP1 proteins (table 2). Although the putative amino acid sequence of BKPyV-AS VP1 is of an identical length to that of BKPyV-SB and differs by only five amino acids within the BC loop [39], the observed molecular weight of AS VP1 was significantly higher than that of SB (fig. 2, lane 2). Direct sequence analysis of the VP1-encoding DNA sequences of BKPyV-AS and -SB from yeast cells amplified by PCR using primers based on flanking plasmid sequences indicated correct termini of the AS and SB VP1-encoding sequences (data not shown). In addition, N-terminal amino acid sequencing of the yeast-expressed AS and SB VP1 proteins revealed the predicted N-terminal sequences [38].

As expected, the VP1 derivatives of BKPyV-AS (fig. 2B, lane 1), BKPyV-SB (fig. 2B, lane 2), JCPyV (fig. 2C, D, lane 3), SV-40 (fig. 2E, lane 4), HaPyV (fig. 2F, lane 5), MPyV (fig. 2G, lane 6) and BFPyV (fig. 2H, lane 7) reacted with the homologous mice and rabbit sera raised against BKPyV-AS VP1, JCPyV VP1, SV-40 virions, HaPyV VP1, MPyV VP1 and BFPyV VP1.

To investigate the assembly competence of the different VP1 proteins, they were purified by CsCl gradient centrifugation. For all constructs, the peak of VP1 proteins were detected in fractions corresponding to buoyant densities of 1.29–1.31 g/ml, suggesting the formation of empty VLPs. In addition, a minor fraction of the VP1 proteins was found at a density of approximately 1.33–



Fig. 2. SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis of CsCl-ultracentrifugation-purified yeast-expressed VP1 proteins of different polyomaviruses. 2 μ g of purified VP1 proteins of BKPyV-AS (lane 1), BKPyV-SB (lane 2), JCPyV (lane 3), SV-40 (lane 4), HaPyV (lane 5), MPyV (lane 6) and BFPyV (lane 7) were separated in a 12% SDS-PAGE and stained with Coomassie brilliant blue (**A**). Separated proteins were analyzed by Western blot using mouse anti-BKPyV-AS VP1 serum (**B**), mouse anti-JCPyV VP1 serum (**C**), rabbit anti-JCPyV VP1 serum (**D**), rabbit anti-SV-40 virus serum (**E**), rabbit anti-HaPyV (amino acids 29–320) serum (**F**), rabbit anti-LPyV serum (**I**). M = Prestained protein molecular weight markers: ovalbumin, 46 kD, and carbonic anhydrase, 32 kD (Fermentas).

1.34 g/ml. The formation of VLPs for all VP1 proteins was confirmed by negative staining electron microscopy (fig. 3). As previously observed for yeast-expressed Ha-PyV VP1-derived VLPs [36], the particles formed by all the various VP1 proteins were heterogeneous in size, with diameters of 45–50 nm. HaPyV and MPyV VP1-derived VLPs were found to be the most homogeneous in size.



Fig. 3. Detection of yeast-expressed VP1derived VLPs of BKPyV-AS (1), BKPyV-SB (2), JCPyV (3), SV-40 (4), MPyV (5) and BFPyV (6) by negative stain electron microscopy.

| Number in SDS-PAGE (fig. 2) | Viral origin of VP1 | Predicted molecular weight, kD | Formation of VLPs | Yield of VLPs from 1 liter of yeast culture, mg | DNA contami- nation |
|-----------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------------------|---|---------------------------|
| 1 | BKPyV (AS) | 39.98 | + | 37±5 | _ |
| 2 | BKPyV (SB) | 39.99 | + | 39 ± 5 | _ |
| 3 | JCPyV | 39.46 | + | 35 ± 4 | _ |
| 4 | SV-40 | 40.03 | + | 30 ± 4 | _ |
| 5 | HaPyV | 41.74 | + | 40 ± 5 | _ |
| 6 | MPyV | 42.46 | + | 30 ± 4 | _ |
| 7 | BFPyV | 37.22 | + | 5 ± 2 | - |
| | | | | | |

yeast-expressed polyomavirus VP1 proteins

Table 2. Characterization of the

Molecular weight was predicted by a computer program (http://www.expasy.ch/tools/). The formation of VLPs was assessed by negative stain electron microscopy. DNA contamination was determined by agarose gel electrophoresis. The values for the yield of VLPs are the average from three independent experiments.

Although VLPs of these sizes dominated, a small fraction of smaller VLPs, 20–25 nm in diameter, was observed for all VP1 proteins (fig. 3).

To investigate a potential DNA contamination of VLPs, agarose gel electrophoresis was carried out. After ultracentrifugation twice in cesium chloride, we could detect only traces of DNA contamination in the main fraction of all VLPs (1.29–1.31 g/ml). This DNA contamination was removed after dialysis and subsequent nuclease treatment. Only in the minor fraction (density 1.33–1.34 g/ml) were traces of DNA contamination observed even after nuclease treatment. There were no

obvious differences in the DNA contamination between VLPs originating from the various VP1 proteins (data not shown).

The yield of purified VLPs derived from almost all VP1 proteins, except those originating from BFPyV, ranged from 30 to 40 mg per liter of the induction medium (table 2). A much lower yield (5 mg per liter of medium) was obtained for BFPyV VP1-derived VLPs.

All VLPs are unstable in 10 mM EDTA-10 mM DTT-Tris-HCl, pH 9; under such conditions, VLPs were very efficiently dissociated into pentamers. During dialysis against 0.1 mM CaCl₂-0.1 M sodium acetate, pH 6, pen-

Generation of Polyomavirus VLPs in Yeast

tamers reassociated into particles different in size (data not shown).

Because of the strong similarity between the amino acid sequences of the various VP1 proteins (fig. 1), one may expect a strong cross-reactivity between VP1 proteins of different polyomaviruses. Consequently, preexisting VP1-cross-reactive antibodies may interfere with the efficiency of VLPs in gene transfer. Therefore, we studied the cross-reactivity of the yeast-expressed polyomavirus VP1 proteins with the heterologous sera in Western blots. A high cross-reactivity with heterologous mice or rabbit sera among all the different VP1 proteins was observed in the Western blot. Interestingly, sera raised against VP1 proteins of human polyomaviruses BKPyV (strain AS) and JCPyV reacted strongly with VP1 of JCPyV and BKPyV (strain SB) (fig. 2B-D, lanes 1-3) and SV-40 (fig. 2B-D, lane 4). In contrast, the rabbit sera raised against SV-40 virions, HaPyV VP1 (amino acids 29-320) and MPyV VP1 detected the corresponding homologous proteins very strongly (fig. 2E, lane 4, fig. 2F, lane 5, fig. 2G, lane 6) but the VP1 proteins of the other polyomaviruses only very weakly (fig. 2E, lanes 1-3, 5-7, fig. 2F, lanes 1-4, 6, 7). A rabbit serum raised against LPyV VP1 reacted with VP1 proteins of JCPyV (fig. 2I, lane 3) and HaPyV (fig. 2I, lane 5); however, very weak signals were observed with BKPyV, SV-40, MPyV and BFPyV VP1 (fig. 2I, lanes 1, 2, 4, 6, 7). Surprisingly, the anti-BFPyV-VP1-specific serum also reacted with VP1 proteins of mammalian polyomaviruses, namely JCPyV (fig. 2H, lane 3), SV-40 (fig. 2H, lane 4), HaPyV (fig. 2H, lane 5) and MPyV (fig. 2H, lane 6), but not with BKPyV VP1 (fig. 2H, lanes 1, 2).

Discussion

A large number of recent studies have reported the detection of SV-40 nucleotide sequences in a variety of unrelated human cancers, including pediatric and adult brain tumors, pleural mesotheliomas, bronchopulmonary carcinomas and osteosarcomas. These observations imply that SV-40 is circulating in human communities by person-to-person transmission and that the virus is capable of wide dissemination in the infected individual. Human polyomaviruses BKPyV and JCPyV cause persistent infections in the human host which may cause, under conditions of immunosuppression, complications in transplantation due to virus reactivation and the fatal brain disease PML, respectively. Infections with these viruses might also contribute to other complications that are known to

arise in immunocompromised patients, e.g. respiratory tract disease and tumors [15, 16]. There is evidence to suggest that these viruses are dangerous for people; therefore, monitoring of polyomavirus infections would be beneficial. There is thus a need for highly sensitive and specific serological assays for past exposure to BKPyV, JCPyV and SV-40 as well as markers for patients at risk or showing early signs of complications due to polyomavirus reactivation. VLPs provide important means of producing antigens for such study.

Another potential application of polyomavirus-derived VLPs involves gene therapy approaches. Recently, many laboratories have demonstrated the capabilities of polyomavirus VLPs for in vitro packaging and delivery of DNA into human cells [28, 29, 34, 43–48]. The possibility of modifying the surface of VLPs by insertion of foreign sequences [37, 49] may allow construction of VLPs for cell type-specific targeting of therapeutic genes.

For these purposes, highly efficient expression systems allowing the generation of pure, toxin contamination-free VLPs are required. Currently, baculovirus and bacterial expression systems for generation of VP1 are predominant [24, 25, 27–34, 43–47], and only a few successful cases of expression in yeast have been described till now [35, 36, 38].

The yeast system offers several advantages which should be of relevance for synthesis of such VLPs. Yeast expression systems for the biotechnological preparation of products for human use are well established; moreover, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* has been attributed to the GRAS (generally recognized as safe) microorganisms and is described to be free of toxins hazardous for humans. At present, the yeast *S. cerevisiae* is used for the production of recombinant hepatitis B virus subunit vaccines (Engerix, Glaxo SmithKline, Munich, Germany; Gen H-B-Vax, Aventis Pasteur MSD GmbH, Leimen, Germany; Chiron Behring GmbH, Marburg, Germany).

The purpose of the present study was to develop a universal expression system suitable for the generation of VLPs of different polyomaviruses. In the study presented, we cloned the entire VP1-encoding sequence of different polyomaviruses into the pFX7 plasmid. Previously, this plasmid has been used for successful yeast expression of HaPyV VP1-derived VLPs, mumps nucleoprotein and hantavirus nucleocapsid proteins [36, 50, 51].

In this study, we have demonstrated that the yeast *S. cerevisiae* is a suitable host for a high-level production of VP1 from different polyomaviruses. For the development of this expression system, we used the vector pFX7, which contains a dominant selective marker – resistance

to formaldehyde [42]. This vector allowed us to test different yeast strains independently of their genotype, including wild-type ones. In this way, we easily succeeded in selecting the S. cerevisiae AH22 derivative strain as being the best suited for generation of polyomavirus-derived VLPs. On the other hand, our study with different yeast strains revealed that not all S. cerevisiae strains were suitable for a high-level production of polyomavirus VLPs (data not shown). These observations are in agreement with the results obtained by Palkova et al. [35] for MPvV VP1, where an inhibition of yeast growth was observed under induction conditions. This supports the idea that the expression level and formation of VLPs depend on the genetic background of the yeast. In our experiments, no growth inhibition of the S. cerevisiae AH22 derivative strain expressing the above-mentioned VP1 proteins of different polyomaviruses was observed. The expression level of most polyomavirus VP1 derivatives in S. cerevisiae on the whole was high, and their yield was 30-40 mg/ liter of culture (table 2). Such high yields of a specific protein will be most valuable in future for a potential largescale production. The lowest yield was observed for BFPyV VP1-derived VLPs. After induction in yeast lysates, the expression level of avian polyomavirus VP1 was comparable to the level of VP1 of other polyomaviruses; however, formation of VLPs was not as effective as that of mammalian polyomavirus VP1. It is possible that for the efficient formation of BFPyV VP1 VLPs, specific host- or virus-coded proteins are required, or, on the contrary, some host proteins could interfere with the formation of VLPs in the heterologous host cells. Exclusively pFX7-VP1-Av-transformed yeast cells adhere to each other after the induction of BFPyV VP1 protein synthesis, forming macroscopic clumps which settle rapidly from suspension in liquid culture. Under induction conditions, the behavior of these yeast cells simulates that of yeast cells carrying a mutation of the FLO1 gene, which controls yeast flocculation. Such significant physiological changes in yeast cells suggest the possibility of BFPyV VP1 interactions with yeast cell structures. Such interactions could influence yeast physiology and the formation of VLPs. The interactions of MPyV VP1 with yeast cell structures and growth inhibition were observed earlier by Palkova et al. [35]; however, no changes concerning flocculation were described.

Recently, An et al. [33] demonstrated that avian polyomavirus VP1 did not assemble into VLPs when expressed in the baculovirus system in vivo, but could assemble into capsid-like particles in vitro after purification of capsomeres. This failure of in vivo assembly may be due to the greater complexity, compared to mammalian polyomaviruses, of the capsid of avian polyomavirus, which incorporates an additional protein VP4 (agnoprotein 1a). The role of this protein in virus particle formation is not clearly defined yet. So, currently yeast is a unique system for in vivo production of avian polyomavirus VLPs.

Our Western blot analysis with different polyclonal antibodies exhibited high cross-reactivity between human (BKPyV, JCPyV) and primate (SV-40) polyomavirus VP1. Previously, cross-reactivity of VP1 among polyomaviruses was described for sera raised against SV-40 and MPvV [52]. Recently, rabbit sera raised against JCPyV VP1 and SV-40 were found to cross-react with HaPvV VP1. Moreover, the major cross-reactive region was mapped between amino acids 320 and 384 of HaPyV VP1 [23, 53]. More precise mapping using a PepScan and recombinant phage fr coat protein/VP1 fusions allowed the definition of at least two major epitopes in this region [23; Voronkova et al., unpubl. data]. The lack of this Cterminal region in the antigen used for generation of the HaPyV VP1-specific rabbit serum may have caused the low level of cross-reactivity with VP1 of other polyomaviruses observed by us. Whereas monospecific rabbit sera raised against phage fr coat protein fusions with HaPyV VP1 amino acids 333-384 and 351-384 were strongly reactive in ELISA with yeast-expressed BKPyV and JCPvV VP1 [Voronkova et al., unpubl. data], only 1 out of 14 sera from different pet hamsters naturally infected by an HaPyV-like virus reacted with these antigens [54]. This different level of cross-reactivity may be due to differences in the antibody responses induced by natural polyomavirus infection and in laboratory animals immunized with recombinant VP1 proteins. Even between sera raised against yeast- and baculovirus-expressed VP1 of JCPyV, a different cross-reactivity pattern was observed, probably caused by peculiarities of the VLPs formed in the two expression systems. Surprisingly, a strong crossreactivity of anti-BFPyV VP1 with JCPyV, SV-40, MPyV and HaPvV VP1 was observed, but there was no crossreactivity with BKPvV VP1. The low cross-reactivity of the mice sera raised against BKPyV and JCPyV VP1 with rodent polyomavirus VP1 proteins makes rodent polyomavirus VP1 VLPs a prospective tool for the development of gene transfer systems for humans. However, additional investigations to study sera of naturally polyomavirus-infected humans are required to prove this conclusion.

Samples of virions from mouse cells infected with polyomavirus and of recombinant MPyV VP1 from in-

Generation of Polyomavirus VLPs in Yeast

sect cells contained a subpopulation of particles that harbored fragments of host chromosomal DNA and histones [47]. Purification of the VLPs in a cesium chloride gradient revealed a buoyant density of 1.29-1.31 g/ml for all particles. The buoyant density in cesium chloride gradients (1.29–1.31 g/ml) of yeast-expressed VP1 particles corresponded to the values observed for empty particles from SV-40 and other polyomaviruses and baculovirusexpressed VP1 particles of JCPvV [19]. In contrast, the density of DNA-containing capsids was determined to be 1.34 g/ml [19, 55]. In our studies, such fractions comprised only a minor part of particles; empty particles dominated in all studied VLPs. Yeast cells likely do not incorporate host DNA into VLPs because of the cytoplasmic location of VLPs in the yeast expression system described herein [36]. Furthermore, in contrast to insect cells, no host DNA degradation occurs in yeast cells during the short induction and VP1 synthesis period. However, VP1 protein could bind small DNA fragments of host DNA during cell disruption and purification. Our results contradict the observations of Palkova et al. [35] concerning the presence of yeast DNA fragments in yeast-derived murine polyomavirus VP1 VLPs. According to our observations, twofold ultracentrifugation in CsCl and nuclease treatment remove any traces of DNA detectable in agarose gels. Only in the minor fraction with a density of

1.33–1.34 g/ml could we detect traces of DNA which were resistant to the action of RNase.

Our results suggest that the yeast *S. cerevisiae* represents a universal system for high-yield generation of different polyomavirus VLPs. Many lines of evidence suggest that yeast-derived heterologous proteins are free of toxic contamination and are excellent tools for developing vaccines, diagnostics and gene delivery systems [50, 51].

In conclusion, the polyomavirus VLPs described here represent useful tools for the development of new virus detection systems and vaccines against human polyomaviruses. In addition, these VLPs may allow the construction of new gene delivery systems and of chimeric particles displaying foreign antigens on their surface as previously described for HaPyV and MPyV [37, 49].

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank C. Goldmann (Göttingen), R. Johne (Leipzig) and M. Pawlita (Heidelberg) for providing rabbit sera raised against SV40 virions and JCPyV, BFPyV, MPyV and LPyV VP1, respectively, and Profs. R.A. Consigli, D. Chang and H. Handa for generously providing polyomavirus genes. The work was supported in part by EC grant QLK2-CT-2000–01476, Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung (WTZ LIT-002-97, LTU 00/001), the Lithuanian State Science and Study Foundation (No. 273) and the Charité Medical School.

References

- Cole CN, Conzen SD: Polyomaviridae: The virus and their replication; in Knipe DM, Howley PM (eds): Fields' Virology, ed 4, revised. Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2001, vol 2, pp 2141–2196.
- 2 van Regenmortel MHV, Fauquet CM, Bishop DHL, Carstens EB, Estes MK, Lemon SM, Maniloff J, Mayo MA, McGeoch DJ, Pringle CR, Wickner RB (eds): Virus Taxonomy: Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses. Seventh Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. San Diego, Academic, 2000, pp 241–246.
- 3 Guerin J-L, Gelf J, Dubois L, Vuillaume A, Boucraut-Baralon C, Pingret J-L: A novel polyomavirus (goose hemorrhagic polyomavirus) is the agent of hemorrhagic nephritis enteritis of geese. J Virol 2000;74:4523–4529.
- 4 Stewart SE, Eddy BE, Borgese NG: Neoplasms in mice inoculated with a tumor agent carried in tissue culture. J Natl Cancer Inst 1958;20: 1223–1243.
- 5 Benjamin T: Polyoma virus: Old findings and new challenges. Virology 2001;289:167–173.

- 6 Bauer PH, Bronson RT, Fung SC, Freund R, Stehle T, Harrison SC, Benjamin TL: Genetic and structural analysis of a virulence determinant in polyomavirus VP1. J Virol 1995;69: 7925–7931.
- 7 Bolen JB, Fisher SE, Chowdhury K, Shah TC, Williams JE, Dawe CJ, Israel MA: A determinant of polyomavirus virulence enhances virus growth in cells of renal origin. J Virol 1985;53: 335–339.
- 8 Szomolanyi-Tsuda I, Dundon PL, Joris I, Shultz LD, Woda RA, Welsh RM: Acute, lethal, natural killer cell-resistant myeloproliferative disease induced by polyomavirus in severe combined immunodeficient mice. Am J Pathol 1994;144:359–371.
- 9 Dawe CJ, Freund R, Barncastle JP, Dubensky TW, Mandel G, Benjamin TL: Necrotizing arterial lesion in microbearing tumors induced by polyoma virus. J Exp Pathol 1987;3:177– 201.
- 10 Tonietti G, Oldstone MB: The effect of induced chronic viral infections on the immunologic diseases of New Zealand mice. J Exp Med 1970;132:89–109.

- 11 Butel JS, Lednicky JA: Cell and molecular biology of simian virus 40: Implications for human infections and disease. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999; 91:119–134.
- 12 Shah KV: Does SV40 infection contribute to the development of human cancers? Rev Med Virol 2000;10:31–43.
- 13 Schmidbauer M, Budka H, Shah KV: Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) in AIDS and the pre-AIDS era. Acta Neuropathol (Berl) 1990;80:375–380.
- 14 Stoner GL, Jobes DV, Cobo MF, Agostini HT, Chima SC, Ryschkevitsch CF: JC virus as a marker of human migration to the Americas. Microbes Infect 2000;2:1905–1911.
- 15 Gardner SD, Field AM, Coleman DV, Hulme B: New human papovavirus (B.K.) isolated from urine after renal transplantation. Lancet 1971;i:1253–1257.
- 16 Li J, Gibson PE: Genomic function and variation of human polyomavirus BK (BKV). Rev Med Virol 1996;6:201–214.
- 17 Imperiale MJ: The human polyomaviruses, BKV and JCV: Molecular pathogenesis of acute disease and potential role in cancer. Virology 2000;267:1–7.

Sasnauskas et al.

- 18 Graffi A, Schramm T, Graffi I: Virus-associated skin tumors of the Syrian hamster. Preliminary note. J Natl Cancer Inst 1968;40:867– 873.
- 19 Ulrich R, Sommerfeld K, Schröder A, Prokoph H, Arnold W, Krüger DH, Scherneck S: Hamster polyomavirus-encoded proteins: Gene cloning, heterologous expression and immunoreactivity. Virus Genes 1996;12:265–274.
- 20 Scherneck S, Ulrich R, Feunteun J: The hamster polyomavirus – a brief review of recent knowledge. Virus Genes 2001;22:93–101.
- 21 Johne R, Müller H: Avian polyomavirus agnoprotein 1a is incorporated into the virus particle as a fourth structural protein, VP4. J Gen Virol 2001;82:909–918.
- 22 Liu Q, Hobom G: Agnoprotein-1a of avian polyomavirus budgerigar fledgling disease virus: Identification of phosphorylation sites and functional importance in the virus life-cycle. J Gen Virol 2000;81:359–367.
- 23 Siray H, Özel M, Jandrig B, Voronkova T, Jia W, Zocher R, Arnold W, Scherneck S, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: Capsid protein-encoding genes of hamster polyomavirus and properties of viral capsid. Virus Genes 1999;18:39–47.
- 24 Leavitt AD, Roberts TM, Garcea RL: Polyoma virus major capsid protein, VP1. J Biol Chem 1985;260:12803–12809.
- 25 Montross L, Watkins S Moreland RB, Mamon H, Caspar DLD, Garcea RL: Nuclear assembly of polyomavirus capsids in insect cells expressing the major capsid protein VP1. J Virol 1991; 65:4991–4998.
- 26 Chang D, Cai X, Consigli R: Characterization of the DNA binding properties of polyomavirus capsid proteins. J Virol 1993;67:6327– 6331.
- 27 Rodgers RED, Chang D, Cai X, Consigli R: Purification of recombinant budgerigar fledgling disease virus VP1 capsid protein and its ability for in vitro capsid assembly. J Virol 1994;68:3386–3390.
- 28 Forstova J, Krauzewicz N, Sandig V, Elliott J, Palkova Z, Strauss M, Griffin BE: Polyoma virus pseudocapsids as efficient carriers of heterologous DNA into mammalian cells. Hum Gene Ther 1995;6:297–306.
- 29 Pawlita M, Müller M, Oppenländer M, Zentgraft H, Herrmann M: DNA encapsidation by viruslike particles assembled in insect cells from the major capsid protein VP1 of B-lymphotropic papovavirus. J Virol 1996;70:7517– 7526.
- 30 Kosukegawa A, Arisaka F, Takayama M, Yajima H, Kaidow A, Handa H: Purification and characterization of virus-like particles and pentamers produced by the expression of SV40 capsid proteins in insect cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1290:37–45.
- 31 Chang D, Fung CY, Ou WC, Chao PC, Li SY, Wang M, Huang YL, Tzeng TY, Tsai RT: Selfassembly of the JC virus major capsid protein, VP1, expressed in insect cells. J Gen Virol 1997;78:1435–1439.

- 32 An K, Gillock ET, Sweat JA, Reeves WM, Consigli RA: Use of the baculovirus system to assemble polyomavirus capsid-like particles with different polyomavirus structural proteins: Analysis of the recombinant assembled capsid-like particles. J Gen Virol 1999;80: 1009–1016.
- 33 An K, Smiley SA, Gillock ET, Reeves WM, Consigli RA: Avian polyomavirus major capsid protein VP1 interacts with the minor capsid proteins and is transported into the cell nucleus but does not assemble into capsid-like particles when expressed in the baculovirus system. Virus Res 1999;64:173–185.
- 34 Goldmann C, Petry H, Frye S, Ast O, Ebitsch S, Jentsch K-D, Kaup F-J, Weber F, Trebst C, Nisslein T, Hunsmann G, Weber T, Lüke W: Molecular cloning and expression of major structural protein VP1 of the human polyomavirus JC virus: Formation of virus-like particles useful for immunological and therapeutic studies. J Virol 1999;73:4465–4469.
- 35 Palkova Z, Adamec T, Liebl D, Stokrova JU, Forstova J: Production of polyomavirus structural protein in yeast cells and its interaction with cell structures. FEBS Lett 2000;478:281– 289.
- 36 Sasnauskas K, Buzaite O, Vogel F, Jandrig B, Razanskas R, Staniulis J, Scherneck S, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: Yeast cells allow high-level expression and formation of polyomavirus-like particles. Biol Chem 1999;380:381–386.
- 37 Gedvilaite A, Frömmel C, Sasnauskas K, Micheel B, Özel M, Behrsing O, Staniulis J, Jandrig B, Scherneck S, Ulrich R: Formation of immunogenic virus-like particles by inserting epitopes into surface-exposed regions of hamster polyomavirus major capsid protein. Virology 2000;273:21–35.
- 38 Hale A, Bartkevičiūtė D, Dargevičiūtė A, Jin L, Knowles W, Staniulis J, Brown DWG, Sasnauskas K: Expression and antigenic characterization of the major capsid proteins of human polyomaviruses BK and JC in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Virol Methods 2002;104:93–98.
- 39 Knowles WA, Gibson PE, Gardner SD: Serological typing scheme for BK-like isolates of human polyomavirus. J Med Virol 1989;28: 118–123.
- 40 Jin L, Gibson PE, Knowles WA, Clewley JP: BK virus antigenic variants: Sequence analysis within the capsid VP1 epitope. J Med Virol 1993;39:50–56.
- 41 Ou W-C, Tsai R-T, Wang M, Fung C-Y, Hseu T-H, Chang D: Genomic cloning and sequence analysis of Taiwan-3 human polyomavirus JC virus. J Formos Med Assoc 1997;96:511–516.
- 42 Sasnauskas K, Jomantiene R, Januska A, Lebediene E, Lebedys J, Janulaitis A: Cloning and analysis of a *Candida maltosa* gene which confers resistance to formaldehyde in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Gene 1992;122:207–211.

- 43 Sandalon Z, Dalyot-Herman N, Oppenheim AB, Oppenheim A: In vitro assembly of SV40 virions and pseudovirions: Vector development for gene therapy. Hum Gene Ther 1997; 8:843–849.
- 44 Braun H, Boller K, Löwer J, Bertling WM, Zimmer A: Oligonucleotide and plasmid DNA packaging into polyoma VP1 virus-like particles expressed in *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 1999;29:31–43.
- 45 Ou W-C, Wang M, Fung C-Y, Tsai R-T, Chao P-C, Hseu T-H, Chang D: The major capsid protein, VP1, of human JC virus expressed in *Escherichia coli* is able to self-assemble into a capsid-like particle and deliver exogenous DNA into human kidney cells. J Gen Virol 1999;80:39–46.
- 46 Yang Y-W, Chen L-H: Gene delivery via polyomavirus major capsid protein VP1, isolated from recombinant *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 2000;32:73–79.
- 47 Gillock ET, Rottinghaus S, Chang D, Cai X, Smiley SA, An K, Consigli RA: Polyomavirus major capsid protein VP1 is capable of packaging cellular DNA when expressed in the baculovirus system. J Virol 1997;71:2857–2865.
- 48 Gillock ET, An K, Consigli RA: Truncation of the nuclear localization signal of polyomavirus VP1 results in a loss of DNA packaging when expressed in the baculovirus system. Virus Res 1998;58:149–160.
- 49 Gleiter S, Stubenrauch K, Lilie H: Changing the surface of a virus shell fusion of an enzyme to polyoma VP1. Protein Sci 1999;8:2562– 2569.
- 50 Samuel D, Sasnauskas K, Jin L, Beard S, Zvirbliene A, Gedvilaite A, Cohen B: High level expression of recombinant mumps nucleoprotein in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and its evaluation in mumps IgM serology. J Med Virol 2002; 66:123–130.
- 51 Dargevičiūtė A, Brus-Sjölander K, Sasnauskas K, Krüger DH, Meisel H, Ulrich R, Lundkvist Å: Yeast-expressed Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein induces protection in a bank vole model. Vaccines 2002;20:3523–3531.
- 52 Shah KV, Ozer HL, Ghazey HN, Kelly TJ: Common structural antigen of papovaviruses of the simian virus 40-polyoma subgroup. J Virol 1977;21:179–186.
- 53 Siray H, Frömmel C, Voronkova T, Hahn S, Arnold W, Schneider-Mergener J, Scherneck S, Ulrich R: An immunodominant, cross-reactive B-cell epitope region is located at the C-terminal part of the hamster polyomavirus major capsid protein VP1. Viral Immunol 2000;13: 533–545.
- 54 Foster AP, Brown PJ, Jandrig B, Grosch A, Voronkova T, Scherneck S, Ulrich R: Polyomavirus infection in hamsters and trichoepitheliomas/cutaneous adnexal tumours. Vet Rec 2002;151:13–17.
- 55 Shah KV: Polyomaviruses; in Fields BN, Knipe DM (eds): Fields' Virology. New York, Raven, 1990, pp 1609–1623.

Intervirology 2002;45:318-327 DOI: 10.1159/000067924

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

Rainer Ulrich^a Brian Hjelle^b Christian Pitra^c Detlev H. Krüger^a

^aInstitute of Virology, Humboldt University, Charité Medical School, Berlin, Germany; ^bDepartment of Pathology, University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, N. Mex., USA; ^cDepartment of Evolutionary Genetics, Institute for Zoo Biology and Wildlife Research, Berlin, Germany

Key Words

Hantavirus · Bunyaviridae · Emerging viruses · Rodents · Evolution · Pathogenesis · Vaccine

Abstract

This review briefly summarises the recent knowledge about hantavirus infections and raises particular problems in hantavirus research that need further investigation. The following questions are addressed: (i) are hantaviruses distributed worldwide and what leads to new outbreaks, (ii) what is known about hantavirus evolution, (iii) how can hantavirus species be defined, (iv) what are the determinants of hantavirus pathogenesis in humans, and (v) what problems are associated with the development of new vaccines and antiviral therapeutics.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Human hantavirus (HV) infections are known to cause renal failure. Since the description of a hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome in 1993, HV have attracted even more interest not only in the scientific community but also in the public. Recently, a couple of reviews about HV, dealing with their genomic structure and replication, evolution, rodent reservoirs and transmission to humans, pathogenesis, antiviral therapies and vaccines, have been published [1, 2]. The objective of this review is to briefly

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0318\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int summarise the recent knowledge about HV infections, but more to critically discuss the state of the art and to raise particular questions that need further investigation. These questions are represented by more theoretical topics like species definition but also applied topics like the development of vaccines and the mechanisms behind the induction of protective immunity (table 1).

When looking at HV research from a more historical perspective, infections in humans caused by HV were already described during World War 1, many years before the isolation of the prototype virus Hantaan (HTNV) by Ho-Wang Lee et al. [3] and the definition of the disease as 'haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome' (HFRS). The main effort to find the causative agent of this type of disease, carrying various names, including 'Feld-Nephritis' in Germany, was initiated after the Korean Conflict in the fifties of the previous century when soldiers of the UN troops became infected by an unknown agent resulting in Korean haemorrhagic fever, a well-known disease in Asia. Numerous attempts were undertaken in the 1980s to identify HV in America [for a review, see ref. 4]. Moreover, retrospective studies in the USA, which had started after the first occurrence of the hantavirus cardiopulmonary syndrome (HCPS) in 1993, demonstrated that New World HV were already present in the rodent population long before the first description of HCPS. However, HV are much older, as indicated by a Chinese medical account of an HFRS-like disease dating to about AD 960 [5].

Dr. Detlev H. Krüger Institute of Virology

Humboldt University, School of Medicine Charité

D-10098 Berlin (Germany)

Tel. +49 30 450 525092, Fax +49 30 450 525907, E-Mail detlev.kruger@charite.de

| Section | Question |
|---|---|
| Are HV Distributed Worldwide and What Leads to New Outbreaks? | Are HV truly distributed worldwide? What could be factors responsible for emergence of HV? |
| Evolution of HV | What is the importance of different evolutionary factors (mutation, natural selection, genetic drift, recombination, gene flow) in HV evolution? What is the natural relevance of genetic interactions between HV? |
| Problems of Species Definition | How can a new distinct HV species be defined? |
| Pathogenesis of HV Infections in Humans | What are determinants from the aspect of the virus/infected person of the virulence and clinical severity of human infections? What is the basis for the probably different severity of DOBV-induced human infections in Europe? |
| Vaccines and Antiviral Therapy | What is the role of cytotoxic T cell responses in protection and immunopathology? Could a potential vaccine shown to protect rodents also be able to induce protective immunity in humans? |

Table 1. Summary of selected questions in HV research addressed in this paper

Are HV Distributed Worldwide and What Leads to New Outbreaks?

In general, HV seem to be distributed worldwide, including Asia, Europe and the Americas. However, there are regions, namely Africa and Australia, where only very limited information about HV-infected rodents and human HV infections is available so far. Thus, only very few reports illuminate the presence of HV-specific antibodies in humans in Central and East African countries [6, 7]. As early as 1982, Gajdusek [8] had reported HTNV-reactive human sera not only in Asian countries, like India and Iran, but also in Alaska, Bolivia and Central Africa. Although other bunyaviruses are endemic in Australia, to our knowledge there is only one report showing the presence of HV-specific antibodies in sera of wild-trapped rodents [9].

However, even for Europe, the distribution of different HV species is far from clear. One previous explanation for the worldwide distribution of HV was the putative presence of Seoul virus (SEOV) infections due to migration of SEOV-infected rats, especially in ports around the world. However, again this requires additional proof. To date, we and others have not been able to verify any human infection caused by SEOV in Europe [10–13]. The previous claim of European SEOV infections may have been caused by the lack of specific assays capable of distinguishing among HV species. Thus, presently available neutralisation assays confirmed the presence of Puumala virus (PUUV) and the SEOV-related Dobrava virus (DOBV) (see below) as the major causes of human infections in Europe. On the other hand, HV infections imported from Asia to Europe cannot be excluded as a cause of earlier described SEOV infections.

One major issue, also for the prognosis of potential new outbreaks of infections, is to figure out the reasons for the emergence (or re-emergence) of viruses [14]. Interestingly, investigations connected with the outbreak of HCPS in the USA in 1993 demonstrated a correlation with an increase in rodent population density possibly due to an El Nino Southern Oscillation and the resulting increase in the food resources for rodents on the one hand, and the ratio of HV-infected rodents and the occurrence of the first recognised human infections on the other. As discussed for other emerging infectious agents, too, transmission of HV to humans could also be enabled by changes in the human lifestyle. HV infections in rodents may have emerged due to human-induced landscape alterations and/or climatic changes influencing population dynamics of HV reservoir hosts, with disease consequences for humans.

Evolution of HV

According to the Committee of Virus Taxonomy, HV represent a separate genus *Hantavirus* in the Bunyaviridae family. Like other virus families causing haemorrhag-

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

ic fevers, e.g. Filoviridae and Arenaviridae, bunyaviruses possess a negative-stranded RNA genome. Bunyaviridae and Arenaviridae contain three- and two-segment genomes, respectively, but Filoviridae possess non-segmented genomes. In contrast to the other genera of the Bunyaviridae, HV are transmitted to humans not by arthropod vectors but from persistently infected rodents. In the future, studies of the evolutionary relationship of bunyaviruses to other negative-stranded RNA viruses would be a fascinating topic.

Keeping in mind the theory of co-evolution and co-speciation of HV and their respective rodent hosts on the one hand and the migration of rodents well documented by fossil records starting in Eurasia and Northern America already at the end of the Mesozoic period/in the early Neozoic period (Tertiary, Paleocene) on the other hand, there is a large gap in the knowledge of HV evolution, raising questions about the monophyletic origin of the *Hantavirus* genus, its phylogenetic relationships and the time of divergence. The general problems of molecular clock approaches (see below) make it difficult to estimate a date for divergence of the most recent common ancestor of HV.

When reconstructing the radiation of HV, an interesting question is which random and non-random evolutionary factors are involved and to what extent. Natural selection is the most important non-random evolutionary factor resulting in radiation and host adaptation. The natural hosts of most known HV are rodents of the family Muridae, in which these viruses cause a persistent but asymptomatic infection. Phylogenetic studies using HV sequences have been undertaken, demonstrating clear division into three well-differentiated clades corresponding to viruses parasitic on three subfamilies (Murinae, Arvicolinae and Sigmodontinae) of the rodent family Muridae [15–17]. In rooted trees of M (medium) and L (large) segments of the HV genome, the viruses with hosts belonging to Arvicolinae and Sigmodontinae formed a sister group separated from those with hosts in Murinae [15]. This phylogeny corresponded with phylogenetic trees of muroid pancreatic ribonuclease genes [18] and mitochondrial cytochrome b genes [15, 19]; Arvicolinae and Sigmodontinae clustered together as sister taxa, with Murinae outside.

The congruence in branching patterns and consistency in the extent of divergence between the HV phylogenetic tree and that of the virus hosts' lineages supports the hypothesis that co-speciation has been a prominent feature in HV evolution. This, in turn, suggests that HV have co-evolved with their rodent hosts at least since the common ancestor of the three subfamilies of Muridae, which probably occurred about 50 million years ago [15]. However, the detection of the Thottapalayam virus (TPMV) in a shrew (Insectivora: Soricidae: *Suncus murinus*) suggested that the HV have co-evolved with mammals since before the divergence of insectivores and rodents about 136 million years ago [20, 21]. Inasmuch as TPMV has been isolated on a single occasion from a single shrew, it remains less than clear that TPMV is truly a shrew-specific HV and not another rodent-borne member of the genus *Hantavirus*. Further investigation to resolve the role of non-murid mammals as carriers of HV is highly desirable (see below).

The zoogeographic pattern of the HV populations parallels the natural distribution of their respective rodent carriers, supporting the hypothesis of co-evolution. While the natural distribution of the Murinae is restricted to the Old World and that of Sigmodontinae is restricted to the New World, Arvicolinae are naturally found in both the New World and the Old World [22]. Accordingly, a group of closely related HV (Tula, Isla Vista, Bloodland Lake and Prospect Hill viruses) whose hosts belong to the genus *Microtus* (subfamily Arvicolinae), inhabiting both the Old World and the New World, represents the only known group of HV possessing both Old World and New World representatives.

Among randomly acting factors in the evolution of HV one would expect variation of the mutation rate, genetic drift and differences in the population history. Assuming that HV have co-evolved with their specific rodent reservoir hosts, Hughes and Friedman [15] estimated a substitution rate of 2.4–2.7 \times 10⁻⁷ synonymous substitutions per nucleotide per year. Sironen et al. [23] estimated the mutation rate for PUUV at about 0.7 \times 10⁻⁷ to 2.2 \times 10⁻⁶. Although considerably lower than mutation rates in other RNA viruses, these rates are about two orders of magnitude faster than typical mutation rates in mammals [24]. Under these circumstances, saturation of synonymous sites in the virus genome should have occurred much more rapidly than in the host species genome, leading to errors when phylogenetic reconstructions are based upon nucleotide sequences rather than amino acid sequences, a common practice in studies of HV phylogenetics. Furthermore, an evolutionary rate shift has been detected in different RNA viruses (HIV, influenza A virus), indicating adaptive molecular evolution [25]. Recently, a high frequency of amino acid residue charge changes was observed in the hypervariable region of the nucleocapsid protein between the three HV subfamilies [15]. Since this region includes epitopes for host anti-

320

bodies, such changes may represent adaptation to hostspecific characteristics of the immune response.

Recombination events like reassortment and intragenic recombination have been reported under in vivo and in vitro conditions [26–29, Klempa et al., submitted]. As their probability seems to be quite low, the importance of recombination events for HV evolution is uncertain. Analogous to the codon usage limitation in the expression of human RNA virus genes [30], one might also expect a rodentadapted codon usage in HV proteins; however, to our knowledge, this has not yet been studied systematically.

The cyclic population dynamics of rodents makes it very likely that population bottleneck events and genetic drift play an important role [31–33]. Accordingly, the unique features of the genome of the DOBV-like Saaremaa virus, isolated on an Estonian island in the Baltic Sea (see below), might be due to separation and genetic drift. Therefore, characterisation of Saaremaa-like viruses from mainland Estonia would be very conclusive.

Besides the well-supported concept of co-evolution, host switch events and spillover infections have been reported for additional rodent species like Ondatra zibethicus [34], Lemmus sibiricus [35], Apodemus sylvaticus [36] and Arvicola terrestris [37]. Spillover infections have been documented in numerous studies in the New World, with detection of Microtus-borne viruses in Peromyscus and Sigmodon, Peromyscus-borne viruses in Reithrodontomys, chipmunks and Mus, Reithrodontomys-borne viruses in voles and woodrats, Oryzomys-borne viruses in Sigmodon and a number of unpublished examples of similar observations in South America [38-44; Hjelle, unpubl. data]. There are even reports about probable HV infections of moose [45], bats [46], carnivores (red fox [47], domestic cat and dog [48, 49]) and insectivores (shrew [17, 50]). Further investigations are needed to verify if these species contain only HV-specific antibodies due to a limited infection (spillover) or whether the viruses can be replicated and transmitted within these host species.

Problems of Species Definition

The definition of HV species (as for virus species in general) is a difficult matter and still under discussion. The biospecies concept developed by Ernst Mayr and others is well established in zoology. In contrast to typological species definitions which are based on morphological characters, the biospecies concept is based on the fact that species are separated by a genetically mediated inability to produce fertile infants. Therefore, the sympatric occurrence of distinct animal species without any genetic interaction under natural conditions proved the presence of distinct species (sympatric test in zoology). Consequently, when transferring this definition to virology, this would mean that the separation of viruses by their occurrence in different rodent species makes intragenic recombination and reassortment very unlikely, suggesting the presence of distinct virus species. In line with this assumption, only for closely related New World HV strains within the same species (Sin Nombre virus; SNV) has genetic reassortment been observed in vivo [26, 27].

The current problem of the HV species definition is reflected by the official recommendation of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses [51], representing a mixture of typological characters (e.g. at least a 7% amino acid divergence between species in the nucleocapsid protein and glycoprotein precursor and at least a fourfold difference in two-way virus cross-neutralisation) and a biospecies concept-based part (absence of genetic reassortment in nature, unique ecological niche for each virus species, i.e. a close association of a virus species with a specific rodent reservoir host).

In contrast, the definition by Monroe et al. [52] provided a more generalised biological point of view similar to the biospecies concept in defining HV species as the 'lowest taxonomic unit that is geographically and ecologically contained, genetically (reproductively) isolated, phylogenetically distinct, and self-sufficient'. Nevertheless, this type of definition also leaves several problems, resulting also from uncertainties in recent rodent taxonomy [53]. It is by no means always possible to ascertain that a single virus strain and the host in which it is found are in a true association and not associated through a spillover infection from the true host [54]. This problem becomes especially important in regions in which there are many closely related rodent species. In one trapping session, for example, investigators captured three HV-infected Sigmodontine rodents (a Peromyscus leucopus and two Sigmodon hispidus), all of which proved to be infected with the rare vole-borne strain Bloodland Lake virus [Hielle, unpubl. data]. Without additional data that later linked this virus to its true host, Microtus ochrogaster, it would have been possible to misidentify even the correct subfamily of its natural host. Making a clear association between a virus and its host at the level of the host species can be difficult in some cases, and associating virus and host at the subspecies level is more difficult still.

An additional problem is related to the time axis for the species definition, which is reflected in palaeontology

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

in the term 'chronospecies'. The definition of a distinct HV species raises the question: What could be the consequence of detection of footprints of previous recombination events for the definition of an HV species? The occurrence of DOBV-like virus strains in two different hosts, Apodemus flavicollis (DOBV-Af lineage) and Apodemus agrarius (DOBV-Aa lineage) is still difficult to reflect in virus taxonomy. It has been proposed that the only DOBV-Aa virus strain which could be isolated so far, Saaremaa, represents a unique virus species [53]. However, the relatively high nucleotide and amino acid sequence identities of DOBV-Af and DOBV-Aa lineages and a recent description of probable reassortment within the DOBV species leading to Saaremaa virus [87] have strengthened the doubt as to whether this virus strain really represents a distinct species. On the other hand, results from a majority of anti-DOBV sera in two-way cross-neutralisation studies have suggested that a South-East European DOBV-Af strain and the Saaremaa virus are different serotypes [55]. Consequently, it should be carefully proven whether the terms 'species', 'serotype' and 'genotype' can be used synonymously in the HV taxonomy.

Pathogenesis of HV Infections in Humans

The pathogenicity of HV is determined by the interaction between the virus and the human host. Consequently, when asking what are the determinants of pathogenicity of HV for humans, there are two sides to the coin: From the virus aspect, one can ask what makes an HV pathogenic for humans and what is the reason that another HV is not pathogenic for humans? From the host aspect, it is unclear what makes some infected people ill and others not. In other words, there is an interplay between the pathogenetic markers of the virus and the genetic background of the human host. It is interesting to see the spectrum of asymptomatic infections and symptomatic infections with renal and pulmonary dysfunction of different severity. In some HCPS cases, renal dysfunction has also been seen, and in some HFRS cases, additional pulmonary dysfunction has been observed. When analysing the pathogenicity of HV, one should keep in mind that HV in contrast to other viruses pathogenic for humans which are thought to be strongly adapted to humans, like human herpesviruses - are mainly adapted to their respective rodent host but not to humans, as they are dead-end hosts. Therefore, further investigations into whether person-toperson transmission, as reported for Andes virus (ANDV) [56], is only exceptional, should have a strong impact on the understanding of the pathogenicity of this specific virus. ANDV is also uniquely able to induce lethal infections in hamsters [57].

The cellular entry site of HV seems to distinguish between HV pathogenic for humans and those which are non-pathogenic. Pathogenic viruses have been found to interact with the $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ integrin receptor, whereas HV that are thought to be non-pathogenic seem to use another integrin receptor [58]. It has been recently suggested that transgenic mice expressing human β_3 integrins may provide animal models of HV pathogenesis and have the potential to radically improve the ability to investigate HV disease [58]. Jin et al. [59] demonstrated that HTNV enters cells via the clathrin-coated pit pathway and uses low pH-dependent intracellular compartments for infectious entry. Additional investigations are needed to verify whether, as found for other viruses, co-receptors or alternative receptors are used for receptor-mediated entry of HV. Such investigations may also solve the question of how mice can be susceptible to experimental HV infection. Consequently, regions in the viral glycoproteins might represent markers for pathogenicity which may yet be identified. Indeed, the exchange of as few as one amino acid residue in the glycoprotein of HTNV can significantly alter the pathogenicity of the virus in a mouse encephalitis model [60, 61]. Cell culture adaptation of PUUV resulting in a reduction/loss of infectivity for rodents was shown likely to be due to nucleotide changes in the 3' noncoding region of the viral S segment [62]. Moreover, Arvicolinae-associated HV like PUUV and Tula virus as well as all Sigmodontinae-associated HV studied to date possess a second putative reading frame on their S genome segment which might play a role in pathogenicity or alternatively in the adaptation of the virus to the rodent host. In other members of the family Bunyaviridae, an analogously located reading frame, 'NSs', may have a role in inhibiting the type I interferon response and decreasing virulence in the host [63]. However, there is no evidence for the expression of an ORF2-derived protein in PUUVinfected cells in cell culture [Lundkvist, pers. commun.]. In addition, the presence of a quasi-species population in an infected patient might influence the pathogenicity of HV infection.

With respect to the pathogenicity mechanism of HV infections, there is increasing evidence that it is mediated not by a direct cytopathic effect of the virus but by indirect ways like immunopathology. Thus, we have found an up-regulation of MHC class I molecules in dendritic and endothelial cells after HTNV infection [64]. Several re-

ports have demonstrated the presence of HV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes in HV-infected HFRS and HCPS patients [65, 66]. Increased levels of cytokines after HV infection have been observed in vitro and in vivo. Thus, the production of TNF- α can be related to symptoms observed in both HFRS and HCPS [67]. The potential influence of the genetic background of humans on the clinical outcome of HV infections has been demonstrated. For PUUV infections, a correlation between certain HLA haplotypes and TNF- α alleles and the severity of nephropathia epidemica, a mild form of HFRS in Europe, has been observed [68].

Previously, we have speculated about reasons for the different clinical severity of DOBV-caused HFRS in Europe; mild HFRS in Central and Eastern Europe might be due to infection by members of the DOBV-Aa lineage, whereas severe HFRS cases in South and South-East Europe were shown to be caused by DOBV-Af infections. However, there are several questions requiring further investigations to prove this hypothesis. In parts of Central Europe, both DOBV hosts, A. agrarius and A. flavicollis, are present. Moreover, a sympatric occurrence of DOBV-Aa and DOBV-Af has been reported for Slovakia [13, 87] and Slovenia [69]. However, at least in Slovakia, a much lower infection rate of A. flavicollis by DOBV-Af than of A. agrarius by DOBV-Aa seems to exist. In addition, HTNV-like virus infections of humans in South Germany, where A. agrarius is not prevalent, might be due to transmission from other rodent reservoir hosts or imported HV infections from other parts of Europe or Asia. Further studies are needed to verify these speculations.

Vaccines and Antiviral Therapy

The major mode of transmission of HV to humans is by aerosolised excreta of HV-infected rodents. Therefore, the main way to prevent human HV infections is to block virus transmission from rodents to humans. Although this transmission might be reduced by prevention of exposure, groups of people at risk due to their profession (forest workers, hunters, employees of horse farms, muskrat hunters, farmers, mammalogists, animal trappers, soldiers) or occupation would profit from antiviral measures, supporting the necessity to develop antiviral vaccines and chemotherapy [1].

To develop highly efficient and safe vaccines, the knowledge of protection mechanisms and viral components involved in their induction is an important precon-

One major obstacle for the evaluation of candidate HV vaccines is the availability of suitable animal models. Although several animal models have been established for different HV species, like suckling mice, hamsters, deer mice, Mongolian gerbils and bank voles, these models do not reflect natural HV infection in humans and do not represent disease models. Nevertheless, they have provided very useful information about desirable characteristics of vaccine candidates. The development of an intranasal virus challenge model in bank voles as a more natural infection scheme has been started [de Carvalho Nicacio and Lundkvist, pers. commun.]. Interestingly, equivalent experiments with the SNV model showed that very low-passage, deer mouse-adapted viral preparations that routinely infected deer mice by the intramuscular route were unable to infect deer mice by the intranasal route, a finding that suggests that SNV is transmitted percutaneously and not intranasally in nature [70]. Recent experiments used hamster and cynomolgus macaque disease models for ANDV and PUUV infections, respectively, which better reflect the clinical features of human infections [71, 72]. In addition, newly established HV infection models based on immunologically well-characterised mice may allow more precise identification of mechanisms of protection [73, 74].

As with other viruses, the development of HV vaccines and antiviral therapies is still based on a trial-and-error scheme, not a rational-based design. This is reflected by the fact that, except for attenuated live virus vaccines, a large number of vaccine approaches used for other viruses were also tested in the development of potential HV vaccines [1, 75]. Interestingly, efficacy studies with an inactivated HTNV vaccine (Hantavax) in regions where HV are endemic demonstrated a reduction in the number of HFRS cases [76]. Nevertheless, the vaccine requires optimisation in terms of induction of a long-lasting neutralising immune response [77]. To overcome the necessity of

dition. As expected for an enveloped virus and demonstrated by numerous studies, protection can be obtained in vitro and in vivo by glycoprotein-specific antibodymediated virus neutralisation. In contrast, it is believed that nucleocapsid protein provides a protective immunity by induction of cellular immune responses. However, glycoprotein-specific cellular immune responses as well as humoral responses against N protein could also be involved. Thus far, few studies have shed light on the possible role of cellular immune responses in protective immunity to HV. Adversely, cellular immune responses could participate in the pathogenesis of the capillary leak leading to haemorrhages.

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

Intervirology 2002;45:318-327

high-level safety containment for production of HV vaccines, different recombinant approaches have been followed. Although highly protective in animal models, a recombinant vaccinia virus containing the S and M segments of HTNV proved to be inefficient in clinical trials with vaccinia virus-immune volunteers [78]. Virus-like particles based on hepatitis B virus core, recombinant HV proteins generated in *Escherichia coli*, insect cells and the veast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Sindbis virus constructs and naked DNA vaccines induced protective immune responses in animal models, but require further characterisation before use in humans [1, 75, 79]. Genetic vaccines are under development and have been tested, largely in hamster models [71, 80, 81], although some laboratories have also used native host species [82]. Recently, we showed that within the M genome of SNV, there are multiple independent epitopes capable of protecting deer mice from challenge. These epitopes were largely confined to G1 and could confer protection in the face of a modest or no neutralisation response [82].

Besides prevention of HV infections by vaccination, the development of efficient antiviral therapies, especially for severe clinical human cases, is very important. So far, the only drug in use for humans is ribavirin. Antiviral activity of ribavirin has been demonstrated in vitro and in vivo. Whereas in a prospective, randomised, doubleblind, concurrent and placebo-controlled clinical trial of ribavirin therapy in HFRS patients in the People's Republic of China a significant reduction in fatality as well as in the risk of entering the oliguric phase and of experiencing haemorrhage was observed [83], a recent study in HCPS patients did not suggest an appreciable effect [84]; however, from this uncontrolled experience, it seems difficult to determine whether ribavirin would work in a patient who received the drug early in the course of the disease. Recently, an in vitro inhibitory effect of bovine lactoferrin on SEOV-infected Vero E6 cells was reported which is likely caused by adsorption inhibition [85]. Although first efforts to study the HV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase were initiated [86], so far no in vitro assays to study inhibitors of the enzyme or rational structure-based drug design have been established.

Outlook

Although the distribution of HV in Europe, Asia and the Americas is documented, further efforts are necessary to characterise the presence of HV in other specific regions of the world, like Africa and Australia. Keeping in mind the outbreak of HCPS at the beginning of the 1990s in the USA, further efforts should be made to monitor HV in rodent populations and to characterise so far unknown HV which may represent newly emerging pathogens for humans. These investigations also require long-term studies of rodent population dynamics in different climates of the world.

The accumulation of knowledge about pathogenicity mechanisms of HV infections and HV diversity should allow the development of more efficient vaccines. It is a very interesting question how random and non-random evolutionary factors, like mutation, genetic drift, gene flow/recombination, separation and natural selection, would be able to determine the evolution of HV. The theory of co-evolution of HV and their rodent reservoir hosts requires additional investigation, especially of the genetics of the rodent hosts. Investigations focussed on pathogenicity mechanisms would profit from the future development of reverse genetics systems for HV. On the other hand, further studies about the genetic background of humans infected with HV in correlation with the severity of the clinical outcome are needed. Studies on the structure and function of the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase and in vitro functional assays are needed to establish rational drug design for antiviral therapy.

The development of suitable animal models should not only allow us to estimate the protective potential of candidate vaccines, but also to further characterise immune mechanisms involved in protection. This would enable a more rational-based design of HV vaccines by separating protective and immunopathological epitopes in vaccinerelevant HV proteins. In addition, the newly established infection models in monkeys and hamsters may allow in vivo studies of the hantaviral pathogenicity mechanisms which cannot be undertaken in cell culture. Investigations of candidate HV vaccines in primate models are needed to answer the question of whether a rodent-proven vaccine might be able to induce a protective immune response in humans.

However, as we move forward with the quest to identify increasingly suitable models for disease and protection from disease, it is crucial that we do not lose sight of the value of establishing infection models for HV that use the native reservoir hosts, even if those models are not generally associated with disease. It is only through the experimental use of the native hosts, with all of their difficulties and unpredictability, that we will begin to decipher some of the most vexing problems in HV evolution, ecology, replication and epidemiology. Such questions as whether DOBV-Af is or is not intrinsically better adapted for A. *flavicollis* than is DOBV-Aa, how HV are transmitted in nature, how they establish persistent infection and overwinter in the face of immune attack (even though their genomes remain highly stable) and what features of the hantavirus genome confer host and tissue tropism will never be addressed without increased utilisation of provocative infection models based upon native host species.

The interdisciplinary investigations mentioned here would profit from a close collaboration of specialists from different research fields, such as virology, zoology, historical biogeography, genetics, evolutionary biology, bioinformatics, immunology and clinical medicine.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Boris Klempa for helpful discussions, Christina Grübel for help in typing the manuscript and Helga Meisel, Åke Lundkvist, Kestutis Sasnauskas, Paul Pumpens and Günther Schönrich for a long-lasting collaboration and the transfer of unpublished data. The work was supported in part by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (KR1293/2), European Commission (QLK2-CT-1999-01119), Bundesministerium für Gesundheit and Bundesministerium für Bildung und Forschung, as well as the United States National Institutes of Health, Defense Advanced Research Projects Agency, Department of Energy and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.

References

- Krüger DH, Ulrich R, Lundkvist Å: Hantavirus infections and their prevention. Microbes Infect 2001;3:1129–1144.
- 2 Schmaljohn CS, Nichol ST (eds): Hantaviruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol. Berlin, Springer, 2001, vol 256.
- 3 Lee HW, Lee PW, Johnson KM: Isolation of the etiologic agent of Korean hemorrhagic fever. J Infect Dis 1978;137:298–308.
- 4 Yanagihara R: Hantavirus infection in the United States: Epizootiology and epidemiology. Rev Infect Dis 1990;12:449–457.
- 5 Johnson KM: Hantaviruses: History and overview. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001;256: 1–14.
- 6 Gonzalez JP, Josse R, Johnson ED, Merlin M, Georges AJ, Abandja J, Danyod M, Delaporte E, Dupont A, Ghogomu A, et al: Antibody prevalence against haemorrhagic fever viruses in randomised representative Central African populations. Res Virol 1989;140:319–331.
- 7 Rodier G, Soliman AK, Bouloumie J, Kremer D: Presence of antibodies to hantavirus in rat and human populations of Djibouti. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 1993;87:160–161.
- 8 Gajdusek DC: Muroid virus nephropathies and muroid viruses of the Hantaan virus group. Scand J Infect Dis Suppl 1982;36:96–108.
- 9 LeDuc JW, Smith GA, Childs JE, Pinheiro FP, Maiztegui JI, Niklasson B, Antoniades A, Robinson DM, Khin M, Shortridge KF, et al: Global survey of antibody to Hantaan-related viruses among peridomestic rodents. Bull World Health Organ 1986;64:139–144.
- 10 Lundkvist Å, Hukic M, Hörling J, Gilljam M, Nichol S, Niklasson B: Puumala and Dobrava viruses cause hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in Bosnia-Herzegovina: Evidence of highly cross-neutralizing antibody responses in early patient sera. J Med Virol 1997;53:51–59.
- 11 Lundkvist Å, Apekina N, Myasnikov Y, Vapalahti O, Vaheri A, Plyusnin A: Dobrava hantavirus outbreak in Russia. Lancet 1997;350: 781–782.

- 12 Sibold C, Meisel H, Lundkvist Å, Schulz A, Cifire F, Ulrich R, Kozuch O, Labuda M, Krüger DH: Simultaneous occurrence of Dobrava, Puumala, and Tula hantaviruses in Slovakia. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1999;61:409– 411.
- 13 Sibold C, Ulrich R, Labuda M, Lundkvist Å, Martens H, Schütt M, Gerke P, Leitmeyer K, Meisel H, Krüger DH: Dobrava hantavirus causes hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome in central Europe and is carried by two different *Apodemus* mice species. J Med Virol 2001; 63:158–167.
- 14 Zizi M, Heyman P, Vandenvelde C: The assessment of human health risks from rodentborne diseases by means of ecological studies of rodent reservoirs. Mil Med 2002;167:70–73.
- 15 Hughes AL, Friedman R: Evolutionary diversification of protein-coding genes of hantaviruses. Mol Biol Evol 2001;17:1558–1568.
- 16 Nemirov K, Vapalahti O, Lundkvist Å, et al: Isolation and characterization of Dobrava hantavirus carried by the striped field mouse (*Apodemus agrarius*) in Estonia. J Gen Virol 1999;80:371–379.
- 17 Xiao SY, LeDuc JW, Chu YK, Schmaljohn CS: Phylogenetic analyses of virus isolates in the genus *Hantavirus*, family Bunyaviridae. Virology 1994;198:205–217.
- 18 Dubois JY, Catzeflis FM, Beintema JJ: The phylogenetic position of 'Acomyinae' (Rodentia, Mammalia) as sister group of a Murinae + Gerbillinae clade: Evidence from the nuclear ribonuclease gene. Mol Phylogenet Evol 1999;13:181–192.
- 19 Martin Y, Gerlach G, Schlotterer C, Meyer A: Molecular phylogeny of European muroid rodents based on complete cytochrome b sequences. Mol Phylogenet Evol 2000;16:37–47.
- 20 Carey DE, Reuben R, Panicker KN, Shope RE, Myers RM: Thottapalayam virus: A presumptive arbovirus isolated from a shrew in India. Indian J Med Res 1971;59:1758–1760.
- 21 Plyusnin A, Vapalahti O, Vaheri A: Hantaviruses: Genome structure, expression and evolution. J Gen Virol 1996;77:2677–2687.

- 22 Hoffmann RS, Koeppl JW: Zoogeography; in Tamarin RH (ed): Biology of New World *Microtus*. Special Publication No. 8. Lawrence, Kans., USA, American Society of Mammalogists, 1985, pp 84–115.
- 23 Sironen T, Vaheri A, Plyusnin A: Molecular evolution of Puumala hantavirus. J Virol 2001; 75:11803–11810.
- 24 Li WH: Molecular Evolution. Sunderland, Sinauer, 1997.
- 25 Yang Z, Bielawski JP: Statistical methods for detecting molecular adaptation. Trends Ecol Evol 2000;15:496–501.
- 26 Henderson WW, Monroe MC, St. Jeor SC, Thayer WP, Rowe JE, Peters CJ, Nichol ST: Naturally occurring Sin Nombre virus genetic reassortants. Virology 1995;214:602–610.
- 27 Li D, Schmaljohn AL, Anderson K, Schmaljohn CS: Complete nucleotide sequences of the M and S segments of two hantavirus isolates from California: Evidence for reassortment in nature among viruses related to hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Virology 1995;206:973– 983.
- 28 Rodriguez LL, Owens JH, Peters CJ, Nichol ST: Genetic reassortment among viruses causing hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Virology 1998;242:99–106.
- 29 Sibold C, Meisel H, Krüger DH, Labuda M, Lysy J, Kozuch O, Pejcoch M, Vaheri A, Plyusnin A: Recombination in Tula hantavirus evolution: Analysis of genetic lineages from Slovakia. J Virol 1999;73:667–675.
- 30 Haas J, Park EC, Seed B: Codon usage limitation in the expression of HIV-1 envelope glycoprotein. Curr Biol 1996;6:315–324.
- 31 Calisher CH, Mills JN, Sweeney WP, Choate JR, Sharp DE, Canestorp KM, Beaty BJ: Do unusual site-specific population dynamics of rodent reservoirs provide clues to the natural history of hantaviruses? J Wildl Dis 2001;37: 280–288.

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

- 32 Heyman P, Klingström J, de Jaegere F, Leclercq G, Rozenfeld F, Escutenaire S, Vandenvelde C, Zizi M, Plyusnin A, Lundkvist Å: Tula hantavirus in Belgium. Epidemiol Infect 2002; 128:251–256.
- 33 Niklasson B, Hornfeldt B, Lundkvist Å, Bjorsten S, LeDuc J: Temporal dynamics of Puumala virus antibody prevalence in voles and of nephropathia epidemica incidence in humans. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1995;53:134–140.
- 34 Vahlenkamp M, Müller T, Tackmann K, Löschner U, Schmitz H, Schreiber M: The muskrat (Ondatra zibethicus) as a new reservoir for puumala-like hantavirus in Europe. Virus Res 1998;57:139–150.
- 35 Vapalahti O, Lundkvist Å, Fedorov V, Conroy CJ, Hirvonen S, Plyusnina A, Nemirov K, Fredga K, Cook JA, Niemimaa J, et al: Isolation and characterization of a hantavirus from *Lemmus sibiricus:* Evidence for host switch during hantavirus evolution. J Virol 1999;73: 5586–5592.
- 36 Escutenaire S, Chalon P, Verhagen R, Heyman P, Thomas I, Karelle-Bui L, Avsic-Zupanc T, Lundkvist Å, Plyusnin A, Pastoret P: Spatial and temporal dynamics of Puumala hantavirus infection in red bank vole (*Clethrionomys glareolus*) populations in Belgium. Virus Res 2000;67:91–107.
- 37 Kimmig P, Silva-Gonzalez R, Backe H, Brockmann S, Oehme R, Ernst E, Mackenstedt U: Epidemiologie von Hantaviren in Baden-Württemberg. Gesundheitswesen 2001;63: 107–112.
- 38 Childs JE, Ksiazek TG, Spiropoulou CF, Krebs JW, Morzunov S, Maupin GO, Gage KL, Rollin PE, Sarisky J, Enscore RE, et al: Serologic and genetic identification of *Peromyscus maniculatus* as the primary rodent reservoir for a new hantavirus in the southwestern United States. J Infect Dis 1994;169:1271–1280.
- 39 Hjelle B, Chavez-Giles F, Torrez-Martinez N, Yates T, Sarisky J, Webb J, Ascher M: Genetic identification of a novel hantavirus of the harvest mouse *Reithrodontomys megalotis*. J Virol 1994;68:6751–6754.
- 40 Hjelle B, Anderson B, Torrez-Martinez N, Song W, Gannon WL, Yates TL: Prevalence and geographic genetic variation of hantaviruses of New World harvest mice (*Reithrodontomys*): Identification of a divergent genotype from a Costa Rican *Reithrodontomys mexicanus*. Virology 1995;207:452–459.
- 41 Rawlings JA, Torrez-Martinez N, Neill SU, Moore GM, Hicks BN, Pichuantes S, Nguyen A, Bharadwaj M, Hjelle B: Cocirculation of multiple hantaviruses in Texas, with characterization of the small (S) genome of a previously undescribed virus of cotton rats (*Sigmodon hispidus*). Am J Trop Med Hyg 1996;55:672– 679.
- 42 Rowe JE, St. Jeor SC, Riolo J, Otteson EW, Monroe MC, Henderson WW, Ksiazek TG, Rollin PE, Nichol ST: Coexistence of several novel hantaviruses in rodents indigenous to North America. Virology 1995;213:122–130.

- 43 Song W, Torrez-Martinez N, Irwin W, Harrison FJ, Davis R, Ascher M, Jay M, Hjelle B: Isla Vista virus: A genetically novel hantavirus of the California vole *Microtus californicus*. J Gen Virol 1995;76:3195–3199.
- 44 Torrez-Martinez N, Bharadwaj M, Goade D, Delury J, Moran P, Hicks B, Nix B, Davis JL, Hjelle B: Bayou virus-associated hantavirus pulmonary syndrome in Eastern Texas: Identification of the rice rat, *Oryzomys palustris*, as reservoir host. Emerg Infect Dis 1998;4:105– 111.
- 45 Ahlm C, Wallin K, Lundkvist Å, Elgh F, Juto P, Merza M, Tarnvik A: Serologic evidence of Puumala virus infection in wild moose in northern Sweden. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2000; 62:106–111.
- 46 Kim GR, Lee YT, Park CH: A new natural reservoir of hantavirus: Isolation of hantaviruses from lung tissues of bats. Arch Virol 1994;134:85–95.
- 47 Escutenaire S, Pastoret PP, Sjölander KB, Heyman P, Brochier B, Lundkvist Å: Evidence of Puumala hantavirus infection in red foxes (*Vulpes vulpes*) in Belgium. Vet Rec 2000;147: 365–366.
- 48 Leighton FA, Artsob HA, Chu MC, Olson JG: A serological survey of rural dogs and cats on the southwestern Canadian prairie for zoonotic pathogens. Can J Public Health 2001;92:67– 71.
- 49 Malecki TM, Jillson GP, Thilsted JP, Elrod J, Torrez-Martinez N, Hjelle B: Serologic survey for hantavirus infection in domestic animals and coyotes from New Mexico and Northeastern Arizona. J Am Vet Med Assoc 1998;212: 970–973.
- 50 Tang YW, Xu ZY, Zhu ZY, Tsai TF: Isolation of haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome virus from *Suncus murinus*, an insectivore. Lancet 1985;i:513–514.
- 51 Elliott RM, Bouloy M, Calisher CH, Goldbach R, Moyer JT, Nichol ST, Pettersson R, Plyusnin A, Schmaljohn CS: Bunyaviridae; in van Regenmortel MHV, Fauquet CM, Bishop DHL, Carsten EB, Estes MK, Lemon SM, Maniloff J, Mayo MA, McGeoch DJ, Pringle CR, Wickner RB (eds): Virus Taxonomy: Classification and Nomenclature of Viruses. Seventh Report of the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses. San Diego, Academic, 1999, pp 599–631.
- 52 Monroe MC, Morzunov SP, Johnson AM, Bowen MD, Artsob H, Yates T, Peters CJ, Rollin PE, Ksiazek TG, Nichol ST: Genetic diversity and distribution of *Peromyscus*-borne hantaviruses in North America and comparison with other hantaviruses. Emerg Infect Dis 1999;5:75–86.
- 53 Plyusnin A, Morzunov SP: Virus evolution and genetic diversity of hantaviruses and their rodent hosts. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001; 256:47–75.
- 54 Hjelle B, Yates T: Modeling hantavirus maintenance and transmission in rodent communities. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001;256: 77–90.

- 55 Brus Sjölander K, Golovljova I, Vasilenko V, Plyusnin A, Lundkvist Å: Serological divergence of Dobrava and Saaremaa hantaviruses: Evidence for two distinct serotypes. Epidemiol Infect 2002;128:99–103.
- 56 Padula PJ, Edelstein A, Miguel SDL, López NM, Rossi CM, Rabinovich RD: Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome outbreak in Argentina: Molecular evidence for person-to-person transmission of Andes virus. Virology 1998;241: 323–330.
- 57 Hooper JW, Larsen T, Custer DM, Schmaljohn CS: A lethal disease model for hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Virology 2001;289:6–14.
- 58 Mackow ER, Gavrilovskaya IN: Cellular receptors and hantavirus pathogenesis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001;256:91–116.
- 59 Jin M, Park J, Lee S, Park B, Shin J, Song KJ, Ahn TI, Hwang SY, Ahn BY, Ahn K: Hantaan virus enters cells by clathrin-dependent receptor-mediated endocytosis. Virology 2002;294: 60–69.
- 60 Ebihara H, Yoshimatsu K, Ogino M, Araki K, Ami Y, Kariwa H, Takashima I, Li D, Arikawa J: Pathogenicity of Hantaan virus in newborn mice: Genetic reassortant study demonstrating that a single amino acid change in glycoprotein G1 is related to virulence. J Virol 2000;74: 9245–9255.
- 61 Isegawa Y, Tanishita O, Ueda S, Yamanishi K: Association of serine in position 1124 of Hantaan virus glycoprotein with virulence in mice. J Gen Virol 1994;75:3273–3278.
- 62 Lundkvist Å, Cheng Y, Sjölander KB, Niklasson B, Vaheri A, Plyusnin A: Cell culture adaptation of Puumala hantavirus changes the infectivity for its natural reservoir, *Clethrionomys glareolus*, and leads to accumulation of mutants with altered genomic RNA S segment. J Virol 1997;71:9515–9523.
- 63 Bridgen A, Weber F, Fazakerley JK, Elliott RM: Bunyamwera bunyavirus nonstructural protein NSs is a nonessential gene product that contributes to viral pathogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:664–669.
- 64 Raftery MJ, Kraus AA, Ulrich R, Kruger DH, Schonrich G: Hantavirus infection of dendritic cells. J Virol 2002;76:10724–10733.
- 65 Ennis FA, Cruz J, Spiropoulou CF, Waite D, Peters CJ, Nichol ST, Kariwa H, Koster FT: Hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: CD8+ and CD4+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes to epitopes on Sin Nombre virus nucleocapsid protein isolated during acute illness. Virology 1997;238: 380–390.
- 66 Van Epps HL, Schmaljohn CS, Ennis FA: Human memory cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) responses to Hantaan virus infection: Identification of virus-specific and cross-reactive CD8+ CTL epitopes on nucelocapsid protein. J Virol 1999;73:5301–5308.
- 67 Kanerva M, Mustonen J, Vaheri A: Pathogenesis of Puumala and other hantavirus infections. Rev Med Virol 1998;8:67–86.
- 68 Vapalahti O, Lundkvist Å, Vaheri A: Human immune response, host genetics and severity of disease. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001; 256:153–170.

- 69 Avsic-Zupanc T, Nemirov K, Petrovec M, Trilar T, Poljak M, Vaheri A, Plyusnin A: Genetic analysis of wild-type Dobrava hantavirus in Slovenia: Co-existence of two distinct genetic lineages within the same natural focus. J Gen Virol 2000;81:1747–1755.
- 70 Botten J, Mirowsky K, Ye C, Gottlieb K, Saavedra M, Ponce L, Hjelle B: Shedding and intracage transmission of Sin Nombre hantavirus in the deer mouse (*Peromyscus maniculatus*) model. J Virol 2002;76:7587–7594.
- 71 Hooper JW, Custer DM, Thompson E, Schmaljohn CS: DNA vaccination with the Hantaan virus M gene protects hamsters against three of four HFRS hantaviruses and elicits a high-titer neutralizing antibody response in Rhesus monkeys. J Virol 2001;75: 8469–8477.
- 72 Klingström J, Plyusnin A, Vaheri A, Lundkvist Å: Wild-type Puumala hantavirus infection induces cytokines, C-reactive protein, creatinine, and nitric oxide in cynomolgus macaques. J Virol 2002;76:444–449.
- 73 Wichmann D, Grone HJ, Frese M, Pavlovic J, Anheier B, Haller O, Klenk HD, Feldmann H: Hantaan virus infection causes an acute neurological disease that is fatal in adult laboratory mice. J Virol 2002;76:8890–8899.
- 74 Klingström J, Heyman P, Escutenaire S, Brus Sjölander K, De Jaegere F, Henttonen H, Lundkvist Å: Rodent host specificity of European hantaviruses: Evidence of Puumala virus interspecific spillover. J Med Virol 2002;68: 581–588.

- 75 Hooper JW, Li D: Vaccines against hantaviruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001;256: 171–192.
- 76 Lee HW, Chu Y-K, Woo Y-D, An C-N, Kim H, Tkachenko E, Gligic A: Vaccines against hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome; in Saluzzo JF, Dodet B (eds): Factors in the Emergence and Control of Rodent-Borne Viral Diseases (Hantaviral and Arenaviral Diseases). Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1999, pp 147–156.
- 77 Cho H-W, Howard CR: Antibody responses in humans to an inactivated hantavirus vaccine (Hantavax). Vaccine 1999;17:2569–2575.
- 78 McClain DJ, Summers PL, Harrison SA, Schmaljohn AL, Schmaljohn CS: Clinical evaluation of a vaccinia-vectored Hantaan virus vaccine. J Med Virol 2000;60:77–85.
- 79 Dargeviciute A, Brus Sjölander K, Sasnauskas K, Krüger DH, Meisel H, Ulrich R, Lundkvist A: Yeast-expressed Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein induces protection in a bank vole model. Vaccine 2002;20:3523–3531.
- 80 Hooper JW, Kamrud KI, Elgh F, Custer D, Schmaljohn CS: DNA vaccination with hantavirus M segment elicits neutralizing antibodies and protects against Seoul virus infection. Virology 1999;255:269–278.
- 81 Kamrud KI, Hooper JW, Elgh F, Schmaljohn CS: Comparison of the protective efficacy of naked DNA, DNA-based Sindbis replicon, and packaged Sindbis replicon vectors expressing hantavirus structural genes in hamsters. Virology 1999;263:209–219.

- 82 Bharadwaj M, Mirowsky K, Ye C, Botten J, Masten B, Yee J, Lyons CR, Hjelle B: Genetic vaccines protect against Sin Nombre hantavirus challenge in the deer mouse (*Peromyscus* maniculatus). J Gen Virol 2002;83:1745– 1751.
- 83 Huggins JW, Hsiang CM, Cosgriff TM, Guang MY, Smith JI, Wu ZO, LeDuc JW, Zheng ZM, Meegan JM, Wang QN, Oland DD, Gui XE, Gibs PH, Yuan GH, Zhang TM: Prospective, double-blind, concurrent, placebo-controlled clinical trial of intravenous ribavirin therapy of hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. J Infect Dis 1991;164:1119–1127.
- 84 Chapman LE, Mertz GJ, Peters CJ, Jolson HM, Khan AS, Ksiazek TG, Koster FT, Baum KF, Rollin PE, Pavia AT, et al: Intravenous ribavirin for hantavirus pulmonary syndrome: Safety and tolerance during 1 year of openlabel experience. Ribavirin Study Group. Antivir Ther 1999;4:211–219.
- 85 Murphy ME, Kariwa H, Mizutani T, Yoshimatsu K, Arikawa J, Takashima I: In vitro antiviral activity of lactoferrin and ribavirin upon hantavirus. Arch Virol 2000;145:1571– 1582.
- 86 Jonsson CB, Schmaljohn CS: Replication of hantaviruses. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001;256:15–32.
- 87 Klempa B, Schmidt HA, Ulrich R, Kaluz S, Labuda M, Meisel H, Hjelle B, Kruger DH: Genetic interaction between distinct Dobrava hantavirus subtypes in Apodemus agrarius and A. flavicollis in nature. J Virol 2003;77:804– 809.

Emerging Viruses: The Case 'Hantavirus'

Intervirology 2002;45:328-333 DOI: 10.1159/000067925

Review of an Inactivated Vaccine against Hantaviruses

Hae-Wol Cho^a Colin R. Howard^b Ho-Wang Lee^c

^aDepartment of Virology, National Institute of Health, Seoul, Korea; ^bDepartment of Pathology and Infectious Disease, Royal Veterinary College, London, UK; ^cWHO Collaborating Center for Virus Reference and Research (Hantaviruses), Asan Institute for Life Science, Seoul, Korea

Key Words

Haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome · Hantavirus · Neutralizing antibody

Abstract

Objective: Hantaviruses cause haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome and result in severe morbidity and mortality in humans. Safe and effective vaccines are needed to reduce the incidence of human illness. In this study, the immune response to an inactivated hantavirus vaccine was measured in 64 human volunteers for Hantavax[®] and 10 human volunteers for a Hantaan-Puumala virus combination vaccine at high risk of infection by virtue of their residence and occupation. Methods: A serum sample was obtained from each volunteer before the initial vaccination (day 0), 30 days after each inoculation and 1 year after the initial dose. All sera were kept at -20° until tested. IgG-specific antibody titres were tested by ELISA and immunofluorescence assay (IFA). Neutralizing antibody titres were determined by a plaque reduction neutralizing test. Results: Thirty days after vaccination, 79 and 62% of the subjects had developed a significant hantavirus antibody titre as measured by IFA and ELISA, respectively. Seroconversion rates increased to 97% 1 month after the booster dose. Neutralizing anti-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0328\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int body titres paralleled this trend, with 13% of vaccine recipients producing neutralizing antibody 1 month after the first dose and 75% of vaccine recipients responding 1 month after boosting. Antibody titres had declined by 1 year, however, with only 37 and 43% of sera found to be positive by IFA and ELISA, respectively. Re-vaccination at this time produced a vigorous anamnestic response, with 94 and 100% of vaccine recipients yielding positive antibody titres. Only 50% of the sampled population, however, produced neutralizing antibodies following the booster dose 1 year later. Conclusions: The vaccine was well tolerated and there were no apparent differences in the responses in human subjects. However, further improvement of this vaccine is necessary in order to induce a longer-lasting humoral immune response.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

The clinical syndrome known as haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (HFRS) has been recognized among the important emerging and re-emerging viral diseases with high fatality worldwide. HFRS caused by the Hantaan (HTNV), Seoul, Puumala (PUUV) and Belgrade/

Hae-Wol Cho

5 Nokbun Dong, Unpyung Gu KR-Seoul (Korea)

Department of Virology, National Institute of Health

Tel. +82 2 380 1490, Fax +82 2 382 6542, E-Mail haewolcho@yahoo.com

Table 1. Consumption of HFRS vaccine and number of HFRS patients in Korea

| Year | Dose of vac | Dose of vaccine, ml | | | | | | | | |
|-------|------------------|----------------------|-----------|-----------|----------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | hospital clinics | public health center | army | total | patients | | | | | |
| 1990 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 1,043 | | | | | |
| 1991 | 35,000 | 115,000 | 33,000 | 183,000 | 1,234 | | | | | |
| 1992 | 122,000 | 493,000 | 145,000 | 760,000 | 1,167 | | | | | |
| 1993 | 118,000 | 707,000 | 133,000 | 958,000 | 1,293 | | | | | |
| 1994 | 107,000 | 660,000 | 142,000 | 909,000 | 1,041 | | | | | |
| 1995 | 118,000 | 640,000 | 232,000 | 990,000 | 782 | | | | | |
| 1996 | 105,000 | 460,000 | 155,000 | 720,000 | 687 | | | | | |
| 1997 | 108,000 | 360,000 | 162,000 | 630,000 | 415 | | | | | |
| 1998 | 70,000 | 310,000 | 160,000 | 540,000 | 750 | | | | | |
| Total | 783,000 | 3,745,000 | 1,162,000 | 5,690,000 | 8,412 | | | | | |

Dobrava viruses are the oldest diseases, first being recognized in 1913. However, hantavirus pulmonary syndrome caused by Sin Nombre, New York and other novel hantaviruses are new diseases which were first recognized in 1993 in North and South America [1].

HTNV causes severe symptoms with a mortality of 5– 10%, whereas hantavirus pulmonary syndrome infection can result in a mortality rate in excess of 60%. HFRS has been an important public health problem in Korea since the onset of the Korean war. Clearly, there is an urgent need to develop an effective vaccine against these viruses. In 1984, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended the development of an effective inactivated vaccine against HFRS as soon as possible. As a result, Lee and An [2] developed an inactivated vaccine against HTNV infection.

This HTNV vaccine is prepared from the HTNV strain ROK 84/105 grown in suckling mice brain and has been shown to induce protein immunity in mice and humans. It is currently produced commercially under the name Hantavax[®] and licensed for use in the Republic of Korea. A vaccination compaign was started in 1991, and the number of HFRS patients had decreased significantly in 1995, 3 years after the start of the vaccination program. Table 1 shows the relationship between consumption of Hantavax and the number of HFRS patients from 1991 to 1998 in Korea. Recently, Lee et al. [3] developed a formalin-inactivated suckling hamster brain-derived HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine.

This study aimed to assess antibody responses to the inactivated virus vaccine Hantavax and the HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine in humans. The induction of anti-hantavirus antibodies was measured with a view to optimizing antibody level after third booster doses. In addition, the safety and efficacy of both hantavirus vaccines were evaluated.

Materials and Methods

Hantavirus Vaccine

The seed strain of HTNV virus used to prepare the Hantavax vaccine (ROK 84/105) was obtained from the blood of an HFRS patient [4]. Virus was isolated by direct inoculation onto Vero E6 cells. Hantavax was made according to the modified method of Japanese encephalitis vaccine [5] with HTNV strain ROK 84/105 by inoculation into a 1-day-old ICR (Institute of Cancer Research) mouse brain.

HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine was prepared from formalin-inactivated suckling hamster brain-derived vaccine.

Volunteers

The immune responses of 64 volunteers for Hantavax and 10 volunteers for the HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine were analyzed. Consent was obtained from all the vaccine recipients prior to entry into the study. All participants were interviewed in order to ascertain age, history of allergy, occupation, sex, prior vaccination and previous medical history of HFRS. Those interviewees with a previous history of HFRS were excluded from further consideration.

Vaccination and Follow-Up

Each person received a 0.5-ml dose (5,120 ELISA units/ml) of vaccine by intramuscular injection, followed by a second, similar dose 1 month later for Hantavax. For the HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine, volunteers were vaccinated 3 times subcutaneously at 1-month intervals with various doses of the vaccine. After vaccination, general symptoms and local reactions among the vaccinated individuals were checked and recorded daily for 5 consecutive days.

Determination of Antibody Responses

A serum sample (5 ml) was obtained from each volunteer before the initial vaccination (day 0), 30 days after each inoculation and

Inactivated Vaccine against Hantaviruses





Fig. 1. Comparison of anti-HTNV IgG antibody responses measured by ELISA and IFA among 64 volunteers followed for 13 months.

Fig. 2. Neutralizing antibody titres among 64 volunteers expressed as reciprocal GMT values (shown above the figure).

1 year after the initial dose. All sera were kept at -20° until tested. IgG-specific antibody titres were tested by ELISA and immunofluorescence assay (IFA).

Neutralizing antibody titres were determined by a plaque reduction neutralizing test (PRNT) method at each time point, using a dilution series of samples added to a constant amount of virus. Tests were conducted in duplicate by mixing equal volumes of fourfold serially diluted serum with 200 PFU of HTNV (76–118), incubating for 90 min at 37°, then inoculating 0.3 ml onto Vero E6 cell monolayers grown in 6-well plates (Costar, Corning, N.Y., USA). Positive and negative control plates were run in duplicate. Neutralization titres were recorded as the reciprocal of the highest serum dilution neutralizing 50% of the plaques as determined from mean plaque counts on the virus-positive control plates.

Results

Characterization of Antibody Responses

None of the vaccine recipients were positive for anti-HTNV antibodies prior to immunization. The seroconversion rates among the vaccinated volunteers are shown in figure 1. Thirty days after immunization, 51 of 64 individuals (79.7%) were positive by IFA (titre 1/32 by serial dilution); 40 of these sera were determined to be positive also by ELISA (62%). The ELISA titres yielded a greater geometric mean titre (GMT) compared with IFA (1/120 as opposed to 1/32), possibly reflecting either the different epitopes measured by these tests or differences in the affinity of the early IgG antibody responses, or both.

Thirty days after the second dose (day 60 in the protocol), nearly all subjects were seropositive by both assays (62 of 64 individuals), and antibody GMTs were approximately the same using both assay methods (1/203 for IFA, 1/201 for ELISA). Anti-HTNV IgM antibodies were observed in only 8 vaccine recipients (12.5%) by ELISA (data not shown). It is likely that the 30-day sampling interval antibody response may have been transient and low in titre. In natural infections, IgM antibodies may persist for months, but this response may be truncated in the case of non-replicating vaccines.

One year after the initial vaccination, the IFA and ELISA antibody titres had declined significantly to 1/36.8 and 1/51.3, respectively. Only 37.5% of the population tested at 1 year were positive for antibodies as measured by IFA (n = 24); 43.5% were seropositive for HTNV antibodies by ELISA (n = 23). Sample sizes of the population at 1 year were lower due to the difficulties of follow-up.

The volunteers that were bled after 1 year were then boosted with 0.5 ml of Hantavax by intramuscular inoculation. Thirty days after this second booster dose, 16 participants were bled. The IFA seropositivity rate rose sig-

| Pa- | Age, | History | Vaccine | IFA and neutralizing antibody titres to HTNV, PUUV and Belgrade vi | | | | | | | | virus | | | | | | | | |
|-------------|---------|---------------|-------------------|--|----------------------|-------|------|---------|------|------|----------|----------|----------|--------|------|-----------------------------|------|-------|------|------|
| tient No | years/ | | and dose | before vaccina | ation after first sh | | | (1 mont | h) | | after se | econd sh | ot (2 mc | onths) | | after third shot (3 months) | | | | |
| 1.00. | Sex | | dose | IFA | PRNT | IFA | | PRNT | | | IFA | | PRNT | | | IFA | | PRNT | | |
| | | | | HTNV PUUV | HTNV PUUV | HTNV | PUUV | HTNV | BELV | PUUV | HTNV | PUUV | HTNV | BELV | PUUV | HTNV | PUUV | HTNV | BELV | PUUV |
| 1 | 38/M | Han- tavax | HTNV- PUUV | 256 | 40 | 2,048 | 512 | 160 | 20 | 40 | 4,096 | 128 | 160 | 40 | 320 | 4,096 | 512 | 160 | 40 | 320 |
| 2 | 66/M | Han- tavax | 0.6 ml | 32 | | 256 | | 20 | | 10 | 256 | 32 | 80 | | 40 | 512 | 32 | 20 | | 40 |
| 3 | 27/M | none | | | | 2,048 | 128 | 640 | | 160 | 4,096 | 128 | 1,280 | 10 | 160 | 4,096 | 512 | 1,280 | 10 | 640 |
| 4 | 33/M | none | | | | 128 | | 10 | | | 1,024 | 128 | 20 | 10 | 20 | 2,048 | 256 | 20 | 10 | 40 |
| 5 | 24/M | none | | | | 128 | 32 | | | | 128 | 64 | | | 10 | 512 | 128 | 20 | | 20 |
| 6 | 33/F | none | HTNV- | | | 32 | | 40 | 80 | | 64 | 32 | 160 | 80 | 40 | 64 | 64 | 80 | 10 | 80 |
| 7 | 26/F | none | PUUV 0.8 ml | | | 64 | 32 | 20 | | | 128 | 32 | 40 | 10 | 20 | 1,024 | 128 | 80 | 10 | 40 |
| 8 | 27/M | none | | | | 128 | 32 | 40 | | 10 | 256 | 64 | 40 | | 40 | 256 | 64 | 40 | | 160 |
| 9 | 28/M | none | HTNV- | | | 512 | 128 | 20 | | 10 | 512 | 64 | 320 | 20 | 320 | 1,024 | 128 | 640 | 40 | 320 |
| 10 | 53/F | none | PUUV 1.0 ml | | | 1,024 | 128 | 20 | | 40 | 1,024 | 64 | 80 | 10 | 160 | 2,048 | 256 | 80 | 10 | 160 |
| 11 | 25/F | none | PUUV | | | | 128 | | 10 | 80 | | 128 | | 20 | 320 | | 256 | | 10 | 640 |
| 12 | 22/F | none | vaccine 0.5 ml | | | | 64 | | | 10 | | 128 | | | 80 | | 128 | | | 160 |
| 13 | 54/F | none | Hantavax | | | 128 | | 40 | | | 1,024 | | 160 | | | 2,048 | | 160 | 20 | |
| 14 | 26/F | none | 0.5 ml | | | 1,024 | | 20 | | | 512 | | 80 | | | 512 | | 80 | | |
| В | ELV = I | Belgrade | virus. | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | | |

nificantly to 93.8% and the ELISA antibody seroprevalence was 100%. The GMT of IFA antibody rose to 1/138, which was lower than the response to the first booster at 60 days (GMT of 1/203). The ELISA antibody titres at 13 months (GMT of 1/193.8) were almost equivalent to those after the 60-day booster dose (GMT of 1/201).

The neutralization assay (fig. 2) showed that only 13% of vaccine recipients possessed measurable neutralizing antibodies 30 days after the first inoculation. This proportion increased to 75% following the booster inoculation, with titres in the range of 1/10–1/160. There was a lack of correlation between the PRNT antibody titres and the ELISA titres 2 months after immunization. The serological responses 30 days after the third vaccination (13 months) were even less in agreement, with a significant proportion of volunteers showing high ELISA titres in the absence of neutralizing antibodies.

One year after vaccination, neutralizing antibody titres had declined to the low levels seen prior to vaccination (1/10) in 85.7% of the recipients. Only two individuals showed significant but low titres. After boosting with Hantavax, neutralizing antibody titres rose above 1/10 in only 50% of the subjects tested. This level of immunity was comparable to that seen after the second dose (60 days). Although the seropositivity rate was equivalent after each booster dose, the GMT was much lower at 13 months (fig. 1). In the limited HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine study, 10 vaccine recipients produced relatively high IFA antibodies (1:128–1:2,048) and a medium level of neutralizing antibodies (1:10–1:640) against homologous hantaviruses after the second and third vaccination, as shown in table 2.

Side Effects following Vaccination

No obvious untoward reactions were observed among the vaccinees who received two doses of vaccine by the intramuscular route, as shown in table 3. The most common complaints were mild itching, induration and local swelling at the site of injection, but no serious complaints were registered. The lack of serious side effects indicated that this vaccine appears to be well tolerated in humans.

Discussion

Immunization of volunteers with a novel hantavirus vaccine (Hantavax) resulted in 97% seroconversion by the IFA test and 75% seroconversion by the PRNT fol-

Inactivated Vaccine against Hantaviruses

Table 3. Symptoms and frequency of occurrence of local reactions toHantavax vaccination among 64 volunteers

| Reaction | Day of disappearance of symptoms | | | | | | | | | | |
|-------------------|----------------------------------|---|---|---|---|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | | | | | |
| Dizziness | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Nausea | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Myalgia | 1 | | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Redness | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Itching | 2 | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Swelling | 3 | 2 | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| Induration | 2 | | | 1 | 1 | | | | | | |
| Hyperpigmentation | 1 | 1 | | | | | | | | | |
| Total | 12 | 7 | 3 | 1 | 1 | | | | | | |

lowing two intramuscular doses of vaccine 1 month apart. One year after the initial vaccination, however, these antibody titres had dropped significantly to 37.5 and 21.4%, respectively. A single dose 12 months after the initial vaccination boosted the seropositivity rate to 93.8% as determined by IFA, 100% ELISA and 50% by PRNT. Although the sample size of the population at the 1-year point was smaller due to difficulties in follow-up, the sample population that did participate remained representative of the original group. One disturbing finding, however, was that the neutralizing antibody titres observed 1 year after the previous 2-dose immunization schedule were almost at pre-immunization levels. Notably, a booster dose at the 1-year time point did not elicit a strong neutralizing antibody anamnestic response. It would therefore be necessary to use booster doses every 12 months in order to maintain a minimal protective antibody titre against HTNV in humans. It may also be necessary to consider a different initial vaccination schedule in order to stimulate greater clonal definition of B cells that respond to neutralizing epitopes on the virus. Another possibility would be a re-dosing of the vaccine to produce either greater adjuvancy or an increased presentation of neutralizing epitopes, or both.

The neutralizing epitopes for HTNV are associated with the viral membrane glycoproteins [6]. The stronger IFA and ELISA antibody responses seen 1 year after the first dose may reflect a predominance of antibody production to other epitopes on the glycoprotein, or to the nucleocapsid protein, which is the predominant antigen recognized by IFA and ELISA systems [7]. Antibody has been demonstrated to persist for up to 34 years after natural infection [8]. While it was not possible to evaluate the long-term duration of HFRS antibody in human vaccine recipients, the data 14 months after immunization suggest that antibody wanes to the point of requiring booster doses in order to maintain a protective immune response against HTNV.

Compared to the mouse brain-derived Japanese encephalitis virus vaccine prepared by similar methods, Hantavax showed an immunogenicity approximately equal in extent and duration using a similar delivery schedule. The 75% neutralizing antibody seropositive response rate for the Hantavax vaccine as measured by the plaque neutralization test and passive immunization was approximately equivalent to the 90-100% observed for Japanese encephalitis vaccine recipients after a 2-dose regime over a 30-day period. Nakamura [9] reported that passive protection studies performed with human immune serum in mice for Japanese encephalitis vaccine recipients after a 2-dose regime over a 30-day period revealed a strong correlation between the circulating antibody titres and protection. Similarly, the observed decline in seroprevalence and neutralizing antibodies over the 12month observation period in individuals receiving Hantavax in the present study roughly approximates the decline observed for Japanese encephalitis vaccine. One difference between the two vaccines is the lower neutralizing antibody response elicited after the 1-year booster dose with Hantavax. Thus, a further evaluation is indicated, for example using a 3-dose schedule, in order to see whether or not a similar enhancement in the protective immune response can be obtained. A long-term, prospective efficacy trial is needed in order to determine whether or not the vaccine has any demonstrable effect in reducing disease in those groups most at risk.

Another major consideration with respect to the utility of Hantavax is the safety and reactogenicity of this mouse brain-derived inactivated vaccine. As with any vaccine produced by these methods, the possibility of adverse reactions exists. This study confirms that the Hantavax vaccine is safe and well tolerated, with minimal reactogenicity in humans following a dose schedule of 2 doses within a 1-month period with a booster dose given at 13 months. The general and local side effects observed in the 64 vaccine recipients receiving two doses of vaccine are shown in table 3. A higher incidence of local reactions than general symptoms was observed. The main local reactions were itching, induration and swelling, but there were no serious complaints and the side affects were usually self-limiting.

The inactivated HTNV vaccine developed in Korea to prevent HFRS was prepared with virus harvested from
| Source of antigen | ELISA antigen | Antibody titres in guinea pigs | | |
|--|------------------|--------------------------------|------|--|
| | U/ml | IFA | PRNT | |
| Vero cells (inactivated virus) | 3,200 | 1,600 | 10 | |
| Baculovirus-expressed nucleocapsid protein | 3,200 | 800 | <10 | |
| Adenovirus-expressed G1,G2 glycoproteins | 6,400 | 160 | 80 | |
| Suckling mouse brain (inactivated virus) | 12,800 | 6,400 | 160 | |

infected suckling mouse brains [10]. The seed strain of virus for this vaccine (ROK 84/105) was obtained from the blood of an HFRS patient in the early acute stages. Virus was isolated by direct inoculation onto Vero E6 cells and subsequent passage in suckling mouse brains. This culture method was chosen because HTNV grown exclusively in Vero E6 and MRC-9 cell lines does not produce sufficient virus yields for vaccine production purposes. In contrast, the yield and immunogenicity of virus from the brain of infected suckling mice is adequate for vaccine production (table 4). The Korean HFRS vaccine Hantavax went into commercial production in 1990. Hantavax meets or exceeds the minimum requirements for biological products (potency test, safety, sterility, pH, concentration of thimerosal, protein concentration, formalin concentration, etc.) comparable to those stipulated by the WHO guidelines for Japanese encephalitis vaccine. After Hantavax was made available in 1991, the total

number of hospitalized HFRS patients in South Korea decreased significantly from 1,234 cases in 1991 to 415 cases in 1997, as shown in table 1.

Recently, an efficacy trial of Hantavax in the endemic area of HFRS is under evaluation in a randomized, placebo-controlled field study with vaccinees who received Hantavax twice in 1996 and a booster vaccine in 1997 in Yugoslavia [11]. Twenty-five HFRS patients were documented among a control group of 2,000 non-vaccinees, but none were reported among 2,000 vaccinees.

An HTNV-PUUV combination vaccine could be used after safety tests and a field efficacy trial in the endemic areas of HFRS where these two viruses co-exist in the world. The vaccine is likely to be effective in protecting those recipients who respond to the vaccine against HFRS. The findings of this study have identified areas for future study and could form the basis for development of vaccines against other hantaviruses.

References

 Elliott LH, Ksiazek TG, Rollin PE, Spiropoulou CF, Morzunov S, Monroe M, Goldsmith CS, Humphrey CD, Zaki SR, Krebs JW, et al: Isolation of the causative agent of hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1994;51:102–108.

Table 4. Comparison of antigenicity of

 HTNV harvested from different sources

- 2 Lee HW, An CN: Development of vaccine against haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. J Korean Soc Virol 1988;18:143–148.
- 3 Lee HW, Chu YK, Cui YS, Woo YD, An CN, Kim H, Chang YS: Immune reaction of the vaccinated hamster with combination Hantaan-puumala vaccine. J Korean Soc Virol 1997;27:39–47.
- 4 French GR, Foulke RS, Brand OA, Eddy GA, Lee HW, Lee PW: Korean hemorrhagic fever: Propagation of the etiologic agent in a cell line of human origin. Science 1981;211:1046– 1048.
- 5 Oya A: Japanese encephalitis vaccine; the vaccination. Int Med Found Jpn 1976:69–72.
- 6 Schmaljohn CS, Arikawa J, Dalrymple JM: Expression of the envelope glycoprotein of Hantaan virus with vaccina and baculo virus recombinant; in Kolakofsky D, Mahy BWJ (eds): Genetics and Pathogenicity of Negative Strand Viruses. Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1989, pp 58–66.
- 7 Cho HW, Howard CR: Antibody responses in humans to an inactivated hantavirus vaccine (Hantavax[®]). Vaccine 1999;17:2569–2575.
- 8 Lee HW, van der Groen G: Hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. Prog Med Virol 1989;36: 62–102.

- 9 Nakamura J: Studies on purified Japanese encephalitis vaccine. NIBS Bull Biol Res 1969;8: 78–99.
- 10 Yamanishi K, Tanishita O, Tamura M, Asada H, Kondo K, Takagi M, Yoshida I, Konobe T, Fukai K: Development of inactivated vaccine against virus causing haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome. Vaccine 1988;6:278–282.
- 11 Lee HW, Chu YK, Woo YD, An CN, Kim H, Tkachenko E, Gligic A: Vaccine against haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome; in Saluzzo JF, Dodet B (eds): Factors in the Emergence and Control of Rodent-Borne Diseases. Paris, Elsevier, 1999, pp 267–272.

Intervirology 2002;45:334–339 DOI: 10.1159/000067926

Characterization of Expression of Puumala Virus Nucleocapsid Protein in Transgenic Plants

Shahryar Khattak^a Gholamreza Darai^b Sandor Süle^c Angela Rösen-Wolff^a

^aKlinik und Poliklinik für Kinder- und Jugendmedizin, Universitätsklinikum Carl Gustav Carus Dresden, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, ^bInstitut für Medizinische Virologie, Universität Heidelberg, Heidelberg, Germany; ^cHungarian Academy of Sciences, Budapest, Hungary

Key Words

 $\begin{array}{l} \mbox{Hantavirus} \cdot \mbox{Nucleocapsid protein} \cdot \mbox{Expression} \cdot \\ \mbox{Tobacco} \cdot \mbox{Potato} \end{array}$

Abstract

Transgenic plants expressing a foreign gene are a suitable system for the production of relevant immunogens in high amounts that can be used for the development of a new generation of vaccines against a variety of infectious diseases. In the present study, the expression of the nucleocapsid (N) protein of hantavirus serotype Puumala in tobacco and potato plants was investigated. Transgenic tobacco and potato plants were generated and established. These transgenic plants expressed the N protein of Puumala virus strain CG-1820. No major differences were observed when the phenotype and growth rates of transgenic plants were compared to those of normal plants. However, it was found that the leaves of transgenic tobacco plants were more slender and the tubers of transgenic potato plants were smaller than those in normal plants. In order to investigate the distribution of the expression of the foreign gene in transgenic plants, the proteins of leaves and roots of the individual transgenic tobacco and potato plants were examined by Western blot analyses. It was found that all

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0334\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int transgenic tobacco and potato plants expressed the N protein in the leaves, whereas transgenic potato plants are able to significantly express the viral proteins also in the tubers and roots. The antigens were expressed at a level of 1 ng of protein/5 μ g of dried leaves. The hantaviral recombinant N proteins obtained from transgenic tobacco and potato plants were able to elicit specific humoral and mucosal immune responses when administered intraperitoneally or orally to rabbits and mice. The expression of viral proteins in plants has two major advantages compared to other expression systems: firstly, there is no risk of contamination with mammalian viruses or other pathogens, and secondly, the production of high amounts of antigens is cheap and therefore of great economic interest.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Hantaviruses are negative-sense, single-stranded RNA viruses [1] that belong to the Bunyaviridae family. Different serotypes are etiologic agents of a number of diseases with renal and/or pulmonary involvement, ranging from the more benign nephropathia epidemica (lethality 0.1–1%) through hemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome (le-

Angela Rösen-Wolff, MD, PhD

Klinik und Poliklinik für Kinder- und Jugendmedizin Universitätsklinikum Carl Gustav Carus Dresden, Technische Universität Dresden Fetscherstrasse 74, D-01307 Dresden (Germany)

Tel. +49 351 458 6673, Fax +49 351 458 6333, E-Mail klifo@rcs.urz.tu-dresden.de

thality 3-10%) to the hantavirus pulmonary syndrome (lethality >50%). The individual hantavirus genotypes are carried by specific rodent hosts. Infection of humans occurs by aerosol inhalation of contaminated rodent excretions.

The three-segment genome of hantaviruses codes for the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (L-RNA segment), the glycoproteins G1 and G2 (M-RNA segment) and the viral nucleocapsid protein (S-RNA segment). The viral nucleocapsid protein is an important structural protein and is essential for packaging of the RNA segments and encapsidation [2]. Major antigenic domains of hantaviruses are also located on the nucleocapsid protein [3]. The early immune response is mainly directed against this structural protein, and sera of convalescent patients predominantly contain antibodies against the nucleocapsid protein [4–7]. Furthermore, the viral nucleocapsid proteins, together with the viral glycoproteins G1 and G2, are promising candidates for the development of new vaccination strategies.

Recent studies have shown that proteins expressed in plants are suitable tools for the production of antigens. Bacterial toxins and various viral proteins have been successfully expressed in plants and found to be immunogenic [8–14].

These proteins were able to elicit specific humoral and mucosal immune responses when administered intraperitoneally or orally to animals and to protect the animals against the corresponding viral or bacterial infections. The expression of viral proteins in plants has the following advantages compared to other expression systems: firstly, there is no risk of contamination with mammalian viruses or other pathogens, and secondly, the production of antigens based on expression of the proteins is cheap and therefore of economic interest.

Materials and Methods

Transgenic Tobacco Plants

The transgenic tobacco plants were generated by transformation of *Nicotiana tabacum* cv. SR1 plants as described previously [14]. Briefly, leaves of the plant were immersed in MS liquid medium containing bacterial cells which harbored the recombinant binary plasmid pBinAR-PUU-S encoding the Puumala nucleocapsid (N) protein sequences. After 48 h, the leaves were washed with media containing cefotaxime and plated on selective agar media which contained kanamycin (100 µg/ml), cefotaxime (500 µg/ml), benzaladenine 2 µg/ml and naphthalene acetic acid 0.1 µg/ml. Putative transformed shoots were further grown on kanamycin and analyzed for the expression of Puumala N protein.

Transgenic Potato Plants

The transgenic potato plants were generated by transformation of *Solanum tuberosum* cultivar Desiree tubers as described previously [14]. Briefly, microtubers cut into 1- to 2-mm discs were inoculated with bacterial cells which harbored the recombinant binary plasmid pBinAR-PUU-S encoding the Puumala N protein sequences for 2–3 days. After cocultivation, the discs were washed with medium containing cefotaxime (500 µg/ml). The discs were transferred onto MS medium containing kanamycin (50 µg/ml), cefotaxime (300 µg/ml), GA₃ 0.02 µg/ml and zeatin 2 µg/ml. Putative transformed shoots were further grown on kanamycin and analyzed for the expression of Puumala N protein [14].

Sera and Antibodies

Antiserum against recombinant N proteins of Puumala virus strain CG-1820 was induced in New Zealand white rabbits. Recombinant N proteins were generated as described elsewhere [15, 16]. The rabbit antiserum against Puumala virus N protein was able to detect 0.125 ng of recombinant viral N protein.

Immunoblot Analysis

Plant tissues, including leaves and roots, were harvested and dried for 72 h at 50°. Samples of leaf tissue powder (200 μ g) were dissolved in lysis buffer [600 μ l with 0.001 *M* Tris-HCl, 10% glycerol, 2% SDS, 5% β-mercaptoethanol, 0.1% (w/v) bromophenol blue, pH 8] and heated for 5 min at 95°. The insoluble fraction was removed by centrifugation at 17,000 g for 5 min. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and electroblotted on nitrocellulose filters. Transfer efficiency was monitored by ponceau staining (Sigma, Munich, Germany). Filters were blocked for 1 h and incubated with a 1/1,000 dilution of rabbit antiserum. Peroxidase-conjugated antibodies were used to detect interaction of the rabbit antiserum with hantaviral proteins.

Results

Phenotypic Characterization of Transgenic Tobacco Plants Expressing Puumala N Protein

Transgenic tobacco plants were grown in commercial garden mould at room temperature. Under these conditions, the growth rate of transgenic plants was comparable to that of normal tobacco plants. They developed 2–4 leaves per week and grew to a final height of 1.2 m (fig. 1). The growth rate did not differ from that of normal tobacco, but the final height of the normal plants was slightly greater (1.5 m).

The leaves of transgenic tobacco plants were more slender but just as long as normal tobacco leaves. No other differences could be detected.

Phenotypic Characterization of Transgenic Potato Plants Expressing Puumala N Protein

Transgenic potato plants were grown in commercial garden mould at room temperature. Under these condi-



Fig. 1. Transgenic tobacco plant expressing the N protein of Puumala virus CG-1820 (**B**) in comparison to a normal tobacco plant (**A**). Both plants were cultured for 10 weeks under identical conditions. The photographs of both plants were taken at the same scale.



Fig. 2. Transgenic potato plant expressing the N protein of Puumala virus CG-1820 after 3 months of cultivation.

Intervirology 2002;45:334-339

Fig. 3. Western blot analyses of proteins of transgenic plants using rabbit antibodies generated against recombinant Puumala virus N protein. A Distribution of the expression of Puumala N protein in the leaves of transgenic tobacco (lanes 3-9) and transgenic potato plants (lanes 10-15). Lane 1: molecular weight marker; lane 2: recombinant N protein of Puumala virus (5 ng). The arrow indicates the position of the Puumala virus N protein. B Distribution of the expression of Puumala N protein in the leaves and roots of two transgenic tobacco plants. Lanes 1 and 2: protein extracts of the roots (lane 1) and leaves (lane 2) of a transgenic tobacco plant (NT-PUU-F4-1); lanes 3 and 4: protein extracts of the leaves (lane 3) and roots (lane 4) of a second transgenic tobacco plant (NT-PUU-F4-2); lane 5: recombinant N protein of Puumala virus (5 ng); lane 6: molecular weight marker. The arrow indicates the position of the Puumala virus N protein.

tions, the growth rate of transgenic plants was comparable to that of normal potato plants (fig. 2). They developed 4–6 leaves per week and grew to a final height of 0.8 m (fig. 1). The growth rate did not differ from that of normal potato plants, but the tubers were smaller (average weight of transgenic tubers = 19.8 g, average weight of normal tubers = 30.7 g) and the average number of tubers generated by each transgenic plant was smaller (average number of tubers per transgenic plant = 4.3, average number of tubers per normal plant = 8.0). No other differences could be detected.

Distribution of Expression of Puumala N Protein in Transgenic Tobacco and Potato Plants

In order to investigate the distribution of the expression of Puumala N protein in two transgenic tobacco plants, 200 μ g of powdered leaves and roots were analyzed by Western blots. The proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted onto nitrocellulose. As shown in figure 3, the expression of Puumala N protein differed

Expression of Puumala Virus Nucleocapsid Protein in Plants between the two plants. In plant 1, expression could be detected in the leaves and roots. In contrast, expression of Puumala N protein in plant 2 could only be detected in the leaves.

Similar experiments were performed using leaves and tubers of transgenic potato plants. In all transgenic plants which were examined (n = 6), expression of Puumala N protein could be detected in the leaves and tubers. The amount of expression of the protein was similar, i.e. no major differences could be detected between the transgenic potato plants (data not shown).

Stability of Expression of Puumala N Protein in Different Generations of Transgenic Tobacco Plants

In order to investigate if the expression of Puumala N protein is stable in different generations of transgenic tobacco plants, the leaves of five generations (P, F1, F2, F3 and F4) of plants were analyzed. As shown in figure 4, no differences could be detected. The amount of Puumala N protein expressed in the leaves of these plants was

Intervirology 2002;45:334–339



10

1 2 3

kD

5

6 7 8 9

11 12 13 14

15



Fig. 4. Stability of expression of Puumala N protein in different generations of transgenic tobacco plants (P, F1, F2, F3 and F4). Lane 1: recombinant N protein of Puumala virus (5 ng); lanes 2 and 3: sample buffer serving as negative control; lanes 4–8: protein extracts of leaves of transgenic tobacco plants (lane 4: NT-PUU-P1; lane 5: NT-PUU-F1-1; lane 6: NT-PUU-F2-1; lane 7: NT-PUU-F3-1; lane 8: NT-PUU-F4-1). M = Molecular weight marker. The arrow indicates the position of the Puumala virus N protein. **A** Western blot analyses of proteins of transgenic plants using rabbit antibodies generated against recombinant Puumala virus N protein. **B** Coomassie staining of the SDS-PAGE.

about the same in each generation. This indicates that integration of the foreign DNA is stable, without any selection pressure, and that the expression is not reduced by silencing mechanisms, at least under the conditions used here.

Discussion

Transgenic plants expressing foreign genes are a suitable system for the production of relevant immunogens in high amounts that can be used for development of a new generation of vaccines against a variety of infectious diseases. In the present study, the expression of the N protein of hantavirus serotype Puumala in tobacco and potato plants was investigated.

The hantaviral recombinant N proteins obtained from transgenic tobacco and potato plants have been shown to be able to elicit specific humoral and mucosal immune responses when administered intraperitoneally in rabbits and mice [14]. Oral immunization of mice is under investigation. Only recently, it was shown that oral immunization of mice with hepatitis B surface antigen expressed in transgenic plants was successful [17]. Hence, the expression of hantaviral antigens in transgenic plants is a suitable approach for the development of a vaccine against hantaviral infections. At present, there is no commercially available hantaviral vaccine. The limiting factor is that it is still not possible to express hantaviral glycoproteins with high manufacturing efficiency. A variety of new generations of hantaviral vaccines are still at an experimental stage [18-20].

The expression of viral proteins in plants has the following major advantages: firstly, there is no risk of contamination with mammalian viruses or other pathogens, and secondly, the production of high amounts of antigens is cheap and therefore of great economic interest. The possibility of antigen expression in high amounts facilitates the characterization of protein interactions in pharmacokinetic studies and in addition enables basic science on the further structural characterization of the viral antigens by crystallization.

Finally, transgenic plants expressing hantaviral antigens could be used for oral field immunizations of rodents which serve as vectors, thereby eradicating the main pathway of transmission of hantaviruses to humans.

Acknowledgment

This study was supported by the Sächsisches Landesamt für Umwelt und Geologie (AZ:13-8811.61/111).

References

- Schmaljohn CS, Dalrymple JM: Analysis of Hantaan virus RNA: Evidence for a new genus of bunyaviridae. Virology 1983;131:482–491.
- 2 Gött P, Stohwasser R, Darai G, Bautz EKF: RNA binding of recombinant nucleocapsid proteins of hantaviruses. Virology 1993;194: 332–337.
- 3 Gött P, Zöller L, Yang S, Darai G, Bautz EKF: A major antigenic domain of hantaviruses is located on the aminoproximal site of the viral nucleocapsid protein. Virus Genes 1997;14: 31–40.
- 4 Zöller L, Scholz J, Stohwasser R, Giebel LB, Sethi KK, Bautz EKF, Darai G: Immunoblot analysis of the serological response in Hantavirus infections. J Med Virol 1989;27:231–237.
- 5 Groen J, Dalrymple J, Fisher-Hoch S, Jordan JG, Clement JP, Osterhaus AD: Serum antibodies to structural proteins of Hantavirus arise at different times after infection. J Med Virol 1992;37:283–287.
- 6 Lundkvist A, Horling J, Athlin L, Rosen A, Niklasson BJ: Neutralizing human monoclonal antibodies against Puumala virus, causative agent of nephropathia epidemica: A novel method using antigen-coated magnetic beads for specific B cell isolation. J Gen Virol 1993; 74:1303–1310.
- 7 Elgh F, Wadell G, Juto P: Comparison of the kinetics of Puumala virus specific IgM and IgG antibody responses in nephropathia epidemica as measured by a recombinant antigen-based enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay and an immunofluorescence test. J Med Virol 1995; 45:146–150.

- 8 Haq TA, Mason HS, Clements JD, Arntzen CJ: Oral immunization with a recombinant bacterial antigen produced in transgenic plants. Science 1995;268:714–716.
- 9 Mason HS, Ball JM, Shi JJ, Jiang X, Estes MK, Arntzen CJ: Expression of Norwalk virus capsid protein in transgenic tobacco and potato and its oral immunogenicity in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996;28:5335–5340.
- 10 Yusibov V, Modelska A, Steplewski K, Agadjanyan M, Weiner D, Hooper DC, Koprowski H: Antigens produced in plants by infection with chimeric plant viruses immunize against rabies virus and HIV-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94:5784–5798.
- 11 Modelska A, Dietzschold B, Sleysh N, Fu ZF, Steplewski K, Hooper DC, Koprowski H, Yusobov V: Immunization against rabies with plant-derived antigen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:2481–2485.
- 12 Carrillo C, Wigdorovitz A, Oliveros JC, Zamorano PI, Sadir AM, Gomez N, Salinas J, Escribano JM, Borca MV: Protective immune response to foot-and-mouth disease virus with VP1 expressed in transgenic plants. J Virol 1998;72:1688–1690.
- 13 Castanon S, Marin MS, Martin-Alonso JM, Boga JA, Casais R, Humara JM, Ordas RJ, Parra F: Immunization with potato plants expressing VP60 protein protects against rabbit hemorrhagic disease virus. J Virol 1999;73: 4452–4455.
- 14 Kehm R, Jakob NJ, Welzel TM, Tobiasch E, Viczian O, Jock S, Geider K, Süle S, Darai G: Expression of immunogenic Puumala virus nucleocapsid protein in transgenic tobacco and potato plants. Virus Genes 2001;22:73–83.

- 15 Gött P, Zöller L, Yang S, Stohwasser R, Bautz EKF, Darai G: Antigenicity of hantavirus nucleocapsid proteins expressed in *E. coli*. Virus Res 1991;19:11–16.
- 16 Zöller L, Yang S, Bautz EKF, Darai G: Use of recombinant proteins of the Hantaan and nephropathia epidemica serotypes of Hantaviruses as immunodiagnostic antigens. J Med Virol 1993;39:200–207.
- 17 Kong Q, Richter L, Yang YF, Arntzen CJ, Mason HS, Thanavala Y: Oral immunization with hepatitis B surface antigen expressed in transgenic plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:11539–11544.
- 18 Hooper JW, Custer DM, Thompson E, Schmaljohn CS: DNA vaccination with the Hantaan virus M gene protects hamsters against three of four HFRS hantaviruses and elicits a high-titer neutralizing antibody response in rhesus monkeys. J Virol 2001;75: 8469–8477.
- 19 Bucht G, Sjolander KB; Eriksson S, Lindgren L, Lundkvist A, Elgh F: Modifying the cellular transport of DNA-based vaccines alters the immune response to hantavirus nucleocapsid protein. Vaccine 2001;19:3820–3829.
- 20 Koletzki D, Schirmbeck R, Lundkvist A, Meisel H, Kruger DH, Ulrich R: DNA vaccination of mice with a plasmid encoding Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein mimics the B-cell response induced by virus infection. J Biotechnol 2001;17:73–78.

Intervirology 2002;45:340-349 DOI: 10.1159/000067927

Stop Codon Insertion Restores the Particle Formation Ability of Hepatitis B Virus Core-Hantavirus Nucleocapsid Protein Fusions

Andris Kazaks^a Sylvie Lachmann^b Diana Koletzki^b Ivars Petrovskis^a Andris Dislers^a Velta Ose^a Dace Skrastina^a Hans R. Gelderblom^c Åke Lundkvist^{d,e} Helga Meisel^b Galina Borisova^a Detlev H. Krüger^b Paul Pumpens^a Rainer Ulrich^b

^aBiomedical Research and Study Centre, University of Latvia, Riga, Latvia; ^bInstitute of Virology, Humboldt University, Charité Medical School, ^cRobert Koch Institute, Berlin, Germany; ^dMicrobiology and Tumor Biology Center, Karolinska Institutet, ^eSwedish Institute for Infectious Disease Control, Stockholm, Sweden

Key Words

Virus-like particles · Mosaic hepatitis B virus core particles · Hantavirus · Nucleocapsid protein · Epitopes

Abstract

In recent years, epitopes of various origin have been inserted into the core protein of hepatitis B virus (HBc), allowing the formation of chimeric HBc particles. Although the C-terminus of a C-terminally truncated HBc (HBc Δ) tolerates the insertion of extended foreign sequences, the insertion capacity is still a limiting factor for the construction of multivalent vaccines. Previously, we described a new system to generate HBc∆ mosaic particles based on a read-through mechanism in an Escherichia coli suppressor strain [J Gen Virol 1997;78:2049-2053]. Those mosaic particles allowed the insertion of a 114-amino acid (aa)-long segment of a Puumala hantavirus (PUUV) nucleocapsid (N) protein. To study the value and the potential limitations of the mosaic approach in more detail, we investigated the assembly capacity of 'non-mosaic' HBc Δ fusion proteins and the corresponding mosaic constructs carrying 94, 213 and 433 aa of the hantaviral N protein. Whereas the fusion proteins carry-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0340\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int ing 94, 114, 213 or 433 aa were not assembled into HBc Δ particles, or only at a low yield, the insertion of a stop codon-bearing linker restored the ability to form particles with 94, 114 and 213 foreign aa. The mosaic particles formed exhibited PUUV-N protein antigenicity. Immunization of BALB/c mice with these mosaic particles carrying PUUV-N protein aa 1–114, aa 1–213 and aa 340–433, respectively, induced HBc-specific antibodies, whereas PUUV-N protein-specific antibodies were detected only in mice immunized with particles carrying N-terminal aa 1–114 or aa 1–213 of the N protein. Both the anti-HBc and anti-PUUV antibody responses were IgG1 dominated. In conclusion, stop codon suppression allows the formation of mosaic core particles carrying large-sized and 'problematic', e.g. hydrophobic, hantavirus sequences.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

In recent years, the genus *Hantavirus*, a member of the family Bunyaviridae, has attracted increasing interest as a member of the group of 'emerging viruses'. Hantaviruses are zoonotic, rodent-borne human pathogens causing two types of disease, haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome and hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. According to dif-

Rainer Ulrich Institute of Virology

Charité Medical School, Humboldt University

D-10098 Berlin (Germany)

Tel. +49 30 450 525092, Fax +49 30 450 525907, E-Mail rainer.ulrich@charite.de



Fig. 1. Schematic presentation of the HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusion and mosaic constructs. The entire N-encoding sequence of Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV was isolated as a *Bgl*II fragment from pVSTA18 (**A**) [23] and cloned into the *Bam*HI-linearized plasmid pHBc2-9 (**B**) [15] to yield pHBc Δ -Bgl (**C**). The plasmids pHBc Δ -Msc [21] and pHBc Δ -Sfu were obtained by subsequent restriction endonuclease-mediated deletion, whereas the plasmid pHBc Δ -Pst was constructed by inserting a *Pst*I fragment isolated from pQE-VST18 [23] into *Pst*I-linearized pHBc2-9 (**C**). The construction of the plasmid pHBc-Msc-Stop126/

127 was described recently [21] (re-designated here as pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc; **D**). The plasmids pHBc2-9-Stop (**B**), pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu and pHBc Δ -Stop-Bgl were generated by substituting the original *Bg/II-SmaI* fragment with the similar, but stop linker-carrying fragment from pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc (**D**). The plasmid pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst was obtained by inserting the *PstI* fragment encoding as 340–433 of Vranica/Hällnäs N protein from pQE-VST18 into the *PstI* site of pHBc2-9-Stop (**D**).

ferences in their rodent hosts, nucleotide and resulting amino acid (aa) sequences and cross-neutralization, distinct hantavirus sero-/genotypes have been defined. Whereas serotypes causing hantavirus pulmonary syndrome are mainly distributed in the Americas, haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome of different severity has been observed in Europe and Asia. Haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome is caused by various hantavirus serotypes, such as Puumala virus (PUUV), Hantaan virus, Seoul virus, Dobrava virus and the recently isolated Saaremaa virus. In addition, in Europe, the closely PUUVrelated serotype Tula virus (TULV) has been detected at several locations [for reviews, see ref. 1, 2]. Although there is some level of cross-protection between more closely related hantaviruses, e.g. Hantaan virus and Seoul virus [3], but also between more distantly related viruses, such as PUUV, Andes virus and Dobrava virus [4], a safe and efficient hantavirus vaccine requires the combination of antigens from several serotypes in a multivalent vaccine.

Different groups have reported on the protective potential of the nucleocapsid (N) protein of hantaviruses in animal models. Recombinant vaccines have been demonstrated to induce immune responses protecting animals against a subsequent virus challenge. These recombinant vaccines were based on (1) recombinant vaccinia virus or related viruses [5–7], (2) Sindbis virus constructs [8],

Hepatitis B Virus Core Mosaic Particles



Fig. 2. Detection of purified HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusion (**A**, **B**) and readthrough proteins (**C**, **D**) by immunoblot using the HBc-specific mAb 14E11 (**A**, **C**) or a polyclonal rabbit anti-PUUV-CG18-20 N (aa 39– 433) serum (**B**, **D**). *E. coli* K802 cells or their opal suppressor derivative conferring pISM3001 were used as hosts for expression of plasmids encoding HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusion and read-through proteins, respectively. To prepare the inoculum for large-scale cultivation, the cells were grown at 37° overnight in LB medium without shaking. The inoculum was diluted 1/50 in tryptophan-free M9 minimal medium supplemented with 1% casamino acids (Difco, Detroit, Mich., USA) and 0.2% glucose and incubated on a rotary shaker (at approximately 130 rpm, 37°) for 18–20 h, and the cells were collected by low-speed centrifugation. Crude lysates were obtained by re-suspending the cell sediments in SDS-PAGE sample buffer containing 2% SDS and 2% 2-mercaptoethanol and heating at 100° for

(3) DNA vaccination [8–10], or (4) recombinant N proteins expressed in *Escherichia coli*, yeast or insect cells using baculovirus expression vectors [5, 6, 11, 12].

The core protein of hepatitis B virus (HBc), as expressed in heterologous hosts such as *E. coli*, has become one of the favoured particulate carrier moieties improving the humoral immunogenicity of foreign epitopes presented on its surface [13, 14]. Recently, we demonstrated that chimeric HBc particles carrying 45 or 120 N-terminal aa of the N protein of PUUV induced efficient protection against a subsequent challenge with PUUV [15, 16, Koletzki et al., unpubl. data].

5 min. The crude lysates of cells transformed by pHBc Δ -Pst (lane 1), pHBc Δ -Msc (lane 2), pHBc Δ -Bgl (lane 3), pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst (lane 5), pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc (lane 6), pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu (lane 7), pHBc Δ -Stop-Bgl (lane 8) and pHBc2-9 (lane 4) were analysed on a 15% SDS-PAGE and Western blotting according to standard protocols. HBc Δ protein and its derivatives were detected with mouse anti-HBc mAb 14E11 (**A**, **C**) recognizing HBc aa 136–144 (diluted 1:1,000) [39, 40] and rabbit PUUV-CG18-20 N (aa 39–433)-specific serum (diluted 1:500) (**B**, **D**), using anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG peroxidase conjugate, respectively (Dako Diagnostika, Hamburg, Germany). The full-sized HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusion or read-through proteins of the expected molecular weights are marked with arrowheads. Molecular weight marker proteins: 66.0 kD (albumin), 45.0 kD (ovalbumin), 30.0 kD (carbonic anhydrase), 20.1 kD (trypsin inhibitor) and 14.4 kD (α -lactalbumin).

In order to develop multivalent vaccines on the basis of HBc particles, a high capacity for incorporation of foreign sequences into HBc without disturbing the particle formation is required. Two different approaches have been established to increase the capacity of HBc particles tolerating foreign insertions: (1) simultaneous insertion of foreign epitopes at different sites of HBc [17–20], and (2) increasing the insertion capacity of a single insertion site by generation of mosaic particles [21]. Due to its supposed high flexibility, the C-terminus of a C-terminally truncated HBc (HBc Δ) tolerates large foreign insertions; nevertheless, a size limitation has been observed [22]. Therefore, we have developed a new method to increase the insertion capacity at the C-terminus of HBc Δ by intro-

Table 1. Characterization of HBcΔ-PUUV-N fusion and read-through proteins

| Recombinant protein | PUUV-N insert, aa | Predicted MW, kD | Expres- sion | Solu- bility | Degra- dation | Particle formation | Antigenic of particle | ity :s |
|---------------------|----------------------|---------------------|-----------------|-----------------|------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------|-----------|
| | | | | | | | HBc | PUUV |
| HBcΔ | _ | 16.8 | +++ | +++ | + | +++ | 5.08 | ND |
| HBc∆-Pst | 340-433 | 28.2 | +++ | + | + | + | ND | ND |
| HBc∆-Stop-Pst | 340-433 | 29 | +++ | ++ | + | +++ | 4.51 | 6.00 |
| HBc∆-Msc | 1-114 | 30.3 | +++ | +++ | + | _ | ND | ND |
| HBc∆-Stop-Msc | 1–114 | 31.1 | +++ | +++ | + | +++ | 4.20 | 6.91 |
| HBc∆-Sfu | 1-213 | 42.2 | _ | ND | ND | ND | ND | ND |
| HBc∆-Stop -Sfu | 1-213 | 43 | + | +++ | ++ | +++ | 4.20 | 6.91 |
| HBc∆-Bgl | 1-433 | 66.2 | +++ | _ | +++ | _ | ND | ND |
| HBc∆-Stop -Bgl | 1-433 | 66.9 | +++ | (+) | +++ | - | ND | ND |

Expression was determined by silver staining and Western blotting: +++ = high-level expression, well detectable in stained gels; + = low expression, detectable only in Western blotting; - = no detectable expression. Solubility was determined by Western blotting: +++ = more than 50% of specific protein in soluble form; ++ = 25–50% of protein soluble; + = 10–25% of protein soluble; (+) = about one half of the read-through protein was soluble in 1–2 M urea; - = no soluble protein detected. Degradation was also determined by Western blotting: +++ = more than 50% of specific protein in degradation bands; ++ = 25–50% of protein in degradation bands; + = minor degradation. Particle formation was determined by electron microscopy and double-radial immunodiffusion: +++ = particles purified in high amounts useful for immunization; + = particles detected only in total cell lysates; - = no particles detected. Antigenicity of particles was determined by direct ELISA. The values given are the reciprocal endpoint logarithmic titres. The endpoint titre was considered as the highest serum dilution at which the signal was still three times higher than that of a non-immunized mouse. The HBc antigenicity was detected by mouse anti-HBc mAb 13C9 [39, 40]. PUUV-N antigenicity was detected by rabbit polyclonal anti-Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N serum. MW = Molecular weight; ND = not determined.

duction of a stop codon linker leading to the simultaneous expression of HBc Δ and a HBc Δ -hantavirus N read-through protein from the same HBc gene in an *E. coli* suppressor strain [21].

We were interested to further study the potential of such mosaic core particles to support the insertion of large-sized sequences. Differently sized segments of the N protein of PUUV were expressed in *E. coli* either as HBc Δ fusion proteins (chimeric particles) or by a read-through mechanism (mosaic particles). Consequently, the ability of chimeric and mosaic constructs to assemble was compared.

For that purpose, the entire N protein-coding region (aa 1–433) of PUUV (strain Vranica/Hällnäs) was isolated from plasmid pVSTA18 (fig. 1A) [23] and inserted into pHBc2-9 encoding a C-terminally truncated HBc (HBc Δ ; fig. 1B) [15] to obtain the plasmid pHBc Δ -Bgl (fig. 1C) [21]. In addition, similar plasmids were generated encoding fusions of HBc Δ and differently sized segments of the Vranica/Hällnäs N protein (aa 1–114 [21], aa 1–213, aa 340–433; fig. 1C). In another set of plasmids, HBc Δ - and Vranica/Hällnäs N-encoding sequences were separated by a stop codon linker as previously described for the plasmid pHBc-Msc-Stop126/127 [21] (fig. 1D; redesignated here as pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc).

Analysis of crude lysates of *E. coli* strain K802 cells carrying the expression plasmids pHBc Δ -Pst (fig. 2A, B, lane 1), pHBc Δ -Msc (fig. 2A, B, lane 2) and pHBc Δ -Bgl (fig. 2A, B, lane 3) revealed the synthesis of HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusion proteins of the expected molecular weights (table 1). These fusion proteins reacted in Western blot both with an HBc-specific monoclonal antibody (mAb), 14E11 (fig. 2A, lanes 1-3), and a polyclonal rabbit anti-PUUV-N serum (fig. 2B, lanes 1–3). As expected, the control lysate containing HBc Δ (without PUUV-N; pHBc2-9) reacted only with the HBc-specific antibody but not with the anti-PUUV-N serum (fig. 2A, B, lane 4). In lysates of cells transformed with pHBc∆-Sfu, no synthesis of the expected full-sized fusion protein could be detected (data not shown). The solubility of all HBc Δ fusion proteins was investigated by comparing the soluble and insoluble cellular fractions by Western blot. The main portion of the HBc∆-Msc fusion protein was found to be soluble (table 1), confirming our earlier data [21]. In contrast, only a

Hepatitis B Virus Core Mosaic Particles



Fig. 3. Demonstration of core particles formed by pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc (**A**), pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst (**B**), pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu (**C**) and pT31 (HBc Δ ; **D**) [41] by negative staining electron microscopy. To analyse the particle-forming ability, 1 g of frozen cells was re-suspended in 1 ml of buffer A (50 m*M* Tris, pH 8.0, 5 m*M* EDTA, pH 8.0, 1 m*M* PMSF). After the addition of 2 ml of buffer A containing 6 mg/ml lysozyme, the samples were incubated for 15 min on ice. After three subsequent cycles of freezing/thawing, 1 ml of buffer A containing 1% Triton X-100, 10 m*M* MgCl₂ and 20 µg/ml DNase were added. The samples were mixed by vortexing and then sonicated. The insoluble cell debris was sedimented by centrifugation (25 min, 8,000 rpm at 4°), and the soluble proteins were precipitated with ammonium sulphate

(pH 7.0) at 30% saturation (v/v) for 3 h at 4°. The precipitate collected by centrifugation (25 min, 8,000 rpm at 4°) was resuspended in 1 ml of buffer (10 mM Tris, pH 8.0, 150 mM NaCl) and fractionated using a Sepharose CL-4B column (length 80 cm, diameter 1.5 cm) with an elution speed of 3 ml/h. Fractions with HBc antigenicity in double-radial immunodiffusion and Western blot were selected for further analyses. To detect HBc particles, these samples were adsorbed on carbon-formvar-coated grids and stained with 2% phosphotungstic acid (pH 6.8). The grids were examined with a JEM 100C electron microscope (JEOL Ltd., Tokyo, Japan) at an accelerating voltage of 80 kV. \times 200,000. Bar = 50 nm.

very small part of the HBc Δ -Pst protein was found in the soluble fraction (table 1). The HBc Δ -Bgl fusion carrying the entire N protein remained insoluble even after treatment with 5 *M* urea (data not shown).

The expression of the corresponding read-through constructs was studied in *E. coli* K802 cells in the presence of the opal suppressor plasmid pISM3001 [24]. It resulted in the simultaneous expression of both HBc Δ (144 aa from HBc plus an additional 8 aa from stop linker; fig. 1D) reactive with mAb 14E11 (fig. 2C, lanes 5–8) and the HBc Δ -PUUV-N read-through proteins reactive with both mAb 14E11 (fig. 2C, lanes 5–8) and the rabbit anti-PUUV-N serum (fig. 2D, lanes 5–8). In general, the expression level of the HBc Δ -PUUV-N read-through proteins was similar to that of the corresponding fusion proteins (table 1). In contrast to the HBc Δ -Sfu fusion construct, which could not be detected by Western blot using mAb 14E11 (data not shown), small amounts of the HBc Δ -Stop-Sfu read-through protein were observed in crude lysates of suppressor cells (fig. 2C, D, lane 7). Inter-

344

estingly, the solubility of the read-through proteins encoded by pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst and pHBc Δ -Stop-Bgl was significantly higher than that of the corresponding fusion proteins. According to Western blotting data, the major part of the HBc Δ -Stop-Msc and the HBc Δ -Stop-Sfu as well as about half of the HBc Δ -Stop-Pst read-through proteins were found in soluble form (table 1). Even though no HBc Δ -Stop-Bgl protein was detected in supernatant of lysed cells, about one half of it was soluble in 1–2 *M* urea (data not shown). HBc Δ itself is highly soluble (up to 90%); however, its solubility in mosaic particles correlates with the solubility of the read-through proteins. For example, HBc Δ synthesized simultaneously with the HBc Δ -PUUV-N (aa 1–433) read-through protein is also insoluble and did not form particles (table 1).

Particle formation in lysozyme lysates of K802 cells expressing the HBcA-PUUV-N fusions alone or the simultaneously synthesized HBc_Δ-PUUV-N read-through proteins and the HBc Δ 'helper' was investigated by Ouchterlony's double-radial immunodiffusion with polyclonal human anti-HBc antibodies (table 1). According to previous data [21], the HBcA-Msc fusion protein is not selfassembly competent, despite its good solubility. For the HBc Δ -Pst fusion, particle formation was detected only in non-diluted cell lysates. In contrast, supernatants of lysates from E. coli cells expressing the HBc Δ -Stop-Pst, HBcA-Stop-Msc and HBcA-Stop-Sfu read-through proteins formed precipitation bands at dilutions of 1:16, 1:16 and 1:32, respectively, whereas lysates of HBc Δ -expressing cells showed precipitation lines at dilutions of 1:64-1:128 (data not shown).

For purification of HBc Δ particles, cells were lysed by lysozyme treatment and three subsequent freeze/thaw cycles. Particles were concentrated from the supernatants by ammonium sulphate precipitation and applied to a Sepharose CL-4B gel filtration column. Fractions of 3 ml were collected and analysed by SDS-PAGE and Western blot analysis. As a result of the purification of the readthrough constructs $pHBc\Delta$ -Stop-Pst, $pHBc\Delta$ -Stop-Msc and pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu, large amounts of HBc Δ protein products were collected from columns within fractions 11–15, with a major peak at fractions 12 and 13. Negative staining electron microscopy confirmed the formation of mosaic HBc Δ particles (fig. 3A–C) which were similar in size and shape to particles formed by HBc Δ itself (fig. 3D). Although large amounts of the HBc∆-Msc fusion protein were purified, no particles were found in the HBc Δ -Msc fusion protein-containing fractions (16–19) by negative staining electron microscopy, which is in line with previous data [21]. Reproducibly, when analysing

Hepatitis B Virus Core Mosaic Particles

Table 2. Reactivity of mosaic HBcΔ-PUUV-N particles with PUUV-N- and TULV-N-specific mAbs

| mAb | НВс∆-Stop-Pst (aa 340–433) | HBc∆-Stop-Sfu (aa 1–213) | HBc∆-Stop-Msc (aa 1–114) |
|------|-------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------------------------|
| PUUV | | | |
| 3G5 | - | + | + |
| 5F4 | - | - | - |
| 3H9 | - | - | - |
| 5E1 | - | + | + |
| 2E12 | - | + | + |
| 1C12 | - | + | + |
| 4C3 | - | + | + |
| 5A2 | - | - | - |
| TULV | | | |
| 3C11 | - | + | + |
| 3D3 | - | - | - |
| 3F10 | - | - | - |
| 6A6 | - | - | - |
| 7A4 | - | - | - |

Microtitre plates were coated with 5 μ g/ml of each mAb. 3G5, 5F4, 3H9, 5E1, 2E12, 1C12 and 4C3 are PUUV-N-specific mAbs; 5A2 is a PUUV glycoprotein-specific mAb. 3C11, 3D3, 3F10, 6A6 and 7A4 are TULV-N-specific mAbs [25–27]. + = Reactive; – = no reactivity.

the HBc Δ -Pst fusion products, no particles were detected after purification, although some particles were observed in lysozyme lysates (data not shown). For both the fusion and read-through variants of HBc Δ carrying the entire Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N sequence, immunodiffusion of lysozyme lysates and column chromatography failed to detect HBc Δ particles (table 1).

The HBc antigenicity of purified particles analysed in a direct HBc ELISA was found to be very similar between particles formed by the constructs $pHBc\Delta$ -Stop-Pst, pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc and pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu (table 1). The PUUV-N antigenicity was analysed by a polyclonal Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N protein-specific rabbit antiserum and a panel of PUUV-N- and TULV-N-specific mAbs [25–27]. The reactivity of the rabbit serum with particles carrying PUUV-N aa 1-114 and aa 1-213 was slightly higher than that with particles carrying as 340-433 (table 1). In line with these data, the mosaic particles carrying PUUV-N aa 340-433 did not react in the ELISA with any of the PUUV-N- and TULV-N-specific mAbs (table 2). In contrast, the particles carrying the N-terminal segments of PUUV-N reacted with the majority of the PUUV-N-specific mAbs and the cross-reactive TULV-Nspecific mAb 3C11. As expected, the mAbs 5F4 and 3H9,



Fig. 4. Immunogenicity of HBc Δ -derived mosaic particles in BALB/ c mice. Anti-HBc- (**A**) and anti-PUUV-N-specific (**B**) IgG isotype distribution in murine sera after immunization with mosaic HBc Δ -PUUV-N particles is shown. Six- to eight-week-old female BALB/c mice (breeding colony of the Institute of Microbiology and Virology, Riga, Latvia; 2 per group) were immunized on day 0 with 20 µg (full dose:10 µg i.p. and 10 µg s.c.) of mosaic particles formed by pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc, pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst, pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu or HBc Δ and HBc dissolved in PBS and mixed with Freund's complete adjuvant (1:1) followed by two booster immunizations in Freund's incomplete adjuvant given on days 10 (half of full dose: 5 µg i.p. and 5 µg s.c.) and 24 (full dose, in the same way). Sera were collected on day 32 after immunization. To analyse the IgG isotype of the anti-HBc (**A**) and anti-PUUV-N antibody response (**B**), 96-well microtitre plates were coated with 10 µg/ml full-length HBc (aa 1–183) and *E. coli*- expressed His₆-tagged Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N protein [28], respectively, overnight at 4°. Wells were blocked with 0.5% BSA in PBS for 1 h at room temperature, incubated with serial dilutions of antibodies for 1 h at 37° and processed with the appropriate secondary antibodies conjugated to horseradish peroxidase according to the protocols of the manufacturers. Plates were washed 3 times between incubations with 0.05% Tween-20 in PBS and 3 times with dH₂O. Optical densities were read with an automatic Immunoscan MS reader at 492 nm. IgG isotype analysis was done with a mouse mAb isotyping reagent kit (Sigma, St. Louis, Mo., USA). Antibody titres are expressed as decimal logarithms (lg) from the reciprocal of the highest serum dilution required to yield an optical density value at 492 nm three times that of non-immunized mice. Values below the figures show the number of mice. recently mapped by synthetic peptides to epitopes between aa 262–284 and 247–263 [25], respectively, did not detect any of the PUUV-N derivatives. Neither the PUUV glycoprotein- nor non-PUUV-cross-reactive TULV-specific antibodies reacted with the mosaic particles (table 2).

To study the immunogenicity of the particles, groups of two female BALB/c mice were immunized intraperitoneally and subcutaneously with 20 µg of purified mosaic HBc Δ -PUUV-N particles derived from the constructs pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc, pHBc Δ -Stop-Pst and pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu in Freund's complete adjuvant and subsequently boosted with a half-dose of particles in Freund's incomplete adjuvant on days 10 and 24. As a control, mice were immunized with HBc Δ and full-length HBc particles (without any insertion). Sera were collected on day 32 after immunization and analysed in ELISA for HBc- and PUUV-Nspecific IgG antibodies of the isotypes 1, 2a, 2b and 3, using full-length HBc and *E. coli*-expressed His₆-tagged Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N protein [28], respectively, as antigens (fig. 4).

All sera raised against either the mosaic particles or HBc Δ itself expressed high anti-HBc reciprocal logarithmic endpoint titres in ELISA, reaching 4.6–5.1 for IgG1 (fig. 4A). Except for IgG3, no significant differences in the antibody titres were observed between mice sera immunized with the different kinds of particles. In line with previous findings [Skrastina, unpubl. data], the IgG1 antibody response induced by HBc Δ was stronger than that found in mice immunized with full-sized HBc.

By immunization of mice with mosaic particles formed by the constructs pHBc Δ -Stop-Msc and pHBc Δ -Stop-Sfu, the production of high titres of PUUV-N-specific antibodies, i.e. 3.1–4.1 for IgG1 and 3.6 and lower for the other IgG isotypes, was induced (fig. 4B). Compared to mosaic particles carrying aa 1–213, the antibody response to mosaic particles carrying aa 1–114 of PUUV-N was slightly stronger, especially in mouse No. 2. Interestingly, no N protein-specific antibody response was found after immunization with mosaic particles containing the C-terminal aa 340–433 from the PUUV-N. As expected, no anti-PUUV response was detected in control sera obtained after immunization with HBc Δ (data not shown).

Chimeric HBc particles are considered to be of great interest as potential vaccines for influenza as well as hantavirus and malaria infections [15, 29, 30]. However, one limitation on the use of HBc particles may be their limited capacity to tolerate the insertion of foreign epitopes or protein segments. Indeed, previously we observed a size limitation for foreign sequences derived from the HIV-1 Gag protein in HBc Δ particles when fused C-terminally [22]. Similarly, a size limitation was observed for PUUV-N sequences [21] (this paper). Therefore, we developed an *E. coli* expression system that allows the simultaneous expression and assembly of HBc Δ and HBc Δ -PUUV-N (aa 1–114) read-through protein [21]. Here, we present evidence that the read-through mechanism even allows incorporation of aa 1–213 and aa 340–433 of PUUV-N into HBc Δ mosaic particles, whereas a C-terminal fusion to HBc Δ of these sequences did not give rise to the formation of chimeric HBc Δ particles, or only at a very low level. However, the highly insoluble entire PUUV-N protein could not be integrated into HBc Δ particles even by the use of the read-through mechanism.

The PUUV-N antigenicity, analysed by a rabbit anti-PUUV-N serum, was found to be higher for mosaic particles carrying aa 1-114 or aa 1-213 of PUUV-N than for those carrying aa 340-433. These data are in line with previous data demonstrating that the N-terminal region of PUUV-N is immunodominant [25, 31, 32]. This is also reflected in the reactivity of the N-terminal constructs with the majority of PUUV-N-specific mAbs, which confirmed our recent findings regarding their epitope localization between aa 1-45 and aa 1-80 of PUUV-N [16, 25]. In line with the antigenicity data, the two N-terminal constructs induced PUUV-N-specific antibodies in BALB/c mice, whereas the C-terminal one did not. The high antigenicity and immunogenicity of the mosaic particles carrying the N-terminal segments of PUUV-N is likely due to the immunodominant nature of this region, as detected for N proteins of PUUV and other hantaviruses [25, 31–33]. In contrast, the C-terminal region of PUUV-N has been demonstrated to be responsible for RNA binding [34], which may require an internal nonexposed orientation of this region, resulting in its lower antigenicity and immunogenicity. The immunogenicity of aa 1-114 of PUUV-N was slightly higher, at least in one mouse, which could be due to a lower content of the 213aa insert within the particle.

Recently, we observed a low level of protection against an homologous virus challenge provided by mosaic HBc Δ particles carrying aa 1–114 of the N protein from Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV behind aa position 144 of HBc Δ [20]. In contrast, chimeric HBc Δ carrying aa 1–120 in the c/e1 loop of HBc Δ induced complete protection in 7 out of 8 animals [Koletzki et al., unpubl. data]. In order to evaluate potential reasons for this difference in protection, IgG isotypes of PUUV-N-specific antibodies were determined. However, both mosaic HBc Δ particles carrying

Hepatitis B Virus Core Mosaic Particles

aa 1–114 (this paper) and chimeric HBc Δ particles carrying aa 1–120 at the c/e1 site [Geldmacher and Skrastina, unpubl. observations] induced an IgG1-dominated antibody response against the PUUV-N protein which may be due to a Th2-dominated response. Although HBc has been reported to elicit primary IgG2a and IgG2b anti-HBc antibodies [35], our results indicate that full-length HBc and HBc Δ -derived particles preferentially induced different Th cell subsets. However, additional investigations, including in vitro assays measuring the cytokine profile of antigen-specific Th cells, are necessary to prove this.

Despite the strong influence of the insertion site on the immune response to the PUUV-N insertion, another potential reason for the low level of protection could be the lower epitope density in mosaic particles. However, neither mosaic nor chimeric particles carrying aa 1-45 of Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N at aa 144 of HBc∆ were able to induce any protection in the bank vole model. Conversely, chimeric particles carrying the same insert at the Nterminus or the c/e1 loop of HBc Δ induced some level of protection [16]. Therefore, it is very likely that the insertion site is the main determinant for the low level of protection observed for mosaic particles based on the readthrough mechanism. This is in line with data from various investigations suggesting the c/e1 loop region as the most suitable insertion site for foreign sequences [13, 14]. In addition, the insertion of differently sized stop linkers of different primary structure behind as 144 of HBc Δ did not remarkably alter at least the PUUV-N antigenicity of mosaic HBc Δ particles [20]. Hence, another approach for the construction of mosaic particles, which is based on the co-expression of different HBc monomers from separate plasmids [36], allowing the insertion of the foreign sequence into the c/e1 loop, may be advantageous.

In contrast, one could insert large-sized foreign sequences directly into the c/e1 site to generate chimeric HBc Δ particles because of its high insertion capacity (of up to 240 foreign aa) [37, 38, unpubl. data]. However, we failed to obtain HBc Δ particles when inserting the N-terminal 80 aa of PUUV-N protein into the c/e1 site [unpubl. data]. This failure underlines the potential value of mosaic particles for incorporation of 'problematic', e.g. hydrophobic, sequences.

In summary, stop codon insertion improved or restored the particle formation ability of the HBc Δ -PUUV-N fusions. Stop codon suppression allowed the formation of mosaic HBc Δ particles carrying even up to 213 foreign aa. Immunization of mice with these mosaic particles induced PUUV-N protein-specific antibody responses, confirming at least a partial presence of the PUUV-N sequences on the surface of HBc Δ particles. The improvement of mosaic particles by using a two-plasmid system allowing the insertion of the foreign sequence into the c/e1 loop may improve the potential use of the mosaic strategy.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank B. Auste, F. Cifire and C. Sibold for the purification of the His6-tailed entire Vranica/Hällnäs PUUV-N protein from E. coli. The rabbit anti-PUUV-CG18-20 N (aa 39-433) serum and the plasmid pISM3001 were kindly provided by P. Gött (Heidelberg/Tübingen, Germany) and F.C. Minion (Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa, USA), respectively. The technical assistance of Juris Ozols, Lilija Auzina, Karin Dauer, Sigrid Kersten, Bärbel Jungnickel and Katarina Brus Sjölander is gratefully acknowledged. We are very grateful to Tobias Schröter for help in typing the manuscript. The work in the lab of R.U. was supported, in part, by the European Community (QLK2-CT-1999-01119 and CIPA-CT-0187), Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (Kr1293/2-1), Fonds der chemischen Industrie and Humboldt University. The work in the lab of Å.L. was supported by the Swedish Medical Research Council (Project No. 12177 and 12642), the Swedish Society of Medicine and the European Community (Contract No. BMH4-CT97-2499 and QLK2-CT-1999-01119).

References

- Plyusnin A, Morzunov SP: Virus evolution and genetic diversity of hantaviruses and their rodent hosts. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 2001; 256:47–75.
- 2 Krüger DH, Ulrich R, Lundkvist Å: Hantavirus infections and their prevention. Microbes Infect 2001;3:1129–1144.
- 3 Chu Y-K, Jennings GB, Schmaljohn CS: A vaccinia virus-vectored Hantaan virus vaccine protects hamsters from challenge with Hantaan and Seoul virus but not Puumala virus. J Virol 1995;69:6417–6423.
- 4 de Carvalho Nicacio C, Gonzalez Della Valle M, Padula P, Björling E, Plyusnin A, Lundkvist Å: Cross-protection against challenge with Puumala virus after immunization with nucleocapsid proteins from different hantaviruses. J Virol 2002;76:6669–6677.
- 5 Schmaljohn CS, Chu Y-K, Schmaljohn AL, Dalrymple JM: Antigenic subunits of Hantaan virus expressed by baculovirus and vaccinia virus recombinants. J Virol 1990;64:3162– 3170.
- 6 Schmaljohn C, Kamrud K, Hooper J: Recombinant DNA vaccines for hantaviruses; in Saluzzo JF, Dodet B (eds): Factors in the Emergence and Control of Rodent-Borne Viral Diseases (Hantaviral and Arenaviral Diseases). Amsterdam, Elsevier, 1999, pp 163–173.
- 7 Xu X, Ruo SL, McCormick JB, Fisher-Hoch SP: Immunity to hantavirus challenge in *Meriones unguiculatus* induced by vaccinia-vectored viral proteins. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1992; 47:397–404.

- 8 Kamrud KI, Hooper JW, Elgh F, Schmaljohn CS: Comparison of the protective efficacy of naked DNA, DNA-based Sindbis replicon and packaged Sindbis replicon vectors expressing hantavirus structural genes in hamsters. Virology 1999;263:209–219.
- 9 Hooper JW, Kamrud KI, Elgh F, Custer D, Schmaljohn CS: DNA vaccination with hantavirus M segments elicits neutralizing antibodies and protects against Seoul virus infection. Virology 1999;255:269–278.
- 10 Bucht G, Brus Sjölander K, Eriksson S, Lindgren L, Lundkvist Å, Elgh F: Modifying the cellular transport of DNA-based vaccines alters the immune response to hantavirus nucleocapsid protein. Vaccine 2001;19:3820–3829.
- 11 Lundkvist Å, Kallio-Kokko H, Brus Sjölander K, Lankinen H, Niklasson B, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O: Characterization of Puumala virus nucleocapsid protein: Identification of B-cell epitopes and domains involved in protective immunity. Virology 1996;216:397–406.
- 12 Dargeviciute A, Brus Sjölander K, Sasnauskas K, Krüger DH, Meisel H, Ulrich R, Lundkvist Å: Yeast-expressed Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein induces protection in a bank vole model. Vaccine 2002;20:3523–3531.
- 13 Ulrich R, Nassal M, Meisel H, Krüger DH: Core particles of hepatitis B virus as carrier for foreign epitopes. Adv Virus Res 1998;50:141– 182.
- 14 Pumpens P, Grens E: HBV core particles as a carrier for B cell/T cell epitopes. Intervirology 2001;44:98–114.
- 15 Ulrich R, Lundkvist Å, Meisel H, Koletzki D, Brus Sjölander K, Gelderblom HR, Borisova G, Schnitzler P, Darai G, Krüger DH: Chimaeric HBV core particles carrying a defined segment of Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein evoke protective immunity in an animal model. Vaccine 1998;16:272–280.
- 16 Koletzki D, Lundkvist Å, Brus Sjölander K, Gelderblom HR, Niedrig M, Meisel H, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: Puumala (PUU) hantavirus strain differences and insertion positions in the hepatitis B virus core antigen influence B-cell immunogenicity and protective potential of core-derived particles. Virology 2000;276:364– 375.
- 17 Brown AL, Francis MJ, Hastings GZ, Parry NR, Barnett PV, Rowlands DJ, Clarke BE: Foreign epitopes in immunodominant regions of hepatitis B core particles are highly immunogenic and conformationally restricted. Vaccine 1991;9:595–601.
- 18 Schödel F, Moriarty AM, Peterson DL, Zheng J, Hughes JL, Will H, Leturcq DJ, McGee JS, Milich DR: The position of heterologous epitopes inserted in hepatitis B virus core particles determines their immunogenicity. J Virol 1992;66:106–114.

- 19 Borisova G, Borschukova Wanst O, Mezule G, Skrastina D, Petrovskis I, Dislers A, Pumpens P, Grens E: Spatial structure and insertion capacity of immunodominant region of hepatitis B core antigen. Intervirology 1996;39:16– 22.
- 20 Ulrich R, Koletzki D, Lachmann S, Lundkvist Å, Zankl A, Kazaks A, Kurth A, Gelderblom HR, Borisova G, Meisel H, Krüger DH: New chimeric hepatitis B virus core particles carrying hantavirus (serotype Puumala) epitopes: Immunogenicity and protection against virus challenge. J Biotechnol 1999;73:141–153.
- 21 Koletzki D, Zankl A, Gelderblom HR, Meisel H, Dislers A, Borisova G, Pumpens P, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: Mosaic hepatitis B virus core particles allow insertion of extended foreign protein segments. J Gen Virol 1997;78:2049– 2053.
- 22 Ulrich R, Borisova GP, Gren E, Berzin I, Pumpen P, Eckert R, Ose V, Siakkou H, Gren EJ, von Baehr R, Krüger DH: Immunogenicity of recombinant core particles of hepatitis B virus containing epitopes of human immunodeficiency virus 1 core antigen. Arch Virol 1992;126:321–328.
- 23 Cifire F: Expression und immunologische Charakterisierung des Nukleokapsidproteins vom Hantavirusisolat Vranica; PhD thesis, Free University Berlin, 1997.
- 24 Smiley BK, Minion FC: Enhanced readthrough of opal (UGA) stop codons and production of *Mycoplasma pneumoniae* P1 epitopes in *Escherichia coli*. Gene 1993;134:33–40.
- 25 Lundkvist Å, Meisel H, Koletzki D, Lankinen H, Cifire F, Geldmacher A, Sibold C, Gött P, Vaheri A, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: Mapping of B-cell epitopes in the nucleocapsid protein of Puumala hantavirus. Viral Immunol 2002;15: 177–192.
- 26 Lundkvist Å, Niklasson B: Bank vole monoclonal antibodies against Puumala virus envelope glycoproteins: Identification of epitopes involved in neutralization. Arch Virol 1992; 126:93–105.
- 27 Lundkvist Å, Vapalahti O, Plyusnin A, Brus Sjölander K, Niklasson B, Vaheri A: Characterization of Tula virus antigenic determinants defined by monoclonal antibodies raised against baculovirus-expressed nucleocapsid protein. Virus Res 1996;45:29–44.
- 28 Sibold C, Meisel H, Lundkvist Å, Schulz A, Cifire F, Ulrich R, Kozuch O, Labuda M, Krüger DH: Simultaneous occurrence of Dobrava, Puumala, and Tula hantaviruses in Slovakia. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1999;61:409– 411.
- 29 Neirynck S, Deroo T, Saelens X, Vanlandschoot P, Jou WM, Fiers W: A universal influenza A vaccine based on the extracellular domain of the M2 protein. Nat Med 1999;5: 1157–1163.
- 30 Schödel F, Wirtz R, Peterson D, Hughes J, Warren R, Sadoff J, Milich D: Immunity to malaria elicited by hybrid hepatitis B virus core particles carrying circumsporozoite protein epitopes. J Exp Med 1994;180:1037–1046.

- 31 Elgh F, Lundkvist Å, Alexeyev OA, Wadell G, Juto P: A major antigenic domain for the human humoral response to Puumala virus nucleocapsid protein is located at the amino-terminus. J Virol Methods 1996;59:161–172.
- 32 Gött P, Zöller L, Darai G, Bautz EK: A major antigenic domain of hantaviruses is located on the aminoproximal site of the viral nucleocapsid protein. Virus Genes 1997;14:31–40.
- 33 Jenison S, Yamada T, Morris C, Anderson B, Torrez-Martinez N, Keller N, Hjelle B: Characterization of human antibody responses to four corners hantavirus infections among patients with hantavirus pulmonary syndrome. J Virol 1994;68:3000–3006.
- 34 Gött P, Stohwasser R, Schnitzler P, Darai G, Bautz EKF: RNA binding of recombinant nucleocapsid proteins of hantaviruses. Virology 1993;194:332–337.
- 35 Milich DR, Schödel F, Hughes JL, Jones JE, Peterson DL: The hepatitis B virus core and e antigens elicit different Th cell subsets: Antigen structure can affect Th cell phenotype. J Virol 1997;71:2192–2201.
- 36 Preikschat P, Kazaks A, Dishlers A, Pumpens P, Krüger DH, Meisel H: Interaction of wildtype and naturally occurring deleted variants of hepatitis B virus core polypeptides leads to formation of mosaic particles. FEBS Lett 2000; 478:127–132.
- 37 Koletzki D, Biel SS, Meisel H, Nugel E, Gelderblom HR, Krüger DH, Ulrich R: HBV core particles allow the insertion and surface exposure of the entire potentially protective region of Puumala hantavirus nucleocapsid protein. Biol Chem 1999;380:325–333.
- 38 Kratz PA, Böttcher B, Nassal M: Native display of complete foreign protein domains on the surface of hepatitis B virus capsids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1999;96:1915–1920.
- 39 Skrivelis V, Steinberg Y, Bichko V, Gren E, Tsimanis A: The structure of the variable regions of mouse monoclonal antibodies to hepatitis B virus core antigen. Scand J Immunol 1993;37:637-643.
- 40 Pushko P, Sällberg M, Borisova G, Ruden U, Bichko V, Wahren B, Pumpens P, Magnius L: Identification of hepatitis B virus core protein regions exposed or internalized at the surface of HBcAg particles by scanning with monoclonal antibodies. Virology 1994;202:912–920.
- 41 Borisova GP, Kalis IV, Pushko PM, Tsibinogin VV, Loseva VJ, Ose VP, Stankevica EI, Dreimane AJ, Snikere DJ, Grinstein EE, Pumpen PP, Gren EJ: Genetically engineered mutants of the core antigen of the human hepatitis B virus preserving the ability for native selfassembly (in Russian). Dokl Akad Nauk SSSR 1988;298:1474–1478.

Intervirology 2002;45:350–361 DOI: 10.1159/000067928

A Malaria Vaccine Candidate Based on a Hepatitis B Virus Core Platform

Matti Sällberg^a Janice Hughes^b Joyce Jones^b Tom R. Phillips^b David R. Milich^b

^aDivision of Clinical Virology, Karolinska Institute, Stockholm, Sweden; ^bVaccine Research Institute of San Diego, San Diego, Calif., USA

Key Words

Malaria · Vaccine · Pre-erythrocytic · Hepatitis B core antigen

Abstract

Objective: The recent success of a *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria vaccine consisting of circumsporozoite (CS) protein (CSP) T and B cell epitopes has rekindled interest in the development of a pre-erythrocytic vaccine. Our goal was to design an efficient delivery system for known neutralizing epitopes. **Methods:** Well-characterized CSP-specific neutralizing B cell epitopes and a 'universal' T cell epitope were combined with a particulate carrier platform, the hepatitis B core antigen (HBcAg), to produce a novel pre-erythrocytic vaccine candidate. **Results:** The vaccine candidate V12.PF3.1 is a potent immunogen in mice, eliciting unprecedented levels (greater than 10⁶ titers) of sporozoite-binding antibodies after only two doses. The antisporozoite antibodies are longlasting and represent all IgG isotypes, and antibody pro-

D.R.M. was variously affiliated with The Scripps Research Institute, Immune Complex Corporation (currently Apovia Inc.) and the Vaccine Research Institute of San Diego during the performance of these studies.

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0350\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int duction is not genetically restricted. CSP-specific CD4+ T cells are also primed by V12.PF3.1 immunization in a majority of murine strains. Furthermore, the hybrid HBcAg-CS particles can be produced inexpensively in bacterial expression systems. *Conclusion:* These characteristics suggest that V12.PF3.1 represents an efficient and economical *P. falciparum* vaccine candidate for use separately or in combination with other formulations.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Natural *Plasmodium falciparum* infection does not result in immunity, and partial immunity occurs only after years of recurring infections and illnesses. Therefore, a vaccine must outperform the immune response to the natural infection. this complexity has impeded vaccine development. Although a number of antigens from the various life cycle stages are being pursued as malaria vaccine candidates, the most progress has been made towards the development of a pre-erythrocytic stage vaccine [1]. Sporozoites, which represent the infective stage, are injected into the host by the bite of the mosquito and within minutes leave the circulation and enter hepatocytes. The relatively low antigen load (<100 sporozoites/bite) and

David R. Milich

Vaccine Research Institute of San Diego 3030 Science Park Road, Suite 100 San Diego, CA 92121 (USA) Tel. +1 858 587 9505, Fax +1 858 587 9208, E-Mail dmilich@vrisd.org

brief circulation time may explain the lack of protective immunity towards this stage after a natural infection [2]. Studies in the 1980s demonstrated that the sporozoite coat protein, the circumsporozoite (CS) protein (CSP), was the target of protective antibodies [3–5]. Further, the dominant antibody epitope was represented by the CSP central repeat sequences (NANP_n in *P. falciparum*) [6, 7]. Although more recent work indicates that cell-mediated immunity towards CSP epitopes can also confer protection [8-12], the earlier studies demonstrated that antibodies specific for the CSP repeat sequences were protective. These studies led to human clinical trials using recombinant [13] and synthetic [14, 15] forms of the CSP. These antigens formulated in alum were poorly immunogenic in terms of anti-NANP antibody titers determined by direct ELISA or indirect immunofluorescence antibody tests (IFAT) on sporozoites (i.e. IFAT titers of $10^{2}-10^{3}$). Predictably, the weak immunogenicity was accompanied by limited protection. In an attempt to increase the immunogenicity of the CSP repeat sequences, a virus-like particle consisting of 16 NANP repeats from the CSP of P. falciparum fused to the N-terminus of pre-S2 and S sequences of the hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) was developed and tested in a phase I clinical trial. The immunogenicity was suboptimal [16]. A second vaccine based on the use of the HBsAg carrier known as RTS,S consisting of 19 NANP repeats plus the majority of the C-terminus of the CSP [amino acids 207-395 of P. falciparum (3D7)] fused to the N-terminus of HBsAg was tested in a human challenge study [17]. The RTS,S vaccine formulated in alum was not protective, but the addition of 3-deacylated-monophosphoryl lipid A (MPL) to the adjuvant elicited protection in 2 of 8 vaccinees with the highest antibody levels [17]. In a more recent phase I clinical trial of RTS,S the use of a more potent adjuvant termed SBAS2 (MPL plus a saponin derivative QS21 in an oil-in-water emulsion) protected 6 of 7 vaccinees challenged 3 weeks after the third dose of vaccine [18]. However, in a rechallenge experiment, only 1 of 5 of the originally protected vaccinees remained protected approximately 6 months after the initial challenge [19]. Similarly, in a field trial of RTS,S/SBAS2 in a malaria-endemic region, high levels of protection were achieved but again appeared to be transient [20].

From the earliest studies using irradiated sporozoites, to the more recent clinical trials with RTS,S, a consistent observation has been the difficulty in eliciting high levels of persisting antibodies to the CSP repeat sequences in all genetic backgrounds, especially with respect to (NANP)ncontaining antigens. Rather than relying on ever more potent and inevitably more toxic adjuvant systems, our approach was to use a more efficient carrier platform. The hepatitis B core antigen (HBcAg) is significantly more immunogenic than the HBsAg [21], can be produced in bacterial expression systems, unlike HBsAg, and has been shown to be a highly versatile and efficient carrier platform for a number of pathogen-specific epitopes [22]. For example, immunization with chimeric HBcAg particles containing CSP repeat sequences from the *Plasmodium* berghei and Plasmodium voelii rodent malaria species elicited high-titered anti-CSP repeat antibodies and protected 90-100% of vaccinated mice [23, 24]. Initial attempts to apply the same technology to the design of a CSP repeat-based P. falciparum vaccine candidate [23] were not as optimal as the rodent vaccines, which is consistent with the general history of the (NANP)n sequence. Herein, we describe a series of modifications to the HBcAg carrier platform and the selection of malaria CSP sequences necessary to achieve extremely high levels of persisting anti-CSP repeat antibodies, and characterize this new vaccine candidate in murine immunogenicity studies.

Materials and Methods

Mice

Inbred murine strains were obtained from the breeding colony at The Scripps Research Institute and the Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, Me., USA). Female mice 6–8 weeks of age at the initiation of the experiments were used.

Recombinant HBcAg and HBcAg-CS Hybrid Particles and Synthetic Peptides

Recombinant HBcAg subtype ayw [25] and HBcAg-CS2 hybrid particles [23] were produced and purified as previously described and provided by Dr. D. Peterson (Virginia Commonwealth University, Richmond, Va., USA). All other HBcAg-CS hybrid particles were produced in *Escherichia coli* and were provided by A. Birkett (Immune Complex Corporation, currently Apovia Inc., San Diego, Calif., USA). As demonstrated previously, insertion of foreign B cell epitopes into the exposed loop structure of HBcAg is the optimal position for antibody production [25]. Five particles were used in this study: HBcAg-CS2, V1.PF1, V2.PF1, V12.PF1 and V12.PF3.1 (summarized in table 1).

Synthetic peptides corresponding to the 120–140 HBcAg sequence and the CSP-specific (NANP)₅, DPNANPNVDPNANPNV and CSP_{326–345} (NF54 isolate) EYLNKIQNSLSTEWSPCSVT sequences were produced by solid-phase peptide synthesis based on 9-fluorenlmethoxy-carbonyl protection on the α -amino group by using manual [27, 28] or automated (Milligen 9050 Plus, Millipore, Bedford, Mass., USA) procedures. All peptides were analyzed by reverse-phase high-performance liquid chromatography.

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine

Table 1. Recombinant HBcAg-CS hybrid particles used in this study

| Designation | Insert(s) | T/B epitope | Description | Immunogenicity (anti-NANP titer) |
|---|---|-----------------------|---|---|
| HBcAg-CS2 V1.PF1 V2.PF1 V12.PF1 V12.PF1 | (NANP) ₄ (NANP) ₄ (NANP) ₄ (NANP) ₄ + CS226 345 | B B B B T | replacement of loop insertion site 77–78 insertion site 78–79 insertion site 78–79 C-terminus | 20,480 163,840 655,360 2.6 × 10 ⁶ |
| V12.PF3.1 | (NANP) ₄ + NVDP + CS ₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ | B B/T T | NANPNVDP(NANP) ₃ insertion site 78–79 C-terminus | 10.5×10 ⁶ |

'V' refers to the HBcAg vector; 'PF' refers to the insert. Immunogenicity is expressed as end-point anti-NANP serum titers determined in an ELISA format. Mice were injected with 20 μ g of the HBcAg-CS hybrid particles in CFA and boosted with a 10- μ g dose in IFA. In all hybrid particles, the C-terminal HBcAg residues 150–183 are deleted, with the exception of HBcAg-CS2, in which residues 157–183 are deleted. Modified from Milch et al. [26].

Monoclonal Antibodies and ELISA Assays

HBcAg-specific monoclonal antibodies (Mabs) 3105 and 3120 [29] and hepatitis B e antigen-specific Mabs 904 and 905 [30] were supplied by M. Mayumi (Institute for Immunology, Tokyo University, Japan). To detect the (NANP)n sequence on hybrid particles or synthetic peptide, the 2A10 Mab was used, and to detect the NVDPNANP sequence, the 2B6 Mab was used. Dr. E. Nardin (New York University, New York N.Y., USA) provided the CSP-specific Mabs. Anti-HBc and anti-peptide IgG antibodies were measured in pooled murine sera by indirect solid-phase ELISA using HBcAg (0.05 μ g/well) and CSP-derived peptides (0.5 μ g/well) as solid-phase ligands and goat anti-mouse IgG (or IgG isotype-specific antibodies) as second antibody, and were developed with a peroxidase-labeled swine anti-goat IgG. The data are expressed as the antibody titer representing the reciprocal of the highest dilution of serum that yielded three times the OD₄₉₂ of preimmunization sera.

In vivo Antibody Production and Adjuvants

Mice were immunized for determination of in vivo antibody production by intraperitoneal injection of HBcAg or HBcAg-CS hybrid particles either emulsified in complete Freund's adjuvant (CFA; 50%) or formulated with a series of other adjuvants. Other adjuvants included aluminum hydroxide (AL-OH) or aluminum phosphate (AL-PO₄) used at an 8:1 ratio (both from Supefos, Denmark). The alum adjuvants were formulated at the Immune Complex Corporation. The CpG oligonucleotide GCATGACGTTGAGCT and the non-CpG oligonucleotide CCTAGATGTTAGCGT (100 µg/dose) were both made with a thioate backbone (Synthetic Genetics, San Diego, Calif., USA). The Ribi adjuvant system consisted of MPL and synthetic trehalose dicorynomycolate incorporated into a metabolizable oil (squalene) and emulsifier (Tween 80). MPL-SE (RD-529SE) consisted of a synthetic MPL (50 µg) in a stable emulsion of squalene and Tween 80. MPL-AF consisted of aqueous MPL (50 µg). All these MPL-containing adjuvant systems were obtained from Corixa (Hamilton, Mont., USA). Montanide ISA 720 (Seppic, Paris, France) is a water-in-oil adjuvant consisting of squalene and a mannide mono-oleate emulsifier prepared in a 70:30 (w/w) mixture or a 30:70 mixture of adjuvant to antigen.

T Cell IFN-γ Assay

Groups of 3 mice were injected subcutaneously with V12.PF3.1 particles (10 μ g) emulsified in CFA in the hind footpads. Ten days later, the mice were sacrificed and the draining lymph nodes were harvested and pooled and single-cell suspensions were prepared. The lymph node cells were cultured (6 × 10⁵/well) with dilutions of a panel of antigens for 48 h, at which point supernatant was removed for the determination of IFN γ by a sandwich ELISA (Pharmingen, San Diego, Calif., USA).

Results

Immunogenicity of a Series of HBcAg-CS Hybrid Particles

The initial attempt to incorporate the (NANP)₄ P. fal*ciparum* repeat sequence into HBcAg particles by deleting the HBcAg loop region (HBcAg-CS2) proved less than optimal. The anti-NANP antibody response was variable and relatively low in 2 of the 3 strains tested (table 1) [23]. Therefore, in an attempt to optimize antibody production to the *P. falciparum* CSP, a series of modifications were made to the HBcAg platform and in the selection of CSP B and T cell epitopes. Inserting the (NANP)₄ sequence between HBcAg loop residues 77 and 78 (V1.PF1) minimally improved anti-NANP antibody production as compared to deleting the entire loop region (HBcAg-CS2 particles), without altering the anti-HBc response (table 1). Because the 77-78 insertion site did not appear to be optimal for the (NANP)₄ sequence, the (NANP)₄ sequence was inserted between HBcAg loop residues 78 and 79 (V2.PF1), which improved anti-NANP immunogenicity 2 to 4-fold as compared to V1.PF1 particles (table 1). The 78–79 insertion site also resulted in a 16-fold increase in the antigenicity (2A10 binding) of the (NANP)₄ sequence as compared to V1.PF1 particles (not shown). Whereas the anti-NANP response elicited by the V2.PF1 particles was 2–4 times higher than that of V1.PF1, the anti-HBc response was actually 4–6 times lower as compared to V1.PF1 particles (data not shown). A high anti-NANP/ anti-HBc ratio is desirable because anticarrier antibodies are nonfunctional and could potentially inhibit boosting, although no such inhibition occurred in a previous study [23].

A further modification that enhanced antibody production to the (NANP)₄ epitope a further 4-fold and increased antigenicity 6-fold was the incorporation of the malaria CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ sequence at the C-terminus of the V12.PF1 hybrid particle. The increased immunogenicity may be explained by the presence of additional T helper cell sites within the CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ sequence [31, 32], although this is unlikely since not all strains recognize the CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ T cell site, or because this sequence may confer increased stability on the hybrid V12.PF1 particle. Stability is an issue because truncation of the HBcAg C-terminus eliminates the nucleic acid binding region but also deletes the C-terminal cysteine at residue 183, which has been suggested to stabilize the HBcAg particle [33, 34]. The CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ sequence contains a Cys³⁴² that may be able to participate in inter- or intradimer disulfide bond formation, much like the endogenous HBcAg Cys¹⁸³. To confirm the effect of CSP Cys³⁴² on immunogenicity, V12.PF1 particles were compared with a mutant V12.PF1 ($C^{342} \rightarrow A$) particle. Mice were immunized with 20 µg of each particle in saline, and primary anti-NANP and anti-HBc antibody production was determined. As shown in figure 1, the V12.PF1 (Cys³⁴² \rightarrow A) mutant was nonimmunogenic in terms of anti-NANP antibody production as compared to the wild-type V12.PF1 particle. Note also that anti-HBc antibody production was not affected by the loss of Cys³⁴². This suggests that the anti-NANP response is more sensitive to destabilization than the anticarrier response. A second mutation placing a cysteine at the C-terminus of the HBcAg carrier, V12.PF1 + Cys^{150} ($C^{342} \rightarrow A$), repaired the defective immunogenicity of V12.PF1 ($C^{342} \rightarrow A$) (fig. 1). Therefore, C-terminal cysteines appear important to immunogenicity and there seems to be some flexibility in the position of disulfide bond formation.

A further modification was the inclusion of a second minor *P. falciparum* B cell epitope that is present in the 5' repeat region and consists of multiple NVDPNANP repeats in the CSP. This sequence also contains a CD4+ T



Fig. 1. Effect of C-terminal cysteines on anti-NANP and anti-HBc antibody responses. Groups of 3 Balb/c mice were injected intraperitoneally with 20 μ g of the indicated immunogens in saline. Sera were collected before immunization and 2 and 4 weeks after immunization and pooled, and anti-NANP and anti-HBc antibody titers were determined by ELISA. Titers are expressed as a reciprocal of the endpoint serum dilution that yielded 3 times the OD₄₉₂ reading of preimmunization sera [from ref. 26].

cell site(s). Particles containing this second B/T cell site, designated V12.PF3.1, bind a second Mab (2B6), which recognizes the NVDPNANP sequence. Immunization with V12.PF3.1 elicited enhanced antibody production to the (NANP)_n sequence as compared to V12.PF1 particles (table 1). Antisporozoite IFAT titers elicited by immunization with V12.PF3.1 were also determined. Four weeks after a single immunization with 20 µg of V12.PF3.1 in CFA, the serum IFAT titer measured on sporozoites was 1.3×10^6 , which increased to 5.2×10^6 after a boost. There was a high degree of correlation between the ELISA and IFAT serum titers, indicating that most if not all the anti-NANP and anti-NVDPNANP antibodies recognize

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine

Intervirology 2002;45:350-361





sporozoites and are potentially functional (fig. 2). In summary, immunization with V12.PF3.1 particles increased serum anti-NANP ELISA and anti-sporozoite IFAT titers by 2–3 orders of magnitude as compared to HBcAg-CS2 particles by virtue of modifications to the HBcAg platform and the selection of *P. falciparum* CSP epitopes. These results prompted us to select the V12.PF3.1 hybrid particles for further characterization as a potential preerythrocytic malaria vaccine candidate.

Kinetics of the Humoral Response to Immunization with V12.PF3.1 Particles

In order to determine the kinetics of a primary and secondary immune response and antibody persistence, $(B10 \times B10.S)_{F1}$ mice were immunized with 20 µg of V12.PF3.1 particles in CFA and boosted with 10 µg in incomplete Freund's adjuvant (IFA) (fig. 2). Immunization with V12.PF3.1 hybrid particles elicited the rapid production of anti-NANP IgG antibodies, reaching a serum ELISA titer of 40,960 within 2 weeks. Anti-NANP serum antibody levels continued to rise from weeks 2 to 4, 4 to 6 and 6 to 8 and plateaued at week 10 at a titer of 5.2 \times 10⁶ (fig. 2). This pattern of consistently increasing anti-NANP antibody levels throughout the primary response was not observed with the less immunogenic HBcAg-CS particles and is a correlate of enhanced immunogenicity. Note that the anticarrier antibody response rose and plateaued within 2 weeks of the primary and secondary

immunizations. Mice were boosted at week 10, which resulted in a 2-fold increase in anti-NANP titer. The relatively low booster effect is most likely due to the high primary antibody levels. Ideally, the booster injection should be given at a point in time after the primary serum antibody levels have waned. Note also that the IFAT titers measured on sporozoites closely parallel the ELISA titers 4 and 6 weeks after primary and secondary immunizations. Lastly, the anti-NANP antibodies persisted at relatively high levels (655,360) for the entire observation period of 10.5 months after the first immunization (fig. 2).

It was also of interest to examine the IgG isotype distribution of anti-NANP antibodies in the sera of the mice depicted in figure 2. As shown in figure 3, immunization with the V12.PF3.1 particle elicited an anti-NANP response composed of a broad spectrum of IgG isotypes, especially 4 weeks after the boost. However, the kinetics of production of the various IgG isotypes varied. The early primary response (2 weeks) was dominated by the IgG_{2b} and IgG₃ isotypes. Significant IgG₁ and IgG_{2a} anti-NANP antibody production became apparent later in the primary response (10 weeks). Note the extremely high IgG₃ anti-NANP titer at week 10. This predominance of the IgG_3 isotype is not observed in the anti-HBc antibody response and has not been observed with any other B cell epitope inserted into the loop region of HBcAg particles and may be unique to the (NANP)_n repeat sequence in the context of HBcAg.

Fig. 3. Kinetics of anti-NANP IgG isotype production after V12.PF3.1 immunization. A group of 5 (B10 \times B10.S)_{F1} mice were immunized intraperitoneally with 20 µg of V12.PF3.1 in CFA and boosted with 10 µg in IFA at week 10. Sera were collected before immunization, 2 and 10 weeks after the primary immunization and 4 weeks after the boost (2°). Pooled sera were analyzed for anti-NANP antibodies of the IgG1, IgG2a, IgG_{2b} and IgG₃ isotypes by ELISA using isotype-specific secondary antibodies. Anti-NANP titers are expressed as a reciprocal of the highest serum dilution to yield 3 times the OD₄₉₂ reading of preimmunization sera [from ref. 26].



Formulation of V12.PF3.1 in Various Adjuvant Systems

Inasmuch as some form of adjuvant system will likely be necessary for human clinical trials, and as the nonmetabolizable mineral oil present in CFA and IFA is not presently permitted in humans, V12.PF3.1 particles were formulated with a number of adjuvant systems and compared in terms of anti-NANP antibody responses. Because these studies were conducted at different times and in some cases in different murine strains, the data have been normalized as a percentage of the anti-NANP response as compared to the response to V12.PF3.1 emulsified in IFA, since IFA was included as a control in each experiment. Groups of 3 mice were immunized with 10 µg of V12.PF3.1 particles in each adjuvant system and the results for sera taken 4 and 6 weeks after a primary immunization are shown (fig. 4). To summarize, AL-PO₄ (100%adsorbed), CpG (100 µg/dose) and MPL-AF (50 µg/dose) all significantly enhanced the anti-NANP antibody response as compared to saline and were 25-50% as effective as IFA. Furthermore, all of the stable emulsion adjuvants tested containing the metabolizable oil squalene (2.5% +MPL or 30% without immunostimulants) performed equally or slightly better than IFA (fig. 4).

Genetic Restriction of the Immune Response to V12.PF3.1 Immunization

Efforts to produce *P. falciparum* vaccine candidates based on CSP repeat sequences have been plagued by low immunogenicity and severe genetic restriction characterized by low responder murine strains. This issue has been addressed effectively by the inclusion of CSP CD4+ T cell epitopes, especially CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ [35]; however, strains differ in responsiveness to CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ as well. One reason the HBcAg was chosen as a carrier platform is because no genetic nonresponder murine strains have been identified for this antigen [21], and humans naturally infected with hepatitis B virus (HBV) universally produce high levels of anti-HBc antibody. To directly examine the issue of MHC-linked restriction of the immune response to V12.PF3.1, B10 H-2 congenic murine strains expressing 7 different H-2 haplotypes but otherwise genetically identical were immunized with an intermediate 5.0-µg dose of V12.PF3.1 in IFA, and their primary anti-NANP responses were compared (fig. 5). Firstly and importantly, no (NANP)_n nonresponder H-2 haplotypes were identified. Secondly, the anti-NANP antibody responses of the 7 H-2 congenic strains were remarkably similar. These results are consistent with previous results using HBcAg as an immunogen in mice and with the serology in natural HBV infection, and suggest that the problem of MHClinked low to nonresponsiveness may be overcome by the use of the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate.

T Cell Specificity of the Immune Response to V12.PF3.1

Although wild-type HBcAg can behave as a T cell-independent antigen in the absence of T cells [21], and this T cell independence can transfer to heterologous B cell epitopes inserted into HBcAg [25, 36], the extremely high levels of anti-NANP antibodies observed after V12.PF3.1 immunization indicate that an efficient CD4+ T helper cell response is operative. To examine the MHC-linked variation and the fine specificity of CD4+ T cell recogni-

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine



Fig. 4. Effect of formulating V12.PF3.1 in different adjuvants on the anti-NANP antibody response. Groups of 3 mice were immunized intraperitoneally with 10 μ g of V12.PF3.1 formulated in the indicated adjuvants or in saline alone. Sera were collected before immunization and 4 and 6 weeks after immunization, and anti-NANP antibody was determined by ELISA. The anti-NANP antibody response was normalized as a percentage of the anti-NANP response achieved with V12.PF3.1 formulated in IFA. Balb/c mice were used, with the exception of the CpG and non-CpG groups, which were (B10 × B10.S)_{F1} mice, and the Montanide ISA 720 groups, which were C57BL/6 mice. IFA, 50%; AL-OH (100%) = 100% AL-OH

adsorbed to V12.PF3.1; AL-OH (5%) = 5% AL-OH adsorbed to V12.PF3.1; AL-PO₄ (100%) = 100 AL-PO₄ adsorbed to V12.PF3.1; AL-PO₄ (0%) = unadsorbed to V12.PF3.1. The alum adjuvants were used at an 8:1 alum to protein ratio. CpG = Oligonucleotide containing the CpG motif (100 µg); non-CpG = control oligonucleotide not containing the CpG motif (100 µg); RAS = the Ribi adjuvant system; MPL-SE (Syn) = a synthetic MPL (50 µg) in a stable emulsion containing 2.5% squalene; MPL-AF = MPL (50 µg) in aqueous solution; Montanide ISA 720 = a water-in-oil adjuvant containing squalene and a mannide mono-oleate emulsifier mixed at a 70:30 or 30:70 (wt/wt) ratio with V12.PF3.1; CFA, 50% [from ref. 26].

tion of V12.PF3.1 particles, the same panel of B10 H-2 congenic strains shown in figure 5 were immunized, and draining lymph node cells were cultured with varying concentrations of a panel of antigens, including wild-type HBcAg, (NANP)₅, CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ and c120–140 (a HBcAg-derived peptide). T cell sensitization was measured by IFN- γ production assayed in the supernatant and expressed as the minimum in vitro antigen concentration required to elicit IFN- γ production (fig. 6). The HBcAg was the predominant antigen recognized by the CD4+ T cells of all the strains immunized with V12.PF3.1, and 3 of the strains (B10.S, B10 and B10.RIII) recognized an HBcAg. Five of the seven strains also recognized at least

one of the two malaria CSP-specific antigens tested. The H-2^b haplotype is known to be a CD4+ T cell responder to the (NANP)_n sequence, and immunization with V12.PF3.1 did prime (NANP)₅-specific T cells in this strain. However, it was somewhat surprising that the V12.PF3.1 particle also elicited (NANP)₅-specific T cells in the B10.PL (H-2^u) and B10.BR (H-2^k) strains, which have not been phenotyped as responders [37] to NANP (fig. 6). Perhaps it is the context of the NANPNVDP-(NANP)₃ sequence within the HBcAg loop that allows CD4+ T cell priming, and primed T cells are cross-reactive to (NANP)₅ in vitro.

It is clear from this analysis that the bulk of the T helper cell function for antibody production to V12.PF3.1 B

Fig. 5. Effect of MHC haplotype on the anti-NANP antibody response after V12.PF3.1 immunization. Groups of 3 H-2 congenic mice of the indicated strains representing 7 distinct H-2 haplotypes were immunized intraperitoneally with 5 μ g of V12.PF3.1 in IFA. Sera were collected before immunization and 2, 4 and 6 weeks after immunization for anti-NANP analysis by ELISA on pooled samples. The anti-NANP antibody titer is expressed as a reciprocal of the highest serum dilution to yield 3 times the OD₄₉₂ reading of preimmunization sera [from ref. 26].





Fig. 6. Fine specificity of T cells primed by V12.PF3.1. Groups of 3 H-2 congenic mice of the indicated strains representing 7 distinct H-2 haplotypes were immunized subcutaneously with 10 μ g of V12.PF3.1 in CFA. Ten days after immunization, draining popliteal lymph node cells were harvested and pooled, and 6 × 10⁵ cells were cultured in vitro with varying concentrations (0.00006–25 μ g/ml) of a panel of antigens including HBcAg, (NANP)₅, CS_{326–345} and an HBcAg-derived peptide C120–140 or medium alone. After 72 h of culture, supernatant was collected and analyzed for IFN- γ by ELISA. The minimum in vitro antigen concentrations required to elicit IFN- γ production (3 times the OD₄₉₂ of the media control) for each antigen is shown [from ref. 26].

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine

Fig. 7. Effect of V12.PF3.1 immunization dose on anti-NANP antibody production. Groups of 3 Balb/c mice (or 12 Balb/c mice in the case of the 0.4-ug dose) were immunized intraperitoneally with varying doses of V12.PF3.1 (ranging from 0.016 to 20 µg) in IFA. Sera were collected before immunization and 2, 4 and 6 weeks after immunization and anti-NANP antibody titers were determined by ELISA on pooled samples, with the exception of the 0.4-µg dose group, in which sera from individual mice were analyzed. Immunization with the 0.4-µg dose elicited an anti-NANP responder (R) group and a low-to-nonresponder (L-NR) group [modified from ref. 26].



cell epitopes is most likely provided by HBcAg-specific T cells. However, the fact that malaria-specific T cells are also primed by V12.PF3.1 is significant because it is these T cells which will be recalled during an infection with *P. falciparum* in vivo. Because the CSP is expressed in infected hepatocytes, the V12.PF3.1 particle actually represents a liver-stage vaccine candidate as well as a pre-erythrocytic, prehepatocyte inducer of sporozoite-neutralizing antibodies. In summary, immunization with the V12.PF3.1 particle elicits a broad array of T cell specificities including malaria-specific T cells.

The Effect of V12.PF3.1 Dose on the Humoral Response

To determine the effect of dose on antibody production and to define the limiting dose, groups of Balb/c mice were immunized with a single dose of V12.PF3.1 in IFA ranging from 20 to 0.016 µg, and anti-NANP serum levels were monitored at weeks 2, 4 and 6 (fig. 7). A clear dose effect was observed for doses between 20 and 2.0 µg. A dose of $0.4 \,\mu g$ of V12.PF3.1 appears to be the limiting dose. Note that on a weight basis, the (NANP)_n repeat sequence constitutes approximately 10% of the V12.PF3.1 particle. At the 0.4-µg dose, a responder and a low-to-nonresponder group emerged (fig. 7). At 2 weeks, 7 of 12 mice produced low levels of anti-NANP antibodies and 5 of 12 mice produced none. At 4 weeks, 8 of 12 mice responded and 4 of 12 mice produced no or very low levels of anti-NANP antibodies. By week 6, the anti-NANP mean serum titer was approximately 10,000 in the responder group (8/12), whereas the mean titer in the lowto-nonresponder group (4/12) was approximately 180 (fig. 7). A 0.08- μ g dose of V12.PF3.1 elicited no anti-NANP antibody response until week 6 after immunization, at which point a serum ELISA titer of 160 was observed. The 0.016- μ g dose of V12.PF3.1 did not elicit detectable anti-NANP antibodies.

Discussion

The sporozoite stage of *P. falciparum* malaria and particularly the CSP have been the target of numerous vaccine design strategies. Because the sporozoite is the infecting agent, is present in the serum in low numbers and neutralizing and/or protective B and T cell epitopes have been identified on the CSP, this focus seems well placed. The recent success of the CSP-based RTS,S/SBAS2 vaccine in clinical trials appears to validate this approach. Although RTS.S/SBAS2 is the most protective malaria vaccine yet tested [18], because of the requirement for potent adjuvants and the rather transient protection period, the developers of this vaccine have stated that 'further optimization ... will be required to induce longer-lasting protective immunity' [19]. We have attempted to optimize the immunogenicity of selected P. falciparum CSPderived B and T cell epitopes by delivering them on an extremely immunogenic and versatile carrier platform, the HBcAg. In murine immunogenicity studies, V12.PF3.1 hybrid particles demonstrated a number of characteristics that suggest that this formulation may represent a viable malaria vaccine candidate: (1) two

doses of V12.PF3.1 particles elicited antisporozoite serum IFAT titers greater than 10^6 – to provide some perspective, antisporozoite IFAT serum titers achieved in rodent and human vaccine studies typically range between 10³ and 10⁵, require more than two doses and are usually quite variable amongst murine strains or human vaccine recipients; (2) high levels of antisporozoite antibodies persist in the serum for at least 10.5 months after only two doses of V12.PF3.1 particles; (3) a broad-spectrum IgG isotype response is elicited by two doses of V12.PF3.1; (4) no genetic nonresponders or low responders to the V12.PF3.1 candidate vaccine were identified among the 7 H-2 haplotypes tested; (5) the V12.PF3.1 particles are compatible with a number of adjuvant systems and do not require potent immunostimulants for efficacy; (6) immunization with V12.PF3.1 particles primed malaria-specific IFN-y-producing CD4+ T cells in 5 of 7 strains tested; (7) immunization with two doses of similar hybrid HBcAg particles carrying P. berghei and P. voelii CSP repeat B cell epitopes conferred 90-100% protection in rodent models [23, 24], and (8) the V12.PF3.1 hybrid particles can be produced in bacterial expression systems and, therefore, the manufacturing is relatively inexpensive. Many of these characteristics are unique to V12.PF3.1 particles, and no existing CSP-based vaccine candidate exemplifies all of them.

The V12.PF3.1 candidate vaccine is scheduled to be tested in phase I clinical trials in the near future. Is there reason to believe that the immunogenicity data derived from mouse studies will translate to the human immune response to the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate? The HBcAg is the most immunogenic structural protein during natural HBV infection. Extremely high levels of anti-HBc antibodies are produced by virtually 100% of infected patients [38]. Even in asymptomatic HBV carriers, antibodies to the HBcAg are produced and are often the only antibodies detected in these patients. Therefore, we expect that the HBcAg carrier used in the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate will be a strong immunogen for humans. Further, HBcAg in adjuvant has been demonstrated to be immunogenic and protective in chimpanzee HBV challenge experiments [39–41]. Since anti-HBc antibodies are not virus neutralizing, protection is believed to be cell mediated, possibly through CD4+ T cell cytokine production or intermolecular T cell help for neutralizing antienvelope antibody production or both [42]. Conceivably, V12.PF3.1 particles may serve as a combination vaccine for P. falciparum malaria and HBV. Additionally, malaria-specific T cell sites have been included in the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate. The CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ sequence,

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine

designated Pf Th/Tc, contains overlapping CD4+ and CD8+ T cell epitopes and has been defined as 'universal' because of its ability to bind multiple DR and DQ human MHC molecules in vitro [43] and because it is recognized by multiple human CD4+ T cell clones derived from sporozoite-immune individuals [44]. Lastly, the dominant CD4+ T cell epitopes recognized by RTS,S/SBAS2 vaccine recipients are contained within the CSP₃₂₆₋₃₄₅ sequence [45]. Although the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate has not yet been tested in humans, the T cell components of the vaccine were selected based on their strong immunogenicity in humans.

In rodent models, CSP-based vaccines elicit a number of protective mechanisms including antibody [3, 4], CD4+ T cells [46, 47], CD8+ T cells [8, 9, 48], cytokines [49–51] and nitric oxide [10]. The superiority or sufficiency of any one of these mechanisms has been debated. Immunization with V12.PF3.1 particles elicits three of the five protective mechanisms, which are of course interrelated. The ability of sporozoite-specific antibodies alone to protect against malaria infection has been demonstrated by in vitro neutralization [3, 52], passive antibody transfer in vivo [4, 53] and immunization with isolated B cell epitopes as synthetic peptide vaccines [5] or as recombinant HBcAg constructs [23, 24] in rodent models. A consistent finding in these studies has been that protection is dependent on antisporozoite antibody concentration and the sporozoite challenge dose [2]. Therefore, if sufficiently high levels of persisting antisporozoite antibodies can be produced, antibody-mediated mechanisms may indeed be effective in preventing P. falciparum infection in humans. We suggest that the V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate may at least provide a method for testing this hypothesis. Several intrinsic features of the HBcAg make it a good platform for raising high titers of epitope-specific antibodies. The HBcAg particle is stable, has a regular surface structure exposing multiple copies of the same epitope and has the unique ability to directly bind and activate a high frequency of naive murine and human B cells [54, 55]. Thus, these properties make HBcAg an ideal carrier for naturally nonimmunogenic B cell epitopes.

It has also been debated whether a successful *P. falciparum* vaccine must include protective antigens from all four stages of the parasite life cycle. The V12.PF3.1 vaccine candidate addresses the sporozoite stage and the intrahepatic stage, but not the blood or gametocyte stages. If it turns out that additional stages need to be targeted, the HBcAg platform can be adapted to include additional T and B cell epitopes from other stages, or the V12.PF3.1 particle may be combined with other vaccine formulations.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health R01 grants 20720 and 48730 and the Immune Complex Corporation. The authors thank Drs. F. Schödel and D. Peterson for HBcAg and HBcAg-CS2 recombinant particles and Dr. E. Nardin for performing the IFAT assays and for providing Mabs 2A10 and 2B6. Special thanks go to Drs. Ruth and Victor Nussenzweig for their valuable advise and continual support for this project. Dr. Ashley Birkett of

the Immune Complex Corporation (currently Apovia Inc.) deserves a special acknowledgement. Dr. Birkett and D.R.M. collaborated in the design of the HBcAg-CS constructs used in these studies. Moreover, Dr. Birkett, Katie Lyons and Dan Boyd (all of the Immune Complex Corporation) produced the DNA constructs, expressed the proteins and purified the recombinant particles used for these immunologic studies. The authors also thank Ms. Rene Lang for editorial assistance.

References

- Good MF, Kaslow DC, Miller LH: Pathways and strategies for developing a malaria bloodstage vaccine. Annu Rev Immunol 1998;16: 54–87.
- 2 Nussenzweig V, Nussenzweig RS: Rationale for the development of an engineered sporozoite malaria vaccine. Adv Immunol 1989;45: 283–334.
- 3 Potocnjak P, Yoshida N, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V: Monovalent fragments (Fab) of monoclonal antibodies to a sporozoite surface antigen (Pb44) protect mice against malarial infection. J Exp Med 1980;151:1504–1512.
- 4 Yoshida N, Nussenzweig RS, Potocnjak P, Nussenzweig V, Aikawa M: Hybridoma produces protective antibodies directed against the sporozoite stage of malaria parasite. Science 1980;207:71–73.
- 5 Zavala F, Tam JP, Barr PJ, Romero PJ, Ley V, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V: Synthetic peptide vaccine confers protection against murine malaria. J Exp Med 1987;166:1591–1596.
- 6 Zavala F, Cochrane AH, Nardin EH, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V: Circumsporozoite proteins of malaria parasites contain a singe immunodominant region with two or more identical epitopes. J Exp Med 1983;157:1947– 1954.
- 7 Zavala F, Tam JP, Hollingdale MR, Cochrane AH, Quakyi I, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V: Rationale for development of a synthetic vaccine against *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. Science 1985;228:1436–1438.
- 8 Schofield L, Villaquiran J, Ferreira A, Schellekens H, Nussenzweig R, Nussenzweig V: γ Interferon, CD8⁺ T cells and antibodies required for immunity to malaria sporozoites. Nature 1987;330:664–666.
- 9 Romero P, Maryanski JL, Corandin G, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V, Zavala F: Cloned cytotoxic T cells recognize an epitope in the circumsporozoite protein and protect against malaria. Nature 1989;341:323–325.
- 10 Doolan DL, Sedegah M, Hedstrom RC, Hobart P, Charoenvit Y, Hoffman SL: Circumventing genetic restriction of protection against malaria with multi-gene DNA immunization: CD8⁺ T cell, interferon-γ, and nitric oxide dependent immunity. J Exp Med 1996;183:1739–1746.

- 11 Hoffman SL, Isenbarger D, Long G, Sedegah M, Szarfman A, Waters L, Hollingdale MR, van der Meide PH, Finbloom DS, Ballou WR: Sporozoite vaccine induces genetically restricted T-cell elimination of malaria from hepatocytes. Science 1989;244:1078–1080.
- 12 Sedegah M, Weiss W, Sacci JB Jr, Charoenvit Y, Hedstrom R, Gowda K, Majam VF, Tine J, Kumar S, Hobart P, Hoffman SL: Improving protective immunity induced by DNA-based immunization: Priming with antigen and GM-CSF-encoding plasmid DNA and boosting with antigen-expressing recombinant poxvirus. J Immunol 2000;164:5905–5912.
- 13 Ballou WR, Hoffman S, Sherwood JA, Hollingdale MR, Neva FA, Hockmeyer WT, Gordon DM, Schneider I, Wirtz RA, Young JF: Safety and efficacy of a recombinant DNA *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoite vaccine. Lancet 1987;i:1277–1281.
- 14 Herrington DA, Clyde DF, Losonsky G, Cortesia M, Murphy JR, Dais J, Baqar S, Felix AM, Heimer EP, Gillessen D: Safety and immunogenicity in man of a synthetic peptide malaria vaccine against *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoites. Nature 1987;328:257–259.
- 15 Etlinger HM, Felix AM, Gillessen D, Heimer EP, Just M, Pink JR, Sinigaglia F, Sturchler D, Takacs B, Trzeciak A, Matile H: Assessment in humans of a synthetic peptide-based vaccine against the sporozoite stage of the human malaria parasite, *Plasmodium falciparum*. J Immunol 1988;140:626–632.
- 16 Vreden SG, Verhave JP, Oethinger T, Sauerwein RW, Meuwissen JH: Phase I clinical trial of a recombinant malaria vaccine consisting of the circumsporozoite repeat region of *Plasmodium falciparum* coupled to hepatitis B surface antigen. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1991;46:533– 538.
- 17 Gordon DM, McGovern TW, Krzych U, Cohen JC, Schneider I, LaChance R, Heppner DG, Yuan G, Hollingdale M, Slaoui M: Safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of a recombinantly produced *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite protein-hepatitis B surface antigen subunit vaccine. J Infect Dis 1995;171: 1576–1585.

- 18 Stoute JA, Slaoui M, Heppner G, Momin P, Kester KE, Desmons P, Wellde BT, Garçon N, Krzych U, Marchand M: A preliminary evaluation of a recombinant circumsporozoite protein vaccine against *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria. RTS,S Malaria Vaccine Evaluation Group. N Engl J Med 1997;336:86–91.
- 19 Stoute JA, Kester KE, Krzych U, Wellde BT, Hall T, White K, Glenn G, Ockenhouse CF, Garçon N, Schwenk R, Lanar DE, Sun P, Momin P, Writz RA, Golenda C, Slaoui M, Wortmann G, Holland C, Dowler M, Cohen J, Ballou WR: Long-term efficacy and immune responses following immunization with the RTS,S malaria vaccine. J Infect Dis 1998;178: 1139–1144.
- 20 Schwenk R, Kester K, Asher L: CS protein-specific opsonizing antibodies induced by the RTS,S malaria vaccine mediate protection (abstract): 48th Annu Meet Am Soc Trop Med Hyg, Washington, D.C., 1999.
- 21 Milich DR, McLachlan A: The nucleocapsid of the hepatitis B virus is both a T-cell independent and a T-cell dependent antigen. Science 1986;234:1398–1401.
- 22 Milich DR, Peterson D, Zheng J, Hughes J, Wirtz R, Schödel F: The hepatitis B nucleocapsid as a vaccine carrier moiety. Ann NY Acad Sci 1995;754:187–201.
- 23 Schödel F, Wirtz R, Peterson D, Hughes J, Warren R, Sadoff J, Milich D: Immunity to malaria elicited by hybrid hepatitis B virus core particles carrying circumsporozoite protein epitopes. J Exp Med 1994;180:1037–1046.
- 24 Schödel F, Peterson D, Milich DR, Charoenvit Y, Sadoff J, Wirtz R: Immunization with hybrid hepatitis B virus core particles carrying circumsporozoite antigen epitopes protects mice against *Plasmodium yoelii* challenge. Behring Inst Mitt 1997;98:114–119.
- 25 Schödel F, Moriarty AM, Peterson DL, Zheng JA, Hughes JL, Will H, Leturcq DJ, McGee JS, Milich DR: The position of heterologous epitopes inserted in hepatitis B virus core particles determines their immunogenicity. J Virol 1992;66:106–114.
- 26 Milich DR, Hughes J, Jones J, Sällberg M, Phillips TR: Conversion of poorly immunogenic malaria repeat sequences into a highly immunogenic vaccine candidate. Vaccine 2001;20: 771–788.

Sällberg/Hughes/Jones/Phillips/Milich

- 27 Houghten RA: General method for the rapid solid-phase synthesis of large numbers of peptides: Specificity of antigen-antibody interaction at the level of individual amino acids. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1985;82:5131–5135.
- 28 Sällberg M, Ruden U, Magnius LO, Norrby E, Wahren B: Rapid 'tea-bag' peptide synthesis using 9-fluorenylmethoxycarbonyl (Fmoc) protected amino acids applied for antigenic mapping of viral proteins. Immunol Lett 1991;30: 59–68.
- 29 Takashi K, Machida A, Funatsu G, Nomura M, Usuda S, Aoyagi S, Tachibana K, Miyamoto H, Imai M, Nakamura T, Miyakawa Y, Mayumi M: Immunochemical structure of hepatitis B e antigen in the serum. J Immunol 1983;130:2903–2911.
- 30 Imai M, Nomura M, Gotanda T, Sano T, Tachibana K, Miyamoto H, Takahashi K, Toyama S, Miyakawa Y, Mayumi M: Demonstration of two distinct antigenic determinants on hepatitis B e antigen by monoclonal antibodies. J Immunol 1982;128:69–75.
- 31 Calvo-Calle JM, Hammer J, Sinigaglia F, Clavijo P, Moya-Castro ZR, Nardin EH: Binding of malaria T cell epitopes to DR and DQ molecules in vitro correlates with immunogenicity in vivo: Identification of a universal T cell epitope in the *Plasmodium falciparum* circumsporozoite protein. J Immunol 1997;159: 1362–1373.
- 32 Good MF, Pombo D, Quakyi IA, Riley EM, Houghten RA, Menon A, Alling DW, Berzofsky JA, Miller LH: Human T-cell recognition of the circumsporozoite protein of *Plasmodium falciparum*: Immunodominant T-cell domains map to the polymorphic regions of the molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1988;85:1199– 1203.
- 33 Zheng J, Schödel F, Peterson DL: The structure of hepadnaviral core antigens: Identification of free thiols and determination of the disulfide bonding pattern. J Biol Chem 1992;267:9422– 9429.
- 34 Seifer M, Standring DN: A protease-sensitive hinge linking the two domains of the hepatitis B virus core protein is exposed on the viral capsid surface. J Virol 1994;68:5548–5555.
- 35 Nardin EH, Calvo-Calle JM, Oliveira GA, Clavijo P, Nussenzweig R, Simon R, Zeng W, Rose K: *Plasmodium falciparum* polyoximes: Highly immunogenic synthetic vaccines constructed by chemoselective ligation of repeat Bcell epitopes and a universal T-cell epitope of CS protein. Vaccine 1998;16:590–600.

- 36 Fehr T, Skrastina D, Pumpens P, Zinkernagel RM: T cell-independent type I antibody response against B cell epitopes expressed repetitively on recombinant virus particles. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998;95:9477–9481.
- 37 Good MF, Berzofsky JA, Maloy WL, Hayashi Y, Fujii N, Hockmeyer WT, Miller LH: Genetic control of the immune response in mice to a *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoite vaccine: Widespread nonresponsiveness to a single malaria T epitope in highly repetitive vaccine. J Exp Med 1986;164:655–662.
- 38 Hoofnagle JH, Dusheiko GM, Seeff LB, Bales ZB, Waggoner JG, Jones E: Seroconversion from hepatitis B e antigen to antibody in chronic type B hepatitis. Ann Intern Med 1981; 94:744–751.
- 39 Prince AM, Vnek J, Stephan W: A new hepatitis B vaccine containing HBeAg in addition to HBsAg. Dev Biol Stand 1983;54:13–22.
- 40 Murray K, Bruce SA, Hinnen A, Wingfield P, van Erd PM, de Reus A, Schellekens H: Hepatitis B virus antigen made in microbial cells immunize against viral infection. EMBO J 1984;3:645–650.
- 41 Tabor E, Gerety RJ: Possible role of immune responses to hepatitis B core antigen in protection against hepatitis B infections. Lancet 1984;i:172–178.
- 42 Milich DR, McLachlan A, Thornton GB: Antibody production to the nucleocapsid and envelope of the hepatitis B virus primed by a single synthetic T cell site. Nature 1987;329:547– 549.
- 43 Nardin EH, Herrington DA, Davis J, Levine M, Stuber D, Takacs B, Caspers P, Barr P, Altszuler R, Clavijo P, Nussenzweig RS: Conserved repetitive epitope recognized by CD4⁺ clones from a malaria-immunized volunteer. Science 1989;246:1603–1606.
- 44 Moreno A, Clavijo P, Edelman R, Davis J, Sztein M, Sinigaglia F, Nardin E: CD4⁺ T cell clones obtained from *Plasmodium falciparum* sporozoite-immunized volunteers recognize polymorphic sequences of the circumsporozoite protein. J Immunol 1993;151:489–499.
- 45 Lalvani A, Moris P, Voss G, Pathan AA, Kester KE, Brookes R, Lee E, Koutsoukos M, Plebanski M, Delchambre M, Flanagan KL, Carton C, Slaoui M, Van Hoecke C, Ballou WR, Hill AV, Cohen J: Potent induction of focused Th1-type cellular and humoral immune responses by RTS,S/SBAS2, a recombinant *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria vaccine. J Infect Dis 1999; 180:1656–1664.

- 46 Tsuji M, Romero P, Nussenzweig R, Zavala F: CD4⁺ cytolytic T cell clone confers protection against murine malaria. J Exp Med 1990;172: 1353–1359.
- 47 Renia L, Grillot D, Marussig M, Corradin G, Miltgen F, Lambert PH, Mazier D, Del Giudice G: Effector functions of circumsporozoite peptide-primed CD4⁺ T cell clones against *Plasmodium yoelii* liver stages. J Immunol 1993;150:1471–1478.
- 48 Doolan DL, Hoffman SL: The complexity of protective immunity against liver-stage malaria. J Immunol 2000;165:1453–1462.
- 49 Ferreira A, Schofield L, Enea V, Schellekens H, van der Meide P, Collins WE, Nussenzweig RS, Nussenzweig V: Inhibition of development of exoerythrocytic forms of malaria parasites by γ-interferon. Science 1986;232:881–883.
- 50 Doolan DL, Hoffman SL: NK cells and IL-12 are required for antigen-specific adaptive immunity against malaria initiated by CD8⁺ T cells. J Immunol 1999;163:884–891.
- 51 Hoffman SL, Crutcher J, Puri SK, Ansari AA, Villinger F, Franke ED, Singh PP, Finkelmann F, Gately MK, Dutta GP, Sedegah M: Sterile protection of monkeys against malaria after administration of interleukin-12. Nat Med 1997;3:80–83.
- 52 Hollingdale MR, Nardin EH, Tharavanij S, Schswartz AL, Nussenzweig RS: Inhibition of entry of *Plasmodium falciparum* and *P. vivax* sporozoites into cultured cells: An in vitro assay of protective antibodies. J Immunol 1984; 132:909–913.
- 53 Nardin EH, Nussenzweig RS, Bryan JH, McGregor IA: Congenital transfer of antibodies against malarial sporozoites detected in Gambian infants. Am J Trop Med Hyg 1981; 30:1159–1166.
- 54 Lazdina U, Cao T, Steinbergs J, Alheim M, Pumpens P, Peterson DL, Milich DR, Leroux-Roels G, Sällberg M: Molecular basis for the interaction of the hepatitis B core antigen with the surface immunoglobulin receptor on naive B cells. J Virol 2001;75:6367–6374.
- 55 Cao T, Lazdina U, Desombere I, Vanlandschoot P, Milich DR, Sällberg M, Leroux-Roels G: The hepatitis B core antigen bind and activate naive human B cells in vivo: Studies in a human PBL-NOD/SCID mouse model. J Virol 2001;75:6359–6366.

Pre-Erythrocytic Malaria Vaccine

Intervirology 2002;45:362-370 DOI: 10.1159/000067929

Cowpea Mosaic Virus: From the Presentation of Antigenic Peptides to the Display of Active Biomaterials

A. Chatterji^a L.L. Burns^b S.S. Taylor^b G.P. Lomonossoff^c J.E. Johnson^a T. Lin^a C. Porta^d

^aDepartment of Molecular Biology and Center for Integrative Molecular Biosciences, The Scripps Research Institute, ^bDepartment of Chemistry and Biochemistry, The University of California San Diego, La Jolla, Calif., USA; ^cDepartment of Metabolic Biology, John Innes Centre, Norwich, ^dHorticulture Research International Wellesbourne, Warwick, UK

Key Words

Plant virus-based chimeras · Cowpea mosaic virus · Human rhinovirus 14 · Chemical coupling of peptides to virus capsids · A kinase anchoring protein · General-purpose surface presentation system

Abstract

The potential of cowpea mosaic virus (CPMV), a plant icosahedral virus, for the presentation of foreign peptides and proteins is reported. The most prominent feature at the virus surface is a region of the smaller of the two coat proteins (S) which has been extensively used for the insertion of foreign peptides. Given the availability of the three-dimensional structure of the native virus and the amenability of foreign peptide-expressing CPMV chimeras to crystallisation, immunological data can be correlated with the conformational state of the foreign insert. The latter is influenced by proteolysis which occurs within the foreign inserts. In an effort to offer an alternative context for peptide expression, extensive exploration of a second region of the S protein is reported with respect to tolerance to small insertions. Moreover, to make CPMV suitable for a wider spectrum of presenta-

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0362\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int tion, a technique was developed to allow surface coupling of a peptide which can serve as the anchoring point for a range of proteins. This new approach is also widely applicable for the direct chemical cross-linking of peptides and full-length protein domains to the viral capsid. Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Cowpea mosaic virus (CPMV) is an icosahedral plant virus with a single-stranded, bipartite RNA genome. RNA-1 encodes the replication machinery and RNA-2 encodes a movement protein and two capsid proteins. The two RNA molecules are separately encapsidated. The capsid is comprised of 60 copies of a large (L) coat protein of 374 amino acid residues and a small (S) coat protein of 213 amino acid residues. The S protein folds into a jelly roll β -barrel whilst the L protein comprises two jelly roll β -barrel domains The surface lattice of the CPMV capsid is analogous to that of animal picornaviruses, with the S protein as the equivalent of VP1 and the two domains of the L protein, the N-terminal C domain and the C-terminal B domain, as the counterparts of VP2 and VP3.

C. Porta and T. Lin

Department of Molecular Biology and Center for Integrative Molecular Biosciences The Scripps Research Institute

La Jolla, CA 92037 (USA)

Tel. +1 858 784 7730, Fax +1 858 784 7775, E-Mail twlin@scripps.edu

CPMV, being a plant virus, offers a potentially safe approach for the presentation of epitopes from animal pathogens for the development of inexpensive vaccines. With the availability of infectious cDNA clones and the crystal structure of the virus particles [1, 3], a chimeric virus technology for epitope presentation was developed [4, 5]. Initial insertions were made in the β B- β C loop of the S protein [4, 5]. This loop forms the top of the protrusions around the five-fold axis of the virus particles, which is the most prominent feature on the virus surface. Insertions in this position were successful in generating antibodies against several animal viruses [5-8]. To offer an alternative context for epitope presentation on CPMV capsids, we report the exploration of another surfaceexposed loop of CPMV for optimal positioning of a foreign sequence using an epitope from human rhinovirus 14 (HRV-14) as a probe. Two additional insertion positions at the virus surface were tested for the presentation of an A kinase anchoring protein (AKAP)-derived peptide that can serve as the anchor point for other proteins. AKAPs are a family of proteins that are functionally defined for their ability to bind and target cAMP-dependent protein kinase (PKA) to various sub-cellular locations [reviewed in ref. 9]. AKAPs, in general, contain a targeting domain which targets the AKAP to specific sub-cellular locations and an A kinase-binding domain which binds to the regulatory subunit of PKA. The A kinase-binding domain from D-AKAP2, an AKAP with dual specificity (i.e. able to bind both regulatory subunit isoforms of PKA [Burns et al., unpubl. data]) was chosen for the current study. Limitations encountered during virus surface exploration with the D-AKAP2 peptide led to the development of a new technology. Based on the introduction on the virus surface of unique Cys residues which serve as anchoring points, it allows attachment of both peptides and proteins to the virus surface by chemical means. This strategy paves the way to the engineering of CPMV into a general purpose template.

Materials and Methods

Insertions in the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ Loop of S

Vectors for the insertion of foreign sequences within the $\beta C'-\beta C''$ loop of the S protein (which extends from amino acids V42 to W47) were produced by site-directed mutagenesis [10] of a *Bam*HI-*Eco*RI fragment from pCP2, the full-length infectious cDNA clone corresponding to RNA-2 [2]. This fragment, which encompasses the sequence encoding the entire L and S proteins and the 3' non-coding region of RNA-2, was cloned into bacteriophage M13mp18, to give CP1. By silent mutagenesis of the codon for Val27 of the S protein with oligonucleotide 5'CCATTTTCAGACGT**C**ACAGCAGTAA- of the RNA-2 sequence. CP1wAatII thus generated served as the template for further site-directed mutagenesis. Insertion of a linker sequence (shown hereafter in bold) corresponding to the recognition sites for SalI (underlined) and SphI (double underlined) was performed using the following oligonucleotides: 5'CGGCAAAATAAC-TCCTGTTGGGTCGACGCATGCAGGTGATGACAATTGGAA-TACGCAC3' for insertion between V42 and G43 (CP1-V42/G43); 5'CGGCAAAATAACTCCTGTTGGTGGGTCGACGCATGCAG-ATGACAATTGGAATACGCAC3' for insertion between G43 and D44 (CP1-G43/D44); 5'CGGCAAAATAACTCCTGTTGGTGAT-GGGTCGACGCATGCAGACAATTGGAATACGCAC3' for insertion between D44 and D45 (CP1-D44/D45); 5'CTCCTGTTG-GTGATGACGGGTCGACGCATGCAAATTGGAATACGCACAT-TTATAATCC3' for insertion between D45 and N46 (CP1-D45/ N46). CP1-V42/G43 and CP1-D44/D45 were subjected to further mutagenesis with oligonucleotide 5'GACAATTGGAATGCGCA-CATTTATAATCCTCC3' in order to engineer a BsmI site (underlined with dashes) at position 2800 of RNA-2, thereby generating CP1-V42/G43B and CP1-D44/D45B, respectively. A further set of vectors was produced by mutagenesis of CP1wAatII with oligonucleotides simultaneously introducing the BsmI site (underlined with dashes) at position 2800 of RNA-2 and a SalI (underlined)-SphI (double underlined) linker at the remaining available positions within the BC'-BC" loop: 5'CAACGGCAAAATAACTCCTGGGTCGAC-GCATGCAGTTGGTGATGACAATTGGAATGCGCACATTT-ATAATCCTCC3' for insertion after P41 (CP1-P41/V42b); 5'CT-CCTGTTGGTGATGACAATGGGTCGACGCATGCATGGAAT-GCGCACATTTATAATCCTCC3' for insertion after N46 (CP1-N46/W47B); 5'CCTGTTGGTGATGACAATTGGGGGGTCGACG-CATGCGAATGCGCACATTTATAATCCTCC3' for insertion after W47 (CP1-W47/N48B). Following sequence analysis of recombinants, replicative form DNA was isolated and the BamHI-EcoRI fragment exchanged for that of pCP2-AatII. a derivative of pCP2 with the AatII site removed from the pUC portion of the plasmid [8]. A series of pCP2-based clones was thereby created which derive their names from their CP1 counterparts (pCP2-V42/G43 from CP1-V42/ G43 etc.). Into vectors harbouring only SalI and SphI sites, a pair of oligonucleotides encoding residues 85-98 from VP1 (NIm-1A epitope) of HRV-14 flanked by SalI and SphI cohesive ends were ligated. Into vectors presenting both a SalI-SphI linker and a BsmI site were ligated annealed oligonucleotides with SalI and BsmI compatible ends and encoding the NIm-1A sequence of HRV-14 plus an appropriate number of native CPMV amino acids.

C3', anAatII site (shown in italics) was created at position 2735

For the infection of cowpea plants, plasmids pCP1 (encoding the cDNA for RNA-1) and a pCP2-based derivative were linearised and co-inoculated. Recombinant viruses were named after the corresponding pCP2 plasmid, e.g. V42/G43 was derived from pCP2-V42/G43. The suffix -HRV was added when the HRV-14 epitope had been cloned into the modified $\beta C'$ - $\beta C''$ loop. Virus propagation and purification were performed according to the protocol described by van Kammen and de Jaeger [11], modified as previously reported [8]. RT-PCR analysis of RNA extracts from infected plants was performed as described earlier [12].

Insertions in the β E-BF Loop of the C Domain of L

A plasmid with similarities to that described in a previous report [13] was developed for insertions into the βE - βF loop of the C domain of the L protein. pLgEF was generated by PCR-based mutagenesis using oligonucleotides 5'ACC<u>GTTAAC</u>ACCACTAT-



Fig. 1. Insertion sites on the CPMV capsid. **A** Space-filling model of CPMV with the insertion sites highlighted. **B** Upper: schematic diagram of the CPMV capsid with the reference asymmetric unit shown. Lower: ribbon diagram of the two capsid proteins that form an asymmetric unit with the insertion sites labelled.

TTATGGC3' (*Hpa*I site underlined, mutated nucleotides in bold) and 5'AAGTAT<u>GGTACC</u>GATGTTTATACT3' (*Kpn*I site underlined, mutated nucleotides in bold). The resulting mutations in the coding sequences of Val96-Arg97 and Ser101-Thr102 were either silent or could be restored to the original amino acid sequence when insertions were made between these newly created restriction sites.

Genetic Insertions of the D-AKAP2 Peptide

The D-AKAP2 peptide [Burns et al., unpubl. data; 14] was to be expressed in different locations at the virus surface. Two sets of oligonucleotides were designed to generate the appropriate DNA fragments coding for AKAP. The first set of primers, 5'AGCACTCCTC-CTGCTGTGCAAGAA3' and 5'CTAGAAATGGGTGTGCCTGC-TGCATA3', was used to obtain the DNA sequence encoding the AKAP peptide by PCR from a D-AKAP2-harbouring plasmid [14, 15]. The second set of primers was used to incorporate flanking CPMV sequences and restriction enzyme sites for cloning at the following positions within (A) the S protein (1) BB-BC loop: oligonucleotides 5'TGTATGATAGCTAGCACTCCT3' and 5'TACTGCTGT-GACGTCTGAAAA3' (NheI site underlined, AatII site double underlined) were designed to allow insertion of the peptide sequence between residues 22 and 23; (2) the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop: oligonucleotides 5'GCTATGAAGTCGACTGTGCAAGGA3' and 5'TTGATCAG-CATGCGCCTGCTGCAT3' were used to generate a PCR fragment

with *Sal*I (underlined) and *Sph*I (double underlined) compatible ends for introduction of the peptide sequence between residues 44 and 45; PCR primer 5'TTATGCCTGCTGCATAACATCACTC3' was combined with either primer 5'CTGCTACTG<u>CTGCAG</u>TGCAAGGA-A3' or 5'CTGCTACTG<u>CTGCAG</u>GTGCAAGGAA3' for cloning between *Pst*I (underlined) and *Stu*I sites at, respectively, (3) the native C-terminus and (4) the truncated C-terminus (following removal of the last 24 residues); and (B) the β E- β F loop of the C domain of the L protein: primers 5'AGGGGTGTGCAAGGAAATACT3' and 5'AA-CATC<u>GGTACC</u>ATACTTATGCGCCTG3' were used for cloning between restriction sites *Hpa*I and *Kpn*I (underlined), resulting in insertion of the peptide between G98 and T102 (with K99 and Y100 eliminated and mutation of S101 \rightarrow G).

Each PCR fragment and the appropriate corresponding plasmid were digested with suitable restriction enzymes and ligated according to established procedures [16].

Production of a CPMV Cysteine Mutant

A CPMV chimera containing a single Cys within each asymmetric unit of the viral capsid, inserted between amino acids 98 and 99 in the βE - βF loop of the C domain of L, was created using plasmid pLgEF [17]. This chimera served as the basis for chemical cross-linking of the D-AKAP2 peptide onto the viral capsid using maleimide groups on a cross-linker.

| Table 1. Sequences an | d yield in | virus of βC'-βC' | loop-based | CPMV | vectors a | and their | derivatives | encoding the |
|-----------------------|------------|------------------|------------|------|-----------|-----------|-------------|--------------|
| NIm-1A epitope of HR | V-14 | | | | | | | |

| Virus name | Amino acid sequence of C'-C" loop | Virus yield, % of wild type |
|----------------------|--|--------------------------------|
| Wild type | KITP <i>VGDDNW</i> NTHIYN | |
| P41/V42B | KITP GSTHA VGDDNW N <u>A</u> HIYN | 25 |
| P41/V42B-HRB-(C'-C") | KITP gst<u>kdatgidnhreakl</u>nt hiyn | non-viable |
| P41/V42B-HRV | KITP GST<mark>KDATGIDNHREAKL</mark>VGDDNWNTHIYN | 25 |
| V42/G43 | KITP <i>V</i> GSTHAGDDNWNTHIYN | 100 |
| V42/G43-HRV | KITP <i>VGST<u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u>HAGDDNW</i> NTHIYN | 90 |
| V42/G43B | KITP <i>V</i> GSTHA <i>GDDNW</i> N <u>A</u> HIYN | 100 |
| V42/G43B-HRV | KITP <i>V</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> GDDNWNTHIYN | 80 |
| G43/D44 | KITP <i>VGGSTHADDNW</i> NTHIYN | 90 |
| G43/D44-HRV | KITP <i>VG</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>DDNW</i> NTHIYN | 80 |
| D44/D45 | KITP <i>VGDGSTHADNW</i> NTHIYN | 100 |
| D44/D45-HRV | KITP <i>VGDGSTKDATGIDNHREAKLHADNW</i> NTHIYN | 100 |
| D44/D451-HRV | KITP <i>VGDGSKDATGIDNHREAKLHADNW</i> NTHIYN | 100 |
| D44/D45B | KITP <i>VGDGSTHADNW</i> NAHIYN | 100 |
| D44/D45B-HRV | KITP <i>VGD</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> DNWNTHIYN | 90 |
| D45/N46 | KITP <i>VGDDGSTHANW</i> NTHIYN | 50 |
| D45/N46-HRV | KITP <i>VGDD</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>NW</i> NTHIYN | 50 |
| N46-W47B | KITP <i>VGDDNGSTHAW</i> NAHIYN | 50 |
| N46-W47B/HRV | KITP <i>VGDDN</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> WNTHIYN | 50 |
| W47-N48B | KITP <i>VGDDNW</i> GSTHA NAHIYN | non-viable |
| W47-N48B/HRV | KITP <i>VGDDNW</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> NTHIYN | non-viable |
| | | |

Amino acids forming the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop are shown in italics, the *SalI-SphI* linker is shown in bold, the amino acid mutated for the generation of the *BsmI* site is underlined and the NIm-1A epitope is double underlined.

Chemical Coupling of a D-AKAP2 Peptide to the Virus Capsid

The synthetic D-AKAP2 peptide sequence had a Cys added to its C-terminus for reaction with the maleimide group of the homobifunctional cross-linker 1,11-bis-maleimidotetraethyleneglycol (Pierce, Rockford, Ill., USA). The maleimide groups at both ends of the cross-linker react with thiol groups to form stable thioether linkages. In the first step of the coupling protocol, the D-AKAP2 peptide was mixed with excess cross-linker (1:100) and incubated at 4° overnight. Unbound cross-linker was removed by passing the reaction mix through a desalting column (PD-10, Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden). The fractions containing the maximum protein concentration (measured by absorbance at 280 nm) were pooled and reacted with the CPMV mutant containing a single Cys residue/L protein at a ratio of 50.1 overnight at 4°. The CPMV:D-AKAP2 conjugate was purified by FPLC (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Sweden) over a size exclusion column (Superose 6-HR 10/10) and the peak corresponding to virus was collected and analyzed by SDS-PAGE and immunoblotting.

Results

Exploration of the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ Loop of the S Coat Protein Insertion sites on the CPMV capsid surface and their positions within the viral coat proteins are mapped in figure 1. The $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop of S was chosen for insertional exploration because the crystallographic structure of CPMV shows that this loop is very well exposed on the viral capsid. A linker sequence encoding GSTHA was cloned into this region in order to provide unique restriction sites SalI and SphI for the practical insertion of foreign sequences. Insertions can be made either between residues GST and HA or between GS and HA, provided that the codon of the first amino acid of the foreign insert is an A. This is illustrated by chimeras D44/D45-HRV and D44/D451-HRV, respectively, in table 1. Chimera D44/D451-HRV represented the first attempt to insert an antigenic sequence into the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop of the S protein.



Table 2. Position of cleavage sites in
 β C'- β C'' loop-based NIm-1A epitope
expressing CPMV chimeras



| Name of clone | Amino acid sequence of recombinant $\beta C'$ - $\beta C''$ loop |
|---------------------------|---|
| P41/V42B-HRV-(C'-C'') | non-viable |
| P41/V42B-HRV | ↓ KITP GST<u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u>VGDDNWNTHIYN |
| V42/G43-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>V</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>GDDNW</i> NTHIYN |
| V42/G43B-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>V</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> GDDNWNTHIYN |
| G43/D44-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VG</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>DDNW</i> NTHIYN |
| D44/D45-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VGD</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>DNW</i> NTHIYN |
| D44/D45 ₁ -HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VGD</i> GS <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>DNW</i> NTHIYN |
| D44/D45B-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VGD</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> DNWNTHIYN |
| D45/N46-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VGDD</i> GST <u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u> HA <i>NW</i> NTHIYN |
| N46/W47B-HRV | ↓ KITP <i>VGDDNGST<u>KDATGIDNHREAKL</u>W</i> NTHIYN |
| W47/N48B-HRV | non-viable |

Amino acids forming the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop are shown in italics, the *Sal*I-*Sph*I linker is shown in bold and the NIm-1A epitope is double underlined. Arrows indicate the site of cleavage.

As reported earlier, in a preparation of the resulting chimeric virus particles, a proteolytic cleavage was shown to occur between the H and A residues of the linker peptide [12]. In the present study, the NIm-1A sequence was systematically inserted in all the available positions of the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop. As an alternative to expressing this epitope surrounded by linker peptide residues, a BsmI site was engineered downstream of the coding sequence for the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop. Cloning between restriction sites SalI and BsmI allows a foreign insert to be flanked by linker peptide residues at its N-terminus and directly by native CPMV residues at its C-terminus (see series of B-HRV constructs in table 1). The aim of this investigation was to identify the positions within the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop which are most favourable for the expression of additional peptide sequences. In each case, the yield of virus particles was determined in relation to wild-type virus (table 1). Purified virus particles were subsequently subjected to SDS-PAGE analysis. As illustrated in figure 2, the so-called βC'-βC'' vectors, i.e. CPMV particles harbouring the SalI-SphI insert but no additional foreign sequence, have S proteins of a slightly increased size above that of their wild-type counterpart. This effect becomes more pronounced when the NIm-1A epitope, i.e. supplementary 14 amino acids, is added to the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop. All S proteins, including the wild type, undergo a proteolytic cleavage which removes the 24 C-terminal amino acids; this phenomenon accounts for the presence of at least two electrophoretic forms of the S protein. In the case of the HRV-14 insert-expressing chimeras, an additional S" protein is detected. Except for chimera D45/N46, barely any S" was observed when only the 5-amino acid linker peptide had been inserted into S. By N-terminal protein sequence analysis of the S" proteins, cleavage sites within HRV-14-expressing $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loops were determined (table 2). Use of the SalI-BsmI cloning strategy results in variation of the position of the cleavage site; the closer the NIm-1A sequence is inserted to the C-terminus of the loop, the further into its own peptide sequence the cleavage occurs. By contrast, the presence of linker peptide residues HA downstream of the NIm-1A sequence (as a result of the SalI and SphI cloning strategy) fixes the cleavage position between His and Ala, independently of the position of insertion within the loop. CPMV chimeras with inserts in extreme positions of the loop, between P41/V42 and W47/N48, multiplied much less efficiently or not at all in plants (table 1). Total replacement of the foreign sequences in chimera P41/V42-HRV-(C'-C") was unable to produce an infection (table 1). This confirmed similar findings made with insertions into the β B- β C loop of S [4],



Fig. 3. RT-PCR analysis of RNA extracts from plants infected with β C'- β C'' loop chimeras of CPMV for the NIm-1A epitope. Samples were run on a 2% agarose-TBE (Tris boric acid EDTA buffer) gel and stained with ethidium bromide. HRV epitope-encoding oligonucleotides had been cloned between restriction sites *Sal*I and *Sph*I. The position of insertion in the β C'- β C'' loop is identified below each lane by the numbers of the flanking amino acid residues of the S protein. 44/45₁ corresponds to chimera D44/D45₁-HRV in table 1. The sizes (in bp) of the DNA standards loaded in the first lane are given on the left.

which had shown that peptide additions to the loop were viable whilst its substitution by a foreign sequence was not.

The genetic stability of NIm-1A harbouring $\beta C'-\beta C''$ loop chimeras was tested by passaging the recombinant viruses 5 times from plant to plant and subsequently analysing the viral genomes by RT-PCR analysis (fig. 3). V42/G43-HRV, G43/D44-HRV and both variants of the D44/D55-HRV construct retained their insert, whilst it was probably lost from D45-N46/HRV. The PCR-amplified fragment encompasses 476 bp from the wild-type sequence (not shown), whilst the size of the corresponding PCR product for all 5 chimeras should consistently be 536 bp. Taken together with the results of the SDS-PAGE gel analysis, which had revealed an anomalous pattern for the S proteins of both D45/N46 and its HRV derivative, these data confirm that insertions into this position result in unstable virus.

Cowpea Mosaic Virus



Fig. 4. A model for the presentation by CPMV of green fluorescence protein (GFP) by binding to D-AKAP2 peptides (drawn as cylinders) attached to the virus capsid (in space-filling model).

Attempt to Generate AKAP Chimeras by Genetic Insertion

The D-AKAP2 peptide consists of 27 amino acids (VQGNTDEAQEELAWKIAKMIVSDVMQQ), located near the C-terminus of the intact protein [14], that form an amphipathic helix able to bind with nanomolar affinity to the dimerization/docking (D/D) domain of PKA. Presentation of the D-AKAP2 peptide on the surface of CPMV would produce a general-purpose template for anchoring proteins fused with the D/D domain (fig. 4).

Great effort was made to produce CPMV/D-AKAP2 chimeras by genetic engineering technology. However, no symptoms of infection were detected in plants inoculated with any of the D-AKAP2 chimera clones, despite repeated efforts. Particle bombardment using the HeliosTM

Gene Gun system (Bio-Rad), which has been demonstrated to be of great efficiency in transfecting cDNA clones (data not shown), was deployed with a similar outcome. Western blot and RT-PCR analysis of asymptomatic leaves showed weak signs of infection inconsistently, and no propagation to a second set of plants was possible.

Coupling of Bioactive Molecules to the CPMV Capsid Difficulty encountered in presenting the D-AKAP2 peptide by the chimera technology initiated the exploration of another strategy based on attaching the peptide to the virus surface by chemical cross-linking. Lack of accessible, free Cys residues on the exterior surface of wild-type CPMV allowed the introduction of reactive cysteines at

Intervirology 2002;45:362-370

Chatterji/Burns/Taylor/Lomonossoff/ Johnson/Lin/Porta
specific positions of the capsid by genetic engineering. These cysteines can serve as the anchor points (fig. 4) for linking foreign peptides and proteins using chemical compounds containing maleimide groups. A chimera harbouring a Cys in the β E- β F loop of the C domain of the L coat protein was used for this work. The Cys chimera of CPMV produced systemic symptoms, and virus yields were comparable to those of the wild-type virus [17]. To allow reaction with the maleimide group of the cross-linker, the synthetic AKAP peptide had a free Cys incorporated at its C-terminus. Following cross-linking, the virus:AKAP conjugate was purified by FPLC, and the virus-specific fraction was collected and analysed by Western blotting using anti-AKAP and anti-CPMV antisera. As shown in figure 5, the L:AKAP conjugate is detected as a 44-kD band using either of the two types of antibodies, while the uncoupled AKAP peptide shows up as a 3.4-kD band with the anti-AKAP serum only. Since no band corresponding to the unmodified L protein could be detected with the anti-CPMV serum, most of the Cys residues at the virus surface were conjugated to the peptide.

Discussion

Given the problems caused by proteolytic processing of the inserts in the β B- β C loop of the S protein, an alternative insertion site for foreign epitopes at the virus surface was explored. In the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop of S, peptide cleavages were again shown to occur, in all positions in which insertion of the NIm-1A epitope did not compromise virus viability. However, this study has led to the identification of (1) three positions within the $\beta C' - \beta C''$ loop (between V42/G43, G43/D44 and D44/D45) which result in wild-type-like yields of recombinant virus and (2) an insertion strategy which leaves the insert intact, by consistently setting the cleavage point within the sequence of a C-terminal linker peptide. These new insertion points can be explored for the future presentation of foreign epitopes. Only the immunological properties of the initial chimera, D44/D451-HRV, have been analysed and found to reflect the open conformation of the NIm-1A peptide, which results in poor mimicry of the native epitope in HRV-14 [18]. Crystallographic analysis of this chimera had demonstrated that the conformation of the NIm-1A epitope differed from that adopted by the same epitope when it was cleaved upon insertion into the β B- β C loop of S [12].



Fig. 5. Western blot analysis of the CPMV:AKAP conjugate. 200 ng of FPLC-purified virus-specific fraction (lanes 3 and 4) or 500 ng of uncoupled AKAP peptide (lanes 1 and 2) were boiled in SDS buffer and resolved under denaturing conditions on a 4-12% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gel before transfer onto nitrocellulose membranes. Probing was with polyclonal antisera specific for either AKAP (diluted 1/5,000 in 1 × PBS) or CPMV (diluted 1/2,000 in 1 × PBS). The molecular weight (in kD) of the protein bands are shown on the left-hand side.

Cleavage within an insert which had been expressed in the βE - βF loop of the C domain of L has also been reported, though the site was not mapped [13]. All CPMV capsid surface insertions reported so far have resulted in cleavage within the loop to which the foreign sequence had been added, with one exception. When the NIm-1A epitope was placed between amino acids P21 and A22 in the $\beta B-\beta C$ loop of S, the recombinant loop remained essentially closed. Although this would seem to be a more favourable position for foreign peptide expression, the chimera CPMV/HRV-L1 had a tendency to form aggregates in solution [12]. The fusion of foreign sequences into surface loops of CPMV will generally result in susceptibility to proteolytic attack. It is reasonable to suggest that this phenomenon is due to the release of plant proteases during virus extraction which cleave those sequences that are vulnerable, such as the heterologous peptides which would not fold compactly with the capsid. Proteolytic processing and inability to accommodate some sequences, as was the case with the D-AKAP2 peptide, constitute limitations to the chimera technology. The presence of a D-AKAP2 peptide at the virus surface would generate a general-purpose presentation platform. A peptide/protein of interest could be fused to the D/D domain of the regulatory subunit of PKA, which would bind with high affinity to D-AKAP2 peptide-coated virus, eliminating the need to produce one CPMV chimera for every display. Failure of genetic insertions of D-AKAP2 to produce viable recombinant virus led to the development of another strategy in which unique Cvs residues were positioned on the virus surface by genetic engineering, followed by coupling of the peptide to the virus particles by Cys-mediated chemical cross-linking. This approach can also be exploited to present full-length protein domains, whilst anchoring Cys residues can be inserted in generic positions by oligonucleotide-directed mutagenesis.

The adoption of a multiple-facet approach combining genetic engineering, chemical cross-linking and a peptidebased protein-binding platform extends the use of CPMV from epitope presentation to that of a matrix for the attachment of peptides and proteins.

Acknowledgments

We thank P. Barker (The Babraham Institute, Cambridge, UK) for N-terminal protein sequence analysis. This work was supported in part by a grant from the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council, UK, grant No. N00014-00-1-0671 from the Office of Naval Research, USA, NIH grant DK-54441 to S.S.T. and NIH Training Grant DK-07233 to L.L.B. In the UK, the research was carried out under MAFF licences PHF1185A(30), PHF1185B(111) and renewals thereof.

References

- Lin T, Chen Z, Usha R, Stauffacher CV, Dai JB, Schmidt T, Johnson JE: The refined crystal structure of cowpea mosaic virus at 2.8 Å resolution. Virology 1999;265:20–34.
- 2 Dessens JT, Lomonossoff GP: Cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter-controlled DNA copies of cowpea mosaic virus RNAs are infectious on plants. J Gen Virol 1993;74:889–892.
- 3 Stauffacher CV, Usha R, Harrington M, Schmidt T, Hosur M, Johnson JE: The structure of cowpea mosaic virus at 3.5 Å resolution; in Moras D, Drenth J, Strandberg B, Suck D, Wilson K (eds): Crystallography in Molecular Biology. New York, Plenum, 1987, pp 293– 308.
- 4 Usha R, Rohll JB, Spall VE, Shanks M, Maule AJ, Johnson JE, Lomonossoff GP: Expression of an animal virus antigenic site on the surface of a plant virus particle. Virology 1993;197: 366–374.
- 5 Porta C, Spall VE, Loveland J, Johnson JE, Barker PJ, Lomonossoff GP: Development of cowpea mosaic virus as a high-yielding system for the presentation of foreign peptides. Virology 1994;202:949–955.
- 6 McLain L, Porta C, Lomonossoff GP, Durrani Z, Dimmock NJ: Human immunodeficiency virus type 1-neutralizing antibodies raised to a glycoprotein 41 peptide expressed on the surface of a plant virus. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses 1995;11:327–334.

- 7 McLain L, Durrani Z, Wisniewski LA, Porta C, Lomonossoff GP, Dimmock NJ: Stimulation of neutralizing antibodies to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in three strains of mice immunized with a 22 amino acid peptide of gp41 expressed on the surface of a plant virus. Vaccine 1996;14:799–810.
- 8 Dalsgaard K, Uttenthal Å, Jones TD, Xu F, Merryweather A, Hamilton WDO, Langeveld JPM, Boshuizen RS, Kamstrup S, Lomonossoff GP, Porta C, Vela C, Casal JI, Meloen RH, Rodgers PB: Plant-derived vaccine protects target animals against a virus disease. Nat Biotechnol 1997;15:248–252.
- 9 Colledge M, Scott JD: AKAPs: From structure to function. Trends Cell Biol 1999;9:216–221.
- 10 Kunkel TA, Roberts JD, Zakour RA: Rapid and effective site-specific mutagenesis without phenotypic selection. Methods Enzymol 1987; 154:367–382.
- 11 van Kammen A, de Jager CP: Cowpea Mosaic Virus. CMI/AAB Descriptions of Plant Viruses No. 197. Association of Applied Biologists, http://www.dprweb.net, 1978.
- 12 Taylor KM, Lin TW, Porta C, Mosser AG, Giesing HA, Lomonossoff GP, Johnson JE: Influence of three-dimensional structure on the immunogenicity of a peptide expressed on the surface of a plant virus. J Mol Recognit 2000; 13:71–82.

- 13 Brennan FR, Jones TD, Gilleland LB, Bellaby T, Xu F, North PC, Thompson A, Staczek J, Lin T, Johnson JE, Hamilton WDO, Gilleland HE: *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* outer-membrane protein F epitopes are highly immunogenic in mice when expressed on a plant virus. Microbiology 1999;145:211–220.
- 14 Wang L, Sunahara RK, Krumins A, Perkins G, Grochiere ML, Mackey M, Bell S, Ellisman MH, Taylor SS: Cloning and mitochondrial localization of full-length D-AKAP2, a protein kinase A anchoring protein. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001;98:3220–3225.
- 15 Huang LJ, Durick K, Weiner JA, Chun J, Taylor SS: D-AKAP2, a novel protein kinase A anchoring protein with a putative RGS domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1997;94: 11184–11189.
- 16 Sambrook J, MacCallum P: Molecular Cloning: A Laboratory Manual, ed 3. Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, 2001.
- 17 Wang Q, Lin T, Tang L, Johnson JE, Finn MG: Icosahedral particles as addressable nanoscale building blocks. Angew Chem, in press.
- 18 Rossmann MG, Arnold E, Erickson JW, Frankenberger EA, Griffith JP, Hecht HJ, Johnson JE, Kamer G, Luo M, Mosser AG, Rueckert RR, Sherry B, Vriend G: Structure of a human common cold virus and functional relationship to other picornaviruses. Nature 1985;317:145– 153.

Intervirology 2002;45:371–380 DOI: 10.1159/000067930

RNA Bacteriophage Capsid-Mediated Drug Delivery and Epitope Presentation

William L. Brown^a Robert A. Mastico^a Min Wu^a Karen G. Heal^b Chris J. Adams^a James B. Murray^a Jeremy C. Simpson^c J. Michael Lord^c Andrew W. Taylor-Robinson^b Peter G. Stockley^a

^aAstbury Centre for Structural Molecular Biology, ^bSchool of Biology, Faculty of Biological Sciences, University of Leeds, Leeds, ^cDepartment of Biological Sciences, University of Warwick, Coventry, UK

Key Words

MS2 virus-like particle · Chimera · Synthetic vaccine · Ricin A chain

Abstract

Objective: To use our knowledge of the three-dimensional structure and self-assembly mechanism of RNA bacteriophage capsids to develop novel virus-like particles (VLPs) for drug delivery and epitope presentation. Methods: Site-directed mutagenesis of a recombinant MS2 coat protein expression construct has been used to generate translational fusions encompassing short epitope sequences. These chimeric proteins still self-assemble in vivo into T = 3 shells with the foreign epitope in an accessible location. Covalent conjugation has also been used to generate RNA stem-loops attached to the toxin, ricin A chain, or to nucleotide-based drugs, that are still capable of stimulating self-assembly of the capsid in vitro. These packaged drugs can then be directed to specific cells in culture by further covalent decoration of the capsids with targeting molecules. *Results:* Chimeric VLPs are strongly immunogenic when carrying either B or T cell epitopes, the latter generating cytokine profiles consistent with memory responses. Immune responses to the underlying phage epitopes appear to be proportional to the area of the phage surface accessible. Phage shells effectively

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel 0300–5526/02/0456–0371\$18.50/0

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int protect nucleic acid-based drugs and, for the toxin construct, make cell-specific delivery systems with LD_{50} values in culture sub-nanomolar. *Conclusion:* VLP technology has potential for therapeutic and prophylactic intervention in disease.

Copyright © 2003 S. Karger AG, Basel

Introduction

Viruses are natural vectors for the movement of macromolecules, i.e. their nucleic acid genomes, across specific cellular barriers. Cell specificity and avoidance of immunosuppression require defined access to conserved external viral components, such as targeting molecules for cellular receptors, e.g. picornaviral canyons or the neuraminidase of paramyxoviruses, whilst reducing access to the molecules of the immune system. Therefore, viruses can be thought of as the ultimate molecular chemotherapeutic or prophylactic reagents.

The humble RNA bacteriophages have been amongst the most heavily studied viral systems, since they permitted analysis of many detailed cellular processes, such as translation, before the advent of modern molecular biology techniques [1]. They have also been very widely used as laboratory reagents, e.g. in in vivo molecular interaction studies [2], and have provided a major paradigm for the

Peter G. Stockley Astbury Centre for Structural Molecular Biology University of Leeds Leeds, LS2 9JT (UK) Tel./Fax +44 113 233 3092, E-Mail stockley@bmb.leeds.ac.uk



Fig. 1. The structures of the MS2 capsid and its VLPs. **A** A cartoon representation of the three-dimensional structure of the coat protein dimer oriented so that the outer part of the capsid would be towards the top of the page and the RNA towards the bottom. The short loops at the top of each subunit represent the β -hairpins where the foreign epitopes are inserted (marked by arrowheads). **B** The sequence and secondary structure of the translational operator RNA that triggers phage assembly in vitro. **C** A schematic view of an immuno-conjugate RAC VLP. Molecules are images taken from the Protein Data Bank of their X-ray structures. The curve represents the edge of the capsid drawn to scale.

understanding of sequence-specific RNA-protein recognition [3, 4]. This laboratory and our collaborators, together with the Uhlenbeck and Peabody laboratories, have made a major study of the latter aspect. At a specific point in the phage life cycle, replication of phage RNA gives way to the need to package progeny phage particles. The molecular mechanisms of both these events are connected by the same molecular recognition event. Genomic phage RNA encompasses a 19-nucleotide sequence, located at the 5' end of the replicase cistron, that is capable of folding into a simple stem-loop structure (fig. 1). Translation of the genomic RNA leads to increasing concentrations of coat protein subunits, which exist as non-covalent dimers. These can form a specific recognition complex with the 19-nucleotide stem-loop, sequestering the start codon for the replicase cistron, leading to translational repression and thus a steady reduction in the level of replication [5]. At the same time, the RNA-protein complex formed appears to mark the phage RNA for specific encapsidation by other coat protein subunits [6, 7]. There is a great deal of specificity in this interaction, since in vivo, only homologous phage RNAs are packaged, even in mixed infections [8]. This specificity mirrors in vitro coat protein affinities for differing phage translation operators [9].

The molecular basis for the sequence specificity of the MS2 (R17) translational repression complex has been investigated using sequence variants of the RNA stemloop (TR) [3] and chemical variants of the bases [10] and backbone residues [11] and by extensive mutagenesis of the phage coat protein [12, 13]. A major addition to our understanding has come from extensive X-ray structural studies that have now made available atomic structures for a number of wild-type bacteriophage capsids [14–16]. We have made significant use of the fact that over-expression of a recombinant coat protein gene results in in vivo self-assembly of T = 3 shells lacking phage RNA and the maturation protein [17]. These 'empty' capsids crystallise isomorphously with the wild-type phage particle and can be used to solve the X-ray structures of RNA operators soaked into the crystals [18]. The RNA fragments penetrate both the crystal lattice, via solvent channels, and the centre of the phage shells, via the 14-ångström pores at capsid symmetry axes, where each coat protein dimer in the capsid can then make a sequence-specific complex with a TR RNA, allowing the details of the molecular recognition to be determined by a simple difference map. This technique has now been applied to the wild-type TR operator [18], a high-affinity sequence variant [19] and a number of sequence and chemical variants [20-22], as well as a series of RNA aptamers that appear to break the consensus rules determined by simple sequence variation experiments [23, 24]. A number of RNA-protein complexes containing protein mutants have also been studied [25]. The result is the most extensive structural database to date for a specific RNA-protein complex.

Previously, we took advantage of this extensive basic knowledge of bacteriophages to modify them for (1) the presentation of foreign epitopes [17, 26] and (2) cell-specific drug delivery [27]. In the former application, short foreign epitopes (9–27 amino acids in length) were translationally fused in frame with the coat protein such that expression and capsid assembly would result in the chimera being displayed at the tip of the N-terminal β -hairpin of the protein subunit. These are the most radially distal sites in the mature capsid [16]. The position of insertion is critical. An insertion one or two amino acid residues away from the tip results in chimeric proteins that no longer assemble [28].

The second application makes use of the TR RNA to trigger specific encapsidation. Using chemical synthesis, it is possible to prepare covalent conjugates between the TR RNA and potential drug molecules, such as the plant toxin ricin A chain (RAC). These species can still trigger the self-assembly reaction, leading to protective encapsidation of the drug. These drug packages can then be targeted to specific cell types by covalent decoration of the outside capsid surface with ligands for receptor-mediated endocytosis (RME).

Here, we describe some of our latest results with applications of these virus-like particles (VLPs) based on RNA bacteriophage capsids.

Materials and Methods

Expression and Synthesis of Macromolecules Used

MS2 phage coat protein and its chimeras were purified as in vivo assembled, largely RNA-free T = 3 shells from an *Escherichia coli* recombinant expression construct as described previously [17]. RNAs were synthesized by solid-phase phosphoramidite chemistry, deprotected, purified and characterised as described previously [29]. RAC variants were expressed following the procedures of Wales et al. [30]. Anti-DF3 monoclonal antibody (mAb) was a gift from Nissin Inc., Cambridge, Mass., USA.

Construction of Synthetic Virions

Synthetic virions (SVs) were constructed by reassembly of aciddisassembled recombinant phage coat protein in the presence of TR RNA or its drug conjugates. Packaged molecules were then purified by size-exclusion chromatography before the capsids were covalently cross-linked to targeting ligands, then again purified by size-exclusion chromatography. Characterisation of the resultant SVs and

Table 1. Accessibility of MS2 epitopes in chimeric VLPs

| Sample | Size of insert, amino acids | Percentage retained by IgG column |
|---------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------------|
| MS2/WT | 0 | 100 |
| MS2/HA | 11 | 60 |
| MS2/IgE | 12 | 36 |
| MS2/Mal | 14 | 24 |
| MS2/L1 | 22 | 16 |
| MS2/L2 | 22 | 15 |
| MS2/HIV | 26 | 7.5 |

intermediates included the use of SDS-PAGE, Western blotting and transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and followed published procedures [27].

Results

Presentation and Accessibility of B Cell Epitopes

One feature that might limit the effectiveness of chimeric VLPs in epitope presentation is the response elicited to carrier epitopes rather than to the inserts they carry. Strong responses to such common epitopes would limit the number of exposures to the carrier that it would be possible to administer. RNA phage chimeras have an advantage compared to filamentous and comovirus systems because every subunit is chimeric [31]. Thus, each subunit carries the foreign epitope as the most radially distal feature of the capsid, and hence is the most accessible to molecules of the immune system. The practical consequence of this organisation can be seen during immuno-affinity purification of chimeric VLPs. Table 1 shows that as the size of the inserted epitope increases, from 11 to 26 amino acids in length, the amount of the chimeric VLP recognised by immobilised polyclonal anti-MS2 coat protein IgGs decreases. This suggests that slightly larger inserts would completely cover the underlying carrier epitopes.

In the drug delivery application [27], targeting molecules are covalently attached to the outside of the phage capsid. This modification reaction is rarely close to stoichiometric, suggesting that in these applications, carrier epitopes would induce unwanted immune responses. However, we have shown that covalent modification of surface lysines on the phage coat protein with short PEG chains (PEG3000) is reasonably efficient. If such PEGylated viruses are then exposed to anti-MS2 IgGs, as above, they partition into two clear sub-groups. The first of these is not bound at all by the antibodies, whilst the second **Table 2.** Effect of adjuvant and nature of immune response with chimeric VLPs

a Effect of adjuvant

| Sample | Reciprocal titres | | |
|--------|-------------------|-----------------|--|
| | minus alhydrogel | plus alhydrogel | |
| MS2/WT | $5,300 \pm 100$ | $2,500 \pm 100$ | |
| MS2/HA | $4,500 \pm 100$ | $1,500 \pm 100$ | |
| KLH | 600 ± 100 | $2,800 \pm 100$ | |
| KLH-HA | 900 ± 100 | $4,900 \pm 100$ | |

b Nature of immune response

| IgM, % | IgG, % |
|---------------|--|
| 1.2 ± 0.4 | 83.0±2.0 |
| 0.8 ± 0.2 | 87.0 ± 3.0 |
| 1.3 ± 0.4 | 88.0 ± 3.0 |
| 0.6 ± 0.2 | 84.0 ± 1.0 |
| 0.3 ± 0.1 | 81.0 ± 1.0 |
| 0.2 ± 0.1 | 83.0 ± 3.0 |
| | IgM, % 1.2 ± 0.4 0.8 ± 0.2 1.3 ± 0.4 0.6 ± 0.2 0.3 ± 0.1 0.2 ± 0.1 |

group is. Using PEG molecules derivatised with fluorescein (Shearwater Corp., Huntsville, Ala., USA), it is possible to determine the levels of PEG attachment in these two groups. The former has >90% of its subunits modified, whilst the latter contains on average <30% PEGylated subunits (data not shown). These results suggest that it would be possible to generate 'stealth' VLPs, masked from immune recognition by a layer of PEG and targeted to specific cells by humanised ligands for RME.

Other important criteria for an epitope presentation VLP are the nature of the immune response that is elicited and whether the system needs adjuvant to be effective. As table 2 clearly shows, MS2 VLPs show significantly stronger responses in the absence of adjuvant, whereas KLH and its equivalent conjugates show the reverse behavior. Primary immune responses to bacteriophage (ϕ X174) are reported to result in the production of IgM for a few days followed by a rise in the levels of IgG. Re-administration of the phage results in production of mostly IgG with transient IgM, possibly associated with a memory response [32]. If significant levels of IgA are observed, this is usually taken as a sign that the immunogen and/or adjuvant have caused damage to mucosal membranes. We followed the time course of Ig isotype responses to immunisation with MS2 VLPs and KLH (key hole limpet hemocyanin) conjugates, with and without adjuvant, using specific secondary antibodies. IgA was undetectable in all the regimes used. IgG represented the bulk of the immune response (>80%) at all times. IgM was detectable 21 days after immunisation, but only in the MS2-HA chimera was there any increase with time.

Presentation and Accessibility of T Cell Epitopes

Another putative role of VLPs in epitope presentation is to display T cell epitopes. We tested this idea with the MS2 coat protein by fusing it with a putatively protective malaria T cell epitope. T1 is a 24-amino acid sequence (LTMSNVKNVSQTNFKSLLRNLGVS) found in the Nterminal non-repeat region of the 200-kD immuno-dominant liver stage antigen-1 (LSA-1) of the malaria parasite *Plasmodium falciparum*, which is responsible for at least 3 million human deaths each year. Recognition of LSA-1 T1 by inhabitants of geographically distinct malariaendemic regions has been suggested as a surrogate marker of acquired resistance, and it is therefore of prime importance as a malaria vaccine candidate [33].

We generated an MS2-T1 chimera by insertion into the β -hairpin loop as above [17]. Chimera expression was approximately 40% of wild-type levels. BALB/c mice were then immunised with wild-type or chimeric MS2 protein by primary (day 0) and secondary (day 37) subcutaneous inoculation of 50 µg of total protein resuspended in PBS and emulsified in Freund's adjuvant [34]. Controls received adjuvant alone or were naive. On day 51 (14 days after boosting), single-cell suspensions of splenocytes from mice were restimulated ex vivo with homologous peptide or T and B cell mitogens and assayed for proliferation and production of type 1 and 2 cytokines and their corresponding Ig isotypes. BALB/c (H-2^d) mice were used, as the T1 peptide contains a putative MHC class I H2K^d binding epitope [35]. Unlike most vaccine candidate antigens, LSA-1 has no known homologue among the murine malarias; hence, its immunogenicity in preclinical studies must by necessity be examined in mice of an appropriate genetic background.

Cellular proliferation increased between days 3 and 6 after stimulation of ex vivo, suggesting that this response was peptide specific and not due to any residual *E. coli*derived mitogenic contamination following protein purification. Splenocytes derived from MS2-T1-immunised mice elicited significant LSA-1 T1-specific proliferation [34].

The wild-type MS2 capsid appeared to elicit both humoral and cellular immune responses, observed as a predominance of the type 2 cytokines interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-10 but with a mixed profile of Ig isotypes. In contrast, the LSA-1 chimera stimulated a type 1-polarised response, with significant up-regulation of IL-12, interferon (IFN)- γ and tumour necrosis factor- α and down-regulation of IL-4 and IL-10 [34]. The predominant MS2-T1specific antibody class following recombinant T1 immunisation was the type 1-regulated IgG2a, suggesting that a polarised response is elicited in vivo.

The pronounced production of IFN- γ by splenocytes from MS2-T1-immunised mice upon T1 peptide stimulation has particular significance, since this is recognised as a major host defence mechanism against liver stage malaria [36]. The predicted CD8+ T cell epitope for BALB/c mice within the LSA-1 T1 peptide sequence most probably elicited the IFN- γ production by MS2-T1-immunised splenocytes ex vivo, as, when the cells were separated into specific T cell fractions, the major source of IFN- γ was the CD8+ T cell population (fig. 2 and data not shown).

We believe that CD8+ T cell release of IFN- γ is a critical component of immunity induced by liver stage malaria, and that successful vaccination of humans with vaccines designed to elicit protective immunity will require induction of specific CD8+ T cells that home to the liver [33]. Moreover, these data not only indicate that further evaluation of MS2 coat protein as a vector for malaria T cell epitopes is merited but also further validate RNA phage capsid display of immunogenic peptides.

These data for the presentation of both B and T cell epitopes suggest that phage VLPs would be a useful system for defined epitope presentation.

Targeting and Toxicity in Drug Delivery

There are a growing number of potential therapeutic molecules that are larger than the traditional small-molecular-weight, orally available drugs. These include oligonucleotides, such as anti-sense reagents, peptides and natural products. Clinical application of such species presents a number of important challenges, such as the control of unwanted side effects, prevention of immune responses, access to the molecular targets and control of pharmacokinetics, to name but a few. In principle, targeted delivery strategies offer elegant methods to overcome many of these difficulties. For instance immuno-conjugates have been developed to target toxic species to cell surface markers of particular cell types [37, 38].

VLPs offer an even more refined version of the same approach but with significant technical advantages. In the MS2 bacteriophage system, we have developed an approach we describe as the synthetic virion (SV) [27]. Macromolecular drug candidates are encapsidated specifically and efficiently inside a protective coat protein shell by first covalently linking them to the RNA operator that





Fig. 2. Cytokine production after challenge by MS2-T1 chimera. IFN- γ production by splenocytes from mice immunised with MS2-T1 following ex vivo restimulation with LSA-1 T1 peptide (25 µg/ml), as previously described [34]. Lymphocyte subset depletion was performed by immunomagnetic cell sorting to >98% purity. Data are -fold increases in cytokine secretion over that of splenocytes from identically immunised mice not restimulated ex vivo (by convention, value = 1.0, depicted as a horizontal line). Data are representative of four similar experiments.

triggers in vitro capsid assembly from disassembled coat protein dimers. These drug packages can then be directed toward specific cells by covalent decoration of the outside surface with ligands for RME. Such SVs can inherently carry large drug loads, protect the cargo from interaction with molecules from the immune system and control the pharmaco-kinetics of quite disparate molecular entities, and are readily amenable to combination drug therapy. They also offer a significant advantage over many smaller targeting systems in that arrays of targeting ligands generate chelate and local concentration effects that significantly enhance their uptake at the target. These features mimic those of natural viruses, hence the term SV. One major drawback is the potential immune response that such SVs could elicit. However, the speed at which ligands for RME are often cleared from the bloodstream and the possibility of using PEGylation, as described above, to create stealth SVs, offer clear directions for overcoming or avoiding problems in these areas. SVs therefore offer clear and potentially important features not readily accessible to liposomes, which are their major equivalent competitors in cell-specific drug delivery.



Fig. 3. Characterisation of immuno-conjugate SVs. **A** Elution profile of 5fdU/anti-DF3-SV from a Sepharose CL4B column. **B** Elution profile of anti-DF3-capsid from a Sepharose CL4B column. **C** 10% (w/v) SDS-PAGE gel stained with Coomassie blue. Lane 1: protein molecular weight markers (sizes in kD); lane 2: 8 pmol of capsid; lane 3: 8 pmol of capsid-SATA; lane 4: 13 pmol of anti-DF3; lane 5: 13 pmol of anti DF3-SMCC; lane 6: encapsulated 5fdU-TR-5fdU oligonucleotide (8 pmol of capsid); lane 7: 7 pmol of capsid-anti DF3; lane 8; 7 pmol of 5fdU/anti-DF3-SV. **D** Same as **C**, except that the gel was run for longer to resolve the SV complex from the mAb.

Formation of Immuno-Conjugate SVs

Our previous SV constructs employed transferrin (Tfn) as a covalently attached targeting ligand, cross-linked to the capsid with the heterobifunctional reagent sulpho-SMCC (sulfo-succinimidyl(4-/iodoacetyl)aminobenzoate). Introducing surface thiol groups via lysine modification with the reagent SATA (*N*-succinimidyl *S*-acetylthioacetate) (Pierce) facilitated this linkage. In principle, however, SVs could be targeted to specific cell types by a very wide variety of molecules. In order to illustrate this point, we have constructed an SV equivalent of immuno-conjugates by covalent attachment of mAbs. The mAb chosen for these experiments was directed against a cell surface antigen associated with human breast tumours.

The DF3 antigen is a glycoprotein present on apical borders of secretory mammary epithelial cells, in the cytosol of less differentiated malignant cells, and can be detected in milk [39]. DF3 expression correlates with the degree of tumour differentiation and increases when breast carcinoma cells are induced to differentiate [40]. Immunoassays have demonstrated that DF3 antigen levels are significantly elevated in the plasma of patients with metastatic breast cancers and this has provided a useful marker for monitoring the clinical course of breast cancer patients [41]. The DF3 antigen in human breast tumours and milk is comprised of a mucin-like glycoprotein of 310 kD, which was later characterised as a core protein of 160 kD [42, 43].

Before constructing the SV with the mAb as a targeting ligand, it was necessary to compare different cross-linking strategies to determine the best conditions for conjugate formation. In order to conserve precious anti-DF3 mAb, these trials were conducted with commercially available anti-Tfn mAb. Three different cross-linking conditions were compared, using SATA, SMCC, sulpho-SMCC and SPDP [N-succinimidyl 3-(2-pyridyldithio)propionate) (all from Pierce) in different combinations. The mAb is approximately twice the size of the Tfn ligand used previously, so there were concerns about the size of the resultant SV, its solubility and whether it would aggregate during construction or purification. Therefore, it was decided to use a lower molar ratio of targeting ligand to capsid (5:1 vs. 10:1) than used previously for Tfn. The cross-linking studies showed that there were differences in efficiency with the differing approaches and that the same protocol as that used for Tfn, namely SATA activation of capsids followed by reaction with SMCC-modified mAb, yielded the highest levels of derivatisation (data not shown) [44].

These cross-linking conditions were applied to the anti-DF3 mAb and capsids that had been soaked with the TR RNA carrying poly-5-fluoro-2'-deoxy-uridine (5fdU) extensions (see below). The SVs were then purified by sizeexclusion chromatography and characterised. In order to determine whether the mAb had been attached to the capsids successfully, the SV samples were analysed by nonreducing SDS-PAGE. The 5fdU/anti-DF3-SV sample contained coat protein and a high-molecular-weight species (fig. 3C, lane 8), which was also present in the mAb-capsid conjugate control (lane 7). On a gel run longer for better resolution, this high-molecular-weight band in the conjugate samples (fig. 3D, lanes 7, 8) could clearly be resolved from the mAb bands (lane 5). Western blotting with anticapsid antiserum demonstrated that the SV and capsidanti-DF3 mAb samples (fig. 3 C, D, lanes 6, 7) contained coat protein monomer and dimer, possibly as a disulphide-linked species, as well as a high-molecular-weight conjugate that was not present in the sample containing just the encapsidated oligonucleotide (lane 5). Probing with anti-mouse-fluorescein isothiocyanate-labelled antiserum detected this species but not the coat protein, confirming that it contained the anti-DF3 antibody as a conjugate (data not shown). TEM of the resultant SV samples suggested that they retained their normal capsid structure.

Encapsidation and Protection of Nucleotide-Based Drugs

Previously, we have shown that it is possible to soak crystals of largely RNA-free MS2 T = 3 capsids produced in *E. coli* from a recombinant coat protein expression vector with RNAs encompassing the TR RNA stem-loop [18–25]. These RNAs are able to penetrate both the solvent channels within the crystals and the approximately 14-ångström pores located at the particle symmetry axes. Once inside the capsids, the TRs bind to every coat protein dimer in the shell, facilitating determination of the X-ray structures of the sequence-specific RNA-protein complexes. We reasoned that it might be possible to use this route rather than in vitro self-assembly to prepare encapsidated nucleic acid-based drugs such as antisense reagents or anti-metabolites.

In order to test this hypothesis, we chose the nucleotide analogue 5-fluorouridine (5fU). This is a well-characterised reagent, familiar to physicians and readily available, yet it suffers from rapid clearance from the circulatory system, resulting in high-dose regimes and unpleasant side effects [45]. A TR oligonucleotide derivative was synthesised via our standard methods [29], incorporating 5' and 3' extensions of five 5fdU using commercially available 5fdU phosphoramidites. This was soaked into empty capsids in solution. These encapsidated 5fdU-capsids were then conjugated to anti-DF3 mAb as described above.

The cytotoxicity of the 5fdU/anti-DF3-SVs was tested against ZR-75-1 breast carcinoma cells, which express the DF3 antigen at high levels. The 5fdU/anti-DF3-SVs were slightly more toxic than the free 5fdU oligonucleotide at the lower concentrations (fig. 4A), suggesting that the SV enhanced the toxicity of the oligonucleotide by protecting it from degradation by nucleases in the serum or by enhancing uptake by the ZR-75-1 cells. They were considerably more toxic than the encapsulated oligonucleotide which had been mixed with DF3 mAb but not covalently linked to it, supporting the idea that the mAb was effective at increasing the level of uptake.

In Caov-3 cells (fig. 4B), which do not over-express the DF3 antigen, there was very little difference between the 5fdU/anti-DF3-SVs and the control packaged oligonucleotide, suggesting that the targeting mAb had no targeting effect. Both the capsid-protected samples were more toxic than the free oligonucleotide across the concentration range, suggesting that encapsulation of the oligonucleotide conferred some protection from degradation to the oligonucleotide and that there was non-specific uptake of capsids in these control cell lines.



Improving Toxicity

Previously, RAC carrying the endoplasmic reticulum retention sequence, -KDEL-, at the C-terminus was shown to be considerably more toxic than the native molecule, the vast majority of which is re-exported from the cell [30]. MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL) particles were generated using the methods described previously [27]. These were then used to produce SVs containing human Tfn as the external targeting ligand for RME. The SVs were partially purified over Sephadex G150. The elution profile of the G150 column contained four peaks, of which the fastest to elute was the Tfn-SV, as judged by SDS-PAGE, TEM and Western blotting. Addition of Fe²⁺ ions to the eluted Tfn-SVs was carried out as described previously [27, 46].

The cytotoxicity of the Tfn-SVs was then tested against HL60 cells, which express the Tfn receptor. Figure 5 shows that the Tfn-SVs containing RAC(KDEL) were significantly more toxic than either RAC(KDEL) or RAC alone, as expected, with an LD₅₀ of approximately 5 \times 10⁻¹¹ *M*. The RAC(KDEL) Tfn-SVs were roughly 30 times more cytotoxic than the equivalent RAC SV lacking the KDEL sequence. The cytotoxicity of immuno-com-

Fig. 4. Cytotoxicity of 5fdU/anti-DF3-SVs. ZR-75-1 (**A**) and Caov-3 (**B**) cells (1 × 10⁴ cells/well) were treated with dilutions of 5fdU/anti-DF3-SVs or control reagents. After 69 h, the cells were assayed for dehydrogenase activity. $\bigcirc = 5$ fdU-TR-5fdU oligonucleotide; **=** = 5fdU/anti-DF3-SV; \square = encapsulated 5fdU-TR-5fdU oligonucleotide plus anti-DF3 mAb. Data points represent triplicate determinations. The error bars indicate the standard deviation of the data from the mean.

Fig. 5. Cytotoxicity of RAC(KDEL) SVs. A Comparison of MS2-TR-RAC-Tfn-SV and MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL)-Tfn-SV cytotoxicity on HL60 cells expressing the Tfn receptor. ■ = MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL)-Tfn; □ = MS2-TR-RAC-Tfn; Δ = RAC(KDEL) only; ● = MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL) plus non-crosslinked Tfn. B Cytotoxicity of immuno-complexed MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL)-Tfn SV on Pu518 cells, which express the Ig Fc receptor but not the Tfn receptor. ■ = MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL)-Tfn plus anti-MS2 antibodies; □ = MS2-TR-RAC(KDEL)-Tfn only.



Brown et al.

plexed Tfn-SV containing RAC(KDEL) was also tested on Pu518 cells, which express the Fc receptor, as described previously [27]. Despite the presence of attached Tfn ligands, the immuno-complexed material was significantly more toxic than the Tfn-SV alone, having an LD₅₀ of approximately $2.4 \times 10^{-12} M$, whereas the non-cognate SV was not toxic in the concentration range tested (fig. 5B).

Discussion

Our experiments suggest that VLPs based on RNA bacteriophage capsids are readily produced, carrying foreign epitopes as the most radially distal feature of a protein particle lacking genetic material. These particles have useful properties as immunogens and do not need adjuvants to provoke strong responses. Previously, we showed that the responses generated are sensitive to the constrained conformation of the inserts [17]. The use of larger insets or PEGylation, or a combination of these approaches, may overcome a major problem associated with protein carriers of foreign epitopes, namely the generation of an immune response directed against the carrier. Further work is now required to formulate the best approach for the use of such VLPs as synthetic vaccines.

In an alternative application of phage capsids, we have shown their utility in the efficient packaging of large proteins or nucleic acids as potential drug delivery vehicles. These drug packages can then be directed towards specific cells via covalent decoration with ligands for RME. All targeted therapies require control of the avidity and discrimination of their interactions with cellular targets in order to minimise inappropriate interactions. The chelate effects of VLPs are very useful in this respect, and here we have reported the generation of an immuno-conjugate VLP. A similar construct for polyoma VLPs has recently been reported [46]. The toxicity of SVs can be improved by increasing the potency of the drug delivered, in this case a toxin variant. In other experiments not reported here, we have shown that reagents known to increase the permeability of the endosomal membrane also have the same effect [Wu et al., in preparation]. The 5fdU experiment described here shows how the SV system can easily be adapted to delivery versions of traditional low-molecular-weight drug molecules. The interpretation of the experiment shown in figure 4 is complicated, because nuclease action on the oligonucleotide releases monomeric 5fdU, which is also toxic to the cells. However, we have also shown that antisense oligodeoxynucleotides can be delivered via SVs [Wu et al., unpubl. results].

In principle, the use of the phage system might permit a form of phage display of targeting epitopes in the β -hairpin analogous to those in filamentous systems [47]. We have generated such genetic fusions and inserted them into a live phage cloning system. However, recombination rapidly results in the deletion of the inserted region. Recently, van Meerten et al. [48] showed that this instability is linked to the structure of the genomic RNA and that stable inserts can be generated with appropriate substitution to preserve elements of the RNA secondary structure.

The work to date with drug delivery suggests that RNA phages offer simple and highly flexible systems for the development of targeted drug delivery. A problem associated with a protein-based drug delivery system is the likely immune response to the carrier. The PEGylation experiments described above suggest an obvious route to mitigate this problem and create stealth SVs.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the UK BBSRC (Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council), BTGplc, The Wellcome Trust and The University of Leeds. P.G.S. also acknowledges the financial support of The Leverhulme Trust, and the Director and Fellows of The Scripps Research Institute, La Jolla, Calif., USA, for access to facilities during a study visit. In particular, thanks are due to Profs. Johnson and Finn, and Dr. Tianwei Lin and their co-workers for encouragement and assistance in the laboratory.

References

- Zinder N (ed): RNA Phages. Cold Spring Harbor, Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1975.
- 2 Kraemer B, Zhang B, SenGupta D, Fields S, Wickens M: Using the yeast three-hybrid system to detect and analyze RNA-protein interactions. Methods Enzymol 2000;328:297–321.
- 3 Witherell GW, Gott JM, Uhlenbeck OC: Specific interaction between RNA phage coat proteins and RNA. Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol 1991;40:185–220.
- 4 Stockley PG, Stonehouse NJ, Valegård K: Molecular mechanisms of RNA phage morphogenesis. Int J Biochem 1994;26:1249–1260.
- 5 Steitz JA: Specific recognition of the isolated R17 replicase initiator region by R17 coat protein. Nature 1974;248:223–225.
- 6 Beckett D, Uhlenbeck OC: Ribonucleo-protein complexes of R17 coat protein and a translation operator analog. J Mol Biol 1988;204:927– 938.

VLPs for Drug Delivery and Epitope Presentation

- 7 Beckett D, Wu HN, Uhlenbeck OC: Roles of operator and non-operator RNA sequences in bacteriophage R17 capsid assembly. J Mol Biol 1988;204:939–947.
- 8 Ling CM, Hung PP, Overby LR: Independent assembly of Qβ and MS2 phages in doubly infected *Escherichia coli*. Virology 1970;40: 920–929.
- 9 Spingola M, Peabody DS: MS2 coat protein mutants which bind Qbeta RNA. Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25:2808–2815.
- 10 Stockley PG, Stonehouse NJ, Murray JB, Goodman STS, Talbot SJ, Adams CJ, Liljas L, Valegård K: Probing sequence-specific RNA recognition by the bacteriophage MS2 coat protein. Nucleic Acids Res 1995;15:575–594.
- 11 Dertinger D, Uhlenbeck OC: Evaluation of methylphosphonates as analogs for detecting phosphate contacts in RNA-protein complexes. RNA 2001;7:622–631.
- 12 Stockley PG, Stonehouse NJ, Walton C, Walters DA, Medina C, Macedo MB, Hill HR, Goodman STS, Talbot SJ, Tewary HK, Golmohammadi R, Liljas L, Valegård K: Molecular mechanism of RNA-phage morphogenesis. Biochem Soc Trans 1993;21:627–633.
- 13 Peabody DS: The RNA biding site of bacteriophage MS2 coat protein. EMBO J 1993;12: 595-600.
- 14 Tars K, Fridborg K, Bundule M, Liljas L: The three-dimensional structure of bacteriophage PP7 from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* at 3.7-A resolution. Virology 2000;272:331–337.
- 15 Tars K, Bundule M, Fridborg K, Liljas L: The crystal structure of bacteriophage GA and a comparison of bacteriophages belonging to the major groups of *Escherichia coli* leviviruses. J Mol Biol 1997;271:759–773.
- 16 Golmohammadi R, Valegård K, Fridborg K, Liljas L: The refined structure of bacteriophage MS2 at 2.8 A resolution. J Mol Biol 1993;234: 620–639.
- 17 Mastico RA, Talbot SJ, Stockley PG: Multiple presentation of foreign peptides on the surface of an RNA-free spherical bacteriophage capsid. J Gen Virol 1993;74:541–548.
- 18 Valegård K, Murray JB, Stockley PG, Stonehouse NJ, Liljas L: Crystal structure of an RNA bacteriophage coat protein-operator complex. Nature 1994;371:623–626.
- 19 Valegård K, Murray JB, Stonehouse NJ, van den Worm S, Stockley PG, Liljas L: The three dimensional structures of two complexes between recombinant MS2 capsids and RNA operator fragments reveal sequence-specific protein-RNA interactions. J Mol Biol 1997; 270:724–738.
- 20 Grahn E, Stonehouse NJ, Murray JB, van den Worm S, Valegård K, Fridborg K, Stockley PG, Liljas L: Crystallographic studies of RNA hairpins in complexes with recombinant MS2 capsids: Implications for binding requirements. RNA 1999;4:131–138.

- 21 Grahn E, Stonehouse NJ, Adams CJ, Fridborg K, Beigelman L, Matulic-Adamic J, Warriner SL, Stockley PG, Liljas L: Deletion of a single hydrogen bonding atom from the MS2 RNA operator leads to dramatic rearrangements at the RNA-coat protein interface. Nucleic Acids Res 2000;28:4611–4616.
- 22 Grahn E, Moss T, Helgstrand C, Fridborg K, Sundaram M, Tars K, Lago H, Stonehouse NJ, Davis DR, Stockley PG, Liljas L: Structural basis of pyrimidine specificity in the MS2 RNA hairpin-coat-protein complex. RNA 2001;7: 1616–1627.
- 23 Convery MA, Rowsell S, Stonehouse NJ, Ellington AD, Hirao I, Murray JB, Peabody DS, Phillips SEV, Stockley PG: Crystal structure of an RNA aptamer-protein complex at 2.8 A resolution. Nat Struct Biol 1998;5:133–139.
- 24 Rowsell S, Stonehouse NJ, Convery MA, Adams CJ, Ellington AD, Hirao L, Peabody DS, Stockley PG, Phillips SEV: Crystal structures of a series of RNA aptamers complexed to the same protein target. Nat Struct Biol 1998;5: 970–975.
- 25 van den Worm SHE, Stonehouse NJ, Valegård K, Murray JB, Walton C, Fridborg K, Stockley PG, Liljas L: Crystal structures of MS2 coat protein mutants in complex with wild-type RNA operator fragments. Nucleic Acids Res 1998;26:1345–1351.
- 26 Stockley PG, Mastico RA: Use of fusions to viral coat proteins as antigenic carriers for vaccine development. Methods Enzymol 2000; 326:551–569.
- 27 Wu M, Brown WL, Stockley PG: Cell-specific delivery of bacteriophage-encapsidated ricin A chain. Bioconjug Chem 1995;6:587–595.
- 28 Pushko P, Kozlovskaya T, Sominskaya I, Brede A, Stankevica E, Ose V, Pumpens P, Grens E: Analysis of RNA phage fr coat protein assembly by insertion, deletion and substitution mutagenesis. Protein Eng 1993;6:883–891.
- 29 Murray JB, Collier AK, Arnold JRP: A general purification procedure for chemically synthesized oligonucleotides. Anal Biochem 1994; 218:177–184.
- 30 Wales R, Roberts LM, Lord JM: Addition of an endoplasmic reticulum retrieval sequence to ricin A chain significantly increases its cytotoxicity to mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:23986–23990.
- 31 Porta C, Spall VE, Loveland J, Johnson JE, Barker PJ, Lomonossoff GP: Development of cowpea mosaic virus as a high-yielding system for the presentation of foreign peptides. Virology 1994;202:949–955.
- 32 Uhr JW, Finkelstein MS: The kinetics of antibody formation. Prog Allergy 1967;10:37–83.
- 33 Hollingdale MR, Taylor-Robinson AW, Krzych U: Immune responses to liver stage parasites: Implications for vaccine development; in Perlmann P, Troye-Blomberg M (eds): Malaria Immunology. Chem Immunol. Basel, Karger, 2002, vol 80, p 97–124.

- 34 Heal KG, Hill HR, Stockley PG, Hollingdale MR, Taylor-Robinson AW: Expression and immunogenicity of a liver stage malaria epitope presented as a foreign peptide on the surface of RNA-free MS2 bacteriophage capsids. Vaccine 1999;18:251–258.
- 35 Falk K, Rötzschke O, Stevanovic S, Jung G, Rammensee H-G: Allele-specific motifs revealed by sequencing of self-peptides eluted from MHC molecules. Nature 1991;351:290– 296.
- 36 Schofield L, Villaquiran J, Ferreira A, Schellekens H, Nussenzweig R, Nussenzweig V: γ-Interferon, CD8⁺ T cells and antibodies required for immunity to malaria sporozoites. Nature 1987;330:664–666.
- 37 Wu M, Miyazawa M, Nose M: Immunotoxins as a new reagent for treatment of viral infection and autoimmune diseases. Drug Deliv Syst 1993;8:5–10.
- 38 Wu M: Enhancement of immunotoxin activity using chemical and biological reagents. Br J Cancer 1997;75:1347–1355.
- 39 Kufe D, Inghirami G, Abe M, Hayes D, Justi-Wheeler H, Schlom J: Differential reactivity of a novel monoclonal antibody (DF3) with human malignant versus benign breast tumors. Hybridoma 1984;3:223–232.
- 40 Abe M, Kufe D: Sodium butyrate induction of milk-related antigens in human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells. Cancer Res 1984;44:4574– 4577.
- 41 Tondini C, Hayes FD, Gelman R, Henderson IC, Kufe DW: Comparison of CA15-3 and CEA in monitoring the clinical course of patients with metastatic breast cancer. Cancer Res 1988;48:4107–4112.
- 42 Abe M, Kufe D: Structural analysis of the DF3 human breast carcinoma-associated protein. Cancer Res 1989;49:2834–2839.
- 43 Perey L, Hayes DF, Maimonis P, Abe M, O'Hara C, Kufe DW: Tumor selective reactivity of a monoclonal antibody prepared against a recombinant peptide derived from the DF3 human breast carcinoma-associated antigen. Cancer Res 1992;52:2563–2568.
- 44 Brown WL: Applications of MS2 Capsid-Like Particles as an Oligonucleotide Cell Delivery System; PhD thesis, Leeds, 1999.
- 45 Calabro-Jones PM, Byfield JE, Ward JF, Sharp TR: Time-dose relationships for 5-fluorouracil cytotoxicity against human epithelial cancer cells in vitro. Cancer Res 1982;42:4413–4420.
- 46 Stubenrauch K, Gleiter S, Brinkmann U, Rudolph R, Lilie H: Conjugation of an antibody Fv fragment to a virus coat protein. Cell-specific targeting of recombinant polyoma-viruslike particles. Biochem J 2001;356:867–873.
- 47 Uppala A, Koivunen E: Targeting of phage display vectors to mammalian cells. Comb Chem High Throughput Screen 2000;3:373–392.
- 48 van Meerten D, Olsthoorn RC, van Duin J, Verhaert RM: Peptide display on live MS2 phage: Restrictions at the RNA genome level. J Gen Virol 2001;82:1797–1805.

Intervirology

Author Index Vol. 45, No. 4-6, 2002

Adams, C.J. 371

Bachmann, M.F. 212 Bartkevičiūte, D. 308 Beer, B. 267 Binninger-Schinzel, D. 267 Bojak, A. 275 Borisova, G. 340 Brown, D.W.G. 308 Brown, W.L. 371 Bruss, V. 233 Bulavaite, A. 308 Burns, L.L. 362 Chatterji, A. 362 Cho, H.-W. 328 Cosma, C. 267 Cote, P.J. 237 Darai, G. 334 Dargevičiūte, A. 308 Da Silva, D.M. 300 Deml, L. 275 Dislers, A. 340 Dittmar, M.T. 260 El Kholy, S. 251 Freyschmidt, E.-J. 290 Gedvilaite, A. 308 Gelderblom, H.R. 340 Gerin, J.L. 237 Gissmann, L. 290 Grens, E. 218 Guthöhrlein, H. 290 Hale, A. 308 Heal, K.G. 371 Hilleman, M.R. 199 Hjelle, B. 318 Hohn, O. 267 Hourioux, C. 233 Howard, C.R. 328 Hughes, J. 350

Jegerlehner, A. 212 Jennings, G.T. 212 Jin, L. 308 Johnson, J.E. 362 Jones, J. 350 Kast, W.M. 300 Kaufmann, A.M. 290 Kazaks, A. 340 Khattak, S. 334 Kneser, J. 233 Knowles, W.A. 308 Koletzki, D. 340 Korba, B.E. 237 Kräusslich, H.-G. 260 Krüger, D.H. 197, 318, 340 Kurth, R. 267 Kwissa, M. 251 Lachmann, S. 340 Lechner, F. 212 Lee. H.-W. 328 Lin, T. 362 Lomonossoff, G.P. 197, 362 Lord, J.M. 371 Lundkvist, Å. 340 Marcus, U. 260 Mastico, R.A. 371 Maurer, P. 212 Meisel, H. 340 Menne, S. 237 Michel, N. 290 Milich, D.R. 350 Müller, M. 290 Murray, J.B. 371 Nassal, M. 218 Norley, S. 267 Öhlschläger, P. 290 Ose, V. 340

Osen, W. 290

Petrovskis, I. 340 Phillips, T.R. 350 Pitra, C. 318 Porta, C. 362 Potkul, R.K. 300 Pumpens, P. 218, 340 Radke, D. 267 Reimann, J. 251 Renner, W.A. 212 Riedl, P. 251 Roneker, C.A. 237 Rösen-Wolff, A. 334 Sällberg, M. 350 Sasnauskas, K. 308 Schirmbeck, R. 251 Sebbel, P. 212 Seibold, E. 267 Simpson, J.C. 371 Skrastina, D. 340 Staniulis, J. 308 Stockley, P.G. 371 Streeck, R.E. 287 Süle, S. 334 Taylor, S.S. 362 Taylor-Robinson, A.W. 371 Tennant, B.C. 237 Tissot, A.C. 212 Ulrich, R. 197, 308, 318, 340 Vogel, T. 267 Wagner, R. 275 Wakabayashi, M.T. 300

Wakabayashi, M.T. 30 Wild, J. 275 Wu, M. 371

Žvirblienė, A. 308

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel

Intervirology

A kinase anchoring protein 362 Adjuvant 212 AIDS 260, 267 Antibodies 251 Antibody response 212 Antigenicity 218 Avian, murine and human polyomavirus 308

Bunyaviridae 318

Capsid protein(s) 287 – VP1 308 Cervical carcinoma 287 Chemical coupling of peptides to virus capsids 362 Chimera 371 Chimeric virus 233 Cowpea mosaic virus 362 Cr release 290 Cytotoxic T cell 300

DNA immunization 290 - vaccination 251 - vaccine 275 Drug/antiviral therapy 237

ELISPOT 290 Emerging viruses 318 Epidemiology 218, 260 Epitopes 218, 340 Evolution 318 Expression 308, 334

General-purpose surface presentation system 362 Genotypes 218

Haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome 328

Hantavirus 318, 328, 334, 340 Hepatitis B 237 - - score antigen 350 - - virus 218, 233 HIV 260 -, synthetic genes 275 Human papillomavirus 287 - - type 16 300 - - - E7 290 - rhinovirus 14 362

IFN-γ, intracellular 290 Immortalization 287 Immunogenicity 218 Immunologic tolerance 237 Immunology 218 In vivo animal models 237

Lipopeptide 267 Live attenuated virus 267 Lymphocyte proliferation 237

Malaria 350 Mosaic hepatitis B virus core particles 340 MS2 virus-like particle 371

Neutralization 287 Neutralizing antibody 328 New and improved vaccines 199 Nucleocapsid protein 334, 340

Papillomavirus 287 Pathogenesis 318 Plant virus-based chimeras 362 POD 287 Polyomavirus 308 Potato 334 Pre-erythrocytic vaccine 350 Pre-S domain 233 Primate 267 Protein expression 251 Pseudovirion 287

Receptor 287 Ricin A chain 371 Rodents 318

Self antigen 212 Simian virus 40 308 Stress proteins 251 Subtypes 218 Synthetic vaccine 371

T cell immunogenicity 275 Tetramer staining 290 Therapeutic vaccination 237 Therapy 212 Tobacco 334 Tolerance 212 Treatment 260

Vaccine(s) 199, 212, 260, 267, 300, 318, 350 - for the 2000s 199 - technology 199 Viral proteins 218 Virus tropism 233 Virus-like particle(s) 212, 218, 251, 287, 300, 308, 340

Whole inactivated virus 267 Woodchuck 237 - hepatitis virus 233, 237

Yeast 308

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int

Subject Index Vol. 45, No. 4-6, 2002

Author Index Vol. 45, 2002

Intervirology

Abiola, O.O. 56 Achilli, G. 52 Adams, C.J. 371 Akuta, N. 33, 71 Alves de Matos, A.P. 150 Anderton, B.H. 56 Arase, Y. 33, 71 Bachmann, M.F. 212 Barrios, T. 111 Bartkevičiūte, D. 308 Batchu, R.B. 115 Beer, B. 267 Bertoni, G. 177 Binninger-Schinzel, D. 267 Bojak, A. 275 Borisova, G. 24, 340 Braun, R.W. 2 Brown, D.W.G. 308 Brown, W.L. 371 Bruno, R. 52 Bruss, V. 233 Bulavaite, A. 308 Burns, L.L. 362 Cerutti, I. 119 Chatterji, A. 362 Cho, H.-W. 328 Choi, E.-K. 94 Choi, K.-W. 94 Choi, S.-H. 142 Cosma, C. 267 Cote, P.J. 237 Crespo, E. 150 Cruz-Talonia, F. 111 Darai, G. 334 Dargevičiūte, A. 308 Da Silva, D.M. 300 Debiaggi, M. 52 Deml, L. 275 Dislers, A. 340 Dittmar. M.T. 260 Dudda, H. 20 Dufour, S. 177 El Kholy, S. 251 Emile, J.F. 119 Enomoto, M. 105

Filice, G. 52 Freyschmidt, E.-J. 290 Fukuda, K. 105 Garcia-Carranca, A. 111 Gedvilaite, A. 308 Gelderblom, H.R. 340 Gerin, J.L. 237 Gissmann, L. 290 Grens, E. 218 Gusars, I. 24 Guthöhrlein, H. 290 Ha. L.D. 101 Habu, D. 105 Hale, A. 308 Hase, S. 160 Hashimoto, T. 6 Hatzmann, W. 20 Hayase, Y. 67 Hayashi, A. 136 Havashi, S. 101 Heal, K.G. 371 Hijikata, M. 101 Hilleman, M.R. 199 Hiraki, A. 125 Hirayama, E. 125 Hjelle, B. 318 Hohn, O. 267 Hourioux, C. 233 Howard, C.R. 328 Huang, J. 183 Hughes, J. 350 Hwang, S.B. 142 Ikeda, K. 33, 71 Ikegami, M. 160 Ishida, Y.-i. 125 Ishiko, H. 136 Ishizaki, J. 164 Iyegbe, C. 56 Jansons, J. 24 Jegerlehner, A. 212 Jennings, G.T. 212 Jeong, B.-H. 94 Jin, J.-K. 94 Jin, L. 308 Johnson, J.E. 362

Jones, J. 350

Karger, S. 1 Karger, T. 1 Kast, W.M. 300 Kato, H. 6 Kato, M. 43 Kaufmann, A.M. 290 Kazaks, A. 340 Keicho, N. 101 Khattak, S. 334 Kim, J. 125 Kim, K.-H. 94 Kim, Y.-S. 94 Kimura, H. 43 Kiuchi, Y. 11 Kneser, J. 233 Knowles, W.A. 308 Kobavashi, M. 33, 71 Koga, Y. 125 Koletzki, D. 340 Korba, B.E. 237 Kovacic, V. 172 Kozawa, K. 43 Kräusslich, H.-G. 260 Krüger, D.H. 197, 318, 340 Kühn, J.E. 2 Kumada, H. 33, 71 Kuroki, M. 164 Kurth, R. 267 Kwissa, M. 251 Lachmann, S. 340 Lantos, P. 56 Lechner, F. 212 Lee, H.-W. 328 Li, L. 183 Li, W. 79 Li, Z. 79 Liebermann, H. 59 Lin, J. 183 Lin, T. 362 Lippelt, L. 2 Lira de la Cruz, A. 111 Liu, H. 79 Liu. L. 183 Liu, X. 183 Lomonossoff, G.P. 197, 362 Lord, J.M. 371 Lotz, K. 59 Lundkvist, Å. 340

Manabe, T. 6 Marcus, U. 260

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com © 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel Accessible online at:

www.karger.com/int

Mastico, R.A. 371 Matsumoto, Y. 85 Maurer, P. 212 Meisel, H. 340 Menne, S. 237 Michel, N. 290 Milich, D.R. 350 Mitamura, K. 11 Mittal, S.K. 188 Miura, R. 136 Mizokami, M. 6 Morikawa, A. 43 Morizane, T. 11 Müller, M. 290 Munshi, N.C. 115 Murray, J.B. 371 Nakajima, H. 136 Nakamichi, K. 85 Nako, Y. 43 Nassal, M. 218 Nishiguchi, S. 105 Norley, S. 267 Oh, M.-D. 94 Ohara, H. 101 Öhlschläger, P. 290 Ohno, T. 6 Okavama, A. 164 Olphen, A.L. van 188 Orito, E. 6 Ose, V. 24, 340 Osen, W. 290 Otani, S. 105 Otsuka, H. 85 Paperna, I. 150 Park, K.-J. 142 Peterhans, E. 177 Petrovskis, I. 24, 340 Phillips, T.R. 350 Pitra, C. 318 Plomin, R. 56 Porta, C. 362 Potkul, R.K. 300 Pumpens, P. 24, 218, 340 Pushko, P. 24

Radke, D. 267 Rahaus, M. 20 Razanskas, R. 24 Reimann, J. 251 Renhof, R. 24 Renner, W.A. 212 Riedl, P. 251 Rocha-Zavaleta, L. 111 Romero, E. 52 Roneker, C.A. 237 Rösen-Wolff, A. 334 Sacchi, P. 52 Sain, M. 172 Saitoh, S. 33, 71 Sällberg, M. 350 Sasnauskas, K. 24, 308 Schirmbeck, R. 251 Schmitt, J. 20 Sebbel, P. 212 Seibold, E. 267 Seidel, W. 59 Shammas, M.A. 115 Shibata, M. 11 Shimada, Y. 136 Shimizu, Y.K. 101 Shin, K.-C. 94 Shiomi, S. 105 Shmookler Reis, R.J. 115 Simpson, J.C. 371 Skrastina, D. 24, 340 Someya, T. 33, 71 Sominskaya, I. 24 Staniulis, J. 308 Stockley, P.G. 371 Streeck, R.E. 287 Sugauchi, F. 6 Süle, S. 334 Suzuki, F. 33, 71 Suzuki, S. 160 Suzuki, T. 6 Suzuki, Y. 33, 71 Tachibana, A. 43 Takahashi, H. 160 Takeda, N. 136

Takeda, T. 105

Tamori, A. 105 Tanaka, M. 105 Tanaka, T. 105 Taylor, S.S. 362 Taylor-Robinson, A.W. 371 Tebourbi, L. 119 Tennant, B.C. 237 Tissot, A.C. 212 Tobita, K. 67 Tohya, Y. 85 Trinh, N.T. 101 Tsubota, A. 33, 71 Tsubouchi, H. 164 Ueda, R. 6 Ulrich, R. 197, 308, 318, 340 Valdespino, V. 111 Vogel, T. 267 Vogt, H.-R. 177 Vukman, V. 172 Wagner, R. 275 Wakabayashi, M.T. 300 Wang, J.Y. 115 Whatley, S.A. 56 Wild, J. 275 Wolff, M.H. 20 Wu, M. 371 Xu, P. 183 Yamaguchi, M. 11 Yamazaki, S. 136 Yang, P. 79 Yano, Y. 105 Yoneyama, K. 11 Yoshikura, H. 101 Zahno, M.-L. 177 Žvirblienė, A. 308

Subject Index Vol. 45, 2002

Intervirology

A kinase anchoring protein 362 Acetowhitening 111 Adeno-associated virus type 2 115 Adenovirus 59 -, inverted terminal repeat 188 -, recombinant 188 Adhesion molecules 43 Adjuvant 212 AIDS 94, 260, 267 Alcohol drinking history 71 Antibodies 251 Antibody 177 - response 212 Antigenicity 218 Antiretroviral resistance 52 - therapy 52 Apoptosis 85 Avian, murine and human polyomavirus 308 Background factors 11 BHV-1 85 Bovine adenovirus type 3 inverted terminal repeat deletion 188 spongiform encephalopathy 56 Bunyaviridae 318 Caprine arthritis encephalitis virus 177 Capsid protein(s) 287 - - VP1 308 Carmovirus 160 Cell-to-cell infection 164 Cervical carcinoma 287 screening 111 Chemical coupling of peptides to virus capsids 362 Chimera 371 Chimeric virus 233 Chronic hepatitis C 11, 33, 105 Cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma 11 Conformational change 142 Core protein 105 Cowpea mosaic virus 362 Cr release 290 Cyclophosphamide 119 Cytotoxic T cell 300 DNA immunization 290

vaccination 250
vaccine 275
DNA-dependent protein kinase 183
Drug/antiviral therapy 237

ELISPOT 290 Emerging viruses 318 Enhancing antibody 177 Enterovirus 68 136 Envelope glycoprotein 177 Eosinophils 43 Epidemiology 218, 260 Epitopes 218, 340 Evolution 318 Expression 308, 334 Fiber knob-derived peptides 59 General-purpose surface presentation system 362 Genetic distance 6 Genital herpes 2 Genome organization 160 Genotype(s) 101, 218 1b 33 Genotypic assay 52 Genotyping 94 Granulocyte 67 Green fluorescent protein 79 Haemodialysis 172 Haemorrhagic fever with renal syndrome 328 Hantavirus 318, 328, 334, 340 Hemagglutinating virus of Japan 125 Hepatitis B 172, 237 - score antigen 350 virus 218, 233 - C virus 105 - - subtype 71 _ delta virus 142 E virus 101 Hepatocellular carcinogenesis 71 HIV 52, 260 -, synthetic genes 275 HRV-87 136 HSP70 125 HSV-1 2.20 HSV-2 20 HTLV-I 164 Human foamy virus 79 neuroectodermal tumor cell 183 papillomavirus 111, 287 - E7 oncoprotein 24 - type 16 300 - - E7 290

rhinovirus(es) 136
14 362
Hybrid capture test 111

IFN-y, intracellular 290 Immortalization 287 Immune response 24 Immunocompetent mice 119 Immunogenicity 218 Immunologic tolerance 237 Immunology 218 Immunosuppression 119 In vivo animal models 237 Incubation times 56 Indicator cell line 79 Infection, occult 6 Infectivity 79 Influenza persistence 67 Interaction 71 Interferon 105 - α-2b 33 - therapy 11 Inverse long polymerase chain reaction 164 Iridovirus-like virus 150

JC virus 94

Ku expression 183

Large hepatitis delta antigen 142 Lentivirus 177 Lipopeptide 267 Live attenuated virus 267 Liver cirrhosis 71 Lizard erythrocytic virus 150 Lymphocyte proliferation 237

Malaria 350 Mapping of epitopes 59 Mice 56 -, male 119 Mosaic hepatitis B virus core particles 340 MS2 virus-like particle 371 Murine cytomegalovirus 119

Neutralization 287 Neutralizing antibody 328 New and improved vaccines 199 Nucleocapsid protein 334, 340

Oncogenic HPV genotypes 111

KARGER

Fax + 41 61 306 12 34 E-Mail karger@karger.ch www.karger.com

Accessible online at: www.karger.com/int

© 2002 S. Karger AG, Basel

Papillomavirus 287 Pathogenesis 318 Pea stem necrosis virus 160 Peptide 177 Pharmacokinetics 33 Phenotypic assay 52 Phosphorylation 142 Phylogenetic analysis 136 - tree 94 - - analysis 6 Plant virus-based chimeras 362 Platelet count 11 Platelet-activating factor 43 POD 287 Polymerase chain reaction 6 Polyomavirus 308 Potato 334 Pre-erythrocytic vaccine 350 Pre-S domain 233 Primate 267 Prion protein 56 Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy 94 Proportional hazard model 71 Protein expression 251 Pseudovirion 287

Reactivation, subclinical 20 Receptor 287 Release of virions 125 Rep78 115 Respiratory syncytial virus 43 Retroviral DNA integration 183 Ribavirin 33 Ricin A chain 371 RK13 cells 85 Rodents 318 RT-PCR 136

Self antigen 212 Serological group 71 Serotype-specific epitope 59 Sex-specific differences 56 Sexually transmitted diseases 2 Simian virus 40 308 Stability 79 Stress proteins 251 Subtypes 218 Superoxide anion 43, 67 SV40 115 Synthesis of viral proteins 125 Synthetic vaccine 371

T antigen 115 - cell immunogenicity 275 Temperature sensitivity 125 - 41° 125 Testis 119 Tetramer staining 290 Therapeutic vaccination 237 Therapy 212 Titration 79 Tobacco 334 Tolerance 212

Tombusviridae 160 Transmembrane peptides 177 Transmission 6,56 Treatment 260 Type 1 JC virus 94 U_sORF8 85 Vaccination 172 Vaccine(s) 199, 212, 260, 267, 300, 318, 350 - for the 2000s 199 - technology 199 Variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease 56 Vietnam 101 Viral dynamics 33 infection process 150 _ _ production 125 proteins 218 _ Virus morphogenesis 150 - transmission 119 tropism 233 Virus-like particle(s) 24, 212, 218, 251, 287, 300, 308, 340 VP4 136 Whole inactivated virus 267 Woodchuck 237

- hepatitis virus 233, 237

Yeast 308